# The Theory of Measures and Integration

A Solution Manual for Vestrup (2003)

Jianfei Shen

School of Economics, The University of New South Wales

Sydney, Australia

I hear, I forget; I see, I remember; I do, I understand. Old Proverb

## Contents

Preface				
	1.1	$\pi$ -Systems, $\lambda$ -Systems, and Semirings	2	
		1.1.1 $\pi$ -Systems	2	
		1.1.2 λ-System	4	
		1.1.3 Semiring	6	
	1.2	Fields	15	
	1.3	$\sigma$ -Fields	21	
	1.4	The Borel $\sigma$ -Field	28	
2	Mea	isures	29	
	2.1	Measures	30	
	2.2	Continuity of Measures	35	
	2.3	A Class of Measures	47	
3	Exte	ensions of Measures	53	
	3.1	Extensions and Restrictions	54	
	3.2	Outer Measures	55	
	3.3	Carathéodory's Criterion	57	
	3.4	Existence of Extensions	60	
	3.5	Uniqueness of Measures and Extensions	63	
	3.6	The Completion Theorem	66	
	3.7	The Relationship between $\sigma(A)$ and $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$	67	
	3.8	Approximations	68	
	3.9	A Further Description of $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$	68	
4	Leb	esgue Measure	71	
	4.1	Lebesgue Measure: Existence and Uniqueness	71	
	4.2	Lebesgue Sets	73	
	4.3	Translation Invariance of Lebesgue Measure	73	

v

5	Measurable Functions	77
	5.1 Measurability	77
	5.2 Combining Measurable Functions	79
	5.3 Sequences of Measurable Functions	83
	5.4 Almost Everywhere	84
	5.5 Simple Functions	84
	5.6 Some Convergence Concepts	86
	5.7 Continuity and Measurability	90
	5.8 A Generalized Definition of Measurability	90
6	The Lebesgue Integral	93
	6.1 Stage One: Simple Functions	93
	6.2 Stage Two: Nonnegative Functions	96
	6.3 Stage Three: General Measurable Functions	104
	6.4 Stage Four: Almost Everywhere Defined Functions	109
7	Integrals Relative to Lebesgue Measure	111
	7.1 Semicontinuity	111
8	The <i>L<sup>p</sup></i> Spaces	113
	8.1 $L^p$ Space: The Case $1 \le p < +\infty$	113
	8.2 The Riesz-Fischer Theorem	117
	8.3 $L^p$ Space: The Case $0 $	119
	8.4 $L^p$ Space: The Case $p = +\infty$	123
	8.5 Containment Relations for $L^p$ Spaces	125
	8.6 Approximation	127
	8.7 More Convergence Concepts	127
	8.8 Prelude to the Riesz Representation Theorem	129
9	The Radon-Nikodym Theorem	131
	9.1 The Radon-Nikodym Theorem, Part I	131
10	Products of Two Measure Spaces	139
	10.1 Product Measures	139
	10.2 The Fubini Theorems	143
11	Arbitrary Products of Measure Spaces	145
	11.1 Notation and Conventions	145
	11.2 Construction of the Product Measure	147
Ref	ferences	155

# List of Figures

1.1	Inclusion between classes of sets $\mathcal{A} \subseteq 2^{\mathcal{Q}}$	1
3.1	$A \cup B \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$	57
6.1 6.2	$f_1 \text{ and } f_2.$ $f_n \to f$	107 107
8.1 8.2 8.3	$f^p$ and $f^q$ $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ , but $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} 0$	126 128 130

## Preface

Sydney,

Jianfei Shen

# Acknowledgements

### **SET SYSTEMS**

#### Remarks

REMARK. Klenke (2008, Fig. 1.1, p.7) provides a chart to indicate the relationships among the set systems. Here I replicate his chart; see Figure 1.1.



FIGURE 1.1. Inclusion between classes of sets  $\mathcal{A}\subseteq 2^{\varOmega}$ 

**Semiring**  $\xrightarrow{\bigcup$ -stable} **Ring** See part (g) of Exercise 20;

 $\sigma$ -ring  $\xrightarrow{\Omega \in \mathcal{A}} \sigma$ -field See part (b) of Exercise 41;

 $\operatorname{Ring} \xrightarrow{\mathfrak{Q} \in \mathcal{A}} \operatorname{Field} \quad \mathfrak{Q} \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } \mathcal{A} \text{ is closed under difference implies that } A \in \mathcal{A} \Longrightarrow A^c = \mathfrak{Q} - A \in \mathcal{A};$ 

 $\lambda$ -systme  $\xrightarrow{\bigcap$ -stable} \sigma-field See Exercise 8.

REMARK. This notes is for Exercise 32 (p.17). See Klenke (2008, Example 1.40, p.18-19). We construct a measure for an infinitely often repeated random experiment with finitely many possible outcomes (Product measure, Bernoulli measure). Let *S* be the set of possible outcomes. For  $s \in S$ , let  $p_s \ge 0$  be the probability that *s* occurs. Hence  $\sum_{s \in S} p_s = 1$ . For a fixed realization of the repeated experiment, let  $z_1(\omega), z_2(\omega), \ldots \in S$  be the observed outcomes. Hence the space of *all* possible outcomes of the repeated experiment is  $\Omega = S^{\mathbb{N}}$ . We define the set of all sequences whose first *n* values are  $z_1(\omega), \ldots, z_n(\omega)$ :

$$[z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)] = \{ \omega' \in \Omega : z_i(\omega') = z_i(\omega) \text{ for any } i = 1, \dots, n \}.$$
(1.1)

Let  $C_0 = \{\emptyset\}$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , define the class of *cylinder* sets that depend only on the first *n* coordinates

$$C_n = \{ [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)] \colon z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega) \in S \},$$

$$(1.2)$$

and let  $C := \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n$ .

We interpret  $[z_1(\omega), \ldots, z_n(\omega)]$  as the event where the outcome of the first experiment is  $z_1(\omega)$ , the outcome of the second experiment is  $z_2(\omega)$  and finally the outcome of the *n*-th experiment is  $z_n(\omega)$ . The outcomes of the other experiments do not play a role for the occurrence of this event. As the individual experiments ought to be independent, we should have for any choice  $z_1(\omega), \ldots, z_n(\omega) \in E$  that the probability of the event  $[z_1(\omega), \ldots, z_n(\omega)]$  is the product of the probabilities of the individual events.

#### 1.1 $\pi$ -Systems, $\lambda$ -Systems, and Semirings

#### 1.1.1 $\pi$ -Systems

► EXERCISE 1 (1.1.1). Let  $\Omega = (\alpha, \beta]$ . Let  $\mathcal{P}$  consists of  $\emptyset$  along with the rsc subintervals of  $\Omega$ .  $\mathcal{P}$  is a  $\pi$ -system of subsets of  $(\alpha, \beta]$ .

PROOF. Let A = (a, b] and B = (c, d] be  $\mathcal{P}$ -sets. Then either  $A \cap B = \emptyset \in \mathcal{P}$ , or  $A \cap B = (a \lor c, b \land d] \in \mathcal{P}$ .

► EXERCISE 2 (1.1.2). *Must*  $\emptyset$  *be in every*  $\pi$ *-system?* 

SOLUTION. Not necessary. For example, let

 $\Omega = (0, 1], \quad A = (0, 1/2], \quad B = (1/4, 1], \quad C = (1/4, 1/2],$ 

and let  $\mathcal{P} = \{A, B, C\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{P}$  is a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ , and  $\emptyset \notin \mathcal{P}$ . Generally, if  $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$  for any A, B in a  $\pi$ -system, then  $\emptyset$  does not in this  $\pi$ -system.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 3 (1.1.3). List all  $\pi$ -systems consisting of at least two subsets of  $\{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3\}$ .

SOLUTION. These  $\pi$ -systems are:

- $\{\{\omega_i\}, \{\omega_i, \omega_j\}\}, (i, j) \in \{1, 2, 3\}^2 \text{ and } j \neq i;$
- {{ $\omega_i$ }, { $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ };
- {{ $\omega_i, \omega_j$ }, { $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ }};
- {{ $\omega_i$ }, { $\omega_i, \omega_j$ }, { $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ };
- $\{\emptyset, \{\omega_i\}, \{\omega_i, \omega_j\}\}, i = 1, 2, 3, \text{ and } j \neq i;$
- { $\emptyset$ , { $\omega_i$ ,  $\omega_j$ }, { $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$ ,  $\omega_3$ };
- $\{\emptyset, \{\omega_i\}, \{\omega_i, \omega_j\}, \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3\}\}.$

► EXERCISE 4 (1.1.4). If  $\mathcal{P}_k$  consists of the empty set and the *k*-dimensional rectangles of any one form, then  $\mathcal{P}_k$  is a  $\pi$ -system of subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

PROOF. Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{P}_k$  be two *k*-dimensional rectangles of any form. We also write  $A = A_1 \times A_2 \times \cdots \times A_k$  and  $B = B_1 \times \cdots \times B_k$ , where  $A_i$  and  $B_i$  are rsc intervals for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . We also assume that  $A \neq \emptyset$  and  $B \neq \emptyset$ ; for otherwise  $A \cap B = \emptyset \in \mathcal{P}_k$  is trivial. Then

$$A \cap B = (A_1 \times \cdots \times A_k) \cap (B_1 \times \cdots \times B_k) = \sum_{i=1}^k (A_i \cap B_i) \in \mathcal{P}_k$$

since  $A_i \cap B_i$  is a rsc interval in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

► EXERCISE 5 (1.1.5). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  consist of  $\emptyset$  and all subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^k$  that are neither open nor closed. Then  $\mathcal{P}$  is not a  $\pi$ -system of subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

**PROOF.** To get some intuition, let k = 1. Consider two  $\mathcal{P}$ -sets: A = (0, 1/2] and B = [1/4, 1). Note that neither *A* nor *B* are open or closed on  $\mathbb{R}$ , but their intersection  $A \cap B = [1/4, 1/2]$  is closed on  $\mathbb{R}$ , and is not in  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Now consider the *k*-dimensional case. Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{P}$ ; let  $A = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} A_i$  and  $B = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} B_i$ ; particularly, we let  $A_i = (a_i, b_i]$  and  $B_i = [c_i, d_i)$ , where  $a_i < c_i < b_i < d_i$ . Then  $(a_i, b_i] \cap [c_i, d_i) = [c_i, b_i] \neq \emptyset$ , and  $A \cap B = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} (A_i \cap B_i) = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} [c_i, b_i]$  is closed on  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

► EXERCISE 6 (1.1.6). For each  $\alpha$  in a nonempty index set *A*, let  $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  be a  $\pi$ -system over  $\Omega$ .

- a. The collection  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ .
- b. Let  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . Suppose that  $\{\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$  is the "exhaustive list" of all the  $\pi$ system that contain A. In other words, each  $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \supseteq A$ , and any  $\pi$ -system that contains A coincides with some  $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\pi$ -system that contains A. If Q is a  $\pi$ -system containing A, then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \subseteq Q$ . The minimal  $\pi$ -system generated by A always exists.
- c. Suppose that  $\mathcal{P}$  is a  $\pi$ -system with  $\mathcal{P} \supseteq \mathcal{A}$ , and suppose that  $\mathcal{P}$  is contained in any other  $\pi$ -system that contains A. Then  $\mathcal{P} = \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ , with notation as in (b). The minimal  $\pi$ -system containing A [which always exists] is also unique.

**PROOF.** (a) Suppose  $B, C \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ . Then  $B, C \in \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  for every  $\alpha \in A$ . Since  $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ is a  $\pi$ -system, we have  $B \cap C \in \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in A$ . Consequently,  $B \cap C \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ .

The analogous statement holds for rings,  $\sigma$ -rings, algebras and  $\sigma$ -algebras. However, it fails for semirings. A counterexample: let  $\Omega = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, A_1 =$  $\{\emptyset, \Omega, \{1\}, \{2, 3\}, \{4\}\}, \text{ and } A_2 = \{\emptyset, \Omega, \{1\}, \{2\}, \{3, 4\}\}.$  Then  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are semirings but  $\mathcal{A}_1 \cap \mathcal{A}_2 = \{ \emptyset, \Omega, \{1\} \}$  is not.

**(b)** Since  $2^{\Omega} \in \{\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\} =: \Pi(\mathcal{A})$ , the family  $\Pi(\mathcal{A})$  is nonempty. It follows from (a) that  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\pi$ -system containing  $\mathcal{A}$ . Finally, if  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a  $\pi$ -system containing  $\mathcal{A}$ , then  $\mathcal{Q} \in \Pi(\mathcal{A})$ , hence  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{Q}$ .

(c) Since  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$  is the  $\pi$ -system generated by  $\mathcal{A}$ , we have  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{P}$ ; since  $\mathcal{P}$  is contained in any other  $\pi$ -system that contains  $\mathcal{A}$ , we have  $\mathcal{P} \subseteq$  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}.$ П

#### 1.1.2 $\lambda$ -System

 $\blacktriangleright$  EXERCISE 7 (1.1.7). This exercise explores some equivalent definitions of a  $\lambda$ -system.<sup>1</sup>

- a.  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system iff  $\mathcal{L}$  satisfies  $(\lambda_1)$ ,  $(\lambda'_2)$ , and  $(\lambda_3)$ .
- b. Every  $\lambda$ -system additionally satisfies ( $\lambda_4$ ), ( $\lambda_5$ ), and ( $\lambda_6$ ).
- c.  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system iff  $\mathcal{L}$  satisfies  $(\lambda_1)$ ,  $(\lambda'_2)$ , and  $(\lambda_5)$ .

<sup>1</sup> The conditions are:

- $\Omega \in \mathcal{L};$  $(\lambda_1)$
- $(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_2) \quad A \in \mathcal{L} \Longrightarrow A^c \in \mathcal{L};$
- $\begin{array}{ll} (\lambda'_2) & A, B \in \mathcal{L} \& A \subseteq B \Longrightarrow B \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{L}; \\ (\lambda_3) & \text{For any disjoint } \{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}, \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{L}; \end{array}$
- $(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_4) \quad A, B \in \mathcal{L} \& A \cap B = \varnothing \Longrightarrow A \cup B \in \mathcal{L};$
- $\begin{array}{ll} (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{5}) & \forall \ \{A_{n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}, A_{n} \uparrow \Longrightarrow \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n} \in \mathcal{L}; \\ (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{6}) & \forall \ \{A_{n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}, A_{n} \downarrow \Longrightarrow \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n} \in \mathcal{L}. \end{array}$

d. If a collection  $\mathcal{L}$  is nonempty and satisfies  $(\lambda_2)$  and  $(\lambda_3)$ , then  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system.

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a  $\lambda$ -system. Then  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{L}$  by  $(\lambda_1)$  and  $(\lambda_2)$ . Suppose that  $A, B \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $A \subseteq B$ . Then  $B^c \in \mathcal{L}$  by  $(\lambda 2)$  and  $A \cap B^c = \emptyset$ . By  $(\lambda_3)$ ,  $B^c \cup A = B^c \cup A \cup \emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \cdots \in \mathcal{L}$ . By  $(\lambda_2)$  again,  $B \setminus A = (B^c \cup A)^c \in \mathcal{L}$ .

To show the inverse direction, we need only to show that  $(\lambda_1)$  and  $(\lambda'_2)$  imply  $(\lambda_2)$ : if  $A \in \mathcal{L}$ , then  $A^c = \Omega \setminus A \in \mathcal{L}$ .

**(b)** Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be a  $\lambda$ -system, so it satisfies  $(\lambda_1)$ — $(\lambda_3)$  and  $(\lambda'_2)$ . To verify that  $(\lambda_4)$  holds, first notice that  $\emptyset = \Omega^c \in \mathcal{L}$ . If  $A, B \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ , then  $A \cup B = A \cup B \cup \emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \cdots \in \mathcal{L}$ .

To see that  $(\lambda_5)$ , let  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  be increasing. Let  $B_1 = A_1$  and  $B_n = A_n \setminus A_{n-1}$  for  $n \ge 2$ . Then  $\{B_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  by  $(\lambda'_2)$  and is disjoint. Hence,  $\bigcup A_n = \bigsqcup B_n \in \mathcal{L}$ .

Finally, if  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  is decreasing, then  $\{A_n^c\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  is increasing. Hence  $\bigcup A_n^c \in \mathcal{L}$  by  $(\lambda_5)$ . Then  $\bigcap A_n = (\bigcup A_n^c)^c \in \mathcal{L}$ .

(c) If  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system, it follows from (a) and (b) that  $(\lambda'_2)$  and  $(\lambda_5)$  hold. Now suppose that  $(\lambda_1)$ ,  $(\lambda'_2)$ , and  $(\lambda_5)$  hold. It follows from the *only if* part of (a) that  $(\lambda_1)$  and  $(\lambda'_2)$  imply  $(\lambda_2)$ . To see  $(\lambda_3)$  also hold, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  be a disjoint sequence. We can construct a nondecreasing sequence  $\{B_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  by letting  $B_n = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ . Notice that  $B_n \in \mathcal{L}$  for all n. Hence,  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , and by  $(\lambda_5)$ , we have  $(\lambda_3)$ .

(d) If  $\mathcal{L} \neq \emptyset$  and satisfies  $(\lambda_2)$  and  $(\lambda_3)$ , then there exists some  $A \in \mathcal{L}$  and so  $\Omega = A \cup A^c \in \mathcal{L}$  by  $(\lambda_4)$ .

► EXERCISE 8 (1.1.8). If  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system and a  $\pi$ -system, then  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{L}$ whenever  $A_n \in \mathcal{L}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . That is,  $\mathcal{L}$  is closed under countable unions.

PROOF. This exercise proves that a  $\lambda$ -system which is  $\bigcup$ -stable is a  $\sigma$ -field (see Figure 1.1). Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ . Let  $B_1 = A_1$  and  $B_n = A_1^c \cap A_2^c \cap \cdots \cap A_{n-1}^c \cap A_n$  for all  $n \ge 2$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system,  $\{A_1^c, \ldots, A_{k-1}^c\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ ; since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\pi$ -system,  $B_n \in \mathcal{L}$ . It follows from  $(\lambda_3)$  that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n \in \mathcal{L}$ .

EXERCISE 9 (1.1.9). A  $\lambda$ -system is not necessarily a  $\pi$ -system.

**PROOF.** For example, let  $\Omega = (0, 1]$ . The following collection is a  $\lambda$ -system:

$$\mathcal{L} = \{ \emptyset, \Omega, (0, 1/2], (1/4, 1], (1/2, 1], (0, 1/4] \}.$$

However,  $\mathcal{L}$  is not a  $\pi$ -system because  $(0, 1/2] \cap (1/4, 1] = (1/4, 1/2] \notin \mathcal{L}$ .  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 10 (1.1.10). Find all  $\lambda$ -systems over  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3, \omega_4\}$  with at least three elements.

SOLUTION.

$$\begin{cases} \{\varnothing, \Omega, \{\omega_i\}, \{\omega_j, \omega_k, \omega_\ell\} \} & i \neq j \neq k \neq \ell \\ \{\emptyset, \Omega, \{\omega_i, \omega_j\}, \{\omega_k, \omega_\ell\} \} & i \neq j \neq k \neq \ell. \end{cases}$$

► EXERCISE 11 (1.1.11). The collection consisting of  $\emptyset$  and the rsc intervals is not a  $\lambda$ -system on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. This is not a  $\lambda$ -system, but is a semiring. Consider a nontrival rsc interval (a, b]. Note that  $(a, b]^c = (-\infty, a] \cup (b, +\infty)$  is not a rsc interval, and so is not in this collection.

EXERCISE 12 (1.1.12). Suppose that for each  $\alpha$  in a nonempty index set A,  $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system over  $\Omega$ .

- a. The collection  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system on  $\Omega$ .
- b. Suppose that  $A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  is such that A is contained in each  $\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ , and suppose that  $\{\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$  is the "exhaustive list" of all the  $\lambda$ -system that contain A. Then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system that contains A. If Q is a  $\lambda$ -system on  $\Omega$  that contains A, then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subseteq Q$ . The minimal  $\lambda$ -system generated by A always exists.
- c. Let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote a  $\lambda$ -system over  $\Omega$  with  $\mathcal{L} \supseteq \mathcal{A}$  and where  $\mathcal{L}$  is contained in any other  $\lambda$ -system also containing  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then  $\mathcal{L} = \bigcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ , with notation as in (b). Therefore, the  $\lambda$ -system generated by  $\mathcal{A}$  always exists and is unique.

PROOF. (a) It is clear that  $\Omega \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ . Suppose  $A \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ , then  $A \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha \in A$ . Hence,  $A^c \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha \in A$ . So  $A^c \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is closed under complementation. To see  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is closed under disjoint unions, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  be a disjoint sequence. Then  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha$  implies  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha$ , which implies that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ .

**(b)** From (a) we know  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system, and since  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}, \forall \alpha \in A$ , we know that  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$ ; hence,  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system that contains  $\mathcal{A}$ .  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{L}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{Q}$  because  $\mathcal{Q} \in {\mathcal{L}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A}$ .

(c) Since  $\mathscr{L}$  is contained in any other  $\lambda$ -system containing  $\mathcal{A}$ , and  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha}$  is such a  $\lambda$ -system, so  $\mathscr{L} \subseteq \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha}$ . Since  $\mathscr{L} \in {\mathscr{L}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A}$ , so  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathscr{L}$ .  $\Box$ 

#### 1.1.3 Semiring

• EXERCISE 13 (1.1.13). Is  $A = \{\emptyset\} \cup \{(0, x]: 0 < x \le 1\}$  a semiring over (0, 1]?

SOLUTION.  $\mathcal{A}$  is not a semiring on (0, 1]. Take (0, x] and (0, y] with x < y. Then  $(0, y] \setminus (0, x] = (x, y] \notin \mathcal{A}$  since x > 0 by definition.

► EXERCISE 14 (1.1.14). *This exercise explores some alternative definitions of a semiring.* 

a. Some define A to be a semiring iff A is a nonempty  $\pi$ -system such that both  $E, F \in A$  and  $E \subseteq F$  imply the existence of a finite collection  $C_0, C_1, \ldots, C_n \in A$  with  $E = C_0 \subseteq C_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq C_n \subseteq F$  and  $C_i \smallsetminus C_{i-1} \in A$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . This definition of a semiring is equivalent to our definition of a semiring.

b. Some define A to be a semiring by stipulating (SR1), (SR2), and the following property:  $A, B \in A$  implies the existence of disjoint A-sets  $C_0, C_1, \ldots, C_n$  with  $B \setminus A = \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} C_i$ . Note that here  $B \setminus A$  is not necessarily a proper difference. If A is a semiring by this definition, then A is a semiring by our definition, but the converse is not necessarily true.

PROOF. (a) We first show that (SR1), (SR2), and (SR3) imply the above definition. (SR1) and (SR2) imply that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a nonempty  $\pi$ -system (since  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{A}$ ). Let  $E, F \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $E \subseteq F$ . By (SR3) there exists disjoint  $D_1, \ldots, D_n \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $F \sim E = \bigcup_{i=1}^n D_i$ . Let  $C_0 = E$  and  $C_i = E \cup D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Then  $E = C_0 \subseteq C_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq C_n = F$ , and  $C_i \sim C_{i-1} = D_i \in \mathcal{A}$ .

Now suppose (a) holds. (SR1): Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is nonempty, there exists  $E \in \mathcal{A}$ ; since  $E \subseteq E$ , there exists a finite collection  $E = C_0 \subseteq C_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq C_n \subseteq E$ , which implies that  $C_0 = C_1 = \cdots = C_n$ , and so  $C_i \sim C_{i-1} = \emptyset \in \mathcal{A}$ . (SR2) holds trivially. (SR3): Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $A \subseteq B$ . Then by the assumption, there exists a finite collection  $C_0, C_1, \ldots, C_n \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $A = C_0 \subseteq C_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq C_n \subseteq B$ , and  $B_n = C_n \sim C_{n-1} \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then  $\{B_i\}_{i=1}^n \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  is disjoint, and

$$A \cup \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}\right) = A \cup \left[\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (C_{i} \setminus C_{i-1})\right] = A \cup (B \setminus A) = B.$$

**(b)** Some authors do apply this definition, for example, see Aliprantis and Border (2006); Dudley (2002). The proof is obvious. □

► EXERCISE 15 (1.1.15). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  consist of  $\emptyset$  as well as all rsc rectangles (a, b]. The collection of all finite disjoint unions of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets is a semiring over  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

PROOF. We prove a more general theorem. See Bogachev (2007, Lemma 1.2.14, p.8).

For any semiring S, the collection of all finite unions of sets in S forms a ring  $\mathcal{R}$ .

**Proof.** It is clear that the class  $\mathcal{R}$  admits finite unions. Suppose that  $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_n$  and  $B = \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} B_k$ , where  $A_i, B_i \in S$ . Then we have  $A \cap B = \bigcup_{i \leq n, j \leq k} A_i \cap B_j \in \mathcal{R}$ . Note that  $A_i \cap B_j \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $\forall i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $j \in \{1, ..., k\}$ , since a semiring is  $\bigcap$ -stable. Hence  $\mathcal{R}$  admits finite intersections. In addition,

$$A \sim B = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \left( A_i \sim \bigcup_{j=1}^{k} B_j \right) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \bigcap_{j=1}^{k} \left( A_i \sim B_j \right).$$

Since the set  $A_i \\ B_j = A_i \\ (A_i \cap B_j)$  is a finite union of sets in S, one has  $A_i \\ B_j \in \mathcal{R}$ . Furthermore,  $\bigcap_{j=1}^k (A_i \\ B_j) \in S$  because S is  $\bigcap$ -stable. Finally, the finite list  $\{A_i \\ B_j\}_{i \in \{1,...,n\}, j \in \{1,...,k\}}$  is disjoint; hence,  $A \\ B$  is a finite disjoint union of sets in S.

Now, since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a semiring [which is a well known fact], we conclude that the collection of all finite disjoint unions of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets is a ring over  $\mathbb{R}^k$  [a ring is a semiring, see Exercise 20 (p.10)].

EXERCISE 16 (1.1.16). An arbitrary intersection of semirings on  $\Omega$  is not necessarily a semiring on  $\Omega$ .

SOLUTION. Unlike the other kinds of classes of families of sets (e.g., Exercise 6 and Exercise 252), the intersection of a collection of semirings need not be a semiring. For example, let  $\Omega = \{0, 1, 2\}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_1 = \{\emptyset, \Omega, \{0\}, \{1\}, \{2\}\}$ , and  $\mathcal{A}_2 = \{\emptyset, \Omega, \{0\}, \{1, 2\}\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}_1$  and  $\mathcal{A}_2$  are semirings (in fact,  $\mathcal{A}_2$  is a field), but their intersection  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \cap \mathcal{A}_2 = \{\emptyset, \Omega, \{0\}\}$  is not a semiring as  $\Omega \setminus \{0\} = \{1, 2\}$  is not a disjoint union of sets in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

Generally, let  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  be two semirings, and  $\Omega \in A_1$  and  $\Omega \in A_2$ . Then  $\Omega \in A_1 \cap A_2$ , and which means that the complement of every element in  $A_1 \cap A_2$  should be expressed as finite union of disjoint sets in  $A_1 \cap A_2$ . As we have seen in the example, this is a demanding requirement.

Of course, there is no pre-requirement that  $\Omega$  should be in a semiring. See the next Exercise 17.

► EXERCISE 17 (1.1.17). If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a semiring over  $\Omega$ , must  $\Omega \in \mathcal{A}$ ?

SOLUTION. Not necessarily. In face, the simplest example of a semiring (a ring, a  $\sigma$ -ring) is just { $\emptyset$ }.

► EXERCISE 18 (1.1.18). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  denote a semiring. Pick  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $A, A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then there exists a finite collection  $\{C_1, \ldots, C_m\}$  of disjoint  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets with  $A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i = \bigcup_{i=1}^m C_i$ .

PROOF. When n = 1, write  $A \smallsetminus A_1 = A \smallsetminus (A \cap A_1)$  and invoke (SR3). Now assume that the result is true for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Consider n + 1.

$$A \sim \bigcup_{i=1}^{n+1} A_i = \left(A \sim \bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i\right) \sim A_{n+1} = \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^m C_j\right) \sim A_{n+1} = \bigcup_{j=1}^m \left(C_j \sim A_{n+1}\right).$$

Now for each *j*, there exists disjoint sets  $\{D_1^j, \ldots, D_{k_j}^j\} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  such that

$$C_j \smallsetminus A_{n+1} = \bigcup_{r=1}^{k_j} D_r^j.$$

Then  $\{D_r^j: j = 1, ..., m, r = 1, ..., m_j\}$  is a finite pairwise disjoint subset of A, and

$$A \sim \bigcup_{i=1}^{n+1} A_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^m \bigcup_{r=1}^{m_j} D_r^j.$$

► EXERCISE 19 (1.1.19). Other books deal with a system called a ring. We will not deal with rings of sets in this text, but since the reader might refer to other books that deal with rings, it is worthy to discuss the concept. A collection  $\mathcal{R}$  of subsets of a nonempty set  $\Omega$  is called a ring of subsets of  $\Omega$  iff

- (R1)  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$ ,
- **(R2)**  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  implies  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and
- **(R3)**  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  implies  $A \smallsetminus B \in \mathcal{R}$ .

That is, a ring is a nonempty collection of subsets closed under unions and differences.

- a.  $\emptyset$  is in every ring.
- b.  $\mathcal{R}$  is a ring iff  $\mathcal{R}$  satisfies (R1), (R2), and

**(R4)**  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  with  $A \subseteq B$  implies  $B \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{R}$ .

c. Every ring satisfies

(**R5**)  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  implies  $A \Delta B \in \mathcal{R}$ .

- d. Every ring is a  $\pi$ -system.
- e. Every ring is closed under finite unions and finite intersections.
- f.  $\mathcal{R}$  is a ring iff  $\mathcal{R}$  a nonempty  $\pi$ -system that satisfies (R4) along with

(R6)  $A, B \in \mathcal{R} \text{ and } A \cap B = \emptyset \text{ imply } A \cup B \in \mathcal{R}.$ 

- g.  $\mathcal{R}$  is a ring iff  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonempty  $\pi$ -system that satisfies (R5).
- h. Suppose that  $\{\mathcal{R}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$  is the "exhaustive list" of all rings that contain  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}$  is a ring that contains  $\mathcal{A}$ , and  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{R}_{\alpha}$  is contained in any ring that contains  $\mathcal{A}$ . The minimal ring containing  $\mathcal{A}$  is always exists and is unique.
- i. The collection of finite unions of rsc intervals is a ring on  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- j. Let  $\Omega$  be uncountable. The collection of all amc subsets of  $\Omega$  is a ring on  $\Omega$ .

**PROOF.** (a) By (R1), there exists some set  $A \in \mathcal{R}$ , it follows from (R3) that  $\emptyset = A \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{R}$ .

**(b)** We need only to prove that  $(R3) \iff (R4)$  under (R1) and (R2).

- $(R3) \Longrightarrow (R4)$  is obvious.
- (R4)  $\implies$  (R3): Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and note that  $B \smallsetminus A = (B \cup A) \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{R}$  since  $A \subseteq A \cup B$ , and  $B \cup A \in \mathcal{R}$  by (R2).

(c) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . By (R3),  $A \smallsetminus B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and  $B \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{R}$ ; by (R2),  $(A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A) \in \mathcal{R}$ . Observe that  $A \triangle B = (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A)$ , and we complete the proof.

(d) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . It is clear that  $A \cap B = (A \cup B) \setminus (A \Delta B)$ . Note that  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{R}$ [by (R2)],  $A \Delta B \in \mathcal{R}$  [by (c)], and  $(A \cup B) \setminus (A \Delta B) \in \mathcal{R}$  [by (R3)]. Therefore,  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $\pi$ -system.

(e) Just follows (R2) and (d).

(f) To see the *only if* part, suppose  $\mathcal{R}$  is a ring. Then (d) means that  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonempty  $\pi$ -system, (R3)  $\Longrightarrow$  (R4) [by part (b)], and (R2)  $\Longrightarrow$  (R6) [by definition]. Now we prove the *if* part. Note that

- (**R1**) By assumption;
- (R2) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . We can write  $A \cup B$  as

$$A \cup B = (A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A) \cup (A \cap B)$$
$$= [A \setminus (A \cap B)] \cup [B \setminus (A \cap B)] \cup (A \cap B).$$

Now (R4) implies that  $[A \setminus (A \cap B)] \in \mathcal{R}$ , and  $[B \setminus (A \cap B)] \in \mathcal{R}$ ; (R6) implies that  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{R}$ .<sup>2</sup>

**(R3)** Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . Then  $A \smallsetminus B = \emptyset \cup (A \smallsetminus B) = (A \cap A^c) \cup (A \cap B^c) = A \cap (A^c \cup B^c) = A \cap (A \cap B)^c = A \smallsetminus (A \cap B)$ . Clearly,  $A \cap B \subseteq A$ , so (R4) implies that  $A \smallsetminus B \in \mathcal{R}$ .

(g) To see the *only if* part, suppose that  $\mathcal{R}$  is a ring. Then (R1) and (d) implies  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonempty  $\pi$ -system, and we have (R5) by (c).

For the inverse direction, suppose that  $\mathcal R$  satisfies the given assumptions.

- (**R1**)  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$  by assumption;
- (R2) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . Then  $A \cup B = (A \Delta B) \cup (A \cap B) = (A \Delta B) \Delta (A \cap B)$ . Since  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $\pi$ -system,  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{R}$ . Thus, (R5) implies (R2).
- **(R3)** Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$ . Note that  $A \setminus B = (A \Delta B) \cap A$ . Then (R5) implies that  $A \Delta B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and  $(A \Delta B) \cap A \in \mathcal{R}$  since  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $\pi$ -system.<sup>3</sup>

(h) Similar to Exercise 6 and Exercise 252.

(i) See Exercise 255 (p.147).

(j) (R1) is trivial. (R2) holds because every finite (in fact, countable) union of amc sets is amc (see, e.g., Rudin 1976). To see (R3), let *A*, *B* be amc. Since  $A \\ \neg B = A \\ \neg (A \cap B) \\ \subseteq A$ , and  $A \cap B \\ \subseteq A$ , we know that  $A \\ \neg B$  is amc.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 20 (1.1.20). This problem explores the relationship between semirings and rings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For  $A \sim B = A \sim (A \cap B)$ , see part (g) of this exercise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Vestrup (2003, p.6) hints that  $A \setminus B = A\Delta (A \cap B)$ .

- a. Every ring is a semiring. However, not every semiring is a ring.
- b. Let A denote a semiring on  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mathcal{R}$  consist of the finite disjoint unions of A-sets. Then  $\mathcal{R}$  is closed under finite intersections and disjoint unions.
- c. If  $A, B \in A$  and  $A \subseteq B$ , then  $B A \in \mathcal{R}$ .
- d.  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and  $A \subseteq B$  imply  $B A \in \mathcal{R}$ .
- e.  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $A \subseteq B$  imply  $B A \in \mathcal{R}$ .
- f.  $\mathcal{R}$  is the minimal ring generated by  $\mathcal{A}$ .
- g. A semiring that satisfies (R2) is a ring.

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a ring. Then (R1)  $[\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset]$  and (R3)  $[\mathcal{R}$  is closed under differences] imply that there exists  $A \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\emptyset = A \setminus A \in \mathcal{R}$ . Thus, (SR1) is satisfied. To see that  $\mathcal{R}$  satisfies (SR2)  $[\mathcal{R}$  is a  $\pi$ -system], refer Exercise 19 (d). Finally, (R4) [Exercise 19 (b)] implies (SR3).

To see a semiring is not necessary a ring, note that the collection  $\mathcal{S} := \{\emptyset, (a, b] \mid a, b \in \mathbb{R}\}$  is a semiring, but is not a ring: let  $-\infty < a < b < c < d < +\infty$ , then  $(a, b] \cup (c, d] \notin \mathcal{S}$ .

Note that a semiring *S* is a ring *if* for any  $A, B \in S$  we have  $A \cup B \in S$  [Figure 1.1 (p.1), and part (g) of this exercise]. Any semiring generates a ring as in the Claim in Exercise 255 (p.147).

**(b)** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a semiring on  $\Omega$ , and let

$$\mathcal{R} := \left\{ \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i : A_i \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

To prove  $\mathcal{R}$  is closed under finite intersections, let  $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} A_j$ , and  $B = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} B_k$ , where the  $A_j$ 's are disjoint and in  $\mathcal{A}$ , as are the  $B_k$ 's. Then

$$A \cap B = \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{m} A_j\right) \cap \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{n} B_k\right) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \left(A_j \cap B_k\right) = \bigcup_{\substack{1 \le j \le m \\ 1 \le k \le n}} \left(A_j \cap B_k\right) \stackrel{\langle 1 \rangle}{\in} \mathcal{R},$$

where  $\langle 1 \rangle$  holds because the  $(A_j \cap B_k)$ 's are disjoint and in  $\mathcal{A}$  [by (SR2)]. Since the intersection of any two sets in  $\mathcal{R}$  is in  $\mathcal{R}$ , it follows by induction that so is the intersection of finitely many sets in  $\mathcal{R}$ .

A disjoint union of finitely many sets in  $\mathcal{R}$  is clearly in  $\mathcal{R}$ .

(c) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $A \subseteq B$ . Then by (SR3), there exists disjoint  $C_1, \ldots, C_k \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $B \setminus A = \bigcup_{i=1}^k C_i$ . Thus,  $B \setminus A \in \mathcal{R}$  by definition.

(d) Let  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{R}$ , and  $A \subseteq B$ . Then,

$$B - A \stackrel{\langle 2 \rangle}{=} \left( \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i \right) - A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (A_i \setminus A) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \left[ A_i - (A_i \cap A) \right] \stackrel{\langle 3 \rangle}{\in} \mathcal{R},$$

where  $\langle 2 \rangle$  follows the fact that  $B \in \mathcal{R}$  [the  $A_i$ 's are in  $\mathcal{A}$  and disjoint], and  $\langle 3 \rangle$  follows part (c) in this problem [note that  $A_i \in \mathcal{A}, A \in \mathcal{A}$ , and by (SR2),  $A_i \cap A \in \mathcal{A}$ ].

(e) Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $A \subseteq B$ . Then

$$B \sim A = \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{n} B_{k}\right) \sim \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{m} A_{j}\right) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \left[B_{k} \sim \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{m} A_{j}\right)\right] = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \left[\bigcap_{j=1}^{m} \left(B_{k} \sim A_{j}\right)\right]$$

Note that  $B_k, A_j \in A$ , then  $B_k \cap A_j \in A$  [(SR2)], and by part (c),

$$B_k \smallsetminus A_j = B_k - (B_k \cap A_j) \in \mathcal{R}.$$

Furthermore, by part (b),  $\bigcap_{j=1}^{m} (B_k \smallsetminus A_j) \in \mathcal{R}$ , and so  $B - A \in \mathcal{R}$ .

(f) Let  $\Re(\mathcal{A})$  be the class of rings containing  $\mathcal{A}$ , and let  $\mathcal{C} \in \Re(\mathcal{A})$ . By definition, if  $A \in \mathcal{R}$ , then  $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ , where  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^{n} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  are disjoint. Then  $A \in \mathcal{C}$  since  $\mathcal{C}$  is a ring containing  $\mathcal{A}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{R}$  is the minimal ring containing  $\mathcal{A}$ .

(g) Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a semiring satisfying (R2)  $[A, B \in \mathcal{A} \implies A \cup B \in \mathcal{A}]$ . Then  $\mathcal{A}$  is nonempty since  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{A}$  by definition of a semiring. By (R2),  $\mathcal{A}$  is  $\bigcup$ -stable; hence, to prove  $\mathcal{A}$  is a ring, we need only to prove that  $\mathcal{A}$  is closed under difference. Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then

$$A \smallsetminus B = A - (A \cap B) \stackrel{1}{=} \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} C_i \in \mathcal{A},$$

where  $\{C_i\}_{i=1}^k \subseteq A$  are disjoint, and equality (1) follows (SR3).

- ► EXERCISE 21 (1.1.21). Let  $\Omega$  be infinite, and let  $A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  have cardinality  $\aleph_0$ . We will show that the ring generated by A has cardinality  $\aleph_0$ .
- a. Given  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ , let  $\mathcal{C}^*$  denote the collection of all finite unions of differences of  $\mathcal{C}$ -sets. If  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}) = \aleph_0$ , then  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}^*) = \aleph_0$ . Also,  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{C}$  implies  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{C}^*$ .
- b. Let  $A_0 = A$ , and define  $A_n = A_{n-1}^*$  for  $n \ge 1$ . Then  $A \subseteq \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n \subseteq \Re(A)$ , where  $\Re(A)$  is the minimal ring generated by A and where [without loss of generality]  $\emptyset \in A$ . Also, card $(\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n) = \aleph_0$ .
- c.  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n$  is a ring on  $\Omega$ , and from the fact that  $\Re(A)$  is the minimal ring containing A, we have  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n = \Re(A)$ , and thus  $\operatorname{card}(\Re(A)) = \aleph_0$ .
- d. We may generalize: if A is infinite, then  $card(A) = card(\Re(A))$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathcal{C}' := \{C_i \smallsetminus C_j : C_i, C_j \in \mathcal{C}\}$ . Since  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}) = \aleph_0$  [ $\mathcal{C}$  is countable], we can write  $\mathcal{C}$  as

$$\mathcal{C} = \{C_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}.$$

We now show that  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}') = \aleph_0$ . Notice that for any  $C_n \in \mathcal{C}$ , we can construct a bijection on  $\mathbb{N}$  onto  $C_n \smallsetminus \mathcal{C} := \{C_n \smallsetminus C_i : C_i \in \mathcal{C}\}$  as follows

$$f_{C_n}(i) = C_n \smallsetminus C_i,$$

but which means that  $C_n \smallsetminus \mathcal{C}$  is countable. Then,

$$\mathcal{C}' = \bigcup_{C_n \in \mathcal{C}} [C_n \smallsetminus \mathcal{C}]$$

is a countable union of countable sets, so it is countable [under the Axiom of Choice, see (Hrbacek and Jech, 1999, Corollary 3.6, p. 75)].

Now we show that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the set  $\mathcal{C}_n^*$  defined by

$$\mathcal{C}_n^* = \left\{ \bigcup_{i=1}^n C_i' \colon C_i' \in \mathcal{C}' \text{ and } C_i' \neq C_j' \text{ whenever } i \neq j \right\}$$

is countable. We prove this claim with the Induction Principle on  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Clearly, this claim holds with n = 1 since in this case,  $\mathcal{C}_1^* = \mathcal{C}'$ . Assume that it is true for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We need to prove the case of n + 1. However,

$$\mathcal{C}_{n+1}^* = \mathcal{C}_n^* \cup \overline{C'},$$

where

$$\overline{\mathcal{C}'} := \left\{ C' \in \mathcal{C}' \colon C' \neq C'_i \,\,\forall \,\, i \leq n \right\}.$$

Because  $\mathcal{C}'$  is countable, we conclude that  $\overline{\mathcal{C}'} \subseteq \mathcal{C}'$  is amc. Therefore,  $\mathcal{C}_{n+1}^*$  is countable. Hence, by the Induction Principle,  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}_n^*) = \aleph_0$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and

$$\mathcal{C}^* = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{C}_n^* \tag{1.3}$$

is countable.

We now show that if  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{C}$ , then  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{C}^*$ . Let  $C \in \mathcal{C}$ , then  $C \in \mathcal{C}'$  because  $C = C \setminus \emptyset$ ; therefore,

$$\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{C}' \subseteq \mathcal{C}^*.$$

[Remember that  $\mathcal{C}' = \mathcal{C}_1^*$  and (11.1).]

**(b)** By the definition of  $A_n$ , we know  $A_1 = A^*$ , the collection of all finite unions of differences of A sets. Since  $\emptyset \in A$ , we know from part (a) that  $A \subseteq A^* = A_1$ ; therefore,

$$\mathcal{A} \subseteq \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n. \tag{1.4}$$

We are now ready to prove that  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \subseteq \Re(\mathcal{A})$ . We use the Induction Principle to prove that

$$\mathcal{A}_i \subseteq \mathfrak{R}(\mathcal{A}), \quad \forall \ i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (Pi)

Clearly, P0 holds as  $A_0 = A \subseteq \Re(A)$ . Now assume Pn holds. We need to prove Pn + 1. Notice that  $A_{n+1} = A^*$ , the collection of all finite unions of differences of  $A_n$ -sets, we can write a generic element of  $A_{n+1}$  as

$$A_{n+1} = \bigcup_{j=1}^m A'_j,$$

where  $A'_j = A'_n \setminus A''_n$ , and  $A'_n, A''_n \in A_n$ . Since  $A_n \subseteq \mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{A})$  by  $\mathbf{P}n$ , we know that  $A_j = A'_n \setminus A''_n \in \mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{A})$  by (R3); therefore,  $A_{n+1} = \bigcup_{j=1}^m A'_j \in \mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{A})$  by (R2). This proves  $\mathbf{P}n + 1$ . Then, by the Induction Principle, we know that  $A_n \subseteq \mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; therefore,

$$\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n \subseteq \mathfrak{R}(\mathcal{A}). \tag{1.5}$$

Combine (11.2) and (1.5) we have

$$\mathcal{A} \subseteq \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n \subseteq \Re(\mathcal{A}).$$
(1.6)

To prove  $\operatorname{card}(\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n) = \aleph_0$ , we first use the Induction Principle again to prove that  $\mathcal{A}_n$  is countable,  $\forall n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Clearly,  $\mathcal{A}_1 = \mathcal{A}^*$  is countable by part (a). Assume  $\mathcal{A}_n$  is countable, then  $\mathcal{A}_{n+1} = \mathcal{A}^*$  is countable by part (a) once again. Therefore,  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n$  is countable [under the Axiom of Choice].

(c) Clearly,  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n := \tilde{A} \neq \emptyset$ , so (R1) is satisfied. To see (R2) and (R3), let  $A, B \in \tilde{A}$ . Then there exist  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A \in A_m$  and  $B \in A_n$ . We have shown in part (a) that

$$\mathcal{A}_{n+1} = \mathcal{A}_n^* \supseteq \mathcal{A}_n$$

[along with the Induction Principle]. Therefore, either  $A_m \subseteq A_n$  [if  $m \leq n$ ] or  $A_n \subseteq A_m$  [if  $n \leq m$ ]. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $m \leq n$ , i.e.,  $A_m \subseteq A_n$ ; therefore,  $A \in A_m \implies A \in A_n$ . Therefore,  $A, B \in A_n$  implies that

$$A \cup B = (A \setminus \emptyset) \cup (B \setminus \emptyset) \in \mathcal{A}_n^* = \mathcal{A}_{n+1} \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{A}},$$

[this proves (R2)], and

$$A \setminus B = \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n_A} A_i\right) \setminus \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{n_B} B_j\right) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n_A + n_B} \left(A_i \setminus B_j\right) \in \mathcal{A}_n^* \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_n$$

[this proves (R3)]. Hence,  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$  is a ring, and  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = \Re(\mathcal{A})$ ; furthermore, we have  $\operatorname{card}(\Re(\mathcal{A})) = \aleph_0$ .

(d) Straightforward.

#### **1.2 FIELDS**

► EXERCISE 22 (1.2.1). The collection  $\mathcal{F} = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is finite or } A^c \text{ is finite}\}$  is a field on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF.  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  because  $\Omega^c = \emptyset$  is finite; let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . If A is finite,  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  as  $(A^c)^c = A$  is finite; if  $A^c$  is finite  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under complements. Finally, let  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ . There are two cases: (i) both A and B are finite, then  $A \cup B$  is finite, whence  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{F}$ ; (ii) at least one of  $A^c$  or  $B^c$  is finite. Assume that  $B^c$  is. We have  $(A \cup B)^c = A^c \cap B^c \subseteq B^c$ , and thus  $(A \cup B)^c$  is finite, so that gain  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{F}$ .

► EXERCISE 23 (1.2.2). Let  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  be such that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $A \setminus B \in \mathcal{F}$  whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a field on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. We need to check  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfies (F1)-(F3).  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  by assumption. Let  $A = \Omega$  and  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $B^c = \Omega \setminus B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $A^c, B^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . Since  $(A \cup B)^c = A^c \cap B^c = A^c \setminus B \in \mathcal{F}$ , we must have  $A \cup B = [(A \cup B)^c]^c \in \mathcal{F}$ .  $\Box$ 

EXERCISE 24 (1.2.3). Every  $\lambda$ -system that is closed under arbitrary differences is a field.

PROOF. We only need to show that it is closed under finite unions, and it comes from the previous exercise.  $\hfill \Box$ 

► EXERCISE 25 (1.2.4). Let  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  satisfy (F1) and (F2), and suppose that  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under finite disjoint unions. Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is not necessarily a field.

SOLUTION. For example, let  $\Omega = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ , and

$$\mathcal{F} = \left\{ \varnothing, \Omega, \{1, 2\}, \{3, 4\}, \{2, 3\}, \{1, 4\} \right\}$$

 ${\mathcal F}$  satisfies all the requirements, but which is not a field since, for example,

$$\{1,2\} \cup \{2,3\} = \{1,2,3\} \notin \mathcal{F}.$$

► EXERCISE 26 (1.2.5). Suppose that  $\mathcal{F}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_3 \subseteq \cdots$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is a field on  $\Omega$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$  is a field on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. (F1)  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_n$ , for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , so  $\Omega \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ ; [Of course, it is enough to check that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_n$  for some  $\mathcal{F}_n$ .] (F2) Suppose  $A \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ . Then there exist  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{F}_n$ . So  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}_n \Longrightarrow A^c \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ ; (F3) Let  $A, B \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ . Then  $\exists m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{F}_m$ , and  $\exists n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B \in \mathcal{F}_n$ . Hence,  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{F}_m \cup \mathcal{F}_n \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ .

► EXERCISE 27 (1.2.6). The collection consisting of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $\emptyset$ , and all *k*-dimensional rectangles of all forms fails to be a field on  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .

SOLUTION. Consider k = 1 and [a, b], where  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $[a, b]^c = (-\infty, a) \cup (b, +\infty)$  is not a interval.

The  $k \ge 2$  case can be generalized easily. For example, let

$$A = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{k} [a_i, b_i]$$

Then  $A^c$  is not a rectangle.

► EXERCISE 28 (1.2.7). The collection consisting of  $\emptyset$  and the finite disjoint unions of *k*-dimensional rsc subrectangles of the given *k*-dimensional rsc rectangle (a, b) is a field on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. A more general proposition can be found in Folland (1999, Proposition 1.7). Denote the set system given in the problem as S, a semiring, and the collection of  $\emptyset$  and the finite disjoint unions of k-dimensional rsc subrectangles as A First  $\Omega = \bigcup_{i \in \emptyset} I_i$  by definition, where  $I_i \in S$ . If  $A, B \in S$  and  $B^c = \bigcup_{i=1}^n C_i$ , where  $C_i \in S$ . Then  $A \setminus B = \bigcup_{i=1}^n (A \cap C_i)$  and  $A \cup B = (A \setminus B) \cup B$ . Hence  $A \setminus B \in A$  and  $A \cup B \in A$ . It now follows by induction that if  $A_1, \ldots, A_n \in S$ , then  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i \in A$ . It is easy to see that A is closed under complements.

• EXERCISE 29 (1.2.8). An arbitrary intersection of fields on  $\Omega$  is a field on  $\Omega$ .

**PROOF.** Let  $\{\mathcal{F}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$  be a set of fields on  $\Omega$ , where *A* is some arbitrary set of indexes. Then

- **(F1)**  $\Omega \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$  since  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$  for any  $\alpha \in A$ .
- (F2) Let  $B \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$ , then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$ , for any  $\alpha \in A$ ; hence  $A^c \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$ .
- **(F3)** Let  $B, C \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$ . Then  $B, C \in \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}, \forall \alpha \in A$ . Hence,  $B \cup C \in \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}, \forall \alpha \in A$ , and  $B \cap C \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$ .

► EXERCISE 30 (1.2.9). Let  $\Omega$  be arbitrary, and let  $A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . There exists a unique field  $\mathcal{F}$  on  $\Omega$  with the properties that (i)  $A \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , and (ii) if  $\mathcal{G}$  is a field with  $A \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ , then  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ . This field  $\mathcal{F}$  is called the [minimal] field [on  $\Omega$ ] generated by A.

PROOF. Let { $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$  : *α* ∈ *A*} be the exhaustive set of fields on *Ω* containing *A*. Then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in A} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}$  is the desired field. □

► EXERCISE 31 (1.2.10). Let  $A_1, \ldots, A_n \subsetneq \Omega$  be disjoint. What does a typical element in the minimal field generated by  $\{A_1, \ldots, A_n\}$  look like?

SOLUTION. Refer to Ash and Doléans-Dade (2000, Exercise 1.2.8). To save notation, let **F** denote the minimal field generated by  $\mathcal{A} := \{A_1, \ldots, A_n\}$ . We consider an element of  $\mathbf{F} \setminus \{\Omega, \emptyset\}$ . We can write a typical element  $B \in \mathbf{F}$  as follows,

$$B = B_1 * B_2 * \cdots * B_m$$

where \* is an set operation either  $\cup$  or  $\cap$ , and  $B_i \in \{A_1, \ldots, A_n, A_1^c, \ldots, A_n^c\}$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ .

► EXERCISE 32 (1.2.11). Let *S* be finite, and  $\Omega$  denote the set of sequences of elements of *S*. For each  $\omega \in \Omega$ , write

$$\omega = (z_1(\omega), z_2(\omega), \ldots),$$

so that  $z_k(\omega)$  denotes the k-th term of  $\omega$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $H \subseteq S^n$ , let

$$C_n(H) := \{ \omega \in \Omega \mid z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega) \in H \}$$

Let

$$\mathcal{F} := \left\{ C_n \left( H \right) \, \middle| \, n \in \mathbb{N}, \, H \subseteq S^n \right\}$$

Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a field of subsets of  $S^{\infty}$ . [The sets  $C_n(H)$  are called cylinders of rank n, and  $\mathcal{F}$  is collection of all cylinders of all ranks.]

PROOF. See Figure 1 (p.2) for more details about Cylinders. To prove  ${\mathcal F}$  is a field, note that

**(F1)**  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ . Consider  $C_{\infty}(S^{\infty})$ ; then  $\omega \in C_{\infty}(S^{\infty})$ ,  $\forall \omega \in \Omega$ , which means  $\Omega \subseteq C_{\infty}(S^{\infty})$ . Hence,

$$\Omega = C_{\infty}\left(S^{\infty}\right) \in \mathcal{F}.$$

**(F2)** To prove that  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under complements, consider any  $C_n(H) \in \mathcal{F}$ . By definition,

$$C_n(H) := \{ \omega \in \Omega \mid z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega) \in H \}.$$

Then,

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_n(H) \end{bmatrix}^c = \{ \omega \in \Omega : [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)] \notin H \}$$
$$= \{ \omega \in \Omega : [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)] \in H^c \}$$
$$= C_n (H^c)$$
$$\in \mathcal{F}.$$

( $\pi$ -system) Finally, we need to prove  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under finite intersections.<sup>4</sup>

 $^4$  It is hard to prove that  ${\cal F}$  is closed under finite unions. See below for my first but failed try.

(Wrong!) Let  $C_m(G)$ ,  $C_n(H) \in \mathcal{F}$ , where  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $G \subseteq S^m$ ,  $H \subseteq S^n$ . By definition,  $C_m(G) \cup C_n(H) = \left\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_m(\omega)] \in G \right\} \bigcup \left\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)] \in H \right\}$   $\stackrel{1}{=} \left\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid [z_1(\omega), \dots, z_{m \wedge n}(\omega)] \in (H \cup G) \right\}$   $\stackrel{2}{=} C_{m \wedge n} (G_{m \wedge n} \cup H_{m \wedge n})$  $\in \mathcal{F}$ , Consider two cylinders,  $C_m(G)$  and  $C_n(H)$ , where  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $G \subseteq S^m$ , and  $H \subseteq S^n$ . We need to prove that  $C_m(G) \cap C_n(H) \in \mathcal{F}$ . In fact,

$$C_m(G) \cap C_n(H) = C_{m \lor n} \left( (G_{m \land n} \cap H_{m \land n}) \times \left( G_{m - (m \land n)} \cup H_{n - (m \land n)} \right) \right) \in \mathcal{F},$$

where, for example,  $G_{m \wedge n}$  in equality (2),  $G_{m \wedge n} \subseteq S^{m \wedge n}$ ,  $G_{m-(m \wedge n)} \subseteq S^{m-(m \wedge n)}$ , and  $G_{m \wedge n} \times G_{m-(m \wedge n)} = G$ .

To see why equality (1) holds, we need the following facts:

CLAIM 1. Suppose that  $m \leq n$ ,  $H = G \times H_{n-m}$ , and  $G \subseteq S^m$ . Then  $C_m(G) \supseteq C_n(H)$ .

PROOF. Pick any  $\omega' \in C_n(H)$ . By definition,

$$\left[z_1\left(\omega'\right),\ldots,z_n\left(\omega'\right)\right]\in H=G\times H_{n-m},$$

which means that

$$\left[z_1(\omega'),\ldots,z_m(\omega')\right]\in G\Longrightarrow \omega'\in C_m(G).$$

CLAIM 2. If  $G \subseteq H \subseteq S^n$ , then  $C_n(G) \subseteq C_n(H)$ .

PROOF. Straightforward.

CLAIM 3. For any  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $G \subseteq S^m, H \subseteq S^n$ , we have

$$C_m(G) \cup C_n(H) \subseteq C_{m \wedge n}(G_{m \wedge n} \cup H_{m \wedge n}).$$

PROOF. Without loss of any generality, we assume that  $m \wedge n = m$ . Pick any  $\omega' \in C_m(G) \cup C_n(H)$ . Then,

$$\left[z_1(\omega'),\ldots,z_m(\omega')\right] \in G, \text{ or } \left[z_1(\omega'),\ldots,z_n(\omega')\right] \in H.$$

From Claim 2, we have

$$\left[z_1(\omega'),\ldots,z_m(\omega')\right] \in G \cup H_m, \text{ or } \left[z_1(\omega'),\ldots,z_n(\omega')\right] \in (G \cup H_m) \times H_{n-m},$$

where  $H_m \subseteq S^m$ , and  $H = H_m \times H_{n-m}$ . Then, by Claim 1, if  $m \wedge n = m$ , we have

$$\omega' \in C_m \left( G \cup H_m \right).$$

CLAIM 4. For any  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $G \subseteq S^m, H \subseteq S^n$ , we have

$$C_m(G) \cup C_n(H) \supseteq C_{m \wedge n}(G_{m \wedge n} \cup H_{m \wedge n}).$$

PROOF. We still assume that  $m \wedge n = m$ . Pick any  $\omega' \in C_{m \wedge n} (G_{m \wedge n} \cup H_{m \wedge n}) = C_m (G \cup H_m)$ . By definition,

$$\left[z_1\left(\omega'\right),\ldots,z_m\left(\omega'\right)\right]\in G\cup H_m;$$

that is,

$$\left[z_{1}\left(\omega'\right),\ldots,z_{m}\left(\omega'\right)\right]\in G \quad \text{or} \quad \left[z_{1}\left(\omega'\right),\ldots,z_{m}\left(\omega'\right)\right]\in H_{m}.$$

where  $G_{m \wedge n}$ ,  $H_{m \wedge n} \subseteq S^{m \wedge n}$ ,  $G_{m-(m \wedge n)} \subseteq S^{m-(m \wedge n)}$ ,  $H_{n-(m \wedge n)} \subseteq S^{n-(m \wedge n)}$ ,  $G = G_{m \wedge n} \times G_{m-(m \wedge n)}$ ,  $H = H_{m \wedge n} \times H_{n-(m \wedge m)}$ , and we define  $G_0 = H_0 = \emptyset$ .

► EXERCISE 33 (1.2.12). Suppose that A is a semiring on  $\Omega$  with  $\Omega \in A$ . The collection of finite disjoint unions of A-sets is a field on  $\Omega$ . [Compare with Example 3 and Exercise 28.]

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a semiring, and  $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the collection of finite disjoint unions of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets, tha is,  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  iff for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have  $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ , where  $A_i$ 's are disjoint  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets.  $\mathcal{F}$  is a field: (i)  $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $\mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q} \cup \mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{F}$ . (ii) Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ , where  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^n \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ . To prove  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$ , we need only to prove  $A_i^c \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $A^c = \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} A_i^c$ , and  $\mathcal{A}$  is a semiring  $[\bigcap$ -stable]. But  $A_i^c \in \mathcal{F}$  is directly from (SR3) and the fact that  $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{A}$  since  $A_i^c = \Omega \setminus A_i = \bigcup_{j=1}^{n^i} C_j^i$ , where  $\{C_j^i\}_{j=1}^{n^i} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  is disjoint, and  $n^i \in \mathbb{N}, \forall i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , that is, each  $A_i^c$  is a finite disjoint union of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets. Thus,  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under complements.

Instead of proving that  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfies (F3) directly, we prove that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\pi$ -system. Let  $B_1, B_2 \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then

$$B_1 \cap B_2 = \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i\right) \cap \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^k A_j\right) = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \left[\bigcup_{j=1}^k \left(A_i \cap A_j\right)\right] = \bigcup_{i,j} \left(A_i \cap A_j\right).$$

Note that  $A_i \cap A_j \in \mathcal{A}$  by (SR2). Hence  $B_1 \cap B_2 \in \mathcal{F}$ .

► EXERCISE 34 (1.2.13). Let  $f: \Omega \to \Omega'$ . Given  $\mathcal{A}' \subseteq 2^{\Omega'}$ , let  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}') = \{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}') : \mathcal{A}' \in \mathcal{A}'\}$ , where  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$  is the usual inverse image of  $\mathcal{A}'$  under f.

a. If  $\mathcal{A}'$  is a field on  $\Omega'$ , then  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$  is a field on  $\Omega$ .

b. f(A) may not be a field over  $\Omega'$  even if A is a field on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathcal{A}'$  be a field on  $\Omega'$ . (i) Since  $\Omega = f^{-1}(\Omega')$  and  $\Omega' \in \mathcal{A}'$ , we have that  $\Omega \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$ . (ii) If  $A \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$ , then  $A = f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$  for some  $A' \in \mathcal{A}'$ . Therefore,  $A^c = [f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')]^c = f^{-1}((\mathcal{A}')^c)$ , and  $(\mathcal{A}')^c \in \mathcal{A}'$  since  $\mathcal{A}'$  is a field. It follows that  $A^c \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$ , so that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$  is closed under complements. (iii) To see that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}')$  is closed under finite unions, let  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^n \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ , where  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , there is  $A'_i \in \mathcal{A}'$  with  $A_i = f^{-1}(A_i)$ . Therefore,

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_{i} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} f^{-1}(A_{i}') = f^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}'\right) \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{A}'),$$

since  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A'_i \in \mathcal{A}'$ .

**(b)** The simplest case is that *f* is not onto [surjective]. In this case,  $f(\Omega) \subsetneq \Omega'$ ; that is,  $\Omega' \notin A'$ , and so A' is not a field on  $\Omega'$ .

► EXERCISE 35 (1.2.14). Let  $\Omega$  be infinite, and let  $A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  have cardinality  $\aleph_0$ . Let f(A) denote the minimal field generated by A [Exercise 30]. We will show that card $(f(A)) = \aleph_0$ .

- a. Given a collection  $\mathcal{C}$ , let  $\mathcal{C}^*$  denote the collection of
  - *i. finite unions of C-sets,*
  - ii. finite unions of differences of C-sets, and
  - iii. finite unions of complements of  $\mathcal{C}$ -sets.

If  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{C}$ , then  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{C}^*$ . If  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}) = \aleph_0$ , then  $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}^*) = \aleph_0$ .

Proof.

EXERCISE 36 (1.2.15). Some books work with a system of sets called an algebra. An algebra on  $\Omega$  is a nonempty collection of subsets of  $\Omega$  that satisfies (F2) and (F3).

a.  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra on  $\Omega$  iff  $\mathcal{F}$  is a ring on  $\Omega$  with  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ .

b.  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra iff  $\mathcal{F}$  is a field. Thus algebra and field are synonymous.

Proof.

(a:  $\implies$ ) Suppose  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra. Then,

- **(R1)**  $\mathcal{F} \neq \emptyset$  by assumption.
- **(R2)**  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\bigcup$ -stable follows (F3).
- **(R3)** The assumption of  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  and (F2) imply that if  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $A^c = \Omega A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B^c = \Omega B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then

$$\left[ \left( A^{c} \cup B \right) \stackrel{(F3)}{\in} \mathcal{F} \right] \stackrel{(F2)}{\Longrightarrow} \left[ \left( A^{c} \cup B \right)^{c} \in \mathcal{F} \right] \Longrightarrow \left[ A \smallsetminus B \in \mathcal{F} \right].$$

This proves that  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under difference.

(a:  $\Leftarrow$ ) Suppose  $\mathcal{F}$  is a ring and  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ . To prove  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra on  $\Omega$ , note that

- (A1)  $\mathcal{F} \neq \emptyset$  since  $\mathcal{F}$  is a ring.
- **(F2)** Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Because  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  and (R3), we have  $A^c = \Omega A \in \mathcal{F}$ . This proves that  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under difference.
- **(F3)**  $\bigcup$ -stability follows (R2).

(b) We need only to prove that  $\mathcal{F}$  is an field if  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra since the reverse direction is trivial.

Suppose  $\mathcal{F}$  is an algebra. We want to show  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ . Since  $\mathcal{F} \neq \emptyset$  by definition of an algebra, there must exist  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  by (F2), and so  $\Omega = A \cup A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  by (F3).

#### 1.3 $\sigma$ -FIELDS

► EXERCISE 37 (1.3.1). A collection  $\mathcal{F}$  of sets is called a monotone class iff (MC1) for every nondecreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets we have  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ , and (MC2) for every nonincreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets we have  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ .

- a. If  $\mathcal{F}$  is both a field and a monotone class, then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field.
- b. A field is a monotone class if and only if it is a  $\sigma$ -field.

PROOF. See Chung (2001, Theorem 2.1.1).

- a. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  is both a field and a MC. Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , then  $B_n = \bigcup_{i=1}^n A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ since  $\mathcal{F}$  is a *field*,  $B_n \subseteq B_{n+1}$ , and  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n \in \mathcal{F}$ .
- b. We only need to show the "IF" part. But it is trivial: A  $\sigma$ -filed is a field and a MC.

- EXERCISE 38 (1.3.2). This problem discusses some equivalent formulations of  $a \sigma$ -field.
- a.  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfies (S1), (S2), and closure under amc intersections iff  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field.
- b. Every field that is closed under countable disjoint unions is a  $\sigma$ -field.
- c. If  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfies (S1), closure under differences, and closure under countable unions or closure under countable intersections, then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field.

PROOF. (a) For the "ONLY IF" part, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfy (S1) and (S2). Then  $A_n^c \in \mathcal{F}$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; hence,  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \left(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^c\right)^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . The "IF" part is proved by the same logic.

**(b)** We need only to prove  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under countable unitions. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a field, and  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ . Let

$$B_k = A_k \cap \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} A_i\right)^c.$$

It is clear that  $\{B_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  is disjoint, and  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ . This completes the proof.

(c) We only need to prove (S2), that is,  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under complementation. Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . By (S1),  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $A^c = \Omega \setminus A \in \mathcal{F}$  since by assumption,  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under difference.

- ► EXERCISE 39 (1.3.3). *Prove the following claims.*
- a. A finite union of  $\sigma$ -fields on  $\Omega$  is not necessarily a field on  $\Omega$ .
- b. If a finite union of  $\sigma$ -fields on  $\Omega$  is a field, then it is a  $\sigma$ -field as well.
- c. Given  $\sigma$ -fields  $\mathcal{F}_1 \subsetneq \mathcal{F}_2 \subsetneq \cdots$  on  $\Omega$ , it is not necessarily the case that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$  is a  $\sigma$ -field.

PROOF. (a) Let  $\{\mathcal{F}_i\}_{i=1}^n$  be a class of  $\sigma$ -fields, and consider  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i$ , where  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$ . Note that it is possible that  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i \notin \mathcal{F}_j$  for any j, so  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i \notin \bigcup_{i=1}^n \mathcal{F}_i$ . For example (Athreya and Lahiri, 2006, Exercise 1.5, p.32), let

$$\Omega = \{1, 2, 3\}, \quad \mathcal{F}_1 = \{\{1\}, \{2, 3\}, \Omega, \emptyset\}, \quad \mathcal{F}_2 \{\{1, 2\}, \{3\}, \Omega, \emptyset\}.$$

It is easy to verify that  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  are both  $\sigma$ -fields, but  $\mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2$  is not a field since  $\{1\} \cup \{3\} = \{1, 3\} \notin \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2$ .

**(b)** Without loss of any generality, we here just consider two  $\sigma$ -fields,  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$ , on  $\Omega$ . Consider a sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2$ . Then we can construct two sequences, one in  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and one in  $\mathcal{F}_2$ . Particularly, the sequence of sets  $\{A_n^1\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1$  is constructed as follows:

$$A_n^1 = \begin{cases} A_n, & \text{if } A_n \in \mathcal{F}_1 \\ \emptyset, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The sequence of sets  $\{A_n^2\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2$  is constructed similarly. Then  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k^1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} A_m^2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  since both  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  are  $\sigma$ -fields, and

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^1\right) \cup \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^2\right).$$

If  $\mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2$  is a field, we have

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^1\right) \cup \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^2\right) \in \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2.$$

(c) See Broughton and Huff (1977) for a more general result. Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{N}$  and for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \sigma\left(\left\{\{1\},\ldots,\{n\}\right\}\right).$$

Since  $\{\{1\}, \ldots, \{m\}\} \subseteq \{\{1\}, \ldots, \{n\}\}$  when m < n, we have  $\mathcal{F}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \cdots$ . It it clear that  $\{1\}, \{2\}, \ldots \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n$ , but

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{n\} = \{1, 2, \ldots\} \notin \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_n,$$

since there does not exist a  $\mathcal{F}_n$  such that  $\{1, 2, \ldots\} \in \mathcal{F}_n$ , for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

► EXERCISE 40 (1.3.5). A subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is called nowhere dense iff every open interval *I* contains an open interval *J* such that  $J \cap A = \emptyset$ . Clearly  $\emptyset$  and all subsets of a nowhere dense set are nowhere dense. A subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is called a set of the first category iff *A* is a countable union of nowhere dense sets.

- a. An amc union of sets of the first category is of the first category.
- b. Let  $\mathcal{F} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{R} : A \text{ or } A^c \text{ is a set of the first category}\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field of subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ .

**PROOF.** Refer Gamelin and Greene (1999, Section 1.2) for the more detailed definitions and discussion of *nowhere dense* and the *first category set*.

(a) Consider a countable sequence of sets of the first category,  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ . Then  $A_n = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i^n$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\{A_i^n\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$  are nowhere dense. Clearly, the amc unions of amc unions is still amc, which proves the claim.

**(b)** Let  $\mathcal{F} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{R} : A \text{ or } A^c \text{ is a set of the first category}\}$ . Then  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $\emptyset$  is of the first category and  $\Omega = \emptyset^c$ . To see  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under complementation, let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . (i) If A is of the first category, then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $(A^c)^c = A$  is of the first category; (ii) If  $A^c$  is of the first category, then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  by the definition of  $\mathcal{F}$ . In any case,  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  implies that  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$ .

Finally, to see  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\sigma$ - $\bigcup$ -stable, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. There are two cases: (i) Each  $A_n$  is of the first category. Then part (a) of this exercise implies that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ . (ii) Some  $A_n^c$  is of the first category. In this case, we assume without loss of generality that  $A_1^c$  is of the first category, and we have that  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^c \subseteq A_1^c$ . It is trivial that  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c$  is of the first category is of the first category. Particularly, let  $A_1^c = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ , where the  $B_n$ 's are nowhere dense sets. Since  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c \subseteq A_1^c$ , we must can rewrite  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c$  as

$$\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C^n,$$

where every  $C_n$  is a subset of  $B_n$  and some  $C_n$ 's maybe be empty. Note that then every  $C_n$  is nowhere dense no matter  $C_n = \emptyset$  or not. Consequently,  $\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c$  is of the first category by definition.

EXERCISE 41 (1.3.6). A  $\sigma$ -ring of subsets of  $\Omega$  is a nonempty collection of subsets of  $\Omega$  that is closed under differences as well as countable unions.

a. Every  $\sigma$ -ring is closed under finite unions and amc intersections.

- b.  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field iff  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -ring with  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ .
- c. State and prove an existence and uniqueness result regarding the [minimal]  $\sigma$ -ring generated by a collection A of subsets of  $\Omega$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a  $\sigma$ -ring. We first prove that  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{R}$ . Since  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$ , there exists  $A \in \mathcal{R}$ ; moreover, since  $\mathcal{R}$  is closed under difference, we have  $\emptyset = A \setminus A \in \mathcal{R}$ . Now consider an arbitrary sequence of  $\mathcal{R}$ -sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, \emptyset, \emptyset, \ldots$ . Because  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $\sigma$ -U-stable, we know that

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_{i} = (A_{1} \cup A_{2} \cup \dots \cup A_{n}) \cup (\emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \dots) \in \mathcal{R},$$

which proves that  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $\bigcup$ -stable.

To see  $\mathcal{R}$  is closed under amc intersections, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{R}$ . Then  $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{R}$ . Let

$$A'_n = A \smallsetminus A_n, \quad \forall \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Then  $\{A'_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{R}, \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A'_n \in \mathcal{R}$ , and

$$A \smallsetminus \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A'_n\right) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{R}$$

since  $A \setminus (\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A'_n) \in \mathcal{R}$ . [Basically, I let *A* be the universal space, and  $A'_n$  be the complements of  $A_n$  in *A*.]

**(b)** Suppose that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. Then  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  be (S1). To see  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under difference, let  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then (S2) implies that  $B^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\bigcap$ -stable, we have  $A \setminus B = A \cap B^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . The fact that  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\sigma$ - $\bigcup$ -stable follows (S3).

Now suppose that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -ring with  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ . We need only to prove that  $\mathcal{F}$  satisfies (S2). Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Since  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed under difference, we have

$$A^c = \Omega \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{F}.$$

(c) Standard. Omitted.

- ► EXERCISE 42 (1.3.9).
- a. If  $A \subseteq A' \subseteq \sigma(A)$ , then  $\sigma(A') = \sigma(A)$ .
- b. For any collection  $\emptyset \neq A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ ,  $\pi(A) \subseteq \lambda(A) \subseteq \sigma(A)$ .
- c. If the nonempty collection A is finite, then  $\sigma(A) = f(A)$ .
- d. For arbitrary collection A, we have  $\sigma(A) = \sigma(f(A))$ .
- e. For arbitrary collection A, we have  $f(\sigma(A)) = \sigma(f(A))$ .

PROOF. (a) On the first hand,  $A \subseteq A'$  implies that  $\sigma(A) \subseteq \sigma(A')$ ; on the second hand,  $A' \subseteq \sigma(A)$  implies that  $\sigma(A') \subseteq \sigma(\sigma(A)) = \sigma(A)$ . We thus get the equality.
**(b)** Let  $\Pi(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $\Lambda(\mathcal{A})$ , and  $\Sigma(\mathcal{A})$  denote the collection of all  $\pi$ -systems,  $\lambda$ -systems, and  $\sigma$ -fields of subsets of  $\Omega$  that contain  $\mathcal{A}$ , respectively. With this, we may define

$$\pi(\mathcal{A}) = \bigcap_{\mathcal{P} \in \Pi(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{P}, \quad \lambda(\mathcal{A}) = \bigcap_{\mathcal{L} \in \Lambda(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{L}, \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma(\mathcal{A}) = \bigcap_{\mathcal{F} \in \Sigma(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{F}.$$

It is easy to see that any  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system containing  $\mathcal{A}$ ; hence  $\Sigma(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \Lambda(\mathcal{A})$ , and so  $\lambda(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ .

(c) It is clear that  $f(A) \subseteq \sigma(A)$ ; since  $0 < |A| < \infty$ , the field f(A) is finite and so it is a  $\sigma$ -field. Then  $\sigma(A) \subseteq f(A)$ .

(d) On the first hand,  $f(A) \subseteq \sigma(A)$  implies that  $\sigma(f(A)) \subseteq \sigma(\sigma(A)) = \sigma(A)$ . On the second hand,  $A \subseteq f(A)$  and so  $\sigma(A) \subseteq \sigma(f(A))$ .

(e) It follows from (d) that  $\sigma(f(A)) = \sigma(A)$ . By definition,  $f(\sigma(A))$  is the minimal field containing  $\sigma(A)$ . But  $\sigma(A)$  itself is a field; hence  $f(\sigma(A)) = \sigma(A)$ .

► EXERCISE 43 (1.3.16). Let  $\mathcal{F} = \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ , where  $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{A} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . For each  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  there exists a countable subcollection  $\mathcal{A}_B \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  with  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_B)$ .

PROOF. Let

 $\mathcal{B} = \left\{ B \in \mathcal{F} : \exists \mathcal{A}_B \subseteq \mathcal{A} \text{ such that } \mathcal{A}_B \text{ is countable and } B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_B) \right\}.$ (1.7)

It is clear that  $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ . For any  $B \in \mathcal{A}$ , take  $\mathcal{A}_B = \{B\}$ ; then  $\mathcal{A}_B = \{B\}$  is countable and  $B \in \sigma(\{B\}) = \{\emptyset, \Omega, B, B^c\}$ ; hence  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ . We now show that  $\mathcal{B}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. Obviously,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{B}$  since  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\Omega \in \sigma(\{\Omega\}) = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$ . If  $B \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  and there exists a countable  $\mathcal{A}_B \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  such that  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_B)$ ; but which mean that  $B^c \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B^c \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_B)$ , i.e.,  $B^c \in \mathcal{B}$ . Similarly, it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{B}$  is closed under countable unions. Thus,  $\mathcal{B}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathcal{A}$ , and so  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ . We thus proved that  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{F}$  and the get the result.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 44 (1.3.18). Given  $\emptyset \neq A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  and  $\emptyset \neq B \subseteq \Omega$ , let  $A \cap B = \{A \cap B : A \in A\}$  and let  $\sigma(A) \cap B = \{A \cap B : A \in \sigma(A)\}$ .

- a.  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on B.
- b. Next, define  $\sigma_B(A \cap B)$  to be the minimal  $\sigma$ -field over B generated by the class  $A \cap B$ . Then  $\sigma_B(A \cap B) = \sigma(A) \cap B$ .

PROOF. This claim can be found in Ash and Doléans-Dade (2000, p. 5).

(a)  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$  as  $\Omega \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ . If  $C \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$ , then  $C = \mathcal{A} \cap B$  with  $\mathcal{A} \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ ; hence  $B \setminus C = \mathcal{A}^c \cap B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$ . To see that  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$  is closed under countable unions, let  $\{C_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B$ . Then each  $C_n = \mathcal{A}_n \cap B$  with  $\mathcal{A}_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ . Hence,

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n \cap B) = \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \cap B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \cap B.$$

**(b)** First,  $A \subseteq \sigma(A)$ , hence  $A \cap B \subseteq \sigma(A) \cap B$ . Since  $\sigma(A) \cap B$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on B by (a), we have  $\sigma_B(A \cap B) \subseteq \sigma(A) \cap B$ . To establish the reverse inclusion we must show that  $A \cap B \in \sigma_B(A \cap B)$  for all  $A \in \sigma(A)$ . We use the *good sets principle*. Let

$$\mathscr{G} = \{A \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) : A \cap B \in \sigma_B (\mathcal{A} \cap B)\}.$$

We now show that  $\mathscr{G}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathscr{A}$ . It is evident that  $\Omega \in \mathscr{G}$ . If  $A \in \mathscr{G}$ , then  $A \cap B \in \sigma_B$  ( $\mathscr{A} \cap B$ ) and  $A \in \sigma(\mathscr{A})$ ; hence,  $A^c \cap B = B \setminus (A \cap B) \in \sigma_B$  ( $\mathscr{A} \cap B$ ) implies that  $A^c \in \mathscr{G}$ . To see  $\mathscr{G}$  is closed under countable unions, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{G}$ with  $A_n \cap B \in \sigma_B$  ( $\mathscr{A} \cap B$ ) for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \cap B = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n \cap B) \in \sigma_B (\mathcal{A} \cap B).$$

Since  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ , we have  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ ; hence  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{G}$ : every set in  $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$  is good.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 45 (1.3.19). Suppose that  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_1, A_2, ...\}$  is a disjoint sequence of subsets of  $\Omega$  with  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \Omega$ . Then each  $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ -set is the union of an at most countable subcollection of  $A_1, A_2, ...$ 

PROOF. Let

 $\mathcal{C} = \left\{ A \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) : A \text{ is an at most countable union of } \mathcal{A}\text{-sets} \right\}.$ 

It is easy to see that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}$  since  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ . If  $A \in \mathcal{C}$ , then  $A = \bigcup_{i \in J} A_i$ , where *J* is at most countable. Hence  $A^c = (\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) \setminus (\bigcup_{i \in J} A_i)$  is an at most countable union of *A*-sets, that is,  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under complements. It is also easy to see that  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under countable unions and  $A \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field and  $\sigma(A) = \mathcal{C}$ .

► EXERCISE 46 (1.3.20). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  denote a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote a  $\lambda$ -system on  $\Omega$  with  $\mathcal{P} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ . We will show that  $\sigma(\mathcal{P}) \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ . Let  $\lambda(\mathcal{P})$  denote the  $\lambda$ -system generated by  $\mathcal{P}$ , and for each subset  $A \subseteq \Omega$  we define  $\mathcal{G}_A = \{C \subseteq \Omega : A \cap C \in \lambda(\mathcal{P})\}.$ 

PROOF. See Vestrup (2003, Claim 1, p. 82).

▶ EXERCISE 47 (1.3.21). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote a field on  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mathcal{M}$  denote a monotone class on  $\Omega$  [See Exercise 37]. We will show that  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$  implies that  $\sigma(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ . Let  $m(\mathcal{F})$  denote the minimal monotone class on  $\Omega$  generated by  $\mathcal{F}$ . That is,  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is the intersection of all monotone classes on  $\Omega$  containing the collection  $\mathcal{F}$ .

a. To prove the claim, it is sufficient to show that  $\sigma(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq m(\mathcal{F})$ .

- b. If  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is a field, then  $\sigma(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq m(\mathcal{F})$ .
- c.  $\Omega \in m(\mathcal{F})$ .
- d. Let  $\mathscr{G} = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A^c \in m(\mathcal{F})\}$ .  $\mathscr{G}$  is a monotone class on  $\Omega$  and  $m(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}$ .
- e.  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is indeed closed under complements.
- f. Let  $\mathcal{G}_1 = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \cup B \in m(\mathcal{F}) \text{ for all } B \in \mathcal{F}\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{G}_1$  is a monotone class such that  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_1$  and  $m(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}_1$ .
- g. Let  $\mathscr{G}_2 = \{ B \subseteq \Omega : A \cup B \in m(\mathcal{F}) \text{ for all } A \in m(\mathcal{F}) \}$ . Then  $\mathscr{G}_2$  is a monotone class such that  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathscr{G}_2$ , and  $m(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}_2$ .
- h.  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is closed under finie unions, and hence is a field.

PROOF. *Halmos' Monotone Class Theorem* is proved in every textbook. See Billingsley (1995, Theorem 3.4), Ash and Doléans-Dade (2000, Theorem 1.3.9), or Chung (2001, Theorem 2.1.2), among others. The above outline is similar to Chung (2001).

(a) By definition. In fact,  $\sigma(\mathcal{F}) = m(\mathcal{F})$ .

**(b)** By Exercise 37: A field is a  $\sigma$ -field iff it is also an M.C. If  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is a field, then it is a  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathcal{F}$ ; hence,  $\sigma(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq m(\mathcal{F})$ .

(c)  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F} \subseteq m(\mathcal{F})$ .

(d) Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{G}$  be monotone; then  $\{A_n^c\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also monotone. The DeMorgan identities

$$\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^c$$
, and  $\left(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^c$ 

show that  $\mathscr{G}$  is a M.C. Since  $\mathscr{F}$  is closed under complements and  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq m(\mathscr{F})$ , it is clear that  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq \mathscr{G}$ . Hence  $m(\mathscr{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}$  by the minimality of  $m(\mathscr{F})$ .

(e) By (d),  $m(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}$ , which means that for any  $A \in m(\mathcal{F})$ , we have  $A^c \in m(\mathcal{F})$ . Hence,  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is closed under implementation.

(f) Let  $\mathscr{G}_1 = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \cup B \in m(\mathcal{F}) \text{ for all } B \in \mathcal{F}\}$ . If  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1$  is monotone, then  $\{A_n \cup B\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also monotone. The identities

$$\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \cup B = \bigcup_{n=1}^n (A_n \cup B), \text{ and } \left(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \cup B = \bigcap_{n=1}^n (A_n \cup B)$$

show that  $\mathscr{G}_1$  is a M.C. Since  $\mathscr{F}$  is closed under finite unions and  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq m(\mathscr{F})$ , it follows that  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1$ , and so  $m(\mathscr{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1$  by the minimality of  $m(\mathscr{F})$ .

(g) As in (f) we can show  $\mathscr{G}_2$  is a M.C. By (f),  $m(\mathscr{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}_1$ , which means that for any  $A \in m(\mathscr{F})$  and  $B \in \mathscr{F}$  we have  $A \cup B \in m(\mathscr{F})$ . This in turn means that  $\mathscr{F} \subseteq \mathscr{G}_2$ . Hence,  $m(\mathscr{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{G}_2$ .

**(h)** Since  $m(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}_2$ , for any  $B \in m(\mathcal{F})$  and  $A \in m(\mathcal{F})$ , we have  $A \cup B \in m(\mathcal{F})$ ; that is,  $m(\mathcal{F})$  is closed under finite unions.

### 1.4 The Borel $\sigma$ -Field

► EXERCISE 48 (1.4.1). Show directly that  $\sigma(A_3) = \sigma(A_3^*), \sigma(A_4) = \sigma(A_7), and \sigma(A_4^*) = \sigma(A_{10}).$ 

PROOF. (i) It is clear that  $\sigma(A_3^*) \subseteq \sigma(A_3)$ . We only need to show that  $\sigma(A_3) \subseteq \sigma(A_3^*)$ . Since  $[x, \infty) = \bigcup [r_n, \infty)$ , where  $\{r_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathbb{Q}$ , we complete the proof.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 49 (1.4.2). All amc subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  are Borel sets. All subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  that differ from a Borel set by at most countably many points are Borel sets. That is, if the symmetric difference  $C \Delta B$  is amc and  $B \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $C \in \mathcal{B}$ .

**PROOF.** Let  $A = \{x_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{x_n\}$ .  $\{x_n\}$  is a Borel set.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 50 (1.4.3). The Borel  $\sigma$ -field on (0, 1] is denoted by  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}$  and is defined as the  $\sigma$ -field on (0, 1] generated by the rsc subintervals of (0, 1].  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}$  may be equivalently defined by  $\{B \cap (0,1] | B \in B\}$ .

PROOF. It follows from Exercise 44 that  $\sigma_B(A \cap B) = \sigma(A) \cap B$  for any  $\emptyset \neq A \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  and  $\emptyset \neq B \subseteq \Omega$ . In particular, we have  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]} = \mathcal{B} \cap B$ .

▶ EXERCISE 51 (1.4.4).  $\mathcal{B}$  is generated by the compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. Denote

 $\mathcal{A}_{11} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n : A \text{ is compact}\}.$ 

Let  $A \in A_{11}$ . Every compact set is closed (Heine-Borel Theorem); hence  $A \in A_{10}$ . It follows that  $\sigma(A_{11}) \subseteq \sigma(A_{10})$ . Now let  $A \in A_{10}$ . The sets  $A_K = A \cap [-K, K]^n$ ,  $K \in \mathbb{N}$ , are compact; hence the countable union  $A = \bigcup_{K=1}^{\infty} A_K$  is in  $\sigma(A_{11})$ . It follows that  $A_{10} \subseteq \sigma(A_{11})$  and thus  $\sigma(A_{10}) \subseteq \sigma(A_{11})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Notation:  $A_3$  = intervals of the form  $[x, \infty)$ ,  $A_4$  = intervals of the form  $(x, \infty)$ ,  $A_7$  = intervals of the form [a, b), and  $A_{10}$  = closed subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ .

# 2

## **MEASURES**

REMARK (The de Finetti Notation). I find the *de Finetti Notation* is very excellent. Here I cite Pollard (2001, Sec.4, Ch.1).

Ordinary algebra is easier than Boolean algebra. The correspondence  $A \iff \mathbb{1}_A$  between  $A \subseteq \Omega$  and their indicator functions,

$$\mathbb{I}_A(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in A \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin A, \end{cases}$$

transforms Boolean algebra into ordinary pointwise algebra with functions.

The operations of union and intersection correspond to pointwise maxima  $(\lor)$  and pointwise minima  $(\land)$ , or pointwise products:

$$\mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{i} A_{i}}(x) = \bigvee_{i} \mathbb{1}_{A_{i}}(x), \text{ and }$$
(2.1)

$$\mathbb{1}_{\bigcap_{i} A_{i}}(x) = \bigwedge_{i} \mathbb{1}_{A_{i}}(x) = \prod_{i} \mathbb{1}_{A_{i}}(x).$$
(2.2)

Complements corresponds to subtraction from one:

$$\mathbb{1}_{A^c}(x) = 1 - \mathbb{1}_A(x). \tag{2.3}$$

Derived operations, such as the set theoretic difference  $A \\ B := A \cap B^c$  and the symmetric difference,  $A \\ \Delta B := (A \\ B) \cup (B \\ A)$ , also have simple algebraic counterparts:

$$\mathbb{1}_{A \sim B}(x) = \left[\mathbb{1}_{A}(x) - \mathbb{1}_{B}(x)\right]^{+} := \max\left\{0, \mathbb{1}_{A}(x) - \mathbb{1}_{B}(x)\right\},$$
(2.4)

$$\mathbb{1}_{A \Delta B}(x) = |\mathbb{1}_A(x) - \mathbb{1}_B(x)|.$$
(2.5)

The algebra looks a little cleaner if we omit the argument x. For example, the horrendous set theoretic relationship

$$\left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}\right) \Delta \left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}\right) \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} \Delta B_{i})$$

corresponds to the pointwise inequality

$$\left|\prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{I}_{A_{i}} - \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{I}_{B_{i}}\right| \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} \left|\mathbb{I}_{A_{i}} - \mathbb{I}_{B_{i}}\right|,$$

whose verification is easy: when the right-hand side takes the value 1 the inequality is trivial, because the left-hand side can take only the values 0 or 1; and when right-hand side takes the value 0, we have  $\mathbb{1}_{A_i} = \mathbb{1}_{B_i}$  for *i*, which makes the left-hand side zero.

### **2.1 MEASURES**

- EXERCISE 52 (2.1.1). This problem deals with some other variants of properties (M1)-(M3).
- a. Some define a probability measure *P* on a  $\sigma$ -field *A* of subsets of  $\Omega$  by stipulating that (i)  $0 \leq P(A) \leq 1$  for all  $A \in A$ , (ii)  $P(\Omega) = 1$ , and (iii) *P* is countably additive. This is a special case of our definition of a measure.
- b. If (M1) and (M3) hold for a set function  $\mu$  defined on a field A with  $\mu(A) < +\infty$  for some  $A \in A$ , then  $\mu$  is a measure on A.

PROOF. (a) If  $\mu: \mathcal{A} \to [0, +\infty]$  is a measure, define a new set-valued function  $P: \mathcal{A} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  as

$$P(A) = \frac{\mu(A)}{\mu(\Omega)}, \quad \forall \ A \in \mathcal{A}.$$

**(b)** We only need to check (M2):  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a field,  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{A}$ . Consider the following sequence  $\{A, \emptyset, \emptyset, \ldots\}$ . (M3) implies that

$$\mu(A) = \mu(A \cup \emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \cdots) = \mu(A) + \sum \mu(\emptyset).$$

Since  $\mu(A) < +\infty$ , we have  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ .

► EXERCISE 53 (2.1.2). Let  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n\}$ , and let  $p_1, \ldots, p_n \in [0, +\infty]$ . Define  $\mu$  on  $2^{\Omega}$  as in Example 2. Then  $(\Omega, 2^{\Omega}, \mu)$  is a measure space, and  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite iff  $p_n < +\infty$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

PROOF. To prove  $(\Omega, 2^{\Omega}, \mu)$  is a measure space, we only need to prove that  $\mu$  is a measure on  $2^{\Omega}$  since  $2^{\Omega}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. Clearly (M1) and (M2) hold. To see (M3) hold, let  $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in 2^{\Omega}$  be disjoint (Since  $\Omega$  is finite, we need only to check the finite additivity). Then

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_{n}\right) = \sum \left\{p_{k} : k \text{ is such that } \omega_{k} \in A_{i} \text{ for some } i \in \{1, \dots, n\}\right\}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum \left\{p_{k} : k \text{ is such that } \omega_{k} \in A_{i}\right\}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mu\left(A_{i}\right).$$

If  $p_i = +\infty$  for at least one *i*, then  $\mu$  is not  $\sigma$ -finite. If each  $p_i$  is finite then  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite: take  $A_i = \{\omega_i\}$ , where  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ .

► EXERCISE 54 (2.1.3). Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}, \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ , and  $\mu(\Omega) = +\infty$ . Then  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is a measure space, but  $\mu$  fails to be  $\sigma$ -finite.

**PROOF.**  $\{\emptyset, \Omega\}$  is a (trivial)  $\sigma$ -field. (M1) and (M2) hold. Now check (M3):

$$\mu(\emptyset \cup \Omega) = \mu(\Omega) = 0 + \mu(\Omega) = \mu(\emptyset) + \mu(\Omega).$$

Notice that  $\Omega = \Omega \cup \emptyset$  or  $\Omega = \Omega$ , but by the hypothesis,  $\mu(\Omega) = +\infty$ .

► EXERCISE 55 (2.1.4). Let  $\Omega$  be uncountable. Let  $A = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is amc or } A^c \text{ is amc}\}$ . Write  $\mu(A) = 0$  if A is amc and  $\mu(A) = +\infty$  if  $A^c$  is amc. Then  $(\Omega, A, \mu)$  is a measure space, and  $\mu$  is not  $\sigma$ -finite.

PROOF. We show  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field first.  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $\Omega^c = \emptyset$  is amc. If  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , then either A or  $A^c$  is amc. If A is amc,  $A^c \in \mathcal{A}$  because  $(A^c)^c = A$  is amc; if  $A^c$  is amc,  $A^c \in \mathcal{A}$  by definition of  $\mathcal{A}$ . To see that  $\mathcal{A}$  is closed under countably union, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{A}$ . There are two cases: (i) Each  $A_n$  is amc. Then  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$  is amc, whence is a  $\mathcal{A}$ -set, and (ii) At least one  $A_n$  is such that  $A_n^c$  is amc. Without loss of generality, we assume  $A_1^c$  is amc. Since  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n^c \subseteq A_1^c$ , it follows that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{A}$ .

We then show that  $\mu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}$ . It is clear that  $\mu$  is nonnegative and  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . Now let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  be disjoint. If each  $A_n$  is amc, then  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$  is amc, and so  $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = 0 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n)$ ; if there is at least one  $A_n$ , say  $A_1$ , so that  $A_1^c$  is amc, then  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c$  is amc. Hence,  $+\infty = \mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) = \mu(A_1) + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) = +\infty$ .

Since  $\Omega$  is uncountable, which cannot be covered by a sequence of countable A-sets. Therefore, in any cover of  $\Omega$ , there exists a set A so that  $A^c$  is amc. But which means that  $\mu$  is not  $\sigma$ -finite since  $\mu(A) = +\infty$ .

► EXERCISE 56 (2.1.5). Let  $\Omega$  be arbitrary, and let  $A = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is amc or } A^c \text{ is amc}\}$ . Define  $\mu$  over A by stating that  $\mu(A) = 0$  if A is amc, and  $\mu(A) = 1$  if  $A^c$  is amc.

a.  $\mu$  is not well-defined if  $\Omega$  is amc, but  $\mu$  is well-defined if  $\Omega$  is uncountable.

b.  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite measure on the  $\sigma$ -field A when  $\Omega$  is uncountable.

**PROOF.** (a) If  $\Omega$  is amc, we can find a set *A* such that both *A* and *A<sup>c</sup>* are amc. But then (i)  $\mu(A) = 0$  since *A* is amc, and (ii)  $\mu(A) = 1$  since *A<sup>c</sup>* is amc. A contradiction.

However, if  $\Omega$  is uncountable, then the previous issue will not occur because if both *A* and *A*<sup>*c*</sup> are amc, then  $A \cup A^{c} = \Omega$  is amc. A contradiction.

**(b)** We have proved in Exercise 55 that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. To prove that  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, consider  $\{\Omega, \emptyset, \emptyset, \ldots\}$ .

► EXERCISE 57 (2.1.6). Suppose that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ . Suppose that  $\mu$  is defined on  $\mathcal{A}$  such that (M1), (M2), and (M4) hold. Then  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is a measure space.

**PROOF.** Since A is a *finite*  $\sigma$ -field, any *countable* union of A-sets must take the following form

$$A_1 \cup A_2 \cup \cdots \cup A_n \cup \emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \cdots$$

Then the proof is straightforward.

► EXERCISE 58 (2.1.7). Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is finite or } A^c \text{ is finite}\}$ . Define  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{A}$  by

$$\mu(A) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } A \text{ is finite} \\ 1 & \text{if } A^c \text{ is finite.} \end{cases}$$

a.  $\mu$  fails to be well-defined when  $\Omega$  is finite.

b. If  $\Omega$  is infinite, then  $\mu$  satisfies (M1), (M2), and (M4).

c. Let  $card(\Omega) = \aleph_0$ . Then  $\mu$  is finitely additive but not countably subadditive.

d. When  $\Omega$  is uncountable,  $\mu$  is a measure. Is  $\mu \sigma$ -finite?

**PROOF.** (a) Let  $\Omega$  be finite, and both *A* and  $A^c$  are finite. Then  $\mu(A) = 0$  and  $\mu(A) = 1$  occurs.

**(b)** The nonnegativity and  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  are obvious. To see finite additivity, let  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^n \subseteq A$  be disjoint, and  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i \in A$ . If each  $A_i$  is finite, then  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i$  is finite, whence  $\mu(\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i) = 0 = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu(A_i)$ ; if, say,  $A_1^c$  is finite, then  $[\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i]^c = \bigcap_{i=1}^n A_i^c \subseteq A_1^c$  is finite, and  $\mu(\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i) = 1$ . Notice that  $A_j \subseteq A_1^c$  for all j = 2, 3, ..., n since  $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^n$  is disjoint. Hence  $A_2, A_3, ..., A_n$  are all finite if  $A_1^c$  is finite. Therefore,  $\sum_{i=1}^n \mu(A_i) = 1 = \mu(\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i)$ .

(c) Since  $\operatorname{card}(\Omega) = \aleph_0$ ,  $\Omega$  is infinitely countable. Then  $\mu$  is well-defined and finitely additive by part (b). To show  $\mu$  fails to be countably subadditive, let  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots\}$ , and  $A_n = \{\omega_n\}$ . Hence  $\mu(A_n) = 0$  and so  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ . But  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \Omega$  and  $\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = 1$  since  $(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)^c = \emptyset$  is finite.

32

(d)  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite when  $\Omega$  is uncountable. Just consider the following sequence of sets { $\Omega, \emptyset, \emptyset, \ldots$ }. Note that  $\mu(\Omega) = 1 < +\infty$  as  $\Omega^c = \emptyset$  is finite, and  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0 < +\infty$  as  $\emptyset$  is finite. Finally,  $\Omega = \Omega \cup \emptyset \cup \emptyset \cup \cdots$ .

► EXERCISE 59 (2.1.8). Let  $\operatorname{card}(\Omega) = \aleph_0$  and  $\mathcal{A} = 2^{\Omega}$ . Let

$$\mu(A) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } A \text{ is finite} \\ +\infty & \text{if } A \text{ is infinite.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $\mu$  is well-defined,  $\mu$  satisfies (M1), (M2), and (M4), and that (M3) fails. Also,  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite.

PROOF. It is straightforward to see that  $\mu$  is well-defined, nonnegative, and  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . Use the ways as in the previous exercise, we prove that  $\mu$  is finite additive, but not countable additive. To prove  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, note that card( $\Omega$ ) =  $\aleph_0$  ( $\Omega$  is infinitely countable),  $\Omega$  can be expressed as  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots\}$ ; hence, we can just consider the following sequence  $\{A_1 = \{\omega_1\}, A_2 = \{\omega_2\}, \ldots\}$ .

► EXERCISE 60 (2.1.9). (M5) is not true if the hypothesis  $\mu(A) < +\infty$  is omitted.

PROOF. Suppose  $A \subseteq B$  with  $A, B, B \smallsetminus A \in A$ . Then  $\mu(B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B \smallsetminus A)$ . If  $\mu(A) = +\infty$ , then  $\mu(B) = +\infty$  since  $\mu(B \smallsetminus A) \ge 0$ . Then  $\mu(B) - \mu(A) = (+\infty) - (+\infty)$  is undefined.

► EXERCISE 61 (2.1.10). Let  $\mu$  denote a measure on a  $\sigma$ -field A, and let  $A, A_1, A_2, \ldots \in A$ .

- a.  $\mu(A) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu(A \cap A_k)$  when the  $A_k$ 's are disjoint with  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k = \Omega$ .
- b.  $\mu(A_1 \Delta A_2) = 0$  iff  $\mu(A_1) = \mu(A_2) = \mu(A_1 \cap A_2)$ .
- c.  $\mu(A_2) = 0$  forces both  $\mu(A_1 \cup A_2) = \mu(A_1)$  and  $\mu(A_1 \Delta A_2) = 0$ .
- d.  $\mu(A_2) = 0$  forces  $\mu(A_1 \setminus A_2) = \mu(A_1)$ .

PROOF. (a) We have  $A = A \cap (\bigcup_k A_k) = \bigcup_k (A \cap A_k)$ , and  $\{A \cap A_k\} \subset A$  is disjoint. Hence,

$$\mu(A) = \mu\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_k)\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu\left(A \cap A_k\right).$$

**(b)** If  $\mu(A_1) = \mu(A_2) = \mu(A_1 \cap A_2)$ , then

$$\mu(A_1) = \mu(A_1 \land A_2) + \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) \Longrightarrow \mu(A_1 \land A_2) = 0,$$
  
$$\mu(A_2) = \mu(A_1 \land A_2) + \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) \Longrightarrow \mu(A_1 \land A_2) = 0$$

$$\mu(A_2) = \mu(A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) + \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) \Longrightarrow \mu(A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) = 0$$

Therefore,  $\mu (A_1 \Delta A_2) = \mu (A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) + \mu (A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) = 0.$ 

If  $\mu(A_1 \Delta A_2) = 0$ , then  $\mu(A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) = \mu(A_1 \lor A_2) = 0$ . But then  $\mu(A_1) = \mu(A_1 \lor A_2) + \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) = \mu(A_1 \cap A_2)$  and  $\mu(A_2) = \mu(A_1 \cap A_2)$ .

(c)  $0 \le \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) \le \mu(A_2) = 0$  implies that  $\mu(A_1 \cap A_2) = 0$ . By the inclusion-exclusion principle,

$$\mu(A_1 \cup A_2) = \mu(A_1) + \mu(A_2) - \mu(A_1 \cap A_2) = \mu(A_1).$$

(d) Since  $A_1 \cup A_2 = (A_1 \Delta A_2) \cup (A_1 \cap A_2)$ , and  $(A_1 \Delta A_2) \cap (A_1 \cap A_2) = \emptyset$ , we have

$$\mu (A_1 \cup A_2) = \mu (A_1 \Delta A_2) + \mu (A_1 \cap A_2) = \mu (A_1 \Delta A_2)$$
$$= \mu (A_1 \setminus A_2) + \mu (A_1 \setminus A_2)$$
$$= \mu (A_1 \setminus A_2).$$

► EXERCISE 62 (2.1.11). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  be a measure space such that there is  $B \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $0 < \mu(B) < +\infty$ . Fix such a *B*, and define  $\mu_B : \mathcal{A} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by the formula  $\mu_B(A) = \mu(A \cap B) / \mu(B)$ .

- a.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu_B)$  is a measure space.
- b. Suppose in addition that  $\Omega$  is the disjoint union of an amc collection of sets  $B_n \in A$  such that each  $B_n$  has finite measure, and suppose that  $\mu$  is finite. Then for all  $A \in A$  we have  $\mu(A) = \sum_n \mu_{B_n}(A) \cdot \mu(B_n)$ . Also, for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\mu_{B_i}(A) = \frac{\mu_A(B_i) \cdot \mu(A)}{\sum_n \mu_A(B_n) \cdot \mu(A)}$$

This formula is known as Bayes' Rule.

PROOF. (a) If suffices to show that  $\mu_B$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}$  since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. (M1) To see  $\mu_B(A) \ge 0$ , note that  $\mu(B) > 0$  and  $\mu(A \cap B) \ge 0$ . (M2) To see  $\mu_B(\emptyset) = 0$ , note that  $\mu_B(\emptyset) = \frac{\mu(\emptyset \cap B)}{\mu(B)} = 0$ . (M3) For countable additivity, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  be disjoint. Then

$$\mu_B(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = \frac{\mu\left[B \cap \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)\right]}{\mu(B)} = \frac{\mu\left[\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n \cap B)\right]}{\mu(B)}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n \cap B)}{\mu(B)}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(A_n \cap B)}{\mu(B)}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_B(A_n).$$

**(b)** By the assumption, we can write  $\Omega$  as  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ , where  $\{B_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq A$  is disjoint, and  $\mu(B_n) < +\infty$ . Since  $\mu$  is finite,  $\mu(\Omega) < +\infty$ . For the first claim,

$$\sum_{n} \mu_{B_{n}}(A) \cdot \mu(B_{n}) = \sum_{n} \frac{\mu(A \cap B_{n})}{\mu(B_{n})} \cdot \mu(B_{n}) = \sum_{n} \mu(A \cap B_{n})$$
$$= \mu\left[\bigcup_{n} (A \cap B_{n})\right]$$
$$= \mu(A \cap \Omega)$$
$$= \mu(A).$$

For the Bayes' Rule,

$$\mu_{B_{i}}(A) = \frac{\mu(B_{i} \cap A)}{\mu(A)} = \frac{\frac{\mu(B_{i} \cap A)}{\mu(A)} \cdot \mu(A)}{\sum_{n} \mu_{B_{n}}(A) \cdot \mu(B_{n})} = \frac{\mu_{A}(B_{i}) \cdot \mu(A)}{\sum_{n} \mu_{B_{n}}(A) \cdot \mu(B_{n})}.$$

► EXERCISE 63 (2.1.12). Let  $S = \{s_1, ..., s_m\}$ , and let  $\{p_u : u \in S\}$  denote a collection of nonnegative numbers with  $\sum_{u \in S} p_u = 1$ . Let  $\Omega$  denote the set of sequences of S. For each  $\omega \in \Omega$ , write  $\omega = (z_1(\omega), z_2(\omega), ...)$ . Given  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $H \subseteq S^n$ , let

$$C_n(H) = \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : (z_1(\omega), \dots, z_n(\omega)) \in H \right\}.$$

Such a set is called a cylinder of rank *n*. Let  $\mathcal{F} = \{C_n(H) : n \in \mathbb{N}, H \subseteq S^n\}$ , so that  $\mathcal{F}$  consists of all cylinders of all ranks. Define  $\mu : \mathcal{F} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  as follows: if for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $H \subseteq S^n$  we have  $A = \{\omega \in \Omega : (z_1(\omega), \ldots, z_n(\omega)) \in H\}$ , write  $\mu(A) = \sum \{p_{i_1}, \ldots, p_{i_n} : (i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in H\}$ .

a.  $\mu$  is well defined.

### **2.2 CONTINUITY OF MEASURES**

I complete the Claim 1 of Vestrup (2003, p. 43) before working out the exercises for this section. Note that we sometimes take the following notation (see Rosenthal, 2006, p. 34):

 $\liminf A_n = [A_n \text{ ev.}]: A_n \text{ eventually,}$  $\limsup A_n = [A_n \text{ i. o.}]: A_n \text{ infinitely often.}$ 

Ash (2009) provides an excellent treatment of lim sup and lim inf for real number sequences.

CLAIM 5. Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a sequence of subsets of  $\Omega$ . Then we have the following properties:

a.  $\liminf A_n = \{ \omega \in \Omega : \omega \text{ is in all but finitely many of } A_1, A_2, \ldots \}.$ 

b.  $\limsup A_n = \{ \omega \in \Omega : \omega \text{ is in infinitely many of } A_1, A_2, \ldots \}.$ 

c.  $\liminf A_n \subseteq \limsup A_n$ .

- d. If  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is nondecreasing, then  $\lim A_n$  exists and equals  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ .
- e. If  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is nonincreasing, then  $\lim A_n$  exists and equals  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ .
- f. If  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$  are disjoint, then  $\lim A_n$  exists and equals  $\emptyset$ .

**PROOF.** (b) If  $\omega \in \limsup A_n$ , then for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exist some  $n \ge k$  such that  $\omega \in A_n$ . Hence,  $\omega$  is in infinitely many of  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$ . Conversely, if  $\omega$  is in infinitely many of  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$ , then for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $n \ge k$  such that  $\omega \in A_n$ . Therefore,  $\omega \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n = \limsup A_n$ .

(e) Since  $A_{i+1} \subseteq A_i$ , we get  $\bigcup_{k \ge n} A_k = A_n$ . Therefore,

$$\limsup A_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcup_{k \ge n} A_k \right) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n.$$

Likewise

$$\liminf A_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcap_{k \ge n} A_k \right) \supseteq \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k = \limsup A_n \supseteq \liminf A_n.$$

Thus equality prevails and so  $\lim A_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ .

► EXERCISE 64 (2.2.1).  $\liminf \mathbb{1}_{A_n} = \mathbb{1}_{\liminf A_n}$  and  $\limsup \mathbb{1}_{A_n} = \mathbb{1}_{\limsup A_n}$ .

PROOF. We first show

$$\mathbb{I}_{\bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n} = \inf_{n \ge k} \mathbb{I}_{A_n}, \tag{2.6}$$

$$\mathbb{I}_{\bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n} = \sup_{n \ge k} \mathbb{I}_{A_n}.$$
(2.7)

To prove (2.6), we must show that the two functions are equal. But

$$\mathbb{1}_{\bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n}(\omega) = 1 \iff \omega \in \bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n$$
$$\iff \omega \in A_n \text{ for all } n \ge k$$
$$\iff \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \text{ for all } n \ge k$$
$$\iff \inf_{n \ge k} \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1.$$

Similarly, (2.7) holds since

$$\mathbb{I}_{\bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n}(\omega) = 1 \iff \omega \in \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n$$
$$\iff \omega \in A_n \text{ for some } n \ge k$$
$$\iff \mathbb{I}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \text{ for some } n \ge k$$
$$\iff \sup_{n \ge k} \mathbb{I}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1.$$

Hence,

$$\mathbb{1}_{\liminf A_n} = \mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (\bigcap_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k)} = \sup_{n \ge 1} \mathbb{1}_{\bigcap_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k} = \sup_{n \ge 1} \inf_{k \ge n} \mathbb{1}_{A_k} = \liminf \mathbb{1}_{A_n},$$

 $\mathbb{1}_{\limsup A_n} = \mathbb{1}_{\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k \right)} = \inf_{n \ge 1} \mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k} = \inf_{n \ge 1} \sup_{k \ge n} \mathbb{1}_{A_k} = \limsup \mathbb{1}_{A_n}.$ 

Alternatively, we have

$$\liminf \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \iff \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \text{ ev.} \iff \omega \in A_n \text{ ev.}$$
$$\iff \omega \in \liminf A_n$$
$$\iff \mathbb{1}_{\liminf A_n}(\omega) = 1,$$
$$\limsup \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \iff \mathbb{1}_{A_n}(\omega) = 1 \text{ i. o.} \iff \omega \in A_n \text{ i. o.}$$
$$\iff \omega \in \limsup A_n$$
$$\iff \mathbb{1}_{\limsup A_n}(\omega) = 1. \square$$

► EXERCISE 65 (2.2.2). Show that  $\liminf A_n \subseteq \limsup A_n$  without using the representations of  $\liminf A_n$  and  $\limsup A_n$  given in parts (a) and (b) of Claim 1.

PROOF. Notice that

$$\omega \in \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n \iff \exists k^* \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } \omega \in A_n, \forall n \ge k^*$$
$$\implies \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \exists n \ge k \text{ such that } \omega \in A_n$$
$$\implies \omega \in \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n,$$

where the first " $\Longrightarrow$ " holds because if  $k < k^*$ , then  $\omega \in A_n$  for all  $n \ge k^*$ ; if  $k \ge k^*$ , then  $\omega \in A_n$  for all  $n \ge k$ .

► EXERCISE 66 (2.2.3).  $(\liminf A_n)^c = \limsup A_n^c$  and  $(\limsup A_n)^c = \liminf A_n^c$ .

PROOF. These results are analog to  $-\liminf x_n = \limsup (-x_n)$  and  $-\limsup x_n = \liminf (-x_n)$ . We have two methods to prove these claims. Here is the **Method** 1:

$$(\liminf A_n)^c = \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n^c = \limsup A_n^c.$$

 $(\limsup A_n)^c = \left(\bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(\bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n\right)^c = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n^c = \liminf A_n^c.$ 

Here is **Methods 2**:

$$x \in (\liminf A_n)^c \iff \neg \left[ (\exists N \in \mathbb{N}) (\forall n \ge N) (x \in A_n) \right]$$
  
$$\iff (\forall N \in \mathbb{N}) (\exists n \ge N) (x \in A_n^c)$$
  
$$\iff x \in \limsup A_n^c;$$
  
$$x \in (\limsup A_n)^c \iff \neg \left[ (\forall N \in \mathbb{N}) (\exists n \ge N) x \in A_n \right]$$
  
$$\iff (\exists N \in \mathbb{N}) (\forall n \ge N) (x \in A_n^c)$$
  
$$\iff x \in \liminf A_n^c.$$

▶ EXERCISE 67 (2.2.4). If  $B_n \neq A_n$  for at most finitely many  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\liminf A_n = \liminf B_n$  and  $\limsup A_n = \limsup B_n$ . In other words,  $\liminf A_n$ ,  $\limsup A_n$  [and  $\lim A_n$ ] are not changed if a finite number of  $A_k$ 's are altered.

PROOF. Just follow Claim 1.

- ► EXERCISE 68 (2.2.5). We have the following relations:
- a.  $\limsup(A_n \cup B_n) = \limsup A_n \cup \limsup B_n$  and  $\liminf(A_n \cap B_n) = \liminf A_n \cap \liminf B_n$ .
- b.  $\limsup(A_n \cap B_n) \subseteq \limsup A_n \cap \limsup B_n$  and  $\liminf(A_n \cup B_n) \supseteq \liminf A_n \cup \liminf B_n$ . Both containment relations can be strict.
- c.  $\mathbb{I}_{\limsup(A_n \cup B_n)} = \max{\{\mathbb{I}_{\limsup A_n}, \mathbb{I}_{\limsup B_n}\}}$  and  $\mathbb{I}_{\liminf(A_n \cap B_n)} = \min{\{\mathbb{I}_{\liminf A_n}, \mathbb{I}_{\liminf B_n}\}}$ .

PROOF. (a) By definition,  $\limsup(A_n \cup B_n) = [A_n \cup B_n \text{ i. o.}] = [A_n \text{ i. o.}] \cup [B_n \text{ i. o.}]$ , and  $\liminf(A_n \cap B_n) = [A_n \cap B_n \text{ ev.}] = [A_n \text{ ev.}] \cap [B_n \text{ ev.}]$ .

(b) We have

 $\omega \in \limsup(A_n \cap B_n) \iff \omega$  is in infinitely many of  $A_1 \cap B_1, A_2 \cap B_2, \dots$ 

<sup>\*</sup> ⇒  $\omega$  is in infinitely many of  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$  and  $B_1, B_2, \ldots$ ⇒  $\omega \in \limsup A_n$  and  $\omega \in \limsup B_n$ ⇒  $\omega \in \limsup A_n \cap \limsup B_n$ ,

where (\*) holds with " $\Longrightarrow$ " rather than "  $\Leftrightarrow$  " because, e.g., let

$$\omega \in \begin{cases} A_i & \text{if } i \text{ is odd} \\ B_j & \text{if } j \text{ is even;} \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

then  $\omega$  is in infinitely many of  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$ , and  $\omega$  is in infinitely many of  $B_1, B_2, \ldots$ . However, if  $A_n \cap B_n = \emptyset$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\omega$  is not in any of  $A_n \cap B_n$ .

Likewise,

 $\omega \in \liminf A_n \cup \liminf B_n$  $\iff \omega \text{ is in all but finitely many of } A_1, A_2, \dots \text{ or } B_1, B_2, \dots$  $\stackrel{**}{\Longrightarrow} \omega \text{ is in all but finitely many of } (A_1 \cup B_1), (A_2 \cup B_2), \dots$  $\iff \omega \in \liminf(A_n \cup B_n),$ 

where (\*\*) holds with " $\Longrightarrow$ " rather than " $\iff$ " because, e.g., consider (2.8); then  $\omega$  is in all of  $A_1 \cup B_1, A_2 \cup B_2, \ldots$ , but there does not exist N such that  $\omega$  is in all  $A_n$  for all  $n \ge N$  or N' such that  $\omega$  is in all  $B_n$  for all  $n \ge N'$ .

(c) We have

$$\mathbb{1}_{\limsup(A_n \cup B_n)}(\omega) = 1 \iff \omega \in \limsup(A_n \cup B_n)$$
$$\iff \omega \in (\limsup A_n \cup \limsup B_n)$$
$$\iff \max\{\mathbb{1}_{\limsup A_n}(\omega), \mathbb{1}_{\limsup B_n}(\omega)\} = 1.$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbb{1}_{\liminf(A_n \cap B_n)} &= 1 \iff \omega \in \liminf(A_n \cap B_n) \\ \iff \omega \in \left(\liminf A_n \cap \liminf B_n\right) \\ \iff \min\left\{\mathbb{1}_{\liminf A_n}(\omega), \mathbb{1}_{\liminf B_n}(\omega)\right\} = 1. \end{aligned}$$

► EXERCISE 69 (2.2.6). If  $A_n \to A$  and  $B_n \to B$ , then  $A_n \cup B_n \to A \cup B$ ,  $A_n^c \to A^c$ ,  $A_n \cap B_n \to A \cap B$ ,  $A_n \sim B_n \to A \sim B$ , and  $A_n \Delta B_n \to A \Delta B$ .

PROOF. (i) We have  $\limsup(A_n \cup B_n) = \limsup A_n \cup \limsup B_n = A \cup B$ ,  $\liminf(A_n \cup B_n) \supseteq \liminf A_n \cup \liminf B_n = A \cup B$ , and  $\liminf(A_n \cup B_n) \subseteq \limsup(A_n \cup B_n) = A \cup B$ . Therefor,  $A_n \cup B_n \to A \cup B$ .

(ii) Notice that  $\limsup A_n^c = (\liminf A_n)^c = A^c$ , and on the other hand  $\liminf A_n^c = (\limsup A_n)^c = A^c$ .

(iii) We have  $\liminf(A_n \cap B_n) = \liminf A_n \cap \liminf B_n = A \cap B$ ,  $\limsup A_n \cap B_n$  of  $A_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n$  and  $\limsup A_n \cap B_n \cap B_n \cap B_n$ . (iv) Note that  $A_n \setminus B_n = A_n \cap B_n^c$ . We have known that  $B_n^c \to B^c$ , so  $A_n \setminus B_n \to A \cap B^c = A \setminus B$  by (ii) and (iii).

(v)  $A_n \Delta B_n = (A_n \smallsetminus B_n) \cup (B_n \smallsetminus A_n)$ . Since  $A_n \smallsetminus B_n \to A \smallsetminus B$  and  $B_n \smallsetminus A_n \to B \smallsetminus A$ by (iv), we have  $A_n \Delta B_n \to (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A) = A \Delta B$  by (i).

► EXERCISE 70 (2.2.7). If  $A_n$  is B or C as n is even or odd, then  $\liminf A_n = B \cap C$ , and  $\limsup A_n = B \cup C$ .

PROOF. We have

$$\liminf A_n = [A_n \text{ ev.}] = B \cap C,$$
  
$$\limsup A_n = [A_n \text{ i. o.}] = B \cup C.$$

► EXERCISE 71 (2.2.8).  $\limsup A_n \setminus \liminf A_n = \limsup (A_n \cap A_{n+1}^c) = \limsup (A_n^c \cap A_{n+1})$ .

PROOF. We have

 $x \in \limsup(A_n \cap A_{n+1}^c)$   $\iff (\forall N \in \mathbb{N})(\exists n \ge N)(x \in A_n \text{ and } x \in A_{n+1}^c)$   $\iff (x \in A_n \text{ i. o.) \text{ and } (x \in A_n^c \text{ i. o.)}$  $\iff x \in (\limsup A_n \cap \limsup A_n^c) = \limsup A_n \setminus \liminf A_n.$ 

The other equality can be proved similarly.

- ► EXERCISE 72 (2.2.9). a.  $\limsup_n \lim \inf_k (A_n \cap A_k^c) = \emptyset$ .
- b.  $A \sim \limsup_k A_k = \liminf_k (A \smallsetminus A_k)$ .
- c.  $\limsup_n (\liminf_k A_k \smallsetminus A_n) = \emptyset$ .
- d.  $\limsup_n (A \smallsetminus A_n) = A \smile \liminf_n A_n$  and  $\limsup_n (A_n \smallsetminus A) = \limsup_n A_n \smallsetminus A$ .
- e.  $\limsup_{n} (A \Delta A_n) = (A \setminus \liminf_{n \to \infty} A_n) \cup \limsup_{n \to \infty} (A_n \setminus A).$
- f.  $A_n \to A$  implies that  $\limsup_n (A \Delta A_n) = \limsup_n (A_n \setminus A)$ .
- g. For arbitrary set *E*, *F*, *G* and *H* we have  $(E \Delta F) \Delta (G \Delta H) = (E \Delta G) \Delta (F \Delta H)$ . We also have for any set *A* that

$$\limsup_{k} A_{k} \sim \liminf_{k} A_{k} = \liminf_{k} A_{k} \Delta \limsup_{k} A_{k}$$
$$= \left(\liminf_{k} A_{k} \Delta \limsup_{k} A_{k}\right) \Delta (A \Delta A)$$
$$= \left(\liminf_{k} A_{k} \Delta A\right) \Delta \left(\limsup_{k} A_{k} \Delta A\right).$$

PROOF. (a)

$$\limsup_{n} \liminf_{k} (A_{n} \cap A_{k}^{c})$$

$$= \lim_{n} \sup_{n} \left[ \liminf_{k} (A_{n} \cap A_{k}^{c}) \right]$$

$$= \limsup_{n} \sup_{n} \left[ \liminf_{k} A_{n} \cap \liminf_{k} A_{k}^{c} \right]$$

$$= \limsup_{n} \left[ A_{n} \cap \liminf_{k} A_{k}^{c} \right]$$

$$= \limsup_{n} \left[ A_{n} \cap \left( \limsup_{k} A_{k} \right)^{c} \right]$$

$$\subseteq \left( \limsup_{n} A_{n} \right) \cap \left[ \limsup_{n} \left( \limsup_{k} A_{k} \right)^{c} \right] \quad [by \text{ Exercise 68(b)}]$$

$$= \left( \limsup_{n} A_{n} \right) \cap \left( \limsup_{k} A_{k} \right)^{c}$$

$$= \emptyset.$$

**(b)**  $\liminf_k (A \smallsetminus A_k) = \liminf_k (A \cap A_k^c) = \liminf_k A \cap \liminf_k A_k^c = A \cap (\limsup_k A_k)^c = A \setminus \limsup_k A_k.$ 

(c)  $\limsup_n (\liminf_k A_k \setminus A_n) \subseteq [\limsup_n (\liminf_k A_k)] \cap (\limsup_n A_n^c) = (\liminf_k A_k) \cap (\liminf_n A_n)^c = \emptyset.$ 

(d)  $\limsup_{n \in A} (A \smallsetminus A_n) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} (A \cap A_n^c) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ A \cap \left( \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n^c \right) \right] = A \cap \left[ \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n^c \right] = A \cap \left(\limsup_{n \in A} A_n^c \right) = A \cap \left(\limsup_{n \in A} A_n\right)^c = A \setminus \liminf_{n \in A} A_n,$ and  $\limsup_{n \in A} (A_n \smallsetminus A) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} (A_n \cap A^c) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_n \right) \cap A^c \right] = \lim_{n \in A} \sup_{n \in A} A_n \cap A.$ 

(e)  $\limsup_n (A \Delta A_n) = \limsup_n [(A \smallsetminus A_n) \cup (A_n \smallsetminus A)] = \limsup_n (A \smallsetminus A_n) \cup \limsup_n (A_n \land A) = (A \land \liminf_n A_n) \cup \limsup_n (A_n \land A).$ 

(f) If  $A_n \to A$ , then  $\limsup A_n = \liminf A_n = A$ . Hence,  $\limsup_n (A \triangle A_n) = (A \sim \liminf_n A_n) \cup \limsup_n (A_n \smallsetminus A) = (A \smallsetminus A) \cup \limsup_n (A_n \smallsetminus A) = \limsup_n (A_n \smallsetminus A)$ .

(g) We first show for all  $A, B, C \in 2^{\Omega}$ ,

$$(A\Delta B)\,\Delta C = A\Delta\,(B\Delta C)\,. \tag{2.9}$$

This equation hold because<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This proof is not elegant. See Resnick (1999, Exercise 1.43).

$$\begin{split} (A\Delta B)\Delta C &= \left[ (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A) \right] \Delta C \\ &= \left\{ \left[ (A \land B) \cup (B \land A) \right] \lor C \right\} \cup \left\{ C \smallsetminus \left[ (A \land B) \cup (B \land A) \right] \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \left[ (A \cap B^c) \cup (A^c \cap B) \right] \cap C^c \right\} \cup \left\{ \left[ (A \cap B^c) \cup (A^c \cap B) \right]^c \cap C \right\} \\ &= \left[ (A \cap B^c \cap C^c) \cup (A^c \cap B \cap C^c) \right] \cup \left\{ \left[ (A \cap B^c)^c \sqcap (A^c \cap B)^c \right] \cap C \right\} \\ &\stackrel{*}{=} \left[ (A \cap B^c \cap C^c) \cup (A^c \cap B \cap C^c) \right] \cup \left\{ \left[ (A \cap B) \cup (A^c \cap B^c) \right] \cap C \right\} \\ &= \left[ (A \cap B^c \cap C^c) \cup (A^c \cap B \cap C^c) \right] \cup \left[ (A \cap B \cap C) \cup (A^c \cap B^c \cap C) \right] \\ &= \left\{ A \cap \left[ (B^c \cap C^c) \cup (B \cap C) \right] \right\} \bigcup \left\{ A^c \cap \left[ (B \cap C^c) \cup (B^c \cap C) \right] \right\} \\ &= \left\{ A \cap \left[ (B \cup C) \sqcap (B^c \cup C^c) \right]^c \right\} \bigcup \left[ A^c \cap (B\Delta C) \right] \\ &\stackrel{**}{=} \left[ A \cap (B\Delta C)^c \right] \bigcup \left[ A^c \cap (B\Delta C) \right] \\ &= A \Delta (B\Delta C) \,, \end{split}$$

where equality (\*) holds because

$$(A \cap B^c)^c \cap (A^c \cap B)^c = (A^c \cup B) \cap (A \cup B^c)$$
  
=  $[(A^c \cup B) \cap A] \cup [(A^c \cup B) \cap B^c]$   
=  $(A \cap B) \cup (A^c \cap B^c),$ 

and equality (\*\*) holds because

$$(B \cup C) \sqcap (B^c \cup C^c) = [(B \cup C) \cap B^c] \cup [(B \cup C) \cap C^c]$$
$$= (B^c \cap C) \cup (B \cap C^c).$$

By (2.9), we have

$$(E\Delta F) \Delta (G\Delta H) = E\Delta [F\Delta (G\Delta H)] = E\Delta [F\Delta (H\Delta G)]$$
$$= E\Delta [(F\Delta H) \Delta G]$$
$$= E\Delta [G\Delta (F\Delta H)]$$
$$= (E\Delta G) \Delta (F\Delta H).$$

Now it suffices to show that  $(\liminf_k A_k)\Delta(\limsup_k A_k) = (\limsup_k A_k) \sim (\liminf_k A_k)$ . Notice that

$$(\liminf A_k) \Delta(\limsup A_k) = \left[ (\limsup A_k) \land (\liminf A_k) \right] \cup \left[ (\liminf A_k) \land (\limsup A_k) \right] \\= \left[ (\limsup A_k) \land (\liminf A_k) \right] \cup \left[ (\liminf A_k) \land (\liminf A_k) \right] \\ \stackrel{***}{=} (\limsup A_k) \land (\liminf A_k),$$

where (\*\*\*) holds because  $(\liminf_k A_k) \cap (\liminf_k A_k^c) = [A_k \text{ ev.}] \cap [A_k^c \text{ ev.}] = \emptyset$ .

► EXERCISE 73 (2.2.10). Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $A = 2^{\Omega}$ . Define  $\mu$  on A by  $\mu(A) =$  number of points in A if A is finite; define  $\mu(A) = +\infty$  if A is infinite.

- a.  $\mu$  is a measure on A. This measure is called the counting measure.
- b. There exists a nonincreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of A-sets with  $\mu(A_n) = +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  but  $\mu(\lim_n A_n) = 0$ , thus (M9) accordingly fails to hold, hence the assumption that some  $A_k$  must have finite measure cannot be dropped.

PROOF. (a) can be found in Vestrup (2003, Example 2, p. 37). For (b), let  $A_n = \{n, n + 1, ...\}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ ,  $\mu(A_n) = +\infty$ , but  $\mu(\lim_n A_n) = 0$ .

► EXERCISE 74 (2.2.11). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  denote a measure space. Let  $\{A_x : x \in \mathbb{R}, x > 0\}$  denote a collection of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets.

- a. Suppose that 0 < x < y implies  $A_x \subseteq A_y$ . Then (i)  $\bigcup_{x>0} A_x \in A$ , (ii)  $x_1 < x_2$  implies  $\mu(A_{x_1}) \leq \mu(A_{x_2})$ , and (iii)  $\mu(A_x) \rightarrow \mu(\bigcup_{y>0} A_y)$  as  $x \rightarrow +\infty$ .
- b. Suppose that 0 < x < y implies  $A_x \supseteq A_y$ . Also, further assume that  $\mu(A_z) < \infty$  for some z > 0. Then (i)  $\bigcap_{x>0} A_x \in A$ , (ii)  $x_1 < x_2$  implies  $\mu(A_{x_1}) \ge \mu(A_{x_2})$ , and (iii)  $\mu(A_x) \to \mu(\bigcap_{y>0} A_y)$  as  $x \to +\infty$ . The assumption  $\mu(A_z) < +\infty$  for some z > 0 cannot be dropped. This and (a) generalize (M8) and (M9) from monotone sequences of sets to monotone [uncountable] collections of sets.

**PROOF.** (a) Denote  $\{A_x : x \in \mathbb{R}, x > 0\}$  as  $A_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Define a subset  $A_{\mathbb{N}}$  of  $A_{\mathbb{R}}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{N}} = \{ A_n \in \mathcal{A} \colon n \in \mathbb{N}, n > 0 \}.$$

Then, for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and x > 0, there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $x \leq n$  (by the Archimedan property; see Rudin 1976, Theorem 1.20); that is,  $A_x \subseteq A_n$ . Thus,

$$\bigcup \mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{R}} = \bigcup \mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{A}.$$

**(b)** Define  $\mathcal{B} = \{A_{1/n} : n \in \mathbb{N}, n > 0\}$ . Then for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and x > 0, there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with n > 0 such that x < 1/n; that is,  $A_{1/n} \subseteq A_x$ . Thus,  $\bigcap \mathcal{A}_{\mathbb{R}} = \bigcap \mathcal{B}$ .

- ► EXERCISE 75 (2.2.12). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  denote a measure space.
- a.  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite iff there is a nondecreasing sequence  $A_1 \subseteq A_2 \subseteq \cdots$  of A-sets with  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \Omega$ .
- b.  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite iff there is a disjoint sequence  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$  of A-sets with  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \Omega$ .

- c. Let  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n$  denote  $\sigma$ -finite measures on A. Then there exists a sequence  $\{A_m\}_{m=1}^{\infty}$  of A-sets such that (i)  $\mu_i(A_j) < +\infty$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  and  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and (ii)  $\Omega = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} A_m$ . These sets may be chosen to be nondecreasing or disjoint.
- d. Does (c) hold if we have countably many  $\sigma$ -finite measures on A as compared to finitely many  $\sigma$ -finite measures on A.

PROOF. (a) The if part is trivial. So assume that  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite. Then there exists  $\{B_n\} \subseteq A$  with  $\mu(B_n) < +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\bigcup B_n = \Omega$ . Let  $A_n = \bigcup_{k=1}^n B_k$ . Then  $\{A_n\}$  is nondecreasing and  $\bigcup B_n = \bigcup A_n = \Omega$ .

**(b)** Again, the if part is trivial. So assume that  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite. Let  $\{B_n\}$  as in (a). Let  $A_1 = B_1$ , and  $A_n = B_n \setminus (\bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} B_i)$  for  $n \ge 2$ . Then  $\{A_n\}$  is disjoint and  $\bigcup B_n = \bigcup A_n = \Omega$ .

(c) Let  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n$  be  $\sigma$ -finite. Then for each  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , there exists  $\{A_{ik}\} \subset A$  such that  $\mu_i(A_{ik}) < +\infty$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\bigcup_k A_{ik} = \Omega$ . Now let  $A_m = \bigcup_{\ell=1}^n A_{\ell m}$ . For each i and j,

$$\mu_i(A_j) = \mu_i\left(\bigcup_{\ell=1}^n A_{\ell j}\right) \leqslant \sum_{\ell=1}^n \mu_i(A_j) < +\infty,$$
(2.10)

and  $\bigcup A_m = \Omega$ . It follows from (a) and (b) that  $\{A_m\}$  may be chosen as nondecreasing or disjoint.

(d) (c) may not hold if we have countably many  $\sigma$ -finite measures on A since (2.10) may fail.

► EXERCISE 76 (2.2.13). Let  $\mu$  denote a measure on a  $\sigma$ -field A, and let  $A_1, A_2, \ldots \in A$  be such that  $\mu(\bigcup_{j=N}^{\infty} \liminf_k (A_j \cap A_k^c)) < +\infty$  for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Use (M10) and parts (a)—(c) of Exercise 72 to show the following claims:

- a.  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\liminf_{k \to \infty} (A_n \cap A_k^c))$  exists and equals zero.
- b.  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n \setminus \limsup_{k \to \infty} A_k)$  exists and equals zero.
- c.  $\lim_{k \to \infty} \mu((\liminf_{k \to \infty} A_k) \setminus A_n)$  exists and equals zero.

PROOF. (a) Since there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mu(\bigcup_{j=N}^{\infty} \liminf_{k} (A_j \setminus A_k)) < +\infty$ , it follows from (M10) and Exercise 72(a) that

$$\mu\left(\liminf_{n}\left[\liminf_{k}(A_{n} \smallsetminus A_{k})\right]\right) \leq \liminf_{n}\mu\left(\liminf_{k}(A_{n} \smallsetminus A_{k})\right)$$
$$\leq \limsup_{n}\mu\left(\liminf_{k}(A_{n} \smallsetminus A_{k})\right)$$
$$\leq \mu\left(\limsup_{n}\left[\liminf_{k}(A_{n} \smallsetminus A_{k})\right]\right)$$
$$= \mu(\emptyset)$$
$$= 0.$$

Thus,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(\liminf_{k \to \infty} (A_n \cap A_k^c)) = 0.$ 

(b) Notice that  $A_n \sim \limsup_k A_k = \liminf_k (A_n \smallsetminus A_k)$  by Exercise 72(b). Then (b) follows from (a) immediately.

(c) Using (M10) and Exercise 72(c), we get (c).

► EXERCISE 77 (2.2.16). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a field on  $\Omega$ , and suppose that  $\mu : \mathcal{A} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  satisfies (M1) with  $\mu(\Omega) < +\infty$ , (M2), (M4) (and hence (M5)), and in addition is continuous from above at  $\emptyset$ . Then  $\mu$  is a measure.

PROOF. Let  $\{B_n\} \subset A$  be disjoint, and  $\bigcup_n B_n \in A$ . For  $n \ge 2$ , let  $C_n = \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} B_k$ . Then  $\{C_n\}$  is nonincreasing and converges to

$$\bigcap_{n} C_{n} = \bigcap_{n} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} B_{k} = \limsup_{n} B_{n} = \emptyset.$$

Then  $\lim_{n} \mu(C_n) = 0$ ; that is,

$$0 = \lim_{n} \mu \left( \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} B_{k} \right) = \lim_{n} \mu \left( \left( \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B_{k} \right) \smallsetminus \left( \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} B_{i} \right) \right)$$
$$= \mu \left( \bigcup_{n} B_{n} \right) - \lim_{n} \mu \left( \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} B_{i} \right)$$
$$= \mu \left( \bigcup_{n} B_{n} \right) - \lim_{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \mu(B_{i})$$
$$= \mu \left( \bigcup_{n} B_{n} \right) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(B_{n}),$$

i.e.,  $\mu(\bigcup_n B_n) = \sum_n \mu(B_n)$ .

► EXERCISE 78 (2.2.17). Let  $\Omega = (0, 1]$ , and let  $\mathcal{F}$  consist of  $\emptyset$  and the finite disjoint unions of rsc subintervals of (0, 1]. Then  $\mathcal{F}$  is a field. Define  $\mu$  on  $\mathcal{F}$  as follows:  $\mu(A) = 1$  if there exists  $\varepsilon_A > 0$  with  $(1/2, 1/2 + \varepsilon_A] \subseteq A$  and  $\mu(A) = 0$ 

otherwise. Then  $\mu$  is well-defined and satisfies (M1), (M2), and (M4), but  $\mu$  is not countably additive.

PROOF. We first show that  $\mathscr{F}$  is a field. Suppose that  $A = (a_1, a'_1] \cup \cdots (a_m, a'_m]$ , where the notation is so chosen that  $a_1 \leq \cdots a_m$ . If the  $(a_i, a'_i]$  are disjoint, then  $A^c = (0, a_1] \cup (a'_1, a_2] \cup \cdots \cup (a'_{m-1}, a_m] \cup (a'_m, 1]$  and so lies in  $\mathscr{F}$  (some of these intervals may be empty, as  $a'_i$  and  $a_{i+1}$  may coincide). If  $B = (b_1, b'_1] \cup \cdots \cup (b_n, b'_n]$ , then  $(b_j, b'_i]$  again disjoint, then

$$A \cap B = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \bigcup_{j=1}^{n} \left[ (a_i, a'_i] \cap (b_j, b'_j] \right];$$

each intersection here is again an interval or else the empty set, and the union is disjoint, and hence  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{F}$ .

Nevertheless,  $\mathcal{F}$  is not a  $\sigma$ -field: It does not contain the singleton  $\{x\}$ , even though each is a countable intersection  $\bigcap_n (x - 1/n, x]$  of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets.

The set function  $\mu$  defined above is not countably additive. Counter the rational number on (0, 1] starting 1:  $\{1, x_1, x_2, \ldots\}$ . This set is countable. Consider the collection  $\{(x_1, 1], (x_2, x_1], \ldots\}$ . Then  $\mu(\bigcup(x_i, x_{i-1}]) = 1$ , however,  $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mu((x_i, x_{i-1}]) = 0$ .

► EXERCISE 79 (2.2.18). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  be a measure space. Suppose that  $\mu$  is nonatomic:  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $\mu(A) > 0$  imply that there exists  $B \subseteq A$  with  $B \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $0 < \mu(B) < \mu(A)$ .

- a. The measure  $\mu$  of Example 2 in Section 2.1 is atomic.
- b. Suppose  $A \in A$  is such that  $\mu(A) > 0$ , and let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be given. Then there exists  $B \in A$  with  $B \subseteq A$  and  $0 < \mu(B) < \varepsilon$ .
- c. Let  $A \in A$  be such that  $\mu(A) > 0$ . Given any  $0 \le \alpha \le \mu(A)$  there exists a set  $B \in A$  with  $B \subseteq A$  and  $\mu(B) = \alpha$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Let  $A = \{\omega_0\}$ . Then  $A \in 2^{\Omega}$  and  $\mu(A) = 1$ . The only subsets of A (in  $\mathcal{A}$ ) is  $\emptyset$  and A. But  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mu(A) = \mu(A)$ . So the unit mass at  $\omega_0$  is atomic.

**(b)** Take an arbitrary  $A_1 \in A$  with  $A_1 \subseteq A$  and  $0 < \mu(A_1) < \mu(A)$ . Since  $\mu(A) = \mu(A_1) + \mu(A \setminus A_1)$  and  $\mu(A \setminus A_1) > 0$  (otherwise  $\mu(A_1) = \mu(A)$ ), we know that either

$$0 < \mu(A_1) \le \mu(A)/2,$$
 (2.11)

or

$$0 < \mu(A \smallsetminus A_1) \le \mu(A)/2.$$
 (2.12)

If (2.11) holds, take an arbitrary  $A_2 \in A$  with  $A_2 \subseteq A_1$  and  $0 < \mu(A_2) < \mu(A_1)$ . Then either

$$0 < \mu(A_2) \leq \mu(A_1)/2 \leq \mu(A)/2^2$$
,

or

$$0 < \mu(A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) \leq \mu(A_1)/2 \leq \mu(A)/2^2.$$

If (2.12) holds, take  $A_2 \in A$  with  $A_2 \subseteq A \setminus A_1$  and  $0 < \mu(A_2) < \mu(A \setminus A_1)$ . Then either

$$0 < \mu(A_2) \leq \mu(A \smallsetminus A_1)/2 \leq \mu(A)/2^2$$
,

or

$$0 < \mu(A_2) \le \mu(A \smallsetminus A_1 \smallsetminus A_2)/2 \le \mu(A \smallsetminus A_1)/2 \le \mu(A)/2^2.$$

Thus, there exists  $A_2 \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $A_2 \subseteq A$  such that  $0 < \mu(A_2) \leq \mu(A)/2^2$ .

Then by mathematical induction principle, we can show that there exists  $A_n \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $A_n \subseteq A$  and  $0 < \mu(A_n) \leq \mu(A)/2^n$ . By letting *n* sufficiently large and setting  $B = A_n$ , we get the result.

(c) If  $\alpha = 0$ , set  $B = \emptyset$ ; if  $\alpha = \mu(A)$ , set B = A. So we assume that  $0 < \alpha < \mu(A)$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{C}$  denote the family of collection  $\mathfrak{D}$  of countable disjoint  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets contained in A such that  $\sum_{D \in \mathfrak{D}} \mu(D) \leq \alpha$ . Notice that  $\mathfrak{C}$  is well-defined by (b). For  $\mathfrak{D}, \mathcal{E} \in \mathfrak{C}$ , write  $\mathfrak{D} \leq \mathcal{E}$  iff (i)  $\sum_{D \in \mathfrak{D}} \mu(D) \leq \sum_{E \in \mathcal{E}} \mu(E)$ , and (ii)  $\mathfrak{D} \subseteq \mathcal{E}$ .

It is clear that  $(\mathfrak{C}, \preccurlyeq)$  is a partially ordered set since  $\leqslant$  and  $\subseteq$  are partial orderings. For any chain  $\mathfrak{D} \subseteq \mathfrak{C}$ , there exists an upper bound  $\bigcup \mathfrak{D}$ . It follows from Zorn's Lemma that there exists a maximal element  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathfrak{C}$ .

Let  $B = \bigcup \mathcal{F}$ . We finally show that  $\mu(B) = \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \mu(F) = \alpha$ . Assume that  $\mu(B) < \alpha$ . Then  $\mu(A \setminus B) > 0$  for otherwise  $\mu(A) = \mu(A \setminus B) + \mu(B) = \alpha < \mu(A)$ . Take an arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\varepsilon < \alpha - \mu(B)$ . It follows from (b) that there exists  $C \in \mathcal{A}$  with  $C \subseteq A \setminus B$  and  $0 < \mu(C) < \varepsilon$ . Let  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{F} \cup \{C\}$ . Then all sets in  $\mathcal{G}$  are disjoint and

$$\sum_{G \in \mathcal{G}} \mu(G) = \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \mu(F) + \mu(C) < \mu(B) + \varepsilon < \alpha;$$

that is,  $\mathscr{G} \in \mathfrak{C}$ . Further,  $\sum_{G \in \mathscr{G}} \mu(G) = \sum_{F \in \mathscr{F}} \mu(F) + \mu(C) > \sum_{F \in \mathscr{F}} \mu(F)$  since  $\mu(C) > 0$ , and  $\mathscr{F} \subset \mathscr{G}$ . Thus,  $\mathscr{F} \prec \mathscr{G}$ . In Contradict the fact that  $\mathscr{F}$  is maximal in  $\mathfrak{C}$ .

► EXERCISE 80 (2.2.19). Let  $(\Omega, A, \mu)$  be a measure space. Let  $B \in A$  and  $A_B = {A \in A : A \subseteq B}$ . Then  $A_B$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed on B, and the restriction of  $\mu$  to  $A_B$  is a measure on  $A_B$ .

PROOF. Automatically,  $B \in A_B$ . If  $A \in A_B$ , then  $A \in A$ , so  $B \setminus A \in A$  and  $B \setminus A \subseteq B$ , i.e.,  $B \setminus A \in A_B$ . Finally, if  $\{A_n\} \subseteq A_B$ , then  $A_n \in A$  and  $A_n \subseteq B$  for each *n*. Thus,  $\bigcup A_n \in A$  and  $\bigcup A_n \subseteq B$ , i.e.,  $\bigcup A_n \in A_B$ . It is trivial to verify that  $\mu$  is a measure on  $A_B$ .

#### **2.3 A CLASS OF MEASURES**

► EXERCISE 81 (2.3.1). Let  $p_1, ..., p_n > 0$ . Fix *n* real numbers  $x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n$ , and define

$$F(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x < x_1 \\ p_1 + \dots + p_j & \text{if there exists } 1 \le j \le n \text{ such that } x_j \le x < x_{j+1} \\ 1 & \text{if } x \ge x_n. \end{cases}$$

 $\Delta_F$  is a measure on  $A_1$ , and

1

$$\Delta_F((a,b]) = \begin{cases} \sum \{p_j : j \text{ is such that } a < x_j \leq b \} & \text{if } (a,b] \cap \{x_1,\ldots,x_n\} \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This is an important framework in discrete probability theory.

PROOF. We first show that  $\Delta_F$  takes the given form. If  $(a, b] \cap \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} = \emptyset$ , then either  $a < b < x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n$  or  $x_1 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n < a < b$ . Hence, F(a) = F(b) = 0 or F(a) = F(b) = 1, so  $\Delta_F((a, b]) = F(b) - F(a) = 0$ . If  $(a, b] \cap \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \neq \emptyset$ , then there exists  $i, j = 1, \ldots, n$  such that  $a < x_i < x_j \leq b$ . Hence,

$$\Delta_F((a, b]) = F(b) - F(a) = (p_1 + \dots + p_j) - (p_1 + \dots + p_i)$$
$$= \sum_{\{j : a < x_j \le b\}} p_j.$$

To see that  $\Delta_F$  is a measure, notice that (M1) and (M2) are satisfied automatically. Let  $\{(a_n, b_n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq A_1$  is disjoint, and assume that  $a_1 < b_1 \leq a_2 < b_2 \leq \cdots \leq a_n < b_n \leq \cdots$ , whence,

$$\Delta_F \left( \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (a_n, b_n] \right) = \sum \left\{ p_k : k \text{ is such that } x_k \in A_n \text{ for some } n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum \left\{ p_k : k \text{ is such that } x_k \in A_n \right\}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Delta_F \left( (a_n, b_n] \right).$$

► EXERCISE 82 (2.3.2). This problem generalizes Example 4. Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$  be such that f is continuous and nonnegative. Further suppose that  $\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} f(t) dt < +\infty$ . Define a function  $F : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$F(\mathbf{x}) = \int_{-\infty}^{x_1} \cdots \int_{-\infty}^{x_k} f(\mathbf{t}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}, \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^k.$$

Then  $\Delta_F$  is a measure on the semiring  $A_k$ , and for all  $(a, b] \in A_k$  we have

$$\Delta_F\left((\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b}]\right) = \int_{a_1}^{b_1} \cdots \int_{a_k}^{b_k} f\left(t_1,\ldots,t_k\right) \, \mathrm{d}t_k \cdots \, \mathrm{d}t_1.$$

PROOF. *F* is continuous. To derive  $\Delta_{F_k}$ , we use the mathematical induction. If n = 1, then  $\Delta_{F_1}((a, b]) = F(b) - F(a) = \int_a^b f(t) dt$ . Let us assume that the hypothesis hold for n = k, and consider n = k + 1:

$$\begin{split} &\Delta F_{k+1}(A) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in V(A)} s_A(\mathbf{x}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in V_1(A)} s_A(\mathbf{x}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in V_2(A)} s_A(\mathbf{x}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} s_A(\mathbf{x}^*, a_{k+1}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, a_{k+1}) + \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} s_A(\mathbf{x}^*, b_{k+1}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, b_{k+1}) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} (-1) \cdot s_{A^*}(\mathbf{x}^*) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, a_{k+1}) + \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} s_{A^*}(\mathbf{x}^*) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, b_{k+1}) \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} s_{A^*}(\mathbf{x}^*) \cdot \left[ F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, b_{k+1}) - F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^*, a_{k+1}) \right] \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^* \in V(A^*)} s_{A^*}(\mathbf{x}^*) \cdot \int_{a_{k+1}}^{b_{k+1}} F_k(\mathbf{x}^*) dt_{k+1} \\ &= \int_{a_{k+1}}^{b_{k+1}} \left[ \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in V(A^*)} s_{A^*}(\mathbf{x}^*) F_k(\mathbf{x}^*) \right] dt_{k+1} \\ &= \int_{a_1}^{b_1} \cdots \int_{a_{k+1}}^{b_{k+1}} f(t_1, \dots, t_{k+1}) dt_{k+1} \cdots dt_1 \\ &\ge 0. \end{split}$$

Hence,  $F_k \in \mathfrak{S}_k$ .

► EXERCISE 83 (2.3.3). Let  $F_1, \ldots, F_k \in \mathfrak{S}$ . For each  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ , write  $F(\mathbf{x}) = \prod_{i=1}^k F_i(x_i)$ .

a.  $F \in \mathfrak{S}_k$ , hence  $\Delta_F$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}_k$ .

b. 
$$\Delta_F((\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b})) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} [F_i(b_i) - F_i(a_i)]$$
 for all  $(\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b}] \in \mathcal{A}_k$ .

PROOF. The continuity of *F* is clear. For  $F_i$ , we have  $\Delta_{F_i}((a_i, b_i]) = F_i(b_i) - F_i(a_i)$ . We can derive the form of  $\Delta_F$  as in Example 3.

► EXERCISE 84 (2.3.4). Suppose that  $F_i \in \mathfrak{S}_{k_i}$  for i = 1, ..., n. Suppose that  $F : \mathbb{R}^{\sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i} \to \mathbb{R}$  is such that

$$F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)},...,\mathbf{x}^{(n)}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} F_i(\mathbf{x}^{(i)})$$

for each  $\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \in \mathbb{R}^{k_1}, ..., and \mathbf{x}^{(n)} \in \mathbb{R}^{k_n}$ . Then  $\Delta_F$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}_{\sum_{i=1}^n k_i}$ . Also,  $\Delta_F (A_1 \times \cdots \times A_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n \Delta_{F_i} (A_i)$  for each  $A_1 \in \mathcal{A}_1, ..., and A_n \in \mathcal{A}_{k_n}$ .

PROOF. We use mathematical induction. If i = 1 then  $F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) = F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)})$ , and  $\Delta_F(A_1) = \Delta_{F_1}(A_1)$ . If i = 2 then  $F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) \times F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)})$ . Consider any  $(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \in V(A_1 \times A_2)$ . By definition,

$$s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = \begin{cases} +1 & \text{if } |\{i, j : x_i^{(1)} = a_i^{(1)}, x_j^{(2)} = a_j^{(2)}\}| \text{ is even} \\ -1 & \text{if } |\{i, j : x_i^{(1)} = a_i^{(1)}, x_j^{(2)} = a_j^{(2)}\}| \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
$$s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \cdot \left[F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)})F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right]. \tag{2.13}$$

• If  $|\{i: x_i^{(1)} = a_i^{(1)}\}| = \#^{(1)}$  is even, and  $|\{i: x_i^{(2)} = a_i^{(2)}\}| = \#^{(2)}$  is even, too, then  $\{i, j: x_i^{(1)} = a_i^{(1)}, x_j^{(2)} = a_j^{(2)}\}| = \#^{(1,2)}$  is even, and  $s_{A_1}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) = s_{A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = +1$ . Therefore, by (2.13)

$$s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{x}^{(2)}) F(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{x}^{(2)}) = F(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{x}^{(2)})$$
  
=  $F_1(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}) F_2(\boldsymbol{x}^{(2)})$   
=  $\left[ s_{A_1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}) F_1(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}) \right] \cdot \left[ s_{A_2} F_2(\boldsymbol{x}^{(2)}) \right]$  (2.14)

• If  $\#^{(1)}$  and  $\#^{(2)}$  are both odd, then  $\#^{(1,2)}$  is even, and so

$$s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) = F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)})$$
  
=  $F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)})$   
=  $\left[-F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)})\right] \cdot \left[-F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right]$   
=  $\left[s_{A_1}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)})\right] \cdot \left[s_{A_2} F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)})\right]$  (2.15)

• If one of the  $\#^{(1)}, \#^{(2)}$  is even, and the other is odd, then  $\#^{(1,2)}$  is odd. (2.14) holds in this case.

Hence, for any  $(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \in A_1 \times A_2$ , (2.14) hold. Therefore, we have

$$\sum_{(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \in V(A_1 \times A_2)} s_{A_1 \times A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) F\left(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^2\right)$$

$$= \sum_{(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \in V(A_1 \times A_2)} \left[ s_{A_1}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) \right] \times \left[ s_{A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(2)}) F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \in V(A_1)} \left[ s_{A_1}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) \right] \times \left[ \sum_{\mathbf{x}^{(2)} \in V(A_2)} s_{A_2}(\mathbf{x}^{(2)}) F_2(\mathbf{x}^{(2)}) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{x}^{(1)} \in V(A_1)} \left[ s_{A_1}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) F_1(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}) \right] \times \Delta_{F_2}(A_2)$$

$$= \Delta_{F_1}(A_1) \cdot \Delta_{F_2}(A_2).$$
(2.16)

Now suppose the claim holds for n = k, and consider n = k + 1. In this case,

$$F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)},\ldots,\mathbf{x}^{(k)},\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) = \left[\prod_{i=1}^{k} F_i(\mathbf{x}^{(i)})\right] F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}).$$

Just like Step 2, we have

$$s_{\prod_{i=1}^{k+1} A_i}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) = \left[ s_{\prod_{i=1}^{k} A_i}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k)}) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{k} F_i(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}) \right] \times \left[ s_{A_{k+1}}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \right]$$
(2.17)

for every  $(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \boldsymbol{x}^{(k+1)}) \in \prod_{i=1}^{k+1} A_i$ . Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \Delta_F(A_1 \times \dots \times A_{k+1}) &= \sum_{(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \in V\left(\prod_{i=1}^{k+1} A_i\right)} s_{\prod_{i=1}^{k+1} A_i}(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \\ &= \sum_{(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \in V\left(\prod_{i=1}^{k+1} A_i\right)} \left[ s_{\prod_{i=1}^{k} A_i}\left(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k)}\right) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{k} F_i(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}) \right] \\ &\times \left[ s_{A_{k+1}}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \right] \\ &= \sum_{(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k)}) \in V\left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} A_i\right)} \left[ s_{\prod_{i=1}^{k} A_i}\left(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k)}\right) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{k} F_i(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}) \right] \\ &\times \left[ \sum_{\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)} \in V(A_{k+1})} s_{A_{k+1}}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) F_{k+1}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \right] \\ &= \left[ \prod_{i=1}^{k} \Delta_{F_i}(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}) \right] \cdot \Delta_{F_{k+1}}(\mathbf{x}^{(k+1)}) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{k+1} \Delta_{F_i}(\mathbf{x}^{(i)}). \end{split}$$

Since  $F_i \in \mathfrak{S}_{k_i}$ , we have  $\Delta_{F_i}(A_i) \ge 0$ ; thus,  $\Delta_F(A_1 \times \cdots \times A_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n \Delta_{F_i}(A_i) \ge 0$ . The continuity of  $F(\mathbf{x}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathbf{x}^{(k+1)})$  is obvious. Hence,

$$F(\boldsymbol{x}^{(1)},\ldots,\boldsymbol{x}^{(n)})\in\mathfrak{S}_{\sum_{i=1}^{n}k_{i}}.$$

# **3** EXTENSIONS OF MEASURES

REMARK (p. 82). If  $A \in \lambda(\mathcal{P})$ , then  $\mathcal{G}_A$  is a  $\lambda$ -system.

PROOF. Let

$$\mathscr{G}_A = \{ C \subseteq \Omega \colon A \cap C \in \lambda(\mathcal{P}) \}.$$
(3.1)

 $(\lambda_1) \land A \cap \Omega = A \in \lambda(\mathcal{P}) \Longrightarrow \Omega \in \mathcal{G}_A.$   $(\lambda_{2'})$  Suppose  $C_1 \subseteq C_2$  with  $C_1, C_2 \in \mathcal{G}$ . Then we have  $A \cap C_1 \subseteq A \cap C_2$  and  $A \cap C_1, A \cap C_2 \in \lambda(\mathcal{P})$  by assumption. Since every  $\lambda$ -system is closed under proper differences, we have

$$(A \cap C_2) - (A \cap C_1) = A \cap (C_2 - C_1) \in \lambda(\mathcal{P}),$$

so  $C_2 - C_1 \in \mathcal{G}_A$ .  $(\lambda_3)$  Let  $\{C_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a disjoint collection of  $\mathcal{G}_A$ -sets, so that  $\{A \cap C_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a disjoint sequence of  $\lambda(\mathcal{P})$ -sets. Since  $\lambda(\mathcal{P})$  is a  $\lambda$ -system and hence satisfies ( $\lambda$ 3), we have

$$A \cap \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n\right) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap C_n) \in \lambda (\mathcal{P}),$$

so that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n \in \mathcal{G}_A$ .

Remark (p. 90).  $P \Delta Q = R \Delta S \Longrightarrow P \Delta R = Q \Delta S$ .

**PROOF.** First observe that  $A \Delta B = \emptyset$  iff A = B. To see this, note that

$$\varnothing = A \Delta B = (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A) \iff [A \smallsetminus B = B \smallsetminus A = \varnothing],$$

but<sup>1</sup>

$$A \sim B = \varnothing \Longrightarrow A \subseteq B,$$
$$B \sim A = \varnothing \Longrightarrow B \subseteq A;$$

Thus A = B.

For the reverse inclusion, let A = B. Then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The proof is as follows: Let  $A \\ B = A \cap B^c = \emptyset$ . Let  $x \in A$ . Then  $x \notin B^c \Longrightarrow x \in B$ .

$$A\Delta B = (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (B \smallsetminus A) = \emptyset \cup \emptyset = \emptyset.$$

Now we prove the claim. Since  $P \Delta Q = R \Delta S$ , we have

$$(P \Delta Q) \Delta (R \Delta S) = \emptyset. \tag{3.2}$$

It follows from Exercise 72(g) that we can rewrite (3.2) as  $(P \Delta R) \Delta (Q \Delta S) = \emptyset$ , and which gives the result:  $P \Delta R = Q \Delta S$ .

### 3.1 EXTENSIONS AND RESTRICTIONS

► EXERCISE 85 (3.1.1). Let  $(\Omega, A, \mu)$  denote a measure space. Pick  $E \in A$  and define  $A_E = \{F \in A : F \subseteq E\}$ . Then  $A_E$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on E,  $A_E = \{A \cap E : A \in A\}$ , and the restriction  $\mu_E$  of  $\mu$  [from A] to  $A_E$  is a measure. That is,  $(E, A_E, \mu_E)$  is a measure space and  $\mu_E = \mu$  on  $A_E$ .

PROOF. Automatically,  $E \in A_E$ . If  $A \in A_E$ , then  $A \in A$  and  $A \subseteq E$ ; hence  $E \setminus A \in A_E$ . If  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq A_E$ , then  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \subseteq E$  and  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in A$ , i.e.,  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in A_E$ . Therefore,  $A_E$  is a  $\sigma$ -field.

We first show

$$\{F \in \mathcal{A} \colon F \subseteq E\} = \mathcal{A}_E \subseteq \mathcal{A}'_E = \{A \cap E \colon A \in \mathcal{A}\}.$$

If  $F \in A_E$  then  $F \in A$  and  $F \subseteq E$ . Since  $F = F \cap E$ , we get  $F \in A'_E$ . For the converse inclusion direction, let  $B \in A'_E$ . Then there exists  $A \in A$  such that  $A \cap E = B$ . It is obvious that  $A \cap E \in A$  and  $A \cap E \subseteq E$ , so  $A \cap E = B \in A_E$ .

 $\mu_E$  is a measure [on  $\mathcal{A}_E$ ] because  $\mu$  is a measure [on  $\mathcal{A}$ ]. [See Exercise 86(b).]

- ► EXERCISE 86 (3.1.2). *Prove Claim 1 and 2.*
- **Claim 1** Assume the notation of the definition. If  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{G}$ , then  $\nu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{G}$  as well.
- **Claim 2** Suppose that  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{G}$ , and let  $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{H} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . Let  $v \colon \mathcal{H} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote a measure. Then the restriction of v to  $\mathcal{G}$  is a measure.

PROOF. (Claim 1) By definition,  $\mu$  is the restriction of  $\nu$  [from  $\mathcal{H}$ ] to  $\mathcal{G}$ , so  $\nu(A) = \mu(A)$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{G}$ . Since  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{G}$ , there exists a sequence of  $\mathcal{G}$ -sets,  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , such that  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$  and  $\nu(A_n) = \mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence,  $\nu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{G}$ .

(Claim 2) Since  $\mu$  is the restriction of  $\nu$  from  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{G}$ , we have  $\mu(A) = \nu(A)$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{G}$ . (M1) To see the nonnegativity, let  $A \in \mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ . Since  $\nu$  is a measure,  $\nu(B) \ge 0$  for all  $B \in \mathcal{H}$ ; particularly,  $\mu(A) = \nu(A) \ge 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{G}$ . (M2)  $\mu(\emptyset) = \nu(\emptyset) = 0$ . (M3) Let  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \in \mathcal{G}$ . Then

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) = \nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n).$$

### **3.2 OUTER MEASURES**

► EXERCISE 87 (3.2.1). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  denote an arbitrary measure space. Define  $\nu$  on  $2^{\Omega}$  by writing  $\nu(B) = \inf \{\mu(A) : B \subseteq A, A \in \mathcal{A}\}$  for each  $B \subseteq \Omega$ . Then  $\nu$  is an outer measure.

PROOF. The nonnegativity of  $\nu$  is evident since  $\mu(\cdot)$  is a measure. To see (O2), observe that  $\emptyset \subseteq \emptyset$ , so  $\nu(\emptyset) \leq \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . By (O1),  $\nu(\emptyset) = 0$ . To see (O3), let  $B \subseteq C \subseteq \Omega$ . Hence { $\mu(A) \colon C \subseteq A, A \in A$ }  $\subseteq$  { $\mu(A) \colon B \subseteq A, A \in A$ }, which means that inf { $\mu(A) \colon C \subseteq A, A \in A$ }  $\geq$  inf { $\mu(A) \colon B \subseteq A, A \in A$ }, and so  $\nu(B) \leq \nu(C)$ .

To see  $\nu$  is countable subadditivity, let  $\{B_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . We just consider the case that  $\nu(B_n) < +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For each n, there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $A_n \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $B_n \subseteq A_n$  and

$$u(B_n) + \varepsilon/2^n \ge \mu(A_n).$$

Also  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ . Thus,

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n\right) \leqslant \mu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \leqslant \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) \leqslant \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\nu(B_n) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2^n}\right] = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(B_n) + \varepsilon. \quad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 88 (3.2.2). Let  $v: 2^{\Omega} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be an outer measure, and suppose in addition that v is finitely additive:  $v(A \cup B) = v(A) + v(B)$ , where  $A, B \subseteq \Omega$  are disjoint. Then v is a measure. That is,  $(\Omega, 2^{\Omega}, v)$  is a measure space.

PROOF. (M1) and (M2) are satisfied automatically. To see (M3) (countable additivity), let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  be disjoint. Then

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_n\right) \ge \nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{N}A_n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{N}\nu(A_n),$$

for every  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Now let  $N \uparrow +\infty$  and yield

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \ge \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_n).$$
(3.3)

Combining (3.3) with (O4) (countable subadditivity) yields the result.

► EXERCISE 89 (3.2.3). Suppose that  $\varphi$  and  $\xi$  are outer measures [relative to some common background set  $\Omega$ ], and suppose that we define a new function  $\nu: 2^{\Omega} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  for all  $A \subseteq \Omega$  by writing  $\nu(A) = \max{\{\varphi(A), \xi(A)\}}$ . Then  $\nu$  is an outer measure [relative to  $\Omega$ ].

PROOF. (O1) and (O2) are straightforward. To see (O3), let  $A \subseteq B \subseteq \Omega$ . Then

$$\nu(A) = \max\{\varphi(A), \xi(A)\} \le \max\{\varphi(B), \xi(B)\} = \nu(B).$$

To see (O4), let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . Then

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) = \max\left\{\varphi\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right), \xi\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)\right\}$$
$$\leq \max\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(A_n), \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \xi(A_n)\right\}$$
$$\leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \max\left\{\varphi(A_n), \xi(A_n)\right\}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_n).$$

► EXERCISE 90 (3.2.4). Let v denote an outer measure, and let  $A \subseteq \Omega$ . Define a new set function  $v_A$  on  $2^{\Omega}$  by writing  $v_A(B) = v(B \cap A)$  for each  $B \subseteq \Omega$ . Then  $v_A$  is an outer measure relative to  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. (O1) and (O2) are satisfied automatically. If  $B \subseteq C \subseteq \Omega$ , then

$$\nu_A(B) = \nu(B \cap A) \leq \nu(C \cap A) = \nu_A(C)$$

by the monotonicity of  $\nu$ . To see (O4), let  $\{B_n\} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . Then

$$\nu_A\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n\right) = \nu\left(\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n\right) \cap A\right) = \nu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (B_n \cap A)\right) \leqslant \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(B_n \cap A)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu_A(B_n). \qquad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 91 (3.2.5). Let  $\{v_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a sequence of outer measures [relative to some common  $\Omega$ ], and let  $\{a_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a sequence of nonnegative numbers. For each  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , let  $v(A) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \cdot v_n(A)$ . Then v is an outer measure relative to  $\Omega$ .

**PROOF.** (O1) and (O2) are satisfied obviously. If  $A \subseteq B \subseteq \Omega$ , then

$$\nu(A) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \cdot \nu_n(A) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \cdot \nu_n(B) = \nu(B).$$

To see (O4), let  $\{A_k\} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$ . Then

$$\nu\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \nu_n\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k\right) \leqslant \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \left[\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \nu_n(A_k)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \nu_n(A_k)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_k).$$

### 3.3 CARATHÉODORY'S CRITERION

► EXERCISE 92 (3.3.1). Show directly that if  $A, B \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ , then  $A \cup B, A \setminus B \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ .

PROOF. (i) The following method is from Bear (2002). Let  $A, B \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  and let  $T \subseteq \Omega$  be any test set. Let  $T = T_1 \cup T_2 \cup T_3 \cup T_4$  as indicated in Figure 3.1. We need to show

$$\nu(T) = \nu\left(T \cap (A \cup B)\right) + \nu\left(T \cap (A \cup B)^{c}\right), \tag{3.4}$$

or, in terms of Figure 3.1,

$$\nu(T) = \nu(T_1 \cup T_2 \cup T_3) + \nu(T_4). \tag{3.4'}$$



FIGURE 3.1.  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ 

Cutting the test set  $T_1 \cup T_2$  with *B* gives

$$\nu(T_1 \cup T_2) = \nu(T_2) + \nu(T_1). \tag{3.5}$$

Similarly, cutting  $T_3 \cup T_4$  with *B* gives

$$\nu (T_3 \cup T_4) = \nu(T_3) + \nu(T_4). \tag{3.6}$$

Cutting T with A gives

$$\nu(T) = \nu(T_1 \cup T_2) + \nu(T_3 \cup T_4).$$
(3.7)

Combining (3.5), (3.6), and (3.7) we can write

$$\nu(T) = \nu(T_1) + \nu(T_2) + \nu(T_3) + \nu(T_4).$$
(3.8)

Now cut  $T_1 \cup T_2 \cup T_3$  with *A* and then use (3.5):

$$\nu(T_1 \cup T_2 \cup T_3) = \nu(T_1 \cup T_2) + \nu(T_3) = \nu(T_1) + \nu(T_2) + \nu(T_3).$$
(3.9)

From (3.9) and (3.8) we have the desired equality (3.4').

(ii) It is clear that  $A \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  iff  $A^c \in \mathcal{M}(v)$ . Thus,  $A, B \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  implies that  $B \cup A^c \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  by the previous result. Since  $A \setminus B = (B \cup A^c)^c \in \mathcal{M}(v)$ , we get  $A \setminus B \in \mathcal{M}(v)$ .

► EXERCISE 93 (3.3.2). Suppose that  $\Omega$  may be written as  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , where  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a nondecreasing sequence of subsets of  $\Omega$ . If  $A \subseteq \Omega$  is such that  $A \cap A_k \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  for all k exceeding some constant  $k_A$ , then  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ .

**PROOF.** By the *Outer Measure Theorem*,  $\mathcal{M}(\nu)$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ . Therefore,

$$\bigcup_{k=k_A+1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_k) = A \cap \left(\bigcup_{k=k_A+1}^{\infty} A_k\right) \in \mathcal{M}(\nu).$$

But since  $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is a nondecreasing sequence, we have

$$\bigcup_{k=k_A+1}^{\infty} A_k = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k = \Omega,$$

which means that

$$A \cap \left(\bigcup_{k=k_A+1}^{\infty} A_k\right) = A \cap \Omega = A \in \mathcal{M}(\nu).$$

► EXERCISE 94 (3.3.3). Let v denote an outer measure such that  $v(\Omega) < +\infty$ , and further suppose that if  $A \subseteq \Omega$  with  $v(A) < +\infty$ , then there exists  $B \in \mathcal{M}(v)$ such that  $A \subseteq B$  and v(A) = v(B). Then  $E \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  iff  $v(\Omega) = v(E) + v(E^c)$ .

PROOF. If  $E \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ , then  $\nu(T) = \nu(T \cap E) + \nu(T \cap E^c)$ ; in particular, this holds for  $T = \Omega$ , so  $\nu(\Omega) = \nu(E) + \nu(E^c)$ .

For the other direction, suppose  $\nu(\Omega) = \nu(E) + \nu(E^c)$ . Since  $\nu(\Omega) < +\infty$ , we get  $\nu(E), \mu(E^c) < +\infty$  by the monotonicity of  $\nu$ . Then there exist  $B', B'' \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  such that  $E^c \subseteq B'$ ,  $\nu(E^c) = \nu(B')$ , and  $E \subseteq B''$ ,  $\nu(E) = \nu(B'')$ . Let  $B = (B')^c \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ . Then  $B \subseteq E$  and

$$\nu(B) = \nu((B')^c) = \nu(\Omega) - \nu(B') = \left[\nu(E) + \nu(E^c)\right] - \nu(E^c) = \nu(E).$$

Hence, there exist  $B, B'' \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  such that  $B \subseteq E \subseteq B''$ , and v(B) = v(E) = v(B'').

Notice that *E* is the union of *B* and a subset of  $B'' \\ \neg B$ . If we can show that every subset of  $B'' \\ \neg B$  is in  $\mathcal{M}(v)$ , then  $E \in \mathcal{M}(v)$  (since  $\mathcal{M}(v)$  is a  $\sigma$ -field). For every  $C \subseteq B'' \\ \neg B$ , we have

$$\nu(C) \leqslant \nu(B'' \smallsetminus B) = \nu(B'') - \nu(B) = 0.$$

Therefore,  $\nu(C) = 0$ , i.e.,  $C \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ , and so  $E \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$ .

► EXERCISE 95 (3.3.4). Suppose that v is an arbitrary outer measure, and let  $A, B \subseteq \Omega$  with  $A \in \mathcal{M}(v)$ . Show that  $v(A \cup B) + v(A \cap B) = v(A) + v(B)$ .

**PROOF.**  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  implies that

$$\nu(A \cup B) = \nu\left((A \cup B) \cap A\right) + \nu\left((A \cup B) \cap A^{c}\right) = \nu(A) + \nu\left(B \cap A^{c}\right), \quad (3.10)$$

and

$$\nu(B) = \nu(B \cap A) + \nu(B \cap A^c).$$
(3.11)

Combining (3.10) with (3.11) we get  $v(A \cup B) + v(A \cap B) = v(A) + v(B)$ .

► EXERCISE 96 (3.3.5). Let v denote an outer measure, and let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a nondecreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{M}(v)$ -sets. Show that  $v(\lim(A \cap A_n)) = \lim v(A \cap A_n)$  for any  $A \subseteq \Omega$ . State and prove an analogous result for nonincerasing sequences of  $\mathcal{M}(v)$ -sets.

PROOF. Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a nondecreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{M}(\nu)$ -sets. Then  $\{A \cap A_n\}$  forms a nondecreasing sequence, so  $\lim(A \cap A_n) = \bigcup(A \cap A_n) = A \cap (\bigcup A_n)$ .

Let  $B_1 = A_1$  and  $B_n = A_n \setminus A_{n-1}$  for  $n \ge 2$ . Then  $\{B_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  is disjoint and  $\bigcup A_n = \bigcup B_n$ . Thus

$$\nu\left(\lim(A \cap A_n)\right) = \nu\left(A \cap \left(\bigcup B_n\right)\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A \cap B_n)$$
$$= \lim_n \sum_{i=1}^n \nu(A \cap B_n)$$
$$= \lim_n \nu\left(A \cap \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^n B_i\right)\right)$$
$$= \lim_n \nu(A \cap A_n).$$

If  $\{A_n\}$  is a nonincreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{M}(\nu)$  sets, then  $\{A_n^c\}$  is a nondecreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{M}(\nu)$  sets. Thus  $\nu(\lim(A \smallsetminus A_n)) = \lim \nu(A \smallsetminus A_n)$ .

► EXERCISE 97 (3.3.6). Let  $\nu$  denote an outer measure such that the following holds: if  $A \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\nu(A) < +\infty$ , then there is  $B \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  with  $A \subseteq B$  and

 $\nu(A) = \nu(B)$ . Then, for any nondecreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of  $\Omega$ , we have  $\nu(\lim A_n) = \lim \nu(A_n)$ .

PROOF. If there exists  $A_k$  such that  $\nu(A_k) = +\infty$ , then  $\nu(\lim A_n) = \nu(\bigcup A_n) \ge \nu(A_k) = +\infty$ , and so  $\nu(\lim A_n) = +\infty$ ; on the other hand,  $\nu(A_1) \le \nu(A_2) \le \cdots$  and  $\nu(A_k) = +\infty$  imply that  $\lim \nu(A_n) = +\infty$ .

Now let  $\nu(A_n) < +\infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists  $B_n \in \mathcal{M}(\nu)$  such that  $A_n \subseteq B_n$  and  $\nu(A_n) = \nu(B_n)$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We first show that we can choose  $\{B_n\}$  so that it is nonincreasing.

Consider  $B_n$  and  $B_{n+1}$ . If  $B_n \supset B_{n+1}$ , then  $\nu(B_n) = \nu(B_{n+1})$  since  $\nu(B_n) = \nu(A_n) \leq \nu(A_{n+1}) = \nu(B_{n+1})$  always holds. But then  $\nu(A_n) = \nu(A_{n+1})$  and so we can just let  $B_{n+1} = B_n$  after we having chosen  $B_n$ .

Thus,  $v(\lim B_n) = \lim v(B_n)$  exists. Since  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is nondecreasing, we have  $v(\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i) = v(A_n) = v(B_n)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Take the limit and we get  $v(\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i) = v(\lim B_n) = \lim v(B_n) = \lim v(A_n)$ .

► EXERCISE 98 (3.3.7). In each of the following parts, (i) describe the outer measure  $\mu^*$  on  $2^{\Omega}$  induced by the given  $\mu$ , (ii) describe the collection  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  and determine if  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  is a  $\sigma$ -field, and (iii) check to see whether  $\mu^* = \mu$  on the given collection  $\mathcal{A}$ .

a.  $\Omega = \{1, 2, 3\}, A = \{\emptyset, \{1\}, \{2, 3\}, \Omega\}, and \mu \text{ is a measure on } A \text{ such that } \mu(\Omega) = 1 \text{ and } \mu(\{1\}) = 0.$ 

SOLUTION. (a) Since  $\mu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}$ , by (finite) additivity,  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mu(\{2,3\}) = \mu(\Omega) - \mu(\{1\}) = 1$ . Then,  $\mu^*(\emptyset) = 0$ ,  $\mu^*(\{1\}) = 0$ ,  $\mu^*(\{2,3\}) = 1$ ,  $\mu^*(\Omega) = 1$ ,  $\mu^*(\{2\}) = \mu(\{2,3\}) = 1$ ,  $\mu^*(3) = \mu(\{2,3\}) = 1$ ,  $\mu^*(\{1,2\}) = \mu^*(\{1,3\}) = \mu(\Omega) = 1$ .

### **3.4 EXISTENCE OF EXTENSIONS**

► EXERCISE 99 (3.4.1). Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and refer to the measure  $\lambda_k : \mathcal{B}^k \to \mathbb{R}$  that assigns the value  $\prod_{i=1}^k (b_i - a_i)$  to every  $(a, b] \in \mathcal{A}_k$ , as given in this section's example. For this measure  $\lambda_k$ , we have the following;

- a.  $\lambda_k((a, b]) = \lambda_k((a, b)) = \lambda_k([a, b)) = \lambda_k([a, b]) = \prod_{i=1}^k (b_i a_i).$
- b.  $\lambda_k$  applies to any *k*-dimensional rectangle that contains a *k*-dimensional open set and is unbounded in at least one dimension gives  $+\infty$ .
- c.  $\lambda_k$  applied to any bounded  $\mathbb{B}^k$ -set yields a finite number.
- d. It might be thought that if  $A \subseteq B$  with  $B \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $\lambda_k(B) = 0$ , then  $\lambda_k(A)$  must exists and equal 0. Show that if there exists an uncountable set  $C \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $\lambda_k(C) = 0$ , then  $\lambda_k(A)$  need not even exist, let along equal zero, and thus  $\lambda_k$  violates our intuition in this regard.
PROOF. (a) Observe first that  $\{x\} = \lim_{n \to \infty} (x - 1/n, x]$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . Therefore,

$$\lambda_k\left(\{\mathbf{x}\}\right) = \lambda_k\left(\lim_n \left(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{1}/n, \mathbf{x}\right]\right) = \lim_n \lambda_k\left(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{1}/n, \mathbf{x}\right] = \lim_n 1/n^k = 0.$$

Now by (M5),

$$\lambda_{k}(\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b}) = \lambda_{k}\left((\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b}] \setminus \{\boldsymbol{b}\}\right) = \lambda_{k}(\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b}] - \lambda_{k}\left(\{\boldsymbol{b}\}\right) = \lambda_{k}(\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{b}].$$

**(b)** Write  $(a, b] = (a_1, b_1] \times \cdots (a_k, b_k]$ , and assume that  $b_1 - a_1 = \infty$ . Since (a, b] contains an open set,  $b_i - a_i > 0$  for each  $i = 1, \dots, k$ . Therefore,  $\lambda(a, b] = \infty$ .

(c) Let  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$  be bounded. Then there exists a bounded (a, b] containing A. Hence  $\lambda_k(A) \leq \lambda_k(a, b] < \infty$ .

(d) By the Continuum Hypothesis, if *C* is countable then  $|C| \ge c$ . Hence  $|2^C| \ge 2^c > c$ . However,  $|\mathcal{B}^k| = c$ .

- ► EXERCISE 100 (3.4.2). This problem reviews the Extension Theorem.
- a. Where or how is the fact that  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  used?
- b. What happens if  $A = 2^{\Omega}$ ?

SOLUTION. (a)  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{M}(\mu)$  and (b) The Extension Theorem holds if and only if  $\mu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{A}$ .

► EXERCISE 101 (3.4.3). Consider the Extension Theorem framework. If we have  $\mu(A) < +\infty$  for each  $A \in A$ , it might not be the case that the measure extension  $\mu^*_{\sigma(A)}$  assigns finite measure to every set in  $\sigma(A)$ . However, if  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on A, then the measure extension  $\mu^*_{\sigma(A)}$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\sigma(A)$ , and the measure extension  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ .

PROOF. Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  consist of  $\emptyset$  and all bounded rsc intervals (a, b]. Let  $\mu(a, b] = b - a$  for all  $(a, b] \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then  $\mu(A) < +\infty$  for each  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ . However,  $\mathbb{R} \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ , and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(\mathbb{R}) = +\infty$ . The other two claims are obvious.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 102 (3.4.4). There is a measure  $v: \mathcal{B} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $v(\mathbb{R}) = 1$  and

$$v(a,b] = \int_{a}^{b} (2\pi)^{-1/2} e^{-z^{2}/2} dz$$

where the integral is the familiar Riemann integral from calculus.

PROOF. According to the approach of Georgakis (1994), let y = zs, dy = z ds, then

$$\left(\int_{a}^{b} e^{-z^{2}/2} dz\right)^{2} = \int_{a}^{b} \left(\int_{a}^{b} e^{-(z^{2}+y^{2})/2} dy\right) dz$$
  
$$= \int_{a}^{b} \left(\int_{a}^{b} e^{-z^{2}(1+s^{2})/2} z ds\right) dz$$
  
$$= \int_{a}^{b} \left(\int_{a}^{b} e^{-z^{2}(1+s^{2})/2} z dz\right) ds$$
  
$$= \int_{a}^{b} \left[\frac{1}{-(1+s^{2})} e^{-z^{2}(1+s^{2})/2} \Big|_{a}^{b}\right] ds$$
  
$$= \int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{1+s^{2}} e^{-a^{2}(1+s^{2})/2} ds - \int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{1+s^{2}} e^{-b^{2}(1+s^{2})/2} ds. \quad \Box$$

- ▶ EXERCISE 103 (3.4.5). Consider the Extension Theorem framework again.
- a. If  $A \subseteq B \subseteq \Omega$  with  $B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  and  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B) = 0$ , then  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\nu^*)$  and  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(A) = 0$ .
- b. If in (a) we replace every occurrence of  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  [including instances where it appears as a subscript] with  $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ , then the claim is not necessarily true.

PROOF. (a) Assume the hypotheses. To see  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ , note that for any  $T \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\mu^*(T) < +\infty$ , we have  $\mu^*(T \cap A) \leq \mu^*(T \cap B) \leq \mu^*(B) = 0$  by monotonicity of  $\mu^*$ . Therefore,  $\mu^*(T) \geq \mu^*(T \cap A) + \mu^*(T \cap A^c) = \mu^*(T \cap A^c)$  always holds.

(b) The same reason as in Exercise 99(d).

► EXERCISE 104 (3.4.6). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote a field on  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mu \colon \mathcal{F} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote a measure. Let  $\mu^* \colon 2^{\Omega} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be given by

$$\mu^*(A) = \inf \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n) \colon \{A_n\} \text{ is a } \mathcal{F}\text{-covering of } A \right\}, \quad A \subseteq \Omega.$$

Then  $\mu^*$  is an outer measure, and the restriction of  $\mu^*$  to the  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  is a measure. With these facts, we have that  $\mu^* = \mu$  on  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ . Finally, there exists a measure extension of  $\mu$  to  $\sigma(\mathcal{F})$ .

PROOF. Notice that  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mu(A) \ge 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $\mu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{F}$ . So  $\mu^*$  is an outer measure by Example 1 in Section 3.2. The other parts are standard.

► EXERCISE 105 (3.4.7). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote a field on  $\Omega$ . Suppose that  $v: \mathcal{F} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is such that (i)  $v(A) \ge 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ , (ii) v is finitely additive, and (iii) if  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a nonincreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets with  $\lim A_n = \emptyset$ , the  $\lim v(A_n) = 0$ . Define  $v^*: 2^{\Omega} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  for all  $A \subseteq \Omega$  by writing

$$\nu^*(A) = \inf\left\{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \nu(A_n) \colon \{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \text{ is an } \mathcal{F}\text{-covering of } A\right\}.$$

- a.  $v^*$  is an outer measure.
- b.  $\mathcal{M}(v^*)$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ .
- c. The restriction of  $v^*$  to  $\mathcal{M}(v^*)$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{M}(v^*)$ .
- d.  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{M}(v^*)$ .
- e. There exists a measure extension of v to  $\sigma(\mathcal{F})$ .

**PROOF.** (a) It suffices to show that  $\nu(\emptyset) = 0$  by Example 1 of Section 3.2. Take a sequence  $\{\emptyset, \emptyset, \ldots\}$ . Then  $0 = \lim \nu(\emptyset) = \nu(\emptyset)$ .

**(b)** –(e) are from the Outer Measure Theorem.

#### **3.5 UNIQUENESS OF MEASURES AND EXTENSIONS**

► EXERCISE 106 (3.5.1). If  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  are finite measures with domain  $\sigma(\mathcal{P})$  (where  $\mathcal{P}$  denotes a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ ), if  $\Omega$  can be expressed as an amc union of  $\mathcal{P}$ -sets, and if  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  on  $\mathcal{P}$ , then  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  on  $\sigma(\mathcal{P})$ .

**PROOF.** Assume the hypotheses. Then  $\sigma_1$  is  $\sigma$ -finite with respect to  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  on  $\mathcal{P}$ . By the Uniqueness Theorem,  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  on  $\sigma(\mathcal{P})$ .

► EXERCISE 107 (3.5.2). Let  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  denote finite measures with domain  $\sigma(\mathcal{P})$ , where  $\mathcal{P}$  is a  $\pi$ -system on  $\Omega$ , and further suppose that  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$  on  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ .

**PROOF.** I am not sure about this exercise. If  $\Omega \in \mathcal{P}$ , then by letting

$$\mathcal{L} = \{ A \in \sigma(\mathcal{P}) \colon \mu_1(A) = \mu_2(A) \},\$$

we can easily to show that  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\lambda$ -system with  $\mathcal{P} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ . Then the result is trivial.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 108 (3.5.3). Let  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3, \omega_4\}$ , let  $\mathcal{A}$  consist of  $\emptyset$ ,  $\{\omega_1, \omega_2\}$ ,  $\{\omega_1, \omega_3\}$ ,  $\{\omega_2, \omega_4\}$ ,  $\{\omega_3, \omega_4\}$ , and  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mu : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined as follows:  $\mu(\Omega) = 6, \mu(\emptyset) = 0, and \mu(\{\omega_1, \omega_2\}) = \mu(\{\omega_1, \omega_3\}) = \mu(\{\omega_2, \omega_4\}) = \mu(\{\omega_3, \omega_4\}) = 3.$ 

a. A is neither a  $\pi$ -system nor a semiring, and  $\sigma(A) = 2^{\Omega}$ .

- b.  $\mu$  is a measure.
- c. Define two new distinct measures v and  $\xi$  on the  $\sigma$ -field  $2^{\Omega}$  by the following:  $v(\{\omega_1\}) = v(\{\omega_4\}) = 1, v(\{\omega_2\}) = v(\{\omega_3\}) = 2, \xi(\{\omega_2\}) = \xi(\{\omega_3\}) = 1, and$   $\xi(\{\omega_1\}) = \xi(\{\omega_4\}) = 2$ . Then v and  $\xi$  are distinct measure extensions of  $\mu$ from A to  $\sigma(A) = 2^{\Omega}$ .

- d. Let  $\mu^*: 2^{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$  denote the outer measure induced by  $\mu$ . Then  $\mu^* = \mu$  on  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mu^*$  is a measure.
- e.  $\mu^*$ ,  $\nu$ , and  $\xi$  are distinct measures.

PROOF. (a)  $\mathcal{A}$  is not a  $\pi$ -system because  $\{\omega_1, \omega_2\} \cap \{\omega_1, \omega_3\} = \{\omega_1\} \notin \mathcal{A}$ , and so  $\mathcal{A}$  is not a semiring.  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) = 2^{\Omega}$  since every singleton can be expressed as a intersection of  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets.

(b) Easy to check.

- (c) For example,  $\nu(\{\omega_1, \omega\}) = \nu(\{\omega_1\}) + \nu(\{\omega_2\}) = 1 + 2 = \mu(\{\omega_1, \omega_2\}).$
- (d) For example,  $\mu^*(\{\omega\}) = \inf\{\mu(\{\omega_1, \omega_2\}), \mu(\{\omega_1, \omega_3\})\} = 3$ .
- (e) Trivial to see that they are distinct.

► EXERCISE 109 (3.5.5). We assume the setup of Exercise 104. The aim of this exercise is to show that if v is a measure with domain  $\sigma(\mathcal{F})$  such that  $v = \mu$  on the field  $\mathcal{F}$ , then v coincides with the measure extension of  $\mu$  to  $\sigma(\mathcal{F})$  guaranteed by Exercise 104.

- a. If  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$ , then  $\nu(B) \leq \mu^*(B)$ .
- b. If  $F \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$  and  $\mu^*(F) < +\infty$ , then  $\nu(F) = \mu^*(F)$ .
- c. If  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{F}$ , then  $\nu(E) = \mu^*(E)$  for all  $E \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$ . This gives the uniqueness of the measure extension whose existence is guaranteed by Exercise 104.

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathcal{F}_{\sigma}$  denote the family of all countable unions of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. If  $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\sigma}$ , i.e.,  $A = \bigcup A_n$  with  $A_n \in \mathcal{F}$  for all n, then, by letting  $B_1 = A_1$  and  $B_n = A_n \setminus (\bigcup_{i \leq n} A_i)$  for  $n \geq 2$ , we can rewrite A as a disjoint union of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets  $\{B_n\}$ . Thus,

$$\nu(A) = \nu\left(\bigcup B_n\right) = \sum \nu(B_n) = \sum \mu(B_n) = \sum \mu^*(B_n) = \mu^*\left(\bigcup B_n\right)$$
$$= \mu^*(A).$$

Now take an arbitrary  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$ , and we show that

$$\mu^*(B) = \inf \left\{ \sum \mu(A_n) \colon \{A_n\} \text{ is an } \mathcal{F}\text{-covering of } B \right\}$$
$$= \inf \left\{ \mu^*(A) \colon B \subseteq A \in \mathcal{F}_{\sigma} \right\} \qquad \text{defined as } \beta.$$

Firstly,  $B \subseteq A$  implies that  $\mu^*(B) \leq \mu^*(A)$  and so  $\mu^*(B) \leq \beta$ . Secondly, for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}_{\sigma}$ , there exists  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\sigma}$  such that  $A = \bigcup A_n$ , and so we get  $\mu^*(A) = \mu^*(\bigcup A_n) \leq \sum \mu^*(A_n) = \sum \mu(A_n)$ ; thus,  $\beta \leq \mu^*(B)$ . Therefore,

$$\mu^*(B) = \inf \left\{ \mu^*(A) \colon B \subseteq A \in \mathcal{F}_{\sigma} \right\} = \inf \left\{ \nu(A) \colon B \subseteq A \in \mathcal{F}_{\sigma} \right\} \ge \nu(B).$$

64

**(b)** It suffices to show that  $\nu(F) \ge \mu^*(F)$  by part (a). Since  $\mu^*(F) = \inf\{\mu^*(A) : F \subseteq A \in \mathcal{F}_\sigma\}$ , for a given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $C \in F_\sigma$  with  $F \subseteq C$ , such that

$$\mu^*(F) + \varepsilon > \mu^*(C).$$

Hence,

$$\mu^{*}(F) \leq \mu^{*}(C) = \nu(C) = \nu(F) + \nu(C \smallsetminus F) \leq \nu(F) + \mu^{*}(C \smallsetminus F)$$
  
=  $\nu(F) + \mu^{*}(C) - \mu^{*}(F)$   
<  $\mu(F) + \varepsilon$ .

Since  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary, we get  $\mu^*(F) \leq \nu(F)$  whenever  $F \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$  and  $\mu^*(F) < +\infty$ .

(c) If  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite on  $\mathcal{F}$ , then there exists  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\Omega = \bigcup A_n$  and  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for all *n*. Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $\{A_n\}$  is disjoint  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. Then by (b), for every  $E \in \sigma(\mathcal{F})$  we get

$$\nu(E) = \nu\left(\bigcup(E \cap A_n)\right) = \sum \nu(E \cap A_n) = \sum \mu^*(E \cap A_n) = \mu^*(E).$$

► EXERCISE 110 (3.5.6). A lattice on  $\Omega$  is a collection  $\mathcal{L} \subseteq 2^{\Omega}$  such that (i)  $\Omega \in \mathcal{L}$ , (ii)  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{L}$ , (iii)  $\mathcal{L}$  is closed under (finite) unions, and (iv)  $\mathcal{L}$  is a  $\pi$ -system. We also define the following two collections:  $\mathcal{D} = \{B \setminus A : A, B \in \mathcal{L}, A \subseteq B\}$ , and  $\mathcal{U}$  will denote the collection of all finite disjoint unions of  $\mathcal{D}$ -sets.

- a.  $\mathcal{D}$  is a  $\pi$ -system.
- b. U is a  $\pi$ -system.
- c. U is closed under complementation.
- d. U coincides with the minimal field containing the lattice  $\mathcal{L}$ .
- e. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  denote a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$  that contains  $\mathcal{L}$ . Suppose that  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are measures with domain  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $\mu = \nu$  on  $\mathcal{L}$ . Furthermore, suppose that  $\Omega = \bigcup A_n$ , where  $A_n \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mu = \nu$  on  $\sigma(\mathcal{L})$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Write  $D_i = B_i \setminus A_i$  with  $A_i, B_i \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $A_i \subseteq B_i$ , for i = 1, 2. Then

$$D_1 \cap D_2 = (B_1 \smallsetminus A_1) \cap (B_2 \smallsetminus A_2)$$
  
=  $(B_1 \cap A_1^c) \cap (B_2 \cap A_2^c)$   
=  $(B_1 \cap B_2) \smallsetminus (A_1 \cup A_2)$   
=  $(B_1 \cap B_2) \smallsetminus [(B_1 \cap B_2) \cap (A_1 \cup A_2)]$   
 $\in \mathcal{D}.$ 

**(b)** Let  $U_1 = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_m$  and  $U_2 = E_1 \cup \cdots \cup E_n$ , where  $D_1, \ldots, D_m \in \mathcal{D}$  are disjoint, and  $E_1, \ldots, E_n \in \mathcal{D}$  disjoint. Then

$$U_1 \cap U_2 = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \bigcup_{j=1}^n (D_i \cap E_j).$$

Since  $D_i \cap E_j \in \mathcal{D}$  ( $\mathcal{D}$  is a  $\pi$ -system),  $U_1 \cap U_2$  is a finite disjoint unions of  $\mathcal{D}$ -sets, and so is in  $\mathcal{U}$ .

(c) Pick an arbitrary  $U \in \mathcal{U}$ . Then there exists disjoint  $D_1, \ldots, D_n \in \mathcal{D}$  such that  $U = \bigcup_{i=1}^n D_i$ . If n = 1, then  $U = D_1 = B_1 \setminus A_1$ , where  $A_1, B_1 \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $A_1 \subseteq B_1$ . Thus,  $U^c = (A \setminus \emptyset) \cup (\Omega \setminus B) \in \mathcal{U}$ . Let us assume that  $U^c \in \mathcal{U}$  when  $U = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_n$  and consider n + 1. Then

$$\left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n+1} D_i\right)^c = \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^n D_i\right)^c \cap D_{n+1}^c \in \mathcal{U},$$

since  $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} D_i)^c \in \mathcal{U}$  by the induction hypothesis,  $D_{n+1}^c \in \mathcal{U}$  as in the case of n + 1, and  $\mathcal{U}$  is a  $\pi$ -system.

(d) Notice that  $\Omega = \Omega \setminus \emptyset \in \mathcal{U}$ , so  $\mathcal{U}$  is a field by (b) and (c). If  $A \in \mathcal{L}$ , then  $A = A \setminus \emptyset \in \mathcal{U}$ , so  $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ . Thus,  $f(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}$ . It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{U} \subseteq f(\mathcal{L})$ .

(e) Let  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$  with  $A_n \in \mathcal{X}$  and  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$  for each  $A_n$ . Let  $U \in \mathcal{U}$ ; then  $U = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_m$  for some disjoint  $D_1, \ldots, D_m \in \mathcal{D}$ . Hence,

$$\mu(U) = \mu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_n \cap U)\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_n \cap U)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \mu(A_n \cap D_i)$$

Г	
L	

#### **3.6 The Completion Theorem**

► EXERCISE 111 (3.6.1). Let  $k \ge 2$ , and let  $\lambda_k : \mathcal{B}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote the unique measure with domain  $\mathcal{B}^k$  that assigns the value  $\prod_{i=1}^k (b_i - a_i)$  to each k-dimensional rsc rectangle (a, b]. Let  $A = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k : x_2 = \cdots = x_k = 0\}$ . Then  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$ , A is uncountable, and  $\lambda_k(A) = 0$ , hence  $|\overline{\mathcal{B}^k}| = 2^c$ .

PROOF.  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$  since  $A = \lim_n [(-n, n] \times (-1/n, 1/n]^{k-1}]$ ; A is uncountable since  $\mathbb{R}$  is uncountable;  $\lambda_k(A) = 0$  since  $\lambda_k(A) = (+\infty) \times 0 \times \cdots \times 0 = 0$ .

Since  $\overline{\mathcal{B}^k}$  is complete (the completion of  $\mathcal{B}^k$ ), and  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k \subseteq \overline{\mathcal{B}^k}$ , we know that every subset of A is in  $\overline{\mathcal{B}^k}$ . There are  $2^c$  subsets of A, so  $\left|\overline{\mathcal{B}^k}\right| \ge 2^c$ ; on

the other hand, there are 2<sup>c</sup> subsets on  $\mathbb{R}$ , i.e.,  $\left|\overline{\mathcal{B}^{k}}\right| \leq 2^{c}$ . It follows from the Cantor-Bernstein theorem that  $\left|\overline{\mathcal{B}^{k}}\right| = 2^{c}$ .

► EXERCISE 112 (3.6.2). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \nu)$  denote a measure space. If  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $A \subseteq E \subseteq B$  and  $\nu(B \smallsetminus A) = 0$ , then  $E \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$  and  $\overline{\nu}(E) = \nu(A) = \nu(B)$ .

**PROOF.** We first show  $E \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ . Since  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ , and  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field, we get  $B \setminus A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Now we can write E as

$$E = A \cup \left[ (B \smallsetminus A) \smallsetminus (B \smallsetminus E) \right].$$

Since  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $(B \smallsetminus A) \smallsetminus (B \smallsetminus E) \subseteq B \smallsetminus A \in \mathcal{F}$ , and  $\nu(B \smallsetminus A) = 0$ , we have  $(B \smallsetminus A) \smallsetminus (B \smallsetminus E) \in \mathcal{N}_0(\nu)$ ; thus  $E \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$ .

To show  $\overline{\nu}(E) = \nu(A) = \nu(B)$ , we only need to show that  $\nu(A) = \nu(B)$  since  $\overline{\nu}(E) = \nu(A)$  by definition. If  $\nu(A) < +\infty$  or  $\nu(B) < +\infty$ , then  $0 = \nu(B \setminus A) = \nu(B) - \nu(A)$  implies that  $\nu(B) = \nu(A)$ . If  $\nu(A) = +\infty$ , then by the monotonicity of a measure,  $\nu(B) \ge \nu(A) = +\infty$ , and so  $\nu(B) = +\infty = \nu(A)$ 

► EXERCISE 113 (3.6.3). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \nu)$  denote a measure space. Furthermore, let  $\mathcal{F}_1$  denote a sub- $\sigma$ -field of  $\mathcal{F}$ . Then there exists a minimal  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{F}_2$  such that  $\mathcal{F}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{N}(\nu) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2$ . Also,  $A \in \mathcal{F}_2$  iff there exists  $B \in \mathcal{F}_1$  with  $A\Delta B \in \mathcal{N}(\nu)$ .

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \sigma(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{N}(\nu))$ . It is clear that  $\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{N}(\nu) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{N}(\nu) \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , we have that

$$\mathcal{F}_2 = \sigma(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{N}(\nu)) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{F}) = \mathcal{F}.$$

We next show that  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_2, \nu)$  is complete (where  $\nu$  is restricted on  $\mathcal{F}_2$ ).  $\Box$ 

#### 3.7 The Relationship between $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$

► EXERCISE 114 (3.7.1). Let  $\Omega$  be uncountable, let A denote the  $\sigma$ -filed  $\{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is amc or } A^c \text{ is ams}\}$ , and define  $\mu : A \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by stipulating that  $\mu(A)$  denotes the number of points in A if A is finite and  $\mu(A) = +\infty$  if A is infinite.

- a.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is a non- $\sigma$ -finite measure space.
- b.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mu)$  is complete.
- c. Letting  $\mu^*$  denote the outer measure induced by  $\mu$ , the ( $\sigma$ -field)  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  coincides with  $2^{\Omega}$ .

**PROOF.** (a) For every sequence  $\{A_n\} \subseteq A$  with  $\mu(A_n) < +\infty$ , i.e.,  $A_n$  is finite for all *n*, their union  $\bigcup_n A_n$  is amc. Hence,  $(\Omega, A, \mu)$  is non- $\sigma$ -finite.

**(b)** Let  $A \subseteq B \subseteq \Omega$  with  $B \in A$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$ . Then *B* must be empty and so  $A = \emptyset = B \in A$ .

(c) Take an arbitrary  $T \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\mu^*(T) < +\infty$ ; that is, *T* is finite. Then for every subset  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , we have that  $T \cap A$  and  $T \cap A^c$  are both finite and  $|T| = |T \cap A| + |T \cap A^c|$ . Hence,  $\mu^*(T) = \mu^*(T \cap A) + \mu^*(T \cap A^c)$ , i.e.,  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*) = 2^{\Omega}$ .

Note that here  $\overline{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{A} \neq \mathcal{M}(\mu^*) = 2^{\Omega}$ , so the  $\sigma$ -finiteness is essential.  $\Box$ 

#### **3.8 Approximations**

► EXERCISE 115 (3.8.1). The assumption  $v(B) < +\infty$  is not superfluous in Claim 4, and the assumption  $v(A) < +\infty$  is not superfluous in Claim 6.

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the semiring consisting of  $\emptyset$  and all bounded rsc (a, b]. Let us consider  $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . For Claim 4, take  $B = \mathbb{R}$ . It is evident that for any finite disjoint  $\mathcal{A}$ -sets  $(a_1, b_1], \ldots, (a_n, b_n]$ , we have  $\lambda(\mathbb{R}\Delta \bigcup_{i=1}^n (a_i, b_i]) = +\infty$ . For Claim 6, let  $A = \mathbb{R}$ . then for any bounded set  $E \in \mathcal{B}$ , there exists  $(a, b] \in \mathcal{A}$  containing E, so  $\lambda(E) \leq \lambda(a, b] = b - a < +\infty = \lambda(\mathbb{R})$ .

► EXERCISE 116 (3.8.2). Let  $v: \mathcal{B}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be nonnegative and finitely additive with  $v(\mathbb{R}^k) < +\infty$ . Suppose that  $v(A) = \sup\{v(K): K \subseteq A, K \text{ compact}\}$  for each  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$ . Then v is a finite measure.

**PROOF.** It suffices to show that  $\nu$  is countably additive.

#### 3.9 A Further Description of $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$

► EXERCISE 117 (3.9.1). Countable superadditivity: If  $A_1, A_2, ... \subseteq \Omega$  are disjoint, then  $\mu_*(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) \ge \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_*(A_n)$ .

**PROOF.** Fix an arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$ . For every  $A_n$ , find  $C_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $C_n \subseteq A_n$  such that

$$\mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^*(C_n) + \varepsilon/2^n > \mu_*(A_n).$$

Since  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_*(A_n) < \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^*(C_n) + \varepsilon = \mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^*\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n\right) + \varepsilon \leq \mu_*\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) + \varepsilon,$$

where the first equality holds since  $\{C_n\}$  is disjoint  $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ -sets. Since  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary, we get the countable superadditivity.

► EXERCISE 118 (3.9.2). For any  $A \subseteq \Omega$ ,  $\mu^*(A) = \inf\{\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B) : A \subseteq B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)\} = \mu^{**}(A)$ .

**PROOF.** Define

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B) \colon A \subseteq B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{D} = \left\{ \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B) \colon A \subseteq B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*) \right\}.$$

It is clear that  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ , so inf  $\mathcal{C} \ge \inf \mathcal{D}$ . Next, pick  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ . Then d must be of the form  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B)$ , where  $A \subseteq B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ . Write  $B = C \cup D$ , where  $C \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $D \subseteq N$  and N is a  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}$ -null set. Thus, there exists  $C \cup N \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  such that  $A \subseteq B \subseteq C \cup N$  and

$$\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(C \cup N) \leq \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(C) + \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(N) = \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(C) \leq \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B).$$

Denote  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(C \cup N) = c$ . Hence, for every  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ , there exists  $c \in \mathcal{C}$  with  $c \leq d$ . It follows that  $\inf \mathcal{C} \leq \inf \mathcal{D}$ .

► EXERCISE 119 (3.9.3). For any  $A \subseteq \Omega$ ,  $\mu_*(A) = \sup\{\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B) : B \subseteq A, B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)\}$ .

PROOF. Define

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B) \colon B \subseteq A, B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \right\}, \quad \mathcal{D} = \left\{ \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B) \colon B \subseteq A, B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*) \right\}.$$

First,  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$  implies that  $\sup \mathcal{C} \leq \sup \mathcal{D}$ . Next, pick  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ . Then d must be of the form  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B)$ , where  $B \subseteq A$  and  $B \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ . Write  $B = C \cup D$  with  $C \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}), D \subseteq N$ , and N is a  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}$ -null set. Thus, there exists  $C \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  such that  $C \subseteq B \subseteq A$ , and

$$\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(C) = \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(C \cup D) = \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(B).$$

Denote  $c = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(C)$ . So for every  $d \in \mathcal{D}$  there exists  $c \in \mathcal{C}$  such that c = d. Therefore,  $\sup \mathcal{C} \ge \sup \mathcal{D}$ .

► EXERCISE 120 (3.9.4). For any  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , there is  $E \in \sigma(A)$  such that  $E \subseteq A$  and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(A)}(E) = \mu_*(A)$ .

**PROOF.** For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $E_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $E_n \subseteq A$  such that

$$\mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^*(E_n) \ge \mu_*(A) - 1/n$$

Let  $E = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n$ . Then  $E \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}), E \subseteq A$ , and for all *n* we have

$$\mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^{*}(E) \geq \mu_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}^{*}(A_{n}) \geq \mu_{*}(A) - 1/n;$$

hence,  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(E) \ge \mu_*(A)$ . Since  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(E) \le \mu_*(A)$  holds, we get the result.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 121 (3.9.5). The infimum that defines  $\mu^*(A)$  and the supremum that defines  $\mu_*(A)$  are achieved for each  $A \subseteq \Omega$ . That is, there exist  $C, B \in \sigma(A)$  with  $C \subseteq A \subseteq B$  and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(A)}(C) = \mu_*(A)$  and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(A)}(B) = \mu^*(A)$ .

**PROOF.** We have proved the inner measure in the previous exercise, so we focus on the outer measure. For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $B_n \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with

 $A \subseteq B_n$  and  $\mu^*(A) + 1/n \ge \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B_n)$ . Let  $B = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n$ . Then  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $A \subseteq B$ , and for all n,

$$\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B) \leq \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B_n) \leq \mu^*(A) + 1/n;$$

that is,  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(B) \leq \mu^*(A)$ . Since the other direction is clear, we get the result.

► EXERCISE 122 (3.9.6). Let  $A \subseteq \Omega$  and let  $\{A_n\}$  denote a disjoint sequence of  $\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ -sets. Then we have  $\mu_*(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_n)) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_*(A_n \cap A)$ .

PROOF. There exists  $E \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  with  $E \subseteq \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_n) = A \cap (\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)$  and  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(E) = \mu_*(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_n))$  by Exercise 120 (since  $\overline{\sigma(A)} = \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ ). Thus,

$$\mu_*\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap A_n)\right) = \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(E) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(E \cap A_n) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu_*(A \cap A_n).$$

Then the desired result follows from Exercise 117.

► EXERCISE 123 (3.9.7). If  $A, B \subseteq \Omega$  are disjoint, then  $\mu_*(A \cup B) \leq \mu_*(A) + \mu^*(B) \leq \mu^*(A \cup B)$ .

PROOF. Let  $F \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $B \subseteq F$  with  $\mu^*(B) = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(F)$ . Let  $E \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $E \subseteq A \cup B$  such that  $\mu_*(A \cup B) = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(E)$ . Since  $E \setminus F \subseteq E \setminus B \subseteq (A \cup B) \setminus B = A$ , it follows that

$$\mu_*(A \cup B) = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(E) \leq \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(E \setminus F) + \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(F) \leq \mu_*(A) + \mu^*(B).$$

Dually, let  $H \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $H \subseteq A$  and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(H) = \mu_*(A)$ . Let  $G \in \sigma(\mathcal{A})$  with  $A \cup B \subseteq G$  and  $\mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(G) = \mu^*(A \cup B)$ . Since  $B \subseteq G \smallsetminus H$ , it follows that

$$\mu^*(A \cup B) = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(G) = \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(H) + \mu^*_{\sigma(\mathcal{A})}(G \setminus H) \ge \mu_*(A) + \mu^*(B). \quad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 124 (3.9.8). If  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$  and  $B \subseteq \Omega$ , then  $\mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(A) = \mu_*(B \cap A) + \mu^*(B^c \cap A)$ .

**PROOF.** Applying Exercise 123 to  $B \cap A$  and  $B^c \cap A$ , we obtain

$$\mu_*(A) \leq \mu_*(B \cap A) + \mu^*(B^c \cap A) \leq \mu^*(A).$$

Since  $A \in \mathcal{M}(\mu^*)$ , we have  $\mu_*(A) = \mu^*(A) = \mu^*_{\mathcal{M}(\mu^*)}(A)$ , and thus we get the result.

## LEBESGUE MEASURE

#### 4.1 LEBESGUE MEASURE: EXISTENCE AND UNIQUENESS

► EXERCISE 125 (4.1.1). Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $k \ge 2$ . Then  $\lambda(\{x\}) = \lambda_k(\{x\} \times \mathbb{R}^{k-1}) = 0$ . Next, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., k-1\}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^j$  we have  $\lambda_k(\{x\} \times \mathbb{R}^{k-j}) = 0$ .

PROOF. Since the sequence  $\{\{x\} \times (-n, n]^{k-1}\}$  is increasing and converges to  $\{x\} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ , we have

$$\lambda_k(\{x\} \times \mathbb{R}^{k-1}) = \lambda_k(\lim_n \{x\} \times (-n,n]^{k-1}) = 0 = \lambda(\{x\}).$$

The other claim can be proved in the same way.

► EXERCISE 126 (1.4.2). Enumerate the rationals in (0, 1] by  $\{q_1, q_2, ...\}$ . Given arbitrarily small  $\varepsilon > 0$ , remove the interval  $A_n = (q_n - \varepsilon/2^{n+1}, q_n + \varepsilon/2^{n+1}) \cap (0, 1]$ . Let  $A = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ . Then  $\overline{\lambda}(A) \leq \varepsilon$ , despite the fact that A is an open dense subset of (0, 1]. Also, we have  $\overline{\lambda}((0, 1] \setminus A) \geq 1 - \varepsilon$ , even though  $(0, 1] \setminus A$  is a nowhere dense subset of (0, 1].

PROOF. For every  $A_n$  we have  $0 < \overline{\lambda}(A_n) \leq \overline{\lambda}(q_n - \varepsilon/2^{n+1}, q_n + \varepsilon/2^{n+1}) = \varepsilon/2^n$ ; hence,

$$\overline{\lambda}(A) = \overline{\lambda}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\lambda}(A_n) \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^n} = \varepsilon,$$
  
and so  $\overline{\lambda}((0,1] \smallsetminus A) = 1 - \overline{\lambda}(A) \geq 1 - \varepsilon.$ 

► EXERCISE 127 (4.1.3). There cannot exist a closed subset of (0, 1] whose interior is empty, yet has  $\overline{\lambda}$ -measure of one.

Proof.

► EXERCISE 128 (4.14).  $\lambda_k$  is nonatomic: any  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $\lambda_k(A) > 0$  has a proper subset  $B \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $0 < \lambda_k(B) < \lambda_k(A)$ . This forces  $\overline{\lambda}_k$  to be nonatomic as well.

PROOF. Take any  $A \in \mathcal{L}^k$  with  $\overline{\lambda}_k(A) > 0$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}^k = \overline{\mathcal{B}^k}$ , the completion of  $\mathcal{B}^k$ , there exists  $C, M \in \mathcal{B}^k$ , where M is a subset of  $\lambda_k$ -null set, such that  $A = C \cup B$ . Therefore,  $\lambda_k(B) = \overline{\lambda}_k(A) > 0$ . Since  $\lambda_k$  is nonatomic, there exists  $B \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $0 < \lambda_k(B) < \lambda_k(C) = \overline{\lambda}_k(A)$ , that is,  $\overline{\lambda}_k$  is nonatomic.

► EXERCISE 129 (4.1.5). Let  $k \ge 2$ . There exists an uncountable set  $U \in \mathcal{B}^k$  with  $\lambda_k(U) = 0$ .

**PROOF.** Let  $U = \{x\} \times \mathbb{R}$ , where  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then *U* is uncountable, and  $\lambda(U) = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 130 (4.1.6).  $|\mathcal{L}^k| = 2^c$  and  $|\mathcal{B}^k| = c$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

PROOF. Since  $|\mathbb{R}^k| = c$  and  $\mathcal{L}^k \subseteq 2^{\mathbb{R}^k}$ , we first have  $|\mathcal{L}^k| \leq 2^c$ ; on the other hand, there exists an uncountable set  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k$  such that  $\lambda_k(U) = 0$  (if k = 1, consider the Cantor set; if  $k \ge 2$ , consider the set U in the preceding exercise), so |U| = c by the Continuum Hypothesis. Since  $\mathcal{L}^k$  is complete, we have  $|\mathcal{L}^k| \ge |2^U| = 2^c$ . It follows from the Cantor-Bernstein Theorem that  $|\mathcal{L}^k| = 2^c$ .

► EXERCISE 131 (4.1.7). Assume that  $\mathcal{L} = 2^{\mathbb{R}}$ ; in particular every one of the  $2^{c}$  subsets of [0, 1] is a Lebesgue set. Let  $B = \{\overline{\lambda}(A) \colon A \subseteq [0, 1], \overline{\lambda}(A) \notin A\}$ . Consideration of the set *B* (which is in  $\mathcal{L}$  be assumption) leads to contradiction.

PROOF.  $B \subseteq [0, 1]$  so  $\overline{\lambda}(B)$  exists. We now have a contradiction:  $\overline{\lambda}(B) \in B$  iff  $\overline{\lambda}(B) \notin B$ .

► EXERCISE 132 (4.1.8). Let  $k \ge 2$ . Every line is in  $\mathcal{B}^k$ , has  $\lambda_k$ -measure zero, and hence has  $\overline{\lambda}_k$ -measure.

PROOF. Let  $\ell$  be the line. Take two points a and b in  $\ell$ , and denote [a, b] as the segment on  $\ell$ . Then [a, b] is closed in  $\mathbb{R}^k$  and so is in  $\mathcal{B}^k$ . Enumerate the points with rational coordinates on [a, b]; then it is easy to see that  $\overline{\lambda}_k([a, b]) = 0$ .

Write  $\ell$  as an increasing limit of line segments containing [a, b]. Then we get the result.

- EXERCISE 133 (4.1.9). Let  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]} = \sigma(\{(a, b]: (a, b] \subseteq (0, 1]\}).$
- a.  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]} = \{B \subseteq (0,1] : B \in \mathcal{B}\} and \overline{\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}} = \{B \subseteq (0,1] : B \in \mathcal{L}\}.$
- b. Construct Lebesgue measure on both  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}}$ . Call these measures  $\lambda_{(0,1]}$  and  $\overline{\lambda}_{(0,1]}$ , and denote  $\overline{\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}}$  by  $\mathcal{L}_{(0,1]}$ .
- c.  $\lambda_{(0,1]}$  as constructed is the measure restriction of  $\lambda$  from  $\mathcal{B}$  to  $\mathcal{B}_{(0,1]}$  and  $\overline{\lambda}_{(0,1]}$  as constructed is the measure restriction of  $\overline{\lambda}$  from  $\mathcal{L}$  to  $\mathcal{L}_{(0,1]}$ .

PROOF. See, for example, Resnick (1999, Theorem 1.8.1).

#### 4.2 LEBESGUE SETS

No exercise.

#### 4.3 TRANSLATION INVARIANCE OF LEBESGUE MEASURE

► EXERCISE 134 (4.3.2). Let  $A \in \mathcal{L}$  be such that  $\overline{\lambda}(A) > 0$ , and let  $c \in [0, 1)$ . There exists an open interval U such that  $\overline{\lambda}(A \cap U) \ge c\lambda(U)$ .<sup>1</sup>

PROOF. It follows from the Approximation Theorem for Lebesgue measure that

$$\lambda(A) = \inf{\{\lambda(G) : G \text{ open, } A \subseteq G\}}.$$

Then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists an open set *G* containing *A* such that  $\lambda(G) < \overline{\lambda}(A) + \varepsilon \lambda(G)$ , i.e.,  $(1 - \varepsilon)\lambda(G) < \overline{\lambda}(A)$ . Thus, for an arbitrary  $c \in [0, 1)$ , there exists an open set *G* containing *A* such that

$$c\lambda(G) \leq \lambda(A).$$

Write *G* as an countable disjoint unions of open intervals:  $G = \bigcup G_n$ . Then  $\overline{\lambda}(A) = \overline{\lambda}(A \cap G)$  since  $A \subseteq G$ . We thus obtain

$$c\lambda(G) = c\lambda\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} G_n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c\lambda(G_n) \leqslant \overline{\lambda}(A) = \overline{\lambda}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A \cap G_n)\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \overline{\lambda}(A \cap G_n).$$

Hence, for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , we must have  $c\lambda(G_N) \leq \overline{\lambda}(A \cap G_N)$ . Let  $U = G_N$  and we are done.

► EXERCISE 135 (4.3.3). Let  $A \in \mathcal{L}$  contain an open interval. Then there exists a > 0 such that (-a, a) is contained in  $D(A) = \{x - y : x, y \in A\}$ .

PROOF. Let  $(b, c) \subseteq A$ ; then  $(b - c, c - b) \subseteq D(A)$ . Let a = c - b and so  $(-a, a) \subseteq D(A)$ .

► EXERCISE 136 (4.3.4). Let  $A \in \mathcal{L}$  be such that  $\overline{\lambda}(A) > 0$ . Then there exists a > 0 such that (-a, a) is contained in  $D(A) = \{x - y : x, y \in A\}$ .

PROOF. It follows from Exercise 134 that there exists an open interval  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that

 $\overline{\lambda}(A \cap U) \ge 3\lambda(U)/4.$ 

We next show that *a* can be taken as  $\lambda(U)/2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Exercise 134—140 are from Halmos (1974).

(i) For an arbitrary  $x \in (-\lambda(U)/2, \lambda(U)/2)$ , the set  $U \cup (U \oplus x)$  is an open interval containing  $(A \cap U) \cup ((A \cap U) \oplus x)$ , and

$$\lambda(U \cup (U \oplus x)) < \lambda(U) + \lambda(U)/2 = \frac{3}{2}\lambda(U).$$

(ii)  $(A \cap U) \cup ((A \cap U) \oplus x)$  is an interval. Suppose that  $(A \cap U) \cap ((A \cap U) \oplus x) = \emptyset$ ; then

$$\begin{split} \overline{\lambda}((A \cap U) \cup ((A \cap U) \oplus x)) &= \overline{\lambda}(A \cap U) + \overline{\lambda}((A \cap U) \oplus x) \\ &= 2\overline{\lambda}(A \cap U) \\ &\geq \frac{3}{2}\lambda(U), \end{split}$$

which contradicts the fact that  $\overline{\lambda}((A \cap U) \cup ((A \cap U) \oplus x)) \leq \lambda(U \cup (U \oplus x)) < 3\lambda(U)/2.$ 

(iii) Thus, for every  $x \in (-\lambda(U)/2, \lambda(U)/2)$ , there exists  $y \in (A \cap U) \cap ((A \cap U) \oplus x)$ ; that is, there exists  $y, z \in A$  such that y = z + x. But then x = y - z and so  $x \in D(A)$ . Therefore, if we let  $a = \lambda(U)/2$ , then  $(-a, a) \subseteq D(A)$ .

► EXERCISE 137 (4.3.5). Let A be a dense subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Then  $cA = \{ca : a \in A\}$  is dense for any  $c \neq 0$ .

**PROOF.** Take an arbitrary point  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and an arbitrary open interval  $(x-\varepsilon, x+\varepsilon)$ . Now consider  $(x - \varepsilon/c, x + \varepsilon/c)$ . Since *A* is dense, there exists  $a \in A$  such that  $a \in (x - \varepsilon/c, x + \varepsilon/c)$ . Thus,  $ca \in (x - \varepsilon, x + \varepsilon)$  and  $ca \in cA$ , i.e., cA is dense in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

- EXERCISE 138 (4.3.6). Let  $\xi$  be an irrational number.
- a. Let  $A = \{n + m\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Then A is a dense subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- b. Let  $B = \{n + m\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}, n \text{ even}\}$ . Then B is a sense subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- c. Let  $C = \{n + m\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}, n \text{ odd}\}$ . Then C is a sense subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ .

**PROOF.** (a) For every positive integer *i* there exists a unique integer  $n_i$  (which may be positive, negative, or zero) such that  $0 \le n_i + i\xi < 1$ ; we write  $x_i = n_i + i\xi$ . If *U* is any open interval, then there is a positive integer *k* such that  $\mu(U) > 1/k$ . Among the k + 1 numbers,  $x_1, \ldots, x_{k+1}$ , in the unit interval, there must be at least two, say  $x_i$  and  $x_j$ , such that  $|x_i - x_j| < 1/k$ . It follows that some integral multiple of  $x_i - x_j$ , i.e. some element of *A*, belongs to the interval *U*, and this concludes the proof of the assertion concerning *A*.

**(b)** If  $\xi$  is irrational, then  $\xi/2$  is also irrational. Then  $D = \{n + (m/2)\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is dense by (a); then  $2D = \{n + m\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is dense by Exercise 137.

(c) Notice that  $C = B \oplus 1$ , and translates of dense sets are obviously dense.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 139 (4.3.7). For  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$  write  $x \sim y$  iff  $x - y \in A = \{n + m\xi : n, m \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , where  $\xi$  is a fixed irrational number as in the previous exercise. Then  $\sim$  is an equivalence relation, and hence  $\mathbb{R}$  may be partitioned into disjoint equivalence classes.

PROOF. We first show that ~ is reflexive. For every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have  $x - x = 0 = 0 + 0\xi \in A$ , i.e.  $x \sim x$ . We next show that ~ is symmetric. If  $x \sim y$ , then  $x - y = n + m\xi$  and so  $y - x = -n - m\xi \in A$ , i.e.  $y \sim x$ . Finally, we verify that ~ is transitive. Let  $x \sim y \sim z$ . Then  $x - y = n + m\xi$  and  $y - z = p + q\xi$ , where  $n, m, p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Thus,  $x - z = (n + p) + (m + q)\xi \in A$ , i.e.  $x \sim z$ .

► EXERCISE 140 (4.3.8). We now invoke (AC) to form a set  $E_0$  consisting of exactly one element from each of the equivalence classes in the previous exercise. We will now show that  $E_0 \notin \mathcal{L}$ .

- a. There exist Borel subsets of  $E_0$ .
- b. Let  $F \subseteq E_0$  be a Borel set. Then D(F) cannot contain any nonzero elements of *A*, where *A* is the set in Exercise 138.
- c. By (b), there cannot exist an open interval containing the origin that is contained in D(F), hence  $\lambda(F) = 0$ .
- d. From (c), we have  $\lambda_*(E_0) = 0$ .
- e. If  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  are distinct elements of  $A = \{n + m\xi : m, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , then  $E_0 \oplus a_1$  and  $E_0 \oplus a_2$  are disjoint.
- f.  $\mathbb{R} = \bigcup \{ E_0 \oplus a : a \in A \}$ , the countable union being disjoint.
- g. If  $E_0 \in \mathcal{L}$ , then  $\overline{\lambda}(E_0 \oplus a) = 0$  for each  $a \in A$ , hence  $\overline{\lambda}(\mathbb{R}) = 0$ . Therefore, since the assumption that  $E_0 \in \mathcal{L}$  leads to an absurdity, it must be the case that  $E_0 \notin \mathcal{L}$ , and hence there exists a subset of  $\mathbb{R}$  that fails to be a Lebesgue set.

PROOF. (a) Every singleton is a Borel set.

**(b)** If there exists  $x \neq 0$  and  $x \in D(F) \cap A$ , there there exists  $y, z \in F$  such that  $y - z \in A$  and  $y \neq z$ . But then  $y \sim z$  and  $y \neq z$ , which contradicts the construction of  $E_0$ .

(c) If  $\lambda(F) > 0$ , then there exists a > 0 such that  $(-a, a) \subseteq D(F)$  by Exercise 136. Then there exists  $x \in A$  such that  $x \in (a/2, a)$  since A is dense, which contradicts (b). Thus,  $\lambda(F) = 0$ .

(d)  $\lambda_*(F) = 0$  follows from the definition immediately.

(e) If  $z = x_1 + a_1 = x_2 + a_2$ , where  $x_1, x_2 \in E_0$ , then  $x_1 - x_2 = a_2 - a_1 \in A$ . Then  $x_1 \sim x_2$  and  $x_1 \neq x_2$  (since  $a_1 \neq a_2$ ). A contradiction.

(f) It suffices to show that  $\mathbb{R} \subseteq \bigcup \{E_0 \oplus a : a \in A\}$ . Take an arbitrary  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $\sim$  is an equivalence relation on  $\mathbb{R}$ , there is an equivalence class  $[x]_{\sim}$  containing r. In particular,  $r \sim x$ , i.e.  $r - x = n + m\xi$  for some  $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence,  $r = x + n + m\xi \in E_0 \oplus (n + m\xi)$ . The union is countable since A is countable.

(g) If  $E_0 \in \mathcal{L}$ , then  $E_0 \oplus a \in \mathcal{L}$  for all  $a \in A$ , and

$$\overline{\lambda}(E_0 \oplus a) = \overline{\lambda}(E_0) = \lambda_*(E_0) = 0.$$

But then

$$\overline{\lambda}(\mathbb{R}) = \overline{\lambda}\left(\bigcup_{a \in A} (E_0 \oplus a)\right) = \sum_{a \in A} \overline{\lambda}(E_0 \oplus a) = 0.$$

A contradiction.

# 5 MEASURABLE FUNCTIONS

#### 5.1 Measurability

► EXERCISE 141 (5.1.1). Let  $f: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Let  $y \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ , and let  $h: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be such that

$$h(\omega) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{f(\omega)} & \text{if } f(\omega) \ge 0\\ y & \text{if } f(\omega) < 0. \end{cases}$$

*Then h is*  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ *-measurable.* 

PROOF. Define  $\varphi \colon \overline{\mathbb{R}} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by letting

$$\varphi(x) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{x} & \text{if } x \ge 0\\ y & \text{if } x < 0. \end{cases}$$

We first show that  $\varphi$  is  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable by demonstrating that  $\varphi^{-1}(t,\infty] \in \mathcal{B}^*$  for each  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . If y < 0, then

$$\varphi^{-1}(t,\infty] = \begin{cases} \overline{\mathbb{R}} & \text{if } t < y\\ [0,\infty] & \text{if } t \in [y,0]\\ (t^2,\infty] & \text{if } t > 0. \end{cases}$$

If  $y \ge 0$ , then

$$\varphi^{-1}(t,\infty] = \begin{cases} \overline{\mathbb{R}} & \text{if } t < 0\\ [-\infty,0) \cup (t^2,\infty] & \text{if } t \in [0,y)\\ (t^2,\infty] & \text{if } t \ge y. \end{cases}$$

Therefore,  $\varphi$  is  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, and so  $h = \varphi \circ f$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 142 (5.1.2). There exists a continuous function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  and a subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{L}$  but  $f^{-1}(A) \notin \mathcal{L}$ .

PROOF. Do according with the hints.

- ► EXERCISE 143 (5.1.5). Suppose that  $f : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.
- a. If  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ , f can be any function from  $\Omega$  into  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ .
- b. If  $\mathcal{F} = \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$ , then f must be constant.
- c. If  $\mathcal{F} = \sigma(\{A_1, \ldots, A_n\})$ , where  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  are disjoint subsets of  $\Omega$  such that  $\Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i$ , then f must have the form  $f = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mathbb{I}_{A_i}$ , where  $c_1, \ldots, c_n \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ .

PROOF. (a) is trivial. For (b), if f takes two different values, say,  $y_1$  and  $y_2$  and  $y_1 < y_2$ , then  $f^{-1}[y_2, \infty] \notin \{\emptyset, \Omega\}$ ; that is, f is not  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. For (c), note that  $f^{-1}(c_i) \in \sigma(\{A_1, \ldots, A_n\})$ .

► EXERCISE 144 (5.1.6). If  $f : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is such that  $f^{-1}(\{x\}) \in \mathcal{F}$  for every  $x \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ , then f is not necessarily  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**PROOF.** Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{L}$ . Let  $A \notin \mathcal{L}$ , and let

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} x & \text{if } x \in A, \\ -x & \text{if } x \notin A. \end{cases}$$

Then  $f^{-1}({x}) \in \mathcal{L}$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , but f fails to be  $\mathcal{L}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

► EXERCISE 145 (5.1.7). If  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is any type of interval and  $f : A \to \mathbb{R}$  is monotone, then f is both Borel and Lebesgue measurable.

PROOF. Without loss of generality, we suppose that f is increasing in the sense that  $x_1 < x_2$  implies that  $f(x_1) \leq f(x_2)$ . Then for any  $r \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $f^{-1}([r, +\infty]) = [x, +\infty)$ , where  $x = \inf\{x \in \mathbb{R} : f(x) \ge r\}$ . Hence,  $f^{-1}$  is Boreal, and so is Lebesgue measurable.

► EXERCISE 146 (5.1.11). Let  $f : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ , and suppose that  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , where  $A_1, A_2, \ldots$  are disjoint  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets [ $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ ]. Let  $\mathcal{F}_n = \{A \in \mathcal{F} : A \subset A_n\}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is a  $\sigma$ -field for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $f_n$  denote the restriction of f from  $\Omega$  to  $A_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable iff  $f_n$  is  $\mathcal{F}_n/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**PROOF.** Assume that each  $f_n$  is  $\mathcal{F}_n/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Let  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$ . Then

$$f^{-1}(B) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n^{-1}(B) \in \mathcal{F}$$

since each  $f_n^{-1}(B) \in \mathcal{F}_n \subset \mathcal{F}$ . Now assume that f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Take any  $f_n$  and  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$ . Then

$$f_n^{-1}(B) = A_n \cap f^{-1}(B) \in \mathcal{F}.$$

► EXERCISE 147 (5.1.12). Show that the function  $\varphi : \overline{\mathbb{R}} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  given in Example 4 is  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable by suitably appealing to (MF6).

PROOF. Let  $A_1 = [-\infty, 0)$ ,  $A_2 = \{0\}$ , and  $A_3 = (0, +\infty]$ . Let  $f_i = \varphi \upharpoonright A_i$  for i = 1, 2, 3. Since both  $f_1$  and  $f_3$  are continuous, they are  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable; since  $f_2$  is constant, it is  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. By (MF6),  $\varphi$  is  $\mathcal{B}^*/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 148 (5.1.13). The minimal  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{F}$  on  $\Omega$  such that  $f : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable is  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$ .

PROOF. It suffices to show that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$  since by  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ measurability of f, any  $\sigma$ -filed  $\mathcal{F}$  includes  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$ . First,  $\Omega \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$  since  $f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}) = \Omega$ . If  $A \in f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$ , there exists  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$  such that  $f^{-1}(B) = A$ , then  $f^{-1}(\overline{\mathbb{R}} \setminus B) = \Omega \setminus A$  implies that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$  is closed under complements. To see that  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$  is closed under countable union, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$ . So there exists  $B_n \in \mathcal{B}^*$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $f^{-1}(B_n) = A_n$ . Therefore,

$$f^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} B_n\right) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} f^{-1}\left(B_n\right) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$$

implies  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^*)$  is closed under countable unions.

► EXERCISE 149 (5.1.14). *The word* continuous *in (MF4) may be replaced by either of* lower semicontinuous *and* upper semicontinuous.

PROOF. For a detailed discussion of semicontinuous functions, see Ash (2009, Section 8.4). Let  $f : A \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be low semicontinuous (LSC), then  $f^{-1}(t, \infty]$  is open for any  $t \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . Therefore,  $f^{-1}(t, \infty] \in \mathcal{F}$  and so f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Now let f be upper semicontinuous (USC), then -f is LSC and so is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable; then f = -(-f) is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

#### 5.2 COMBINING MEASURABLE FUNCTIONS

► EXERCISE 150 (5.2.1). If  $f: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, then |f| is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. However, if |f| is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, then f is not necessarily  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**PROOF.** Since  $|f| = f^+ - f^-$ , and f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable if and only if  $f^+$  and  $f^-$  are measurable, we know that |f| is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. To see that the converse is not true take  $A \notin \mathcal{F}$  and let

$$f(\omega) = \mathbb{1}_{A}(\omega) - \mathbb{1}_{A^{c}}(\omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \omega \in A \\ -1 & \text{if } \omega \in A^{c}. \end{cases}$$

7

It is not  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since  $f^{-1}(0, +\infty] = A \notin \mathcal{F}$ . But |f| = 1 is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

► EXERCISE 151 (5.2.2). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $f_1, \ldots, f_n$  denote  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions with common domain  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ .

- a. Both max{ $f_1, f_2$ } and min{ $f_1, f_2$ } are  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions.
- b. Both  $\max\{f_1, \ldots, f_n\}$  and  $\min\{f_1, \ldots, f_n\}$  are  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions.

**PROOF.** (a) Let  $g = \max\{f_1, f_2\}$ . For an arbitrary  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

 $\{\omega \in A : \max\{f_1, f_2\}(\omega) < x\} = \{\omega \in A : f_1(\omega) < x\} \cap \{\omega \in A : f_2(\omega) < x\} \in \mathcal{F},\$ 

and

$$\{\omega \in A : \min\{f_1, f_2\} > x\} = \{\omega \in A : f_1(\omega) > x\} \cap \{\omega \in A : f_2(\omega) > x\} \in \mathcal{F}.$$

(b) We do the max case. Let  $g_n = \max\{f_1, \ldots, f_n\}$ . The claim holds for n = 1 and 2 by (a). Assume that it is true for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then for n + 1, we have

$$\{\omega \in A : g_{n+1}(\omega) < x\} = \left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \{\omega \in A : f_i(\omega) < x\}\right) \cap \{\omega \in A : f_{n+1}(\omega) < x\} \in \mathcal{F}$$

by the induction hypothesis.

► EXERCISE 152 (5.2.3). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  denote a measure space, and let  $f : \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote a  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable mapping. Let  $v : \mathcal{B}^* \to \overline{\mathcal{R}}$  be such that  $v(B) = \mu(f^{-1}(B))$  for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$ . That is,  $v = \mu \circ f^{-1}$ . Then  $(\overline{\mathbb{R}}, \mathcal{B}^*, v)$  is a measure space. Furthermore, even if  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite, v is not necessarily  $\sigma$ -finite.

PROOF. It is clear that  $\nu$  is well defined since f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. To see  $\nu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{B}^*$ , note that (i)  $\nu(B) = \mu(f^{-1}(B)) \ge 0$  for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$ , (ii)  $\nu(\emptyset) = \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ , and (iii) For a disjoint sequence  $\{B_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{B}^*$ , we know that the sequence  $\{f^{-1}(B_n)\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  is disjoint; then the countable additivity follows.  $\Box$ 

- ► EXERCISE 153 (5.2.4). This exercise concerns itself with (MF9).
- a. Prove part (b) of (MF9) by suitably adapting the proof of (a).
- b. Prove part (b) of (MF9) by using (a) of (MF9) and (MF7).
- c. Show that  $\{\omega \in A : f(\omega) + g(\omega) < x\} = \bigcup_{r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Q}; r_1 + r_2 < x} \{\omega \in A : f(\omega) < r_1\} \cap \{\omega \in A : g(\omega) < r_2\}.$
- d. Repeat part (c) for f g by proving an analogous identity.
- e. Let  $y \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , and for i = 1, ..., n, let  $f_i \colon A \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote a  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ measurable function. Let  $h \colon A \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be defined for all  $\omega \in A$  by the rule

1

$$h(\omega) = \begin{cases} f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_n(\omega) & \text{if } f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_n(\omega) \text{ is defined} \\ y & \text{if } f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_n(\omega) \text{ is undefined.} \end{cases}$$

Show that *h* is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**PROOF.** (a) Let  $y \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ , and let  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Define

$$A_{y} = \begin{cases} \left[ f^{-1}(-\infty) \cap g^{-1}(-\infty) \right] \cup \left[ f^{-1}(\infty) \cap g^{-1}(\infty) \right] & \text{if } y > x \\ \emptyset & \text{if } y \leq x. \end{cases}$$

Observe that (i)  $A_y \subseteq A$ , and (ii) the assumption of  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurability for f and g forces  $A_y \in \mathcal{F}$  (and hence  $A \smallsetminus A_y \in \mathcal{F}$ ). Next,

$$h^{-1}(x,\infty] = \{\omega \in A : h(\omega) > x\}$$
  
=  $\{\omega \in A \smallsetminus A_y : h(\omega) > x\} \cup \{\omega \in A_y : h(\omega) > x\}$   
=  $\{\omega \in A \smallsetminus A_y : f(\omega) - g(\omega) > x\} \cup A_y$   
=  $\{\omega \in A \smallsetminus A_y : f(\omega) > x + g(\omega)\} \cup A_y$   
 $\in \mathcal{F}.$ 

**(b)** Note that -g is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since g is. Then f-g is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. It follows form (MF7)(c) that h is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

(c) Let  $L = \{\omega \in A : f(\omega) + g(\omega) < x\}$ , and  $R = \bigcup_{r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Q}; r_1 + r_2 < x} \{\omega \in A : f(\omega) < r_1\} \cap \{\omega \in A : g(\omega) < r_2\}$ . If  $\omega \in L$ , then  $f(\omega) + g(\omega) < x$ . Take  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}_{++}$  such that

$$[f(\omega) + \varepsilon] + [g(\omega) + \varepsilon] = x.$$

Such an  $\varepsilon$  exists since  $f(\omega), g(\omega), x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then there exists  $r_1 \in \mathbb{Q}$  such that  $f(\omega) < r_1 < f(\omega) + \varepsilon$  since  $\mathbb{Q}$  is dense in  $\mathbb{R}$ ; similarly, there exists  $r_2 \in \mathbb{Q}$  such that  $g(\omega) < r_2 < g(\omega) + \varepsilon$ . Thus,

$$r_1 + r_2 < f(\omega) + \varepsilon + g(\omega) + \varepsilon = x;$$

that is,  $\omega \in R$ . The other direction is evident.

(d) For f - g, we have

$$\{\omega \in A : f(\omega) - g(\omega) < x\} = \bigcup_{\substack{r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Q} \\ r_1 - r_2 < x}} \{\omega \in A : f(\omega) < r_1\} \cap \{\omega \in A : -g(\omega) < -r_2\}.$$

Let *L* denote the left hand side of the above display, and let *R* denote the right hand side. If  $\omega \in L$ , then  $f(\omega) - g(\omega) < x$ . Pice  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R}_{++}$  such that  $[f(\omega) + \varepsilon] - [g(\omega) - \varepsilon] = x$ . Pick  $r_1, r_2 \in \mathbb{Q}$  such that  $f(\omega) < r_1 < f(\omega) + \varepsilon$  and  $-g(\omega) < -r_2 < -g(\omega) + \varepsilon$ . Then  $r_1 - r_2 < x$ , i.e.,  $\omega \in R$ . The other direction is evident.

(e) The claim holds for n = 2. Let us assume that it holds for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We now consider the n + 1 case. Define

$$A_{y} = \begin{cases} \{\omega \in A : f_{1}(\omega) + \dots + f_{n+1}(\omega) \text{ is undefined} \} & \text{if } y > x \\ \emptyset & \text{if } y \leq x. \end{cases}$$

It is clear that  $A_y \in \mathcal{F}$ . Next,

$$h^{-1}(x,\infty] = \{\omega \in A : h(\omega) > x\}$$
$$= \{\omega \in A \setminus A_y : f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_{n+1}(\omega) > x\} \cup A_y.$$

It suffices to show that  $\{\omega \in A \setminus A_y: f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_{n+1}(\omega) > x\} \in \mathcal{F}$ . Notice that if  $f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_{n+1}(\omega)$  is defined, then  $f_1(\omega) + \dots + f_n(\omega)$  is defined, too. Thus,  $f_1 + \dots + f_n$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable on  $A_y$ . It follows from (MF8) that  $h^{-1}(x, \infty] \in \mathcal{F}$ .

- ► EXERCISE 154 (5.2.5). This exercise concerns itself with (MF10).
- a. Directly prove (a) of (MF10) assuming that f and g are real valued instead of extended real valued.
- b. Prove (b) of (MF10) assuming that f and g are real valued and that g is nonzero on A.
- c. Using the previous part, now prove (b) of (MF10) in full generality.

**PROOF.** (a) For every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$(fg)^{-1}(x,\infty] = \left\{ \omega \in A : \left[ f(\omega) + g(\omega) \right]^2 - \left[ f(\omega) - g(\omega) \right]^2 > 4x \right\} \in \mathcal{F};$$

that is, fg is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**(b)** Write  $f/g = f \times (1/g)$ . Then 1/g is real valued and  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. It follows from (a) that f/g is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

(c) Take an arbitrary  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Define

$$A_{y} = \begin{cases} \{\omega \in A : f(\omega)/g(\omega) \text{ is undefined} \} & \text{if } y > x \\ \emptyset & \text{if } y \leq x. \end{cases}$$

Notice that

$$\{\omega \in A : f(\omega)/g(\omega) \text{ is undefined}\} = [f^{-1}(\pm \infty) \cap g^{-1}(\pm \infty)] \cup g^{-1}(0);$$

thus,  $A_y \in \mathcal{F}$ . Next,

$$h^{-1}(x, \infty] = \{ \omega \in A : f(\omega)/g(\omega) > x \}$$
$$= \{ \omega \in A \setminus A_y : f(\omega)/g(\omega) > x \} \cup A_y$$

So it suffices to show that  $\{\omega \in A \setminus A_y : f(\omega)/g(\omega) > x\} \in \mathcal{F}$ . It can be proved case by case.

#### **5.3 Sequences of Measurable Functions**

► EXERCISE 155 (5.3.1). *Prove* (*a*)-(*e*) of (*MF13*).

**PROOF.** (a) Pick an arbitrary  $\omega \in A$ . If  $f(\omega) \ge 0$ , we have  $f^+(\omega) = f(\omega)$  and  $f^-(\omega) = 0$ . Then

$$f^{+}(\omega) + f^{-}(\omega) = f(\omega).$$

Next, if  $f(\omega) < 0$ , we get  $f^+(\omega) = 0$  and  $f^-(\omega) = -f(\omega)$ . Then

$$f^{+}(\omega) + f^{-}(\omega) = -f(\omega).$$

Hence,  $|f| = f^+ + f^-$ .

Now if  $f = f^+$  and  $f^- = 0$ , then  $|f| = f^+ + f^- = f$ , i.e.,  $f \ge 0$ . The other claim is similar.

**(b)** If  $c \ge 0$ , then  $cf(\omega) \ge 0$  iff  $f(\omega) \ge 0$ . Hence,

$$(cf)^{+}(\omega) = \begin{cases} cf(\omega) & \text{if } cf(\omega) \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } cf(\omega) < 0 \end{cases} = \begin{cases} cf(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } f(\omega) < 0 \end{cases} = cf^{+}(\omega).$$

If c < 0, then  $cf(\omega) \ge 0$  iff  $f(\omega) \le 0$ . Thus,

$$(cf)^{+}(\omega) = \begin{cases} cf(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) \leq 0\\ 0 & \text{if } f(\omega) > 0 \end{cases} = -cf^{-}(\omega)$$

(c) Suppose that  $f(\omega) = -g(\omega) > 0$ ; then  $(f + g)^+(\omega) = (f + g)^-(\omega) = 0$ , but  $f^+(\omega) + g^+(\omega) = f^+(\omega) > 0$ , and  $f^-(\omega) + g^-(\omega) = -g(\omega) > 0$ .

To see  $0 \le (f + g)^+ \le f^+ + g^+$  (the first inequality always holds), observe that for every  $\omega \in A$ ,

$$(f+g)^{+}(\omega) = \begin{cases} f(\omega) + g(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) + g(\omega) \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } f(\omega) + g(\omega) < 0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$f^{+}(\omega) + g^{+}(\omega) = \begin{cases} f(\omega) + g(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) \ge 0, g(\omega) \ge 0\\ f(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) \ge 0, g(\omega) < 0\\ g(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) < 0, g(\omega) \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{if } f(\omega) < 0, g(\omega) < 0. \end{cases}$$

For instance, if  $f(\omega) \ge 0$ ,  $g(\omega) < 0$ , and  $f(\omega) + g(\omega) \ge 0$ , then  $(f + g)^+(\omega) = f(\omega) + g(\omega) < f(\omega) = f^+(\omega) + g^+(\omega)$ . All other cases can be analyzed similarly.

(d) If 
$$|g| \leq f$$
, i.e.,  $g^+ + g^- \leq f$ , then  $0 \leq g^+, g^- \leq f$ .

(e) For every  $\omega \in A$ , we have  $f(\omega) = g(\omega) - h(\omega) \leq g(\omega)$ ; thus  $f^+ \leq g^+ = g$ . Similarly, for every  $\omega \in A$ , we have  $f(\omega) \geq -h(\omega)$ , and so  $f^- \leq (-h)^- = h$ .  $\Box$  ► EXERCISE 156 (5.3.2). The class of  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions is not necessarily closed under uncountable suprema and infima. The following outline gives a simple instantiation of this claim. Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{B}$ .

- a. Let *E* denote a non-Borel set as constructed in Section 4.5. Argue that *E* cannot be at most countable.
- b. For each  $x \in E$ , define  $f_x \colon \mathbb{R} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by writing  $f_x(\omega) = \mathbb{I}_{\{x\}}(\omega)$  for each  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $f_x$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for each  $x \in E$ , but  $\sup_{x \in E} f_x = \mathbb{I}_E$ , hence  $\sup_{x \in E} f_x$  is not  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**PROOF.** (a) Every singleton set  $\{x\} \subset \mathbb{R}$  is a Borel set; thus, if *E* is at most countable, it would be a Borel set.

**(b)** For every  $x \in E$ , the function  $f_x$  is  $\mathcal{B}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable by (MF3) since  $\{x\} \in \mathcal{B}$ . However,  $\sup_{x \in E} f_x = \mathbb{1}_E$  is not  $\mathcal{B}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since  $E \notin \mathcal{B}$ .  $\Box$ 

#### **5.4 Almost Everywhere**

EXERCISE 157 (5.4.1). In (MF15), the completeness of  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  is not a redundant assumption.

PROOF. Note that the proof of (MF15) dependents on (MF14), which depends on the completeness of the measure space.  $\hfill \Box$ 

► EXERCISE 158 (5.4.2). Suppose that  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a differentiable function. Then f' is a Borel measurable function.

**PROOF.** Let  $f_n(x) = f(x + 1/n)$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $f_n$  is a Borel measurable function for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  since f is continuous. Therefore,

$$\frac{f(x+1/n) - f(x)}{1/n} = n \left[ f_n(x) - f(x) \right]$$

is Borel measurable for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus  $f' = \lim_n n(f_n - f)$  is Borel measurable.

#### **5.5 SIMPLE FUNCTIONS**

- ► EXERCISE 159 (5.5.1). *Refer to (MF18).*
- a. If  $f: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is a general  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function, then there exists a sequence  $\{s_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable and finite-valued simple functions such that  $s_n \to f$ , having the additional property that  $0 \leq |s_1| \leq |s_2| \leq \cdots$ .
- b. If in (a) the function f is also bounded, then  $s_n \to f$  uniformly on A.

c. The following converse to (MF18) holds: if  $f : A \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is such that there exists a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  of simple  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions with  $s_n \to f$  then f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

**PROOF.** (a) Write  $f = f^+ - f^-$ . Then there exist nondecreasing, nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable and finite-valued simple functions  $\{s_n^+\}$  and  $\{s_n^-\}$  such that  $s_n^+ \to f^+$  and  $s_n^- \to f^-$ . Let  $s_n = s_n^+ - s_n^-$  for all n, and consider  $\{s_n\}$ .

**(b)** We first consider a nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable bounded function  $f : A \to [0, \infty)$ . Fix an  $\varepsilon > 0$ . For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $k = 1, \dots, n2^n$ , define

$$A_{n,k} = \left\{ \omega \in A : \frac{k-1}{2^n} \leq f(\omega) < \frac{k}{2^n} \right\} \text{ and } B_n = \left\{ \omega \in A : f(\omega) \geq n \right\}.$$

Take  $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  so that  $f(\omega) - s_{N_1}(\omega) < 1/2^{N_1} \leq \varepsilon$  for all  $\omega \in \bigcup_{k=1}^{n2^n} A_{N_1,k}$ . Now pick  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $N \geq N_1$  and  $f(\omega) - N < \varepsilon$  for all  $\omega \in B_N$ . This proves that  $s_n \to f$  uniformly. This result can be easily extended.

(c) Follows from (MF11).

► EXERCISE 160 (5.5.2). Consider the measure space  $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathcal{L}^k, \overline{\lambda}_k)$ . Let  $f : \mathbb{R}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  denote a Lebesgue measurable function. We will show that there exists a Borel measurable function  $g : \mathbb{R}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  with  $|g| \leq |f|$  and  $f = g \overline{\lambda}_k$ -a.e.

a. Let  $f \ge 0$ . There exists a sequence  $\{s_n\}$  of nonnegative finite-valued Lebesgue measurable simple functions such that  $0 \le s_1 \le s_2 \le \cdots \le f$  and  $s_n \to f$ .

Pick  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , and write  $s_m = \sum_{j=1}^{n_m} c_{mj} \mathbb{1}_{A_{mj}}$ , where  $0 \leq c_{m1}, \ldots, c_{mn_m} < \infty$  and  $A_{m1}, \ldots, A_{mn_m}$  are disjoint  $\mathcal{L}^k$ -sets with  $\bigcup_{j=1}^{n_m} A_{mj} = \mathbb{R}^k$ . Write the set  $A_{mj}$  as  $B_{mj} \cup C_{mj}$ , where  $B_{mj} \in \mathcal{B}^k$  and  $C_{mj}$  is contained in some  $\lambda_k$ -null set  $N_{mj}$ . Define  $s_m^* = \sum_{j=1}^{n_m} c_{mj} \mathbb{1}_{B_{mj}}$ .

b. For each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $s_m^*$  is a Borel measurable simple function such that  $0 \le s_m^* \le s_m$  and  $s_m^* = s_m \overline{\lambda}_k$  -a.e.

Define  $N = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} N_m$ , where  $N_m = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^k : s_m(x) \neq s_m^*(x)\}$  for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $g = \sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} s_m^*$ .

- c. *N* is  $\overline{\lambda}_k$ -null,  $0 \leq g \leq f$ , and  $g = f \overline{\lambda}_k$ -a.e.
- d. g is Borel measurable, hence the proof is complete in the nonnegative case.
- e. The claim holds when  $f : \mathbb{R}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is an arbitrary Lebesgue measurable function.

PROOF. (a) Follows from (MF18) immediately.

**(b)**  $s_m^*$  is  $\mathcal{B}^k/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since  $B_{mj} \in \mathcal{B}^k$  for every  $j = 1, ..., n_m$  (by (MF16)). Define

$$N_m = \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^k : s_m^*(\boldsymbol{x}) \neq s_m(\boldsymbol{x}) \right\}.$$

Then  $D \subseteq \bigcup_{j=1}^{n_m} C_{mj}$  and so  $\overline{\lambda}_k(D) \leq \overline{\lambda}_k(\bigcup_{j=1}^{n_m} C_{mj}) = 0$ ; that is,  $s_m^* = s_m \overline{\lambda}_k$  -a.e. The other claims are trivial.

(c) It follows from (b) that  $\overline{\lambda}_k(N_m) = 0$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus,  $\overline{\lambda}_k(N) \leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \overline{\lambda}_k(N_m) = 0$ .

Fix an arbitrary  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . Then  $s_m^*(\mathbf{x}) \leq s_m(\mathbf{x}) \leq f(\mathbf{x})$ . Hence,  $g(\mathbf{x}) = \sup_m s_m^*(\mathbf{x}) \leq f(\mathbf{x})$ , i.e.,  $g \leq f$ . Notice that  $g(\mathbf{x}) \neq f(\mathbf{x})$  only probably on N, and since  $\overline{\lambda}_k(N) = 0$ , we conclude that  $g = f \overline{\lambda}_k$  -a.e.

(d) It follows from (b) that  $s_m^*$  is  $\mathcal{B}^k/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Then *g* is  $\mathcal{B}^k/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since  $g = \sup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} s_m^*$ .

(e) Write  $f = f^+ - f^-$ . Then there exist nonnegative  $\mathcal{B}^k/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  such that  $0 \leq g_1 \leq f^+$ ,  $g_1 = f^+ \overline{\lambda}_k$ -a.e., and  $0 \leq g_2 \leq f^-$ ,  $g_2 = f^- \overline{\lambda}_k$ -a.e. Let  $g = g_1 - g_2$ . Then  $g = f \overline{\lambda}_k$ -a.e., and

$$|g| = |g_1 - g_2| \le |g_1| + |g_2| = g_1 + g_2 \le f^+ + f^- = |f|.$$

► EXERCISE 161 (5.5.3). In Exercise 160, show that the Borel measurable function  $g: \mathbb{R}^k \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  may be chosen such that  $|g| \ge |f|$  and  $f = g \overline{\lambda}_k$  -a.e.

PROOF. Just let  $A_{mj} = B_{mj} \\ \subset C_{mj}$ , and  $\bigcup_{j=1}^{n_m} B_{mj} = \mathbb{R}^k$ . Then  $s_m^* \ge s_m$  for every m, and so  $g \ge f$  when  $f \ge 0$ . As in Exercise 160(e), we also get the other results.

#### 5.6 Some Convergence Concepts

- ► EXERCISE 162 (5.6.1). *This result concerns uniqueness.*
- a. If  $f_n \to f \mu$ -a.e. and  $f_n \to g \mu$ -a.e., then  $f = g \mu$ -a.e..
- b. If  $f_n \to f$  in  $\mu$ -measure and  $f_n \to g$  in  $\mu$ -measure, then  $f = g \mu$ -a.e..

**PROOF.** (a) Write  $[f(\omega) \neq g(\omega)]$  as the union of four  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets:

$$A_{1} = [f(\omega) \neq g(\omega), f_{n}(\omega) \rightarrow f(\omega), g_{n}(\omega) \rightarrow g(\omega)],$$
  

$$A_{2} = [f(\omega) \neq g(\omega), f_{n}(\omega) \rightarrow f(\omega), g_{n}(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)],$$
  

$$A_{3} = [f(\omega) \neq g(\omega), f_{n}(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega), g_{n}(\omega) \rightarrow g(\omega)],$$
  

$$A_{4} = [f(\omega) \neq g(\omega), f_{n}(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega), g_{n}(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)].$$

Since limits of sequences of numbers are unique,  $A_1 = \emptyset$ . Observe that each of  $A_2$ ,  $A_3$ , and  $A_4$  are contained in  $\nu$ -null sets; for example,  $A_2 \subseteq [g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)]$ . Thus,  $\mu[f(\omega) \neq g(\omega)] = 0$ .

**(b)** Fix  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Suppose that there exists  $\omega \in A$  such that  $|f(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/m$ . For an arbitrary  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , if  $|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| < 1/(2m)$ , then

$$|f_n(\omega) - g(\omega)| \ge |f(\omega) - g(\omega)| - |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > 1/(2m).$$

Thus,

$$[|f(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/m] \subseteq [|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| \ge 1/(2m)] \cup [|f_n(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/(2m)].$$

For any fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mu[|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| \ge 1/(2m)] < \varepsilon/2^{m+1}$  and  $\mu[|f_n(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/(2m)] < \varepsilon/2^{m+1}$ . Then  $\mu[|f(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/m] < \varepsilon/2^m$ . Since

$$\mu[f(\omega) \neq g(\omega)] = \mu\left(\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} [|f(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/m]\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \mu[|f(\omega) - g(\omega)| > 1/m]$$
$$\leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon/2^{m}$$
$$= \varepsilon,$$

we have  $f = g \mu$  -a.e.

- ► EXERCISE 163 (5.6.2). Suppose that  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  and  $g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} g$ .
- a.  $f_n f \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$  and  $|f_n| \xrightarrow{\mu} |f|$ .
- b. If  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $af_n + b \xrightarrow{\mu} af + b$ .
- c. If  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $af_n + bg_n \xrightarrow{\mu} af + bg$ .
- d.  $f_n^+ \xrightarrow{\mu} f^+$  and  $f_n^- \xrightarrow{\mu} f^-$ .
- e. If  $\mu(A) < \infty$  and  $\eta > 0$ , there is M > 0 with  $\mu[|g(\omega)| > M] < \eta$ .
- f. If  $\mu(A) < \infty$ , then  $f_n g \xrightarrow{\mu} fg$ .
- g. If  $\mu(A) < \infty$ , then  $f_n g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} fg$ .
- h. If  $\mu(A) = \infty$ , then  $f_n g_n$  does not necessarily converge to fg in  $\mu$ -measure.
- i. It is not necessarily the case that  $f_n/g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f/g$ , even if  $g(\omega) \neq 0$  and  $g_n(\omega) \neq 0$  for every  $\omega \in A$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . However, if  $\mu(A) < \infty$ , the result follows.

PROOF. (a)  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  iff for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we have  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu[|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon] = 0$ ; that is

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu \left[ \left| (f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)) - 0 \right| > \varepsilon \right] = 0,$$

i.e.,  $f_n - f \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ .

To see the second implication, note that  $||f_n(\omega)| - |f(\omega)|| \le |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)|$ , and so

$$\left[||f_n(\omega)| - |f(\omega)|| > \varepsilon\right] \subseteq \left[|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon\right].$$

Therefore,  $\mu[|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon] = 0$  implies that  $\mu[||f_n(\omega)| - |f(\omega)|] > \varepsilon] = 0$ ; that is,  $|f_n| \xrightarrow{\mu} |f|$ .

(b) It is clear that

$$\begin{bmatrix} |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} |af_n(\omega) - af(\omega)| > |a|\varepsilon \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} |(af_n(\omega) - b) - (af(\omega) - b)| > |a|\varepsilon \end{bmatrix}.$$

(c) It suffices to show that  $f_n + g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f + g$ . By the triangle inequality, we have

$$|(f_n + g_n)(\omega) - (f + g)(\omega)| \leq |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| + |g_n(\omega) - g(\omega)|.$$

Therefore,  $[|(f_n + g_n)(\omega) - (f + g)(\omega)| > \varepsilon] \subset [|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon/2] \cup [|g_n(\omega) - g(\omega)| > \varepsilon/2]$ , and so  $f_n + g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f + g$ . Then, by (b), it is evident that  $af_n + bg_n \xrightarrow{\mu} af + bg$ .

(d) Observe that

$$|f_n^+(\omega) - f^+(\omega)| = |\max\{f_n(\omega), 0\} - \max\{f(\omega), 0\}|$$
  
$$\leq |\max\{f_n(\omega), 0\} - f(\omega)|$$
  
$$= |f(\omega) - \max\{f_n(\omega), 0\}|$$
  
$$\leq |f(\omega) - f_n(\omega)|.$$

Thus,  $[|f_n^+(\omega) - f^+(\omega)| > \varepsilon] \subseteq [|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon]$ , and so  $f_n^+ \xrightarrow{\mu} f^+$ . Similarly,  $f_n^- \xrightarrow{\mu} f^-$ .

(e) Let  $A_m = [|g(\omega)| > m]$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Observe that  $\{A_m\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  and  $A_m \downarrow \emptyset$  (since  $g(\omega) \in \mathbb{R}$ ). By monotonicity, we get  $\mu(A_1) \leq \mu(A) < \infty$ ; thus,  $\lim_m \mu(A_m) = \mu(\lim_m A_m) = \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . Given  $\eta > 0$ , there exists  $M \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mu(A_M) < \eta$ ; that is,  $\mu[|g(\omega)| > M] < \eta$ .

(f) Observe that for an arbitrary  $M \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left| |f_n(\omega)g(\omega) - f(\omega)g(\omega)| > \varepsilon \right| &= \left[ |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| \cdot |g(\omega)| > \varepsilon \right] \\ &= \left[ |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| \cdot |g(\omega)| > \varepsilon, |g(\omega) > M \right] \\ &\cup \left[ |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| \cdot |g(\omega)| > \varepsilon, |g(\omega)| \leqslant M \right] \\ &\subseteq \left[ |g(\omega)| > M \right] \cup \left[ |f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon/M \right]. \end{split}$$

It follows from (e) that for an arbitrary  $\delta > 0$ , there exists M such that  $\mu[|g(\omega)| > M] < \delta/2$ . Since  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ , there exists  $N_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\mu[|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon/M] < \delta/2$ . Let  $N = \max\{M, N_0\}$ . Then  $\mu[|f_n(\omega)g(\omega) - f(\omega)g(\omega)| > \varepsilon] < \delta$ ; that is,  $f_ng \xrightarrow{\mu} fg$ .

(h) Observe that how the assumption  $\mu(A) < \infty$  is used.

(i) Notice that

$$[|g(\omega) > M] = [|1/g(\omega)| < 1/M].$$

- EXERCISE 164 (5.5.3). Suppose that  $f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f \text{ and } g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} g$ .
- a.  $f_n f \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} 0$  and  $|f_n| \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} |f|$ .

b. If  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $af_n + b \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} af + b$ . c. If  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $af_n + bg_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} af + bg$ . d.  $f_n^+ \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f^+$  and  $f_n^- \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f^-$ . e.  $f_n g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} fg$ . f. If  $g, g_n \neq 0 \mu$ -a. e. for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $f_n/g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f/g$ .

PROOF. (a) We have

$$\mu[f_n(\omega) - f(\omega) \not\to 0] = \mu[f_n(\omega) \not\to f(\omega)] = 0.$$

Similarly for  $|f_n|$ .

(b) If *a*, the claim holds trivially. So assume that  $a \neq 0$ . Then

$$\mu[af_n(\omega) + b \not\to af(\omega) + b] = \mu[f_n(\omega) \not\to f(\omega)] = 0.$$

(c) For every  $\omega \in A$  with  $af_n(\omega) + bg(\omega) \not\rightarrow af(\omega) + bg(\omega)$ , if  $f_n(\omega) \rightarrow f(\omega)$ , then  $g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)$ . Therefore,

$$[af_n(\omega) + bg(\omega) \not\rightarrow af(\omega) + bg(\omega)] \subseteq [f_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)] \cup [g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)],$$

and so  $af_n + bg_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} af + bg$ .

(d) Take an arbitrary  $\omega \in A$  such that  $f_n(\omega) \to f(\omega)$ . If  $f(\omega) > 0$ , then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f_n(\omega) > 0$  for all  $n \ge N$ , and then  $f_n^+(\omega) \to f^+(\omega)$ . If  $f(\omega) < 0$ , then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f_n(\omega) < 0$  for all  $n \ge N$ , and then  $f_n^+(\omega) \to f^+(\omega)$ . If  $f_n(\omega) = 0$  for all  $n \ge N$ . Thus,  $f_n^+(\omega) \to 0 = f^+(\omega)$ . Finally, if  $f(\omega) = 0$ , then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| < \varepsilon$ . In this case, for all  $n \ge N$ , either  $f_n^+(\omega) = f_n(\omega) > 0$  and  $f_n(\omega) < \varepsilon$ , or  $f_n^+(\omega) = 0$ ; thus,  $f_n^+(\omega) \to f^+(\omega) = 0$ .

We thus proved that  $f_n^+(\omega) \to f^+(\omega)$  whenever  $f_n(\omega) \to f(\omega)$ . In other words, we have

$$[f_n^+(\omega) \not\rightarrow f^+(\omega)] \subseteq [f_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)];$$

that is,  $f_n^+ \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f^+$ . Similarly, we get  $f_n^- \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f^-$ .

(e)  $[f_n(\omega)g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)g(\omega)] \subseteq [f_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)] \cup [g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)].$ 

- (f)  $[f_n(\omega)/g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)/g(\omega)] \subseteq [f_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow f(\omega)] \cup [g_n(\omega) \not\rightarrow g(\omega)].$
- ► EXERCISE 165 (5.5.4). Suppose for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  that  $f_n = g_n \mu$  -a.e..
- a. If  $f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ , then  $g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ .
- b. If  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ , then  $g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ .

PROOF. (a) We have

$$[g_n(\omega) \not\to f(\omega)] \subseteq \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} [g_n(\omega) \neq f_n(\omega)]\right) \cup [f_n(\omega) \not\to f(\omega)].$$

Thus,  $g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$  if  $g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ .

(b) We have

$$[|g_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon] \subseteq \left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} [g_n(\omega) \neq f_n(\omega)]\right) \cup [|f_n(\omega) - f(\omega)| > \varepsilon];$$

thus,  $g_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ .

EXERCISE 166 (5.6.5). Prove the following statements connecting convergence in  $\mu$ -measure with convergence  $\mu$ -a.e.

- a.  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  iff  $f_{n_j} \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  for every subsequence  $\{n_j\}$ .
- b.  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  iff each subsequence of  $\{f_n\}$  has a sub-subsequence that converges to  $f \ \mu$ -a.e..

PROOF. See Resnick (1999, Theorem 6.3.1). Here is the basic procedure of the proof:  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$  iff  $\{f_n\}$  is Cauchy in measure, i.e.,  $\mu[|f_r - f_s|] \to 0$  as  $r, s \to \infty$ . Then there exists a subsequence  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  which converges a.s.

- ► EXERCISE 167 (5.6.6). Suppose that  $\varphi \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous.
- a. If  $f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ , then  $\varphi \circ f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} \varphi \circ f$ .
- b. If  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ , then  $\varphi \circ f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} \varphi \circ f$ .

**PROOF.** (a) There exists a null set  $N \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\mu(N) = 0$  such that if  $\omega \in N^c$ , then  $f_n(\omega) \to f(\omega)$ . By continuity of  $\varphi$ , if  $\omega \in N^c$ , then  $\varphi(f_n(\omega)) \to \varphi(f(\omega))$ .

**(b)** Let  $\{\varphi \circ f_{n_k}\}$  be some subsequence of  $\{\varphi \circ f_n\}$ . It suffices to find an a.s. convergence subsequence  $\{\varphi \circ f_{n_{k(i)}}\}$ . But we know that  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  has some a.s. convergent subsequence  $\{f_{n_{k(i)}}\}$  such that  $f_{n_{k(i)}} \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ . Thus,  $\varphi \circ f_{n_{k(i)}} \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} \varphi \circ f$  by (a).

#### 5.7 CONTINUITY AND MEASURABILITY

#### 5.8 A GENERALIZED DEFINITION OF MEASURABILITY

• EXERCISE 168 (5.8.1). Regarding the measure v:

- a. v is really a measure.
- b. If  $\mu$  is finite, then so is  $\nu$ .
- c. If  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$ -finite,  $\nu$  need not be  $\sigma$ -finite.

PROOF. (a) (i)  $\nu(A') \ge 0$  for all  $A' \in \mathcal{F}'$  since  $\nu(A') = \mu(f^{-1}(A')) \ge 0$  for all  $A' \in \mathcal{F}'$ . (li)  $\nu(\emptyset) = (\mu \circ f^{-1})(\emptyset) = \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . (iii) Let  $\{A'_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}'$  be disjoint. Then

$$\nu\left(\bigcup A'_n\right) = \mu\left(f^{-1}\left(\bigcup A'_n\right)\right) = \mu\left(\bigcup f^{-1}(A'_n)\right) = \sum \mu\left(f^{-1}(A'_n)\right)$$
$$= \sum \nu(A'_n).$$

**(b)** If  $\mu(\Omega) < \infty$ , then  $\nu(\Omega') = \mu(f^{-1}(\Omega')) = \mu(\Omega) < \infty$ .

(c) Suppose that there exists a unique sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets such that  $\Omega = \bigcup A_n$  and  $\mu(A_n) < \infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; suppose that there does not exist a sequence  $\{A'_n\}$  of  $\mathcal{F}'$ -sets such that  $f^{-1}(A'_n) = A_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\nu$  is not  $\sigma$ -finite.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 169 (5.8.2). *Modify (MF14) and prove it in the more general setting of this section.* 

PROOF. (MF14) can be modified in the following way:

**(MF14')** Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  denote a complete measure space. Pick nonempty *A* in  $\mathcal{F}$ , and let *f* be defined  $\mu$ -a.e. on *A* and  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{F}'$ -measurable. If *g* is defined  $\mu$ -a.e. on *A* and  $f = g \mu$ -a.e. on *A*, then *g* is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{F}'$ -measurable.

PROOF OF (MF'). Let  $B = \{\omega \in \text{dom}(f) \cap \text{dom}(g) : f(\omega) = g(\omega)\}$ , so that  $\mu(A \setminus B) = 0$ . Take an arbitrary  $A' \in \mathcal{F}'$ , and observe that

$$g^{-1}(A') = \left[g^{-1}(A') \cap B\right] \cup \left[g^{-1}(A') \cap (A \smallsetminus B)\right]$$
$$= \left[f^{-1}(A') \cap B\right] \cup \left[g^{-1}(A') \cap (A \smallsetminus B)\right].$$

Since  $f^{-1}(A') \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have  $f^{-1}(A') \cap B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Next,  $g^{-1}(A') \cap (A \setminus B)$  is a subset of  $A \setminus B$ , and  $\mu(A \setminus B) = 0$ . Since  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  is complete, we have  $g^{-1}(A') \cap (A \setminus B) \in \mathcal{F}$ . Thus,  $g^{-1}(A') \in \mathcal{F}$  and so g is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{F}'$ -measurable.  $\Box$ 

# 6

## THE LEBESGUE INTEGRAL

#### **6.1 STAGE ONE: SIMPLE FUNCTIONS**

- ► EXERCISE 170 (6.1.1). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ .
- a.  $\mu(E) = 0$  iff  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s) = 0$  for every  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$ .
- b. For any  $c \ge 0$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(c) = c\mu(E)$ .

PROOF. (a) Write  $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i}$ . If  $\mu(E) = 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mu(A_i \cap E) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i 0 = 0$  since  $\mu(A_i \cap E) \leq \mu(E) = 0$  implies that  $\mu(A_i \cap E) = 0$ . For the converse direction, observe that if  $\mu(E) > 0$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(\mathbb{1}_E) = \mu(E) > 0$ , where, of course,  $\mathbb{1}_E \in \mathfrak{S}$ .

**(b)** Write 
$$c \in \mathfrak{S}$$
 as  $c = c \mathbb{1}_{\Omega}$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(c) = c \mu(\Omega \cap E) = c \mu(E)$ .

► EXERCISE 171 (6.1.2). Let  $t, s, s_1, s_2, ... \in \mathfrak{S}$ . Why can't we say that  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(as + bt) = a\mathcal{I}_E^s(s) + b\mathcal{I}_E^s(t)$  for every  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ , as compared to saying that the result holds for every  $0 \leq a, b < \infty$ ? Also, why can't we necessarily write  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i s_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i \mathcal{I}_E^s(s_i)$ ? [What is the domain of  $\mathcal{I}_E^s$ ?]

PROOF. This is because the domain of  $\mathcal{I}_E^s$  is  $\mathfrak{S}$ : the collection of *finite*-valued *nonnegative*  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable simple functions with domain  $\Omega$ . Hence, if a < 0 and b < 0, then  $as + bt \notin \mathfrak{S}$ . We can't necessarily write  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i s_i) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i \mathcal{I}_E^s(s_i)$  because it is possible that  $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i s_i(\omega) = \infty$  for some  $\omega \in \Omega$ .  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 172 (6.1.3). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  be such that  $\mu(E) > 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(s) = 0$  iff  $s = 0 \mu$ -a.e. on *E*. In particular,  $\mathcal{I}^4(s) = 0$  iff  $s = 0 \mu$ -a.e. [on  $\Omega$ ].

PROOF. Assume first that s = 0  $\mu$  -a.e. on *E*. Let  $E_1 = \{\omega \in E : s(\omega) = 0\}$  and  $E_2 = E \setminus E_1$ . Then  $\mu(E_2) = 0$ , and so

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}\cup E_{2}}^{4}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}}^{4}(s) = 0.$$

Conversely, assume that  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s) = 0$ . Let  $A_{n} = \{\omega \in E : s(\omega) \ge 1/n\}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $A_{n} \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{1}_{A_{n}} \le s$  on E;

hence  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{1}_{A_{n}}) \leq \mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s)$  by (S4), whence  $\mu(A_{n})/n \leq 0$  by (S6). It follows that  $\mu(A_{n}) = 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since

$$\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$$

we have  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\}) = 0$ ; hence  $s = 0 \mu$ -a.e.. Replacing *E* by  $\Omega$  we get the second claim.

- ▶ EXERCISE 173 (6.1.4). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$ .
- a. If  $\mu(E) < \infty$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_{F}^{4}(s) < \infty$ , but the converse is not necessarily true.
- b. If  $\mu(E) = \infty$  and  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(s) = \infty$ , then  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\}) > 0$ , but the converse is not necessarily true.
- c. Let  $\mu(E) = \infty$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(s) < \infty$  iff  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\}) < \infty$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i}$ , where  $0 \le c_i < \infty$  and  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i = \Omega$ . If  $\mu(E) < \infty$ , then  $\mu(A_i \cap E) < \mu(E) < \infty$ , for all *i*. Thus,  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(s) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mu(A_i \cap E) < \infty$  since the finite summation of finite terms is finite.

To see the converse is not necessarily true, consider  $t = \mathbb{1}_{E^c}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) = 0$ , and which holds no matter whether  $\mu(E) = \infty$  or not as long as we assume that  $0 \times \infty = 0$ .

**(b)** If s = 0  $\mu$ -a.e. on *E*, then  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(s) = 0$  by the previous exercise; hence,  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\}) > 0$ .

To see the converse is not necessarily true, let  $t = \mathbb{1}_E$ . Then  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : t(\omega) > 0\}) = \mu(E)$ . By letting  $0 < \mu(E) < \infty$ , we see that  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : t(\omega) > 0\}) > 0$ , but  $\mu(E) < \infty$  and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) = \mu(E) < \infty$ .

(c) If  $\mu(E) = \infty$ , then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \mu(A_{i} \cap E) < \infty \iff \mu(A_{i} \cap E) < \infty \text{ for all } i \text{ with } c_{i} > 0$$
$$\iff \mu(\{\omega \in E : s(\omega) > 0\}) < \infty. \qquad \Box$$

- ► EXERCISE 174 (6.1.5). Suppose that  $\{E_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a nonincreasing sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. Also, let  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$ .
- a. It is not necessarily the case that  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}^s_{E_n}(s) = \mathcal{I}^s_{\lim_n E_n}(s)$ .
- b. If  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) < \infty$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{\lim_{n} E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s)$ .
- c. If  $\{E_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is no longer nonincreasing but is still such that  $\lim_n E_n$  exists, state conditions under which  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{\lim_n E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s)$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu) = (\mathbb{N}, 2^{\mathbb{N}}, \mu)$ , where  $\mu$  is the counting measure; let  $s = \mathbb{I}_{\Omega}$ . Let  $E_n = \{j \in \mathbb{N} : j \ge n\}$ . Then  $E_n \downarrow \emptyset$ ,  $\mu(E_n) = \infty$  and  $\mu(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n) = 0$ . In this case,  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(\mathbb{I}_{\Omega}) = \infty$  for each n; but  $\mathcal{I}_{\lim_{n \to \infty} E_n}^{\mathfrak{s}}(\mathbb{I}_{\Omega}) = 0$ . This argument and the following example is modified from Folland (1999, p. 26).

**(b)** The same as (M9). This example shows that some finiteness assumption is necessary.

(c) See Vestrup (2003, p. 47-48).

► EXERCISE 175 (6.1.6). Let  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$  and recall (S7), where  $v_s$  is the measure on  $\mathcal{F}$  with  $v_s(B) = \mathcal{I}_B^s(s)$  for every  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then, for any  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $t \in \mathfrak{S}$ , we have  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(t; v_s) = \mathcal{I}_E^s(ts; \mu)$ .

PROOF. Let  $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i}$  and  $t = \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j \mathbb{1}_{B_j}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(t;\nu_{s}) &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}\nu_{s}(B_{j}\cap E) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}\mathcal{I}_{B_{j}\cap E}^{s}(s;\mu) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s\mathbb{1}_{B_{j}};\mu) \\ &= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}s\mathbb{1}_{B_{j}};\mu\right) \\ &= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(ts;\mu). \quad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 176 (6.1.7). Let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  be nonempty, and let  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}_A = \{E \subseteq A : E \in \mathcal{F}\}$ , and let  $\mu_A$  denote the restriction of  $\mu$  from  $\mathcal{F}$  to  $\mathcal{F}_A$ . Finally, let  $s_A$  denote the restriction of s from  $\Omega$  to A.

- a.  $(A, \mathcal{F}_A, \mu_A)$  is a measure space.
- b. If  $\mathcal{J}$  denotes this section's functional relative to  $(A, \mathcal{F}_A, \mu_A)$ , then we have  $\mathcal{I}_F^{\mathfrak{s}}(s; \mu) = \mathcal{J}_E(s_A; \mu_A)$  for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}_A$ .

PROOF. (a) We only need to show that  $\mathcal{F}_A$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. (i)  $A \in \mathcal{F}_A$  because  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ and  $A \subseteq A$ . (ii) If  $E \in \mathcal{F}_A$ , then  $E \subseteq A$  and  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ . Thus,  $A \setminus E \subseteq A$  and  $A \setminus E \in \mathcal{F}$ , i.e.,  $A \setminus E \in \mathcal{F}_A$ . (iii) Let  $\{E_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_A$ . Then  $E_n \subseteq A$  and  $E_n \in \mathcal{F}$  for all n. Thus,  $\bigcup E_n \subseteq A$  and  $\bigcup E_n \in \mathcal{F}$ ; that is,  $\bigcup E_n \in \mathcal{F}_A$ .

**(b)** Let  $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{I}_{A_i}$ . Then  $s_A = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{I}_{A_i \cap A;A}$ , and so

$$\mathcal{J}_E(s_A;\mu_A) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mu_A \left( A_i \cap A \cap E \right) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mu(A_i \cap E) = \mathcal{I}_E^s(s;\mu)$$

since  $\mu_A = \mu$  on  $\mathcal{F}_A$  and  $E \subseteq A$ .

► EXERCISE 177 (6.1.8). Let  $A \in \mathcal{F} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , and suppose that  $s: A \to [0, \infty)$  is simple and  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}_A$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_A$  is defined in the previous exercise. Consider two programs:

- **Program 1** Extend *s* from *A* to  $\Omega$  as follows: Let  $s^* \in \mathfrak{S}$  be such that  $s^* = s$  on *A* and  $s^* = 0$  on  $A^c$ .
- **Program 2** Do not extend *s* from *A* to  $\Omega$  as in Program 1, but instead view *s* as a function defined everywhere relative to the measure space  $(A, \mathcal{F}_A, \mu_A)$ , where the notation is as in the previous exercise.

 $\Box$ 

These two programs are equivalent in the sense that  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s^{*};\mu) = \mathcal{J}_{E}(s;\mu_{A})$ , where  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}$  is this section's functional relative to the measure space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ , and  $\mathcal{J}_{E}$  is this section's functional relative to the measure space  $(A, \mathcal{F}_{A}, \mu_{A})$ .

PROOF. Write  $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i}$ , where  $\{A_i\}$  is disjoint and  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_i = A$ . Extend *s* to  $s^*$  as

$$s^* = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i} + 0 \mathbb{1}_{A^c}.$$

Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s^{*};\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\mu(A_{i}\cap E) + 0 \times \mu(A^{c}\cap E) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\mu(A_{i}\cap E).$$

Next, consider Program 2. We have

$$\mathcal{J}_E(s;\mu_A) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mu_A(A_i \cap E) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mu(A_i \cap E).$$

Thus,  $\mathcal{I}_E^4(s^*; \mu) = \mathcal{J}_E(s; \mu_A).$ 

► EXERCISE 178 (6.1.9). Quickly prove the following "almost everywhere" modification of (S3) and (S4). As usual,  $s, t \in \mathfrak{S}$  and all sets are in  $\mathcal{F}$ .

a. If  $s = t \ \mu$ -a.e. on E, then  $\mathcal{I}_F^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_F^{\mathfrak{s}}(t)$  for every  $F \subseteq E$ .

b. If  $s \leq t \mu$ -a.e. on *E*, then  $\mathcal{I}_{F}^{s}(s) \leq \mathcal{I}_{F}^{s}(t)$  for every  $F \subseteq E$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $E_1 = \{ \omega \in E : s(\omega) = t(\omega) \}$ , and  $E_2 = E \setminus E_1$ . Then  $\mu(E_2) = 0$ . For an arbitrary  $F \subseteq E$ , define

$$F_1 = F \cap E_1$$
, and  $F_2 = F \cap E_2$ .

Then  $\mu(F_2) = 0$ . Observe that  $\mathcal{I}_{F_1}^s(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_1}^s(t)$  by (S3), and  $\mathcal{I}_{F_2}^s(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_2}^s(t) = 0$  by (S2)(a). It follows from (S7) that

$$\mathcal{I}_{F}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_{1}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) + \mathcal{I}_{F_{2}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_{1}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_{1}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) = \mathcal{I}_{F_{1}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) + \mathcal{I}_{F_{2}}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) = \mathcal{I}_{F}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t).$$

**(b)** Let  $E_1 = \{\omega \in E : s(\omega) \leq t(\omega)\}$ , and  $E_2 = E \setminus E_1$ ; then  $\mu(E_2) = 0$ . For an arbitrary  $F \subseteq E$ , define  $F_1 = F \cap E_1$  and  $F_2 = F \cap E_2$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_{F_1}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) \leq \mathcal{I}_{F_1}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{F_2}^{\mathfrak{s}}(s) = \mathcal{I}_{F_2}^{\mathfrak{s}}(t) = 0$ . By (S7) we get the result.  $\Box$ 

#### 6.2 STAGE TWO: NONNEGATIVE FUNCTIONS

► EXERCISE 179 (6.2.1). *Prove* 

a. (N3') If  $f = g \mu$ -a.e. on E, then  $\mathcal{I}_F^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_F^n(g)$  for any  $F \subseteq E$ .

b. (N4') If  $f \leq g \mu$  -a.e. on *E*, then  $\mathcal{I}_F^n(f) \leq \mathcal{I}_F^n(g)$  for any  $F \subseteq E$ .
- c. (N7') If  $f, f_1, f_2, \ldots \in \mathfrak{N}$  and  $f = \lim_n f_n \mu$ -a.e. on E, then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(f_n)$ .
- d. If  $f \leq M \mu$  -a.e. on E for some  $M \in [0, \infty]$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) \leq M\mu(E)$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $E_2 = \{\omega \in E : f(\omega) \neq g(\omega)\}$  and  $E_1 = E \setminus E_2$ . Let  $F_1 = F \cap E_1$ and  $F_2 = F \cap E_2$ . Then  $\mu(F_2) \leq \mu(E_2) = 0$ , i.e.,  $\mu(F_2) = 0$ . Thus,

$$\mathcal{I}_F^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_{F_1 \cup F_2}^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_{F_1}^n(f) + \mathcal{I}_{F_2}^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_{F_1}^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_{F_1}^n(g) = \mathcal{I}_F^n(g).$$

**(b)** Similar to (a) and so is omitted.

(c) Let  $E_2 = \{ \omega \in E : f(\omega) \neq \lim_n f_n(\omega) \}$  and  $E_1 = E \setminus E_2$ . Then  $\mu(E_2) = 0$ , and so

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}}^{n}(f) + \mathcal{I}_{E_{2}}^{n}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}}^{n}(f) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}}^{n}(f_{n}) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f_{n}).$$

(d) Let  $E_2 = \{ \omega \in E : f(\omega) > M \}$  and  $E_1 = E \setminus E_2$ . Then  $f \leq M$  on  $E_1$  and  $\mu(E_2) = 0$ . Thus,

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E_1}^n(f) \leqslant \mathcal{I}_{E_1}^n(M) = M\mu(E_1) = M\mu(E).$$

► EXERCISE 180 (6.2.2). It was claimed in (N5) that  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(cf) = c\mathcal{I}_E^n(f)$  for every  $c \in [0, \infty)$ . This result in fact holds in  $c = \infty$  as well:  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(\infty f) = \infty \mathcal{I}_E^n(f)$ . Therefore, (N5) holds for all  $c \in [0, \infty]$ . Similarly, we may allow the numbers  $c_1, \ldots, c_n$  to be in  $[0, \infty]$  in the statement (N8).

PROOF. If f = 0  $\mu$ -a.e. on E, then  $\infty f = 0$   $\mu$ -a.e. on E and so  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(\infty f) = \infty \mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = 0$ . So assume that there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $F \subseteq E$  and  $\mu(F) > 0$  such that f > 0 on F. Then  $\infty f = \infty$  on F. Thus,  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(\infty f) \ge \mathcal{I}_F^n(\infty) = \infty$ , and  $\infty \mathcal{I}_E^n(f) \ge \infty \mathcal{I}_F^n(f) = \infty$ ; that is,  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(\infty f) = \infty \mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \infty$ .

- ► EXERCISE 181 (6.2.3). This exercise concerns Fatou's Lemma.
- a. Let  $\{A_n\}$  denote a sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. Show that  $\mu(\liminf A_n) \leq \liminf \mu(A_n)$ by using Fatou's Lemma applied to the sequence of indicator functions  $\{\mathbb{I}_{A_n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ .
- b. Consider  $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . If  $s_n = n^2 \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/n]}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\mathcal{I}^n(\liminf s_n) = 0$ while  $\liminf \mathcal{I}^n(s_n) = \infty$ , hence strict inequality may hold in Fatou's Lemma.
- c. In (b), with  $E \in \mathcal{B}$ , the sequence  $\mathbb{1}_E, \mathbb{1} \mathbb{1}_E, \mathbb{1}_E, \mathbb{1} \mathbb{1}_E, \dots$  provides another example where strict inequality holds in Fatou's Lemma.
- d. It is not necessarily the case that  $\limsup \mathcal{I}_E^n(f_n) \leq \mathcal{I}_E^n(\limsup f_n)$  if  $\mu(E) = \infty$ . However, if  $\mu(E) < \infty$ , the inequality holds, hence we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\liminf f_{n}) \leq \liminf \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f_{n}) \leq \limsup \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f_{n}) \leq \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\limsup f_{n})$$

by putting everything together.

PROOF. (a) It is evident that  $\{\mathbb{I}_{A_n}\} \subseteq \mathfrak{S} \subseteq \mathfrak{N}$  and  $\liminf_n \mathbb{I}_{A_n} \in \mathfrak{N}$  since  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ . For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$g_n = \inf\{\mathbb{I}_{A_n}, \mathbb{I}_{A_{n+1}}, \ldots\}$$

Then the sequence  $\{g_n\}$  is nondecreasing and so  $\lim_n g_n$  exists. Thus,

$$\lim_{n} g_{n} = \sup_{n} g_{n} = \sup_{n} \inf_{m \ge n} \mathbb{1}_{A_{m}} = \liminf_{n} \mathbb{1}_{A_{n}},$$

and  $g_n \leq \mathbb{I}_{A_n}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Also note that  $\mathcal{I}^n(\mathbb{I}_{A_n}) = \mathcal{I}^s(\mathbb{I}_{A_n}) = \mu(A_n)$ , and which implies that

$$\mathcal{I}^{n}(\lim_{n} g_{n}) = \mathcal{I}^{n}(\liminf_{n} \mathbb{1}_{A_{n}}) = \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{\liminf_{n} A_{n}}) = \mu\left(\liminf_{n} A_{n}\right),$$

where the second equality is from Exercise 64 (p. 36). Invoking Lebesgue's Monotone Convergence Theorem (MCT), we have

$$\mu\left(\liminf_{n} A_{n}\right) = \mathcal{I}^{n}(\lim_{n} g_{n}) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}^{n}(g_{n}) = \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}^{n}(g_{n})$$
$$\leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{I}_{A_{n}})$$
$$= \liminf_{n} \mu(A_{n}).$$

**(b)** We first show that

$$\liminf_{n} s_n(\omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \omega \neq 0 \\ \infty & \text{if } \omega = 0. \end{cases}$$

Suppose that there exists  $\omega \neq 0$  such that  $\liminf_n s_n(\omega) = \alpha > 0$ . Then for an arbitrary  $\varepsilon \in (0, \alpha)$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $s_n(\omega) > \varepsilon$  for all  $n \geq N$ . However, when *n* is large enough,  $s_n(\omega) = 0$ . A contradiction. Thus,  $\liminf_n s_n = 0 \lambda$ -a. e. on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Therefore,  $\mathcal{I}^n(\liminf_n s_n) = 0$ . Nevertheless,  $\mathcal{I}^n(s_n) = n^2 \lambda[0, 1/n] = n$ , and so  $\liminf_n \mathcal{I}^n(s_n) = \lim_n n = \infty$ .

(c) Write  $1 - \mathbb{1}_E$  as  $\mathbb{1}_{E^c}$ . Then  $\liminf_n \{\mathbb{1}_E, \mathbb{1}_{E^c}, \ldots\} = 0$  and so

$$\mathcal{I}^n(\liminf\{\mathbb{1}_E,\mathbb{1}_{E^c},\ldots)\}=0.$$

However,  $\mathcal{I}^n(\mathbb{1}_E) = \lambda(E)$  and  $\mathcal{I}^n(\mathbb{1}_{E^c}) = \lambda(E^c)$  imply that

$$\liminf_{n} \left\{ \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{E}), \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{E^{c}}), \ldots \right\} = \min \left\{ \lambda(E), \lambda\left(E^{c}\right) \right\}.$$

(d) We first extend Fatou's Lemma: If there exists  $g \in L^1$  and  $f_n \ge g$  on E, then

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(\liminf_n f_n) \leq \liminf_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(f_n).$$

In this case, we have  $f_n - g \ge 0$  on E and

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\liminf_{n}(f_{n}-g)) \leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f_{n}-g)$$

by Fatou's Lemma. So

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\liminf_{n} f_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(g) \leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(g).$$

The result follows by cancelling  $\mathcal{I}_{F}^{n}(g)$ .

Now if  $f_n \leq g$ , then  $-f_n \geq -g \in L^1$ , and the extended Fatou's Lemma gives

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(\liminf_n(-f_n)) \leq \liminf_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(-f_n),$$

so that

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(-\liminf_n(-f_n)) \ge -\liminf_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(-f_n);$$

that is,  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(\limsup_n f_n) \ge \limsup_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(f_n)$ .

► EXERCISE 182 (6.2.4). Let  $\Omega$  denote an arbitrary nonempty set, and fix attention upon a particular  $\omega_0 \in \Omega$ . Let  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ , and define  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by writing  $\mu(A) = 1$  if  $\omega_0 \in A$  and  $\mu(A) = 0$  if  $\omega_0 \notin A$ .

- a.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  is a measure space.
- b. Every  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.
- c. Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = f(\omega_0) \mathbb{1}_E(\omega_0)$ .

**PROOF.** (a) It is evident that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field, so it suffices to show that  $\mu$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{F}$ . It is clear that  $\mu(A) \ge 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ . To see  $\mu$  is countably additive, let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a disjoint sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. If  $\omega_0 \notin \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , then  $\omega_0 \notin A_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; hence

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_n\right) = 0 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\mu(A_n).$$

Otherwise, if there exists  $A_n$  such that  $\omega_0 \in A_0$ , then  $\omega_0 \in \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$  and so

$$\mu\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_n\right) = 1 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\mu(A_n).$$

**(b)** Every  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is trivially  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable since  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ : for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}^*$ , we have  $f^{-1}(B) \in \mathcal{F}$ .

(c) If  $\omega_0 \notin E$ , then  $\mu(E) = \mathbb{1}_E(\omega_0) = 0$ ; thus,  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = f(\omega_0)\mathbb{1}_E(\omega_0) = 0$ . If  $\omega_0 \in E$ , then  $\mu(E) = \mathbb{1}_E(\omega_0) = 1$ . Hence,

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{\{\omega_{0}\}}^{n}(f) + \mathcal{I}_{E \setminus \{\omega_{0}\}}^{n}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{\{\omega_{0}\}}^{n}(f) = f(\omega_{0}).$$

► EXERCISE 183 (6.2.5). Let  $\Omega$  denote an uncountable set, and let  $\mathcal{F} = \{A \subseteq \Omega : A \text{ is amc or } A^c \text{ is amc} \}$ . Define  $\mu : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{R}$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  by writing  $\mu(A) = 0$  if A is amc and  $\mu(A) = 1$  if  $A^c$  is amc.

- a.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  is a measure space.
- b.  $f: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable iff there is  $c \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  [depending on f] with f = c $\mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .
- c. Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = c \cdot \mu(E)$ , where *c* is the constant such that  $f = c \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$  [as given in (b)].

PROOF. (a) (i)  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $\Omega^c = \emptyset$  is amc. (ii) If  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ , then either A is amc or  $A^c$  is amc. If A is amc, then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$  since  $(A^c)^c = A$  is amc; if  $A^c$  is amc, then  $A^c \in \mathcal{F}$ . (iii) Let  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ . Then either each  $A_n$  is amc or at least one  $A_n^c$  is amc. In the first case,  $\bigcup A_n \in \mathcal{F}$  since countable unions of amc sets is itself amc; in the second case, let us assume that  $A_1^c$  is amc. We have  $(\bigcup A_n)^c = \bigcap A_n^c \subseteq A_1^c$ , so  $(\bigcup A_n)^c$  is amc. It follows that  $\bigcup A_n \in \mathcal{F}$  as well.

**(b)** First suppose that  $f = c \ \mu$ -a.e. for some  $c \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ ; that is, there exists  $N \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\mu(N) = 0$  such that  $f(\omega) = c$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega \setminus N$ . By definition, N is amc; thus, every subset of N is in  $\mathcal{F}$ . With this observation, we see that f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.

Conversely, suppose that f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Let

$$C = \{t \in \overline{\mathbb{R}} : f^{-1}[-\infty, t] \text{ is amc} \}.$$

Note that  $f^{-1}(-\infty) \in \mathcal{F}$ . If  $[f^{-1}(-\infty)]^c = f^{-1}(-\infty, \infty]$  is amc, then  $f = -\infty$  $\mu$ -a.e.. So we suppose that  $-\infty \in C$ . Also, if  $-\infty < b < a$  with  $a \in C$ , then  $b \in C$  since  $f^{-1}[-\infty, b] \subseteq f^{-1}[-\infty, a]$ . Thus,  $C = \{-\infty\}$  or C is some type of unbounded interval containing  $-\infty$ .

- If  $C = \{-\infty\}$ , then for any  $t > -\infty$ , the set  $f^{-1}[-\infty, t]$  is not amc, and so is not in  $\mathcal{F}$ ; hence  $(f^{-1}[-\infty, t])^c = f^{-1}(t, \infty]$  is amc and is in  $\mathcal{F}$  since f is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. Hence,  $\mu(\{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) \neq -\infty\}) = 0$ ; that is,  $f = -\infty$   $\mu$ -a.e..
- If *C* is an interval containing  $-\infty$ , let  $c = \sup C$ , so that  $-\infty < c \le \infty$ . Let  $t_1 \le t_2 \le \cdots$  be such that  $t_n \to c$  and  $t_n < c$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $f^{-1}[-\infty, t_n]$  is amc for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus,

$$\bigcup_{n} f^{-1}[-\infty, t_n] = f^{-1}\left(\bigcup[-\infty, t_n]\right) = f^{-1}[-\infty, c)$$

is amc, i.e.,  $c \in C$ . If  $c = \infty$ , then  $\Omega = f^{-1}[-\infty, \infty]$  is amc; but  $\Omega$  is uncountable so we get a contradiction. Hence,  $-\infty < c < \infty$ . Now, for every d > c, the set  $f^{-1}[-\infty, d]$  is not amc; hence,  $f^{-1}(d, \infty]$  is amc. Let  $t_1 \ge t_2 \ge \cdots$  be such that  $t_n \to c$  and  $t_n > c$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $f^{-1}(t_n, \infty]$  is amc for each

 $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and so  $f^{-1}(c, \infty]$  is amc. In sum, the sets  $f^{-1}[-\infty, c)$  and  $f^{-1}(c, \infty]$  are both amc; thus,

$$\mu(\{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) \neq c\}) = \mu(f^{-1}[-\infty, c) \cup f^{-1}(c, \infty]) = 0;$$

that is,  $f = c \mu$  -a.e..

(c) Let  $N \in \mathcal{F}$  be the set such that  $\mu(N) = 0$  and  $f(\omega) = c$  on  $\Omega \setminus N$ . Let  $E_1 = E \cap N$  and  $E_2 = E \setminus E_1$ . Then  $\mu(E_1) = 0$  and

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E_{1}}^{n}(c) = c\mu(E_{1}) = c\mu(E).$$

► EXERCISE 184 (6.2.6). Let  $\Omega$  denote an arbitrary nonempty set, let  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , and let  $f : \Omega \to [0, \infty]$  be given. Write

$$\sum_{\omega \in A}^{*} f(\omega) = \sup \left\{ \sum_{\omega \in F} f(\omega) : F \subseteq A, F \text{ finite} \right\}.$$

- a. Suppose  $A = \{\omega_1, \dots, \omega_n\}$ . Then  $\sum_{\omega \in A}^* f(\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^n f(\omega_i)$ , hence the definition above is consistent with what we're used to in the finite case.
- b. Suppose  $A = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots\}$  [a countable set]. Then  $\sum_{\omega \in A}^* f(\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f(\omega_i)$ .

PROOF. (a) It is easy to see that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} f(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega \in A}^{*} f(\omega)$  since  $A \subseteq A$  and A is finite here. For the converse inclusion, observe that every  $F \subseteq A$  is finite; thus,  $\sum_{\omega \in F} f(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega \in A} f(\omega)$  since  $f(\omega) \geq 0$ . We thus have  $\sum_{\omega \in A}^{*} f(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega \in A} f(\omega)$ .

**(b)** Consider a sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  with  $A_n = \{\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n\}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $A_n \uparrow A$ . Also observe that for any finite set  $F \subseteq A$ , there exists  $A_n$  containing *F*. Thus,

$$\sum_{\omega \in A}^{*} f(\omega) = \sup \left\{ \sum_{\omega \in A_n} f(\omega) \right\} = \lim_{n} \sum_{\omega \in A_n} f(\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f(\omega_i). \qquad \Box$$

• EXERCISE 185 (6.2.7). Let  $\Omega$  denote a nonempty set, let  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ , and let  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be such that  $\mu(A) =$  the number of points in A when A is finite, and  $\mu(A) = \infty$  otherwise.

- a.  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  is a measure space. The measure  $\mu$  is called the counting measure since  $\mu$  "counts" the number of points in each  $\mathcal{F}$ -set.
- b. Every  $f: \Omega \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable.
- c. Given any  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ , we have  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \sum_{\omega \in E}^* f(\omega)$ .

**PROOF.** (a) and (b) are straightforward, so I just do (c). If  $f \in \mathfrak{S}$  and f > 0 only on a finite subset of *E*, then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \mathcal{I}_E^4(f) = \sum_{\omega \in E}^* f(\omega)$ .

Now let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$  and let  $F \subseteq E$  be finite. Then  $f \mathbb{1}_F \in \mathfrak{S}$  and f > 0 only on a finite subset of *F*; hence

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) \ge \mathcal{I}_E^n(f \mathbb{1}_F) = \mathcal{I}_F^n(f) = \sum_{\omega \in F}^* f(\omega) = \sum_{\omega \in F} f(\omega).$$

Since *F* is an arbitrary finite subset of *E*, we have  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) \ge \sum_{\omega \in E}^* f(\omega)$ . This gives one inequality.

If  $\sum_{\omega \in E}^{*} f(\omega) = \infty$ , the previous inequality forces the result, so we may assume that  $\sum_{\omega \in E}^{*} f(\omega) < \infty$ . For any  $s \in \mathfrak{S}_{f}$  we have

$$\sum_{\omega\in E}^* s(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega\in E}^* f(\omega) < \infty;$$

from this deduce that s > 0 only on a finite subset of *E*; hence, we may find finite  $F \subseteq E$  with s = 0 on  $E \smallsetminus F$ . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s) = \sum_{\omega \in E}^{*} s(\omega) = \sum_{\omega \in F}^{*} s(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega \in F}^{*} f(\omega) \leq \sum_{\omega \in E}^{*} f(\omega).$$

Since the above holds for any  $s \in \mathfrak{S}_f$ , it follows that

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) = \sup_{s \in \mathfrak{S}_f} \mathcal{I}_E^s(s) \leq \sum_{\omega \in E}^* f(\omega).$$

► EXERCISE 186 (6.2.12). Let  $\Omega$  denote a nonempty set, and let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\mu_n$  denote a measure with domain  $\mathcal{F}$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i$  denote the measure that assigns the value  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i(A)$  to each  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ .

a. Let  $s \in \mathfrak{S}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^s(s; \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathcal{I}_E^s(s; \mu_i)$ .

b. Let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f; \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mathcal{I}_E^n(f; \mu_i)$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $s = \sum_{j=1}^{m} c_j \mathbb{1}_{A_j} \in \mathfrak{S}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s;\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}) = \sum_{j=1}^{m}c_{j} \cdot \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}\left(A_{j}\cap E\right)\right] = \sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m}c_{i} \cdot \mu_{i}\left(A_{j}\cap E\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{s}(s;\mu_{i}).$$

**(b)** Let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ . By (MF18), there exists a nondecreasing sequence  $\{s_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $s_m \to f$ . Then by Lebesgue's Monotone Convergence Theorem,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f;\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}) &= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\lim_{m}s_{m};\sum_{i=1}^{n}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(\lim_{m}s_{m};\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}) = \lim_{m}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(s_{m};\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mu_{i}) \\ &= \lim_{m}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(s_{m};\mu_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n}\lim_{m}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{4}(s_{m};\mu_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f;\mu_{i}). \quad \Box \end{split}$$

► EXERCISE 187 (6.2.14). Keep  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  general. Suppose that  $\mathcal{F}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega$ , and let  $\mu_0$  denote the restriction of  $\mu$  to  $\mu_0$ . If a nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function f defined on  $\Omega$  also happens to be  $\mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable in addition, then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu) = \mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu_0)$  for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}_0$ .

PROOF. First consider the case of  $f = \mathbb{1}_E$  where  $E \in \mathcal{F}_0$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu) = \mu(E) = \mu_0(E) = \mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu_0)$ . Next, let  $f = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \mathbb{1}_{A_i} \in \mathfrak{S}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f;\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \cdot \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{A_{i}};\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \cdot \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{A_{i}};\mu_{0}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f;\mu_{0}).$$

Finally, let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ . Then there exists a nondecreasing sequence  $\{s_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathfrak{S}$  such that  $s_n \to f$ . Hence,

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu) = \mathcal{I}_E^n(\lim_n s_n;\mu) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(s_n;\mu) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^n(s_n;\mu_0) = \mathcal{I}_E^n(f;\mu_0). \quad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 188 (6.2.16, N17). Let f denote a nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}'/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function. We have the two equalities

$$\mathcal{I}^{n}(f \circ T; \mu) = \mathcal{I}^{n}(f; \mu \circ T^{-1})$$
(6.9)

and

$$\mathcal{I}^{n}_{T^{-1}(A')}(f \circ T; \mu) = \mathcal{I}^{n}_{A'}(f; \mu \circ T^{-1}) \quad \forall \ A' \in \mathcal{F}'.$$
(6.10)

PROOF. We have



• Let  $f = \mathbb{I}_{A'}$ , where  $A' \in \mathcal{F}'$ . Then  $f \circ T = \mathbb{I}_{T^{-1}(A')}$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{I}_{A'} \circ T; \mu) &= \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{I}_{T^{-1}(A')}; \mu) = \mu(T^{-1}(A')) = (\mu \circ T^{-1})(A') \\ &= \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{I}_{A'}; \mu \circ T^{-1}). \end{aligned}$$

• Let  $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{A'_i} \in \mathfrak{S}(\Omega', \mathcal{F}', \mu \circ T^{-1})$ . Then  $f \circ T = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A'_i)}$ . It follows from (N8) that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}^{n}(f \circ T; \mu) &= \mathcal{I}^{n}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A_{i}')}; \mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A_{i}')}; \mu) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \cdot \mathcal{I}^{n}(\mathbb{1}_{A_{i}'}; \mu \circ T^{-1}) \\ &= \mathcal{I}^{n}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \mathbb{1}_{A_{i}'}; \mu \circ T^{-1}) \\ &= \mathcal{I}^{n}(f; \mu \circ T^{-1}). \end{split}$$

• Let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}(\Omega', \mathcal{F}', \mu \circ T^{-1})$ . By (MF18), there exists a nondecreasing sequence  $\{s_n\} \subseteq \mathfrak{S}(\Omega', \mathcal{F}', \mu \circ T^{-1})$  such that  $s_n \to f$ . Thus,  $\{s_n \circ T\} \subseteq \mathfrak{S}(\Omega', \mathcal{F}', \mu \circ T^{-1})$  is a nondecreasing sequence and  $s_n \circ T \to f \circ T$ . It follows from MCT that

$$\mathcal{I}^{n}(f \circ T; \mu) = \mathcal{I}^{n}(\lim_{n} s_{n} \circ T; \mu) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}^{n}(s_{n} \circ T; \mu)$$
$$= \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}^{n}(s_{n}; \mu \circ T^{-1})$$
$$= \mathcal{I}^{n}(\lim_{n} s_{n}; \mu \circ T^{-1})$$
$$= \mathcal{I}^{n}(f; \mu \circ T^{-1}).$$

Replace *f* by  $f \mathbb{1}_{A'}$ . It suffices to show that

$$(f \mathbb{1}_{A'}) \circ T = (f \circ T) \mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A')}.$$

Note that  $\mathbb{1}_{A'}$  is defined on  $\Omega'$ , while  $\mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A')}$  is defined on  $\Omega$ . For an arbitrary  $\omega \in \Omega$ , we have

$$[(f \mathbb{1}_{A'}) \circ T](\omega) = f(T(\omega)) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{A'}(T(\omega)) = (f \circ T)(\omega) \cdot \mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A')}(\omega)$$
$$= [(f \circ T)\mathbb{1}_{T^{-1}(A')}](\omega). \qquad \Box$$

#### **6.3 STAGE THREE: GENERAL MEASURABLE FUNCTIONS**

► EXERCISE 189 (6.3.1). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  be such that  $\mu(E) < \infty$ , and let  $f \in \mathfrak{M}$  be such that f = 0 on  $E^c$  and  $m \leq f \leq M$  on E, where  $m, M \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite. Furthermore, we have  $m\mu(E) \leq \mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) \leq M\mu(E)$ .

PROOF. Let  $M' = \max\{|M|, |m|\}$ . Then  $f^+, f^- \leq M'$  on *E*. It follows that

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f^-), \mathcal{I}_E^n(f^+) \leq \mathcal{I}_E^n(M') = M'\mu(E) < \infty;$$

hence,  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f)$  eaif. The second claim follows (G6) since that  $m, M \in \mathfrak{M}(E)$ .  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 190 (6.3.2). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and let  $f \in \mathfrak{M}$  be such that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite. There exists a subset  $F \subseteq E$  such that  $\mu(F) < \infty$  and  $|\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) - \mathcal{I}_F^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)| < \varepsilon$ .

**PROOF.** First let  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ . We first show that for all x > 0,

$$\mu(\{\omega \in E : f(\omega) > x\}) < \infty.$$

Suppose there exists x > 0 such that  $\mu(\{\omega \in E : f(\omega) > x\}) = \infty$ . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_E^n(f) \ge \mathcal{I}_{\{\omega \in E: f(\omega) > x\}}^n(x \mathbb{1}_E) = x\mu(\{\omega \in E: f(\omega) > x\}) = \infty.$$

A contradiction. For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$E_n = \{ \omega \in E : f(\omega) \ge 1/n \}.$$

Then for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $E_n \uparrow \{ \omega \in E : f(\omega) \ge 0 \} = E$  and  $\mu(E_n) < \infty$ . It follows that

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{n}}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{\lim_{n \to \infty} E_{n}}^{\mathfrak{n}}(f) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{\mathfrak{n}}(f) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f).$$

Thus, there exists  $E_N$  such that  $|\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f) - \mathcal{I}_{E_N}^{\mathscr{G}}(f)| < \varepsilon$ . Let  $F = E_N$  and we are done.

Next let  $f \in \mathfrak{M}$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) < \infty$ , we know that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^+) < \infty$  and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^-) < \infty$ . By the previous argument, there exist  $F', F'' \subseteq E$  such that

$$|\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^+) - \mathcal{I}_{F'}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^+)| < \varepsilon/2 \quad \text{and} \quad |\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^-) - \mathcal{I}_{F''}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f^-)| < \varepsilon/2.$$

Let  $F = F' \cup F'$ . We get

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f) - \mathcal{I}_{F}^{g}(f)| &= |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{+}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{-}) - \mathcal{I}_{F}^{g}(f^{+}) + \mathcal{I}_{F}^{g}(f^{-})| \\ &\leq |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{+}) - \mathcal{I}_{F}^{g}(f^{+})| + |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{-}) - \mathcal{I}_{F}^{g}(f^{-})| \\ &\leq |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{+}) - \mathcal{I}_{F'}^{g}(f^{+})| + |\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f^{-}) - \mathcal{I}_{F''}^{g}(f^{-})| \\ &< \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

► EXERCISE 191 (6.3.3). f is such that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite iff for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there are functions g and h in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that  $h \leq f \leq g$  on E and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g-h) < \varepsilon$ .

**PROOF.** Suppose first that  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f)$  eaif. Then both  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f^{+})$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{n}(f^{-})$  are finite. Given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , let  $c = \varepsilon/4\mu(E)$ . Let

$$h = f - c$$
 and  $g = f + c$ .

Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{F}^{\mathscr{G}}(g-h) = \mathcal{I}_{F}^{\mathscr{G}}(\varepsilon/2\mu(E)) = \varepsilon/2 < \varepsilon$$

Now suppose that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist  $g, h \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that  $h \leq f \leq g$ on E and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g-h) < \varepsilon$ . Since  $h \leq g$ , we have  $g - h \in \mathfrak{N}$ , and so  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g-h) =$  $\mathcal{I}_E^n(g-h) = 0$ . Then g - h = 0  $\mu$ -a.e. on E, and so g and h are finite and g = h  $\mu$ -a.e. on *E*, and so *f* is finite  $\mu$ -a.e. on *E*. This proves that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathcal{G}}(f)$  eaif on *E*.

► EXERCISE 192 (6.3.4). Let  $f, f_1, f_2, ...$  denote a sequence of nonnegative functions in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , define  $\nu_n(E) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f_n; \mu)$  and  $\nu(E) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f; \mu)$ . Furthermore, assume that  $\nu(\Omega), \nu_1(\Omega), \nu_2(\Omega), ...$  are finite and  $f_n \to f \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ . Then

$$\sup\{|\nu(E) - \nu_n(E)| : E \in \mathcal{F}\} \leq \mathcal{I}^{\mathcal{G}}(|f_n - f|; \mu) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

**PROOF.** Since  $f, f_1, f_2, \ldots \in \mathfrak{N}$  and  $f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$  on  $\Omega$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \sup_{E \in \mathcal{F}} |\nu(E) - \nu_n(E)| &= \sup_{E \in \mathcal{F}} \left| \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f;\mu) - \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f_n;\mu) \right| \\ &= \sup_{E \in \mathcal{F}} \left| \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f - f_n;\mu) \right| \\ &\leqslant \sup_{E \in \mathcal{F}} \left| \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(|f - f_n|;\mu) \right| \\ &\leqslant \mathcal{I}^{\mathscr{G}}(|f_n - f|;\mu) \\ &\to 0. \end{split}$$

► EXERCISE 193 (6.3.5). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu) = (\mathbb{R}^k, \mathcal{B}^k, \lambda_k)$  with  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , and let  $f \in \mathfrak{M}$  be such that  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite.

a. Suppose that  $\{f_n\}$  is a sequence of functions in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that

$$f_n(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} f(\mathbf{x}) & \text{if } \mathbf{x} \text{ is such that } |f(\mathbf{x})| \leq n \text{ and } \|\mathbf{x}\| \leq n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n)$  exists and equals  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_n f_n)$ .

b. Reset everything in (a), and this time let  $f_n(x) = f(x) \exp(-||x||^2/n)$  for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Since  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  eaif,  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(|f|)$  is finite by (G7). It is clear that  $|f_n| \leq |f|$  and  $f_n \to f$  (see Figure 6.1), all the claims follow from DCT.

**(b)** Observe that  $f_n \to f$  (see Figure 6.2).

► EXERCISE 194 (6.3.6). Suppose that  $\mu(\Omega) < \infty$ ,  $\{f_n\}$  is a sequence of functions in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that there exists  $M \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $|f_n| \leq M$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $f \in \mathfrak{M}$  be such that  $f_n \to f$  uniformly on E. Then  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$ .

PROOF.  $\mu(\Omega) < \infty$  and  $M \in \mathbb{R}_+$  implies that  $\mathcal{I}_{\Omega}^{\mathscr{G}}(M) = M\mu(\Omega) < \infty$ . Then for each  $E \in \mathscr{F}$ , we have  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(M) < \infty$ . The claim then follows from the DCT since uniform convergence implies pointwise convergence:  $\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n = f$ .  $\Box$ 



Figure 6.2.  $f_n \rightarrow f$ 

► EXERCISE 195 (6.3.7). Let  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a nondecreasing sequence of functions in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n)$  exists and is finite for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) < \infty$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_n f_n)$  exists, is finite, and equals  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n)$ . This is one form of Beppo Levi's Theorem.

PROOF. Let  $g_n = f_n - f_1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathfrak{N}$ , is nondecreasing,  $g_n \uparrow \lim_n f_n - f_1$ , and  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g_n) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n - f_1) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) - \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_1) = \sup_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) - \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_1) < \infty$ . Then by MCT,  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_n g_n) = \lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g_n)$ . Since

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_{n} g_{n}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_{n} f_{n} - f_{1}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_{n} f_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{1}),$$
$$\lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(g_{n}) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n} - f_{1}) = \lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{1}),$$

and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{g}(f_1) < \infty,$  we get the Beppo Levi's Theorem.

► EXERCISE 196 (6.3.8). Let  $\{f_n\}$ ,  $\{g_n\}$ , and  $\{h_n\}$  denote sequences of functions in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that  $f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ ,  $g_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} g$ , and  $h_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} h$  for some functions  $f, g, h \in \mathfrak{M}$ .

Suppose for any  $p \in \{g, g_1, g_2, ..., h, h_1, h_2, ...\}$  that  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(p)$  exists and is finite. Furthermore, suppose that  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g_n) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(g)$  and  $\lim_n \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(h_n) = \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(h)$ . Also, assume that  $g_n \leq f_n \leq h_n$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

- a.  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f_{n})$  exists and is finite for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f)$  exists and is finite, and  $\lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f_{n}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f)$ .
- b. DCT may be obtained from (a).

PROOF. (a) Since  $f_n \leq h_n$  and  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(h_n) < \infty$ , we have  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) \leq \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(h_n) < \infty$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; that is,  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n)$  exists and is finite for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Since  $f_n \leq h_n$  for all *n*, we get  $\lim_n f_n \leq \lim_n h_n$ , i.e.,  $f \leq h$ ; since  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(h) < \infty$ , we have  $\mathcal{I}_E^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite.

Since  $f_n \leq h_n$  for all *n*, we have  $h_n - f_n \geq 0$   $\mu$  -a. e.. Fatou's Lemma yields

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(h) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(h - f) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\lim_{n}(h_{n} - f_{n}))$$

$$= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\liminf_{n}(h_{n} - f_{n}))$$

$$\leq \liminf_{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(h_{n} - f_{n})$$

$$= \liminf_{n}\left(\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(h_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n})\right)$$

$$= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(h) + \liminf_{n}\left(-\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n})\right);$$

that is,  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f) \ge \limsup \mathcal{I}_{E}^{g}(f_{n})$ .

Finally, observe that  $g_n \leq f_n$  yields  $f_n - g_n \geq 0$   $\mu$  -a.e.. Applying Fatou's Lemma once again, we obtain

$$\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(g) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f - g) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(\lim_{n}(f_{n} - g_{n}))$$
$$= \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(\liminf_{n}(f_{n} - g_{n}))$$
$$\leq \liminf_{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f_{n} - g_{n})$$
$$= \liminf_{n}\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f_{n}) - \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(g);$$

that is,  $\mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f_{n}) \leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f_{n})$ . We thus get  $\lim_{n} \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f_{n}) = \mathcal{I}_{E}^{\mathscr{G}}(f)$ . **(b)** Observe that if  $|f| \leq g$ , then  $-g \leq f \leq g$ . By (a) we get DCT.

► EXERCISE 197 (6.3.12). Suppose that  $\mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists and is finite, where  $\{E_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a disjoint sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. Then  $\mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$ , and the convergence of the series is absolute.

PROOF. Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f)$  eaif, (G1-b) implies that each of  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f)$  eaif. Therefore,  $\mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f^+), \mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f^-), \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f^+), \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathcal{G}}(f^-) < \infty$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{g} E_{n}}^{g}(f) &= \mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{g} E_{n}}^{g}(f^{+}) - \mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{g} E_{n}}^{g}(f^{-}) \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{n}(f^{+}) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{n}(f^{-}) \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{n}(f^{+}) - \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{n}(f^{-}) \right] \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{E_{n}}^{g}(f). \end{split}$$

We now show that  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)|$  converges. Since  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists (and is finite), by (G7) we have  $|\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)| \leq \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(|f|)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ; since  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  eaif for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we know that  $\mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(|f|)$  eaif for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left| \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) \right| \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(|f|) = \mathcal{I}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}^{\mathfrak{g}}(|f|) < \infty$$

since  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n}(f)$  eaif.

► EXERCISE 198 (6.3.14). Suppose that  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of elements of  $\mathfrak{N}$  converging to some  $f \in \mathfrak{N}$ . Furthermore, assume that there is  $0 \leq M < \infty$  such that  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_n) \leq M$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)$  exists, is finite, and is no more than M.

**PROOF.** Let  $f_n \to f$ . Then  $\lim_n f_n = \liminf_n f_n$ . By Fatou's Lemma,

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f) = \mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(\liminf_{n} f_{n}) \leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n}) \leq \limsup_{n} \mathcal{I}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f_{n}) \leq M. \qquad \Box$$

#### 6.4 STAGE FOUR: ALMOST EVERYWHERE DEFINED FUNCTIONS

► EXERCISE 199 (6.4.1). **(L10)** If  $f \in L^1(E)$  and  $|g| \leq f \mu$ -a.e. on E, then  $g \in L^1(E)$ . Also, any f that is bounded  $\mu$ -a.e. on a set E with  $\mu(E) < \infty$  and is zero  $\mu$ -a.e. on  $E^c$  is in  $L^1(E)$ .

#### **(L16)** We have the following, where $A' \in \mathcal{F}'$ :

- a. If  $\varphi \ge 0$ , then  $\int_{f^{-1}(A')} \varphi \circ f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{A'} \varphi \, \mathrm{d} (\mu \circ f^{-1})$ .
- b. For general  $\varphi$ ,  $\int_{f^{-1}(A')} \varphi \circ f \, d\mu$  exists and is finite iff  $\int_{A'} \varphi \, d(\mu \circ f^{-1})$  exists and is finite, and in this case equality obtains.

PROOF. We first prove (L10).  $f \in L^1(E) \iff \mathcal{I}_E^{\mathscr{G}}(f^*) < \infty$ ; since  $|g| \leq f \mu$ -a. e., we have  $g^{*+} \leq f^* \mu$ -a. e. and  $g^{*-} \leq f^* \mu$ -a. e.. Then the conclusion follows (G9).

### INTEGRALS RELATIVE TO LEBESGUE MEASURE

#### 7.1 Semicontinuity

- EXERCISE 200 (7.1.1). (SC4b) If  $f(x) = -\infty$ , then f is USC at x iff  $\lim_{y\to x} f(y) = -\infty$ .
- **(SC7b)**  $\overline{f}$  is USC, and is the minimal USC function  $\geq f$ .
- **(SC9)** Let A denote a generic nonempty index set. For each  $\alpha \in A$ , suppose that  $f_{\alpha}$  is a function from  $\mathbb{R}^k$  into  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ . We have the following:
- a. If  $f_{\alpha}$  is LSC for each  $\alpha \in A$ , then  $\sup_{\alpha \in A} f_{\alpha}$  is LSC.
- b. If  $f_{\alpha}$  is USC for each  $\alpha \in A$ , then  $\inf_{\alpha \in A} f_{\alpha}$  is USC.
- **PROOF.** (SC4b) Assume *f* is USC at *x*. Pick  $t > f(x) = -\infty$ . Then there is  $\delta > 0$  such that f(y) < t for each  $y \in B(x, \delta)$ . Since *t* is arbitrary, we have  $\lim_{y\to x} f(y) = -\infty$ . Conversely, assume that  $\lim_{y\to x} f(y) = -\infty$  and pick any  $t > f(x) = -\infty$ . Then there is  $\delta > 0$  such that f(y) < t for each  $y \in B(x, \delta)$ . Since *t* is generic, *f* is USC at *x* by definition.
- **(SC7b)** We show that  $\inf_{\delta>0} \sup_{y \in B(x,\delta)} \overline{f}(y) \leq \overline{f}(x)$  for each x; then  $\overline{f}$  is USC by (SC6). Suppose there is x so that the preceding inequality fails, then there exists t such that  $\inf_{\delta>0} \sup_{y \in B(x,\delta)} \overline{f}(y) > t > \overline{f}(x)$ . It follows that  $\sup_{y \in B(x,\delta)} \overline{f}(y) > t$  for any  $\delta > 0$ , and therefore, there exists  $y \in B(x,\delta)$  so that  $\overline{f}(y) > t$  for any  $B(x,\delta)$ . Now consider an open ball of y,  $B(y,r) \subseteq B(x,\delta)$ . We have

$$\bar{f}(\mathbf{y}) = \inf_{\delta' > 0} \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in B(\mathbf{y}, \delta')} f(\mathbf{z}) \leq \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in B(\mathbf{y}, r)} f(\mathbf{z}) \leq \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in B(\mathbf{x}, \delta)} f(\mathbf{z}),$$

that is, for any  $B(x, \delta)$ , we have  $\sup_{z \in B(x, \delta)} f(z) \ge \overline{f}(y) > t$ . But this implies that

$$\overline{f}(\mathbf{x}) = \inf_{\delta > 0} \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in B(\mathbf{x}, \delta)} f(\mathbf{z}) > t.$$

A contradiction.

With this outcome, we can show that *f* is LSC. Take any  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_f$ . Then

$$\overline{-f}(\mathbf{x}) = \inf_{\delta>0} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in B(\mathbf{x},\delta)} \left(-f\right)(\mathbf{y}) = -\sup_{\delta>0} \inf_{\mathbf{y}\in B(\mathbf{x},\delta)} f(\mathbf{y}) = -\underline{f}(\mathbf{x}).$$

Since  $\overline{-f}$  is USC,  $-(\overline{-f})$  is LSC, that is,  $\underline{f} = -(-\underline{f}) = -(\overline{-f})$  is LSC.

**(SC9a)** Take any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $t < \sup_{\alpha \in A} f_\alpha(x)$ . Then there exists  $\alpha' \in A$  such that  $f_{\alpha'}(x) > t$ ; since  $f_{\alpha'}$  is LSC, there is  $B(x, \delta)$  such that  $f_{\alpha'}(y) > t$  for all  $y \in B(x, \delta)$ . Since  $\sup_{\alpha \in A} f_\alpha(y) \ge f_{\alpha'}(y)$ , we know that  $\sup_{\alpha \in A} f_\alpha$  is LSC.

**(SC9b)**  $f_{\alpha}$  is USC implies that  $-f_{\alpha}$  is LSC; then  $\sup_{\alpha \in A} (-f_{\alpha}) = -\inf_{\alpha \in A} f_{\alpha}$  is LSC. Hence,  $\inf_{\alpha \in A} f_{\alpha}$  is USC.

- ► EXERCISE 201 (7.1.2). Let  $E \subset \overline{\mathbb{R}}^k$ .
- a. E is open iff  $\mathbb{1}_E$  is LSC.
- b. *E* is closed iff  $\mathbb{1}_E$  is USC.
- c. We have  $\mathbb{1}_E = \mathbb{1}_{E^{\circ}}$  and  $\overline{\mathbb{1}_E} = \mathbb{1}_{\overline{E}}$ .

Proof.

# 8

#### THE $L^P$ SPACES

#### 8.1 $L^p$ Space: The Case $1 \le p < +\infty$

► EXERCISE 202 (8.1.1). *Pick*  $\mathfrak{A}, \mathfrak{B} \in \mathfrak{L}^p$ . *Then*  $\mathfrak{A} + \mathfrak{B} \in \mathfrak{L}^p$  and  $||\mathfrak{A} + \mathfrak{B}||_p \leq ||\mathfrak{A}||_p + ||\mathfrak{B}||_p$ .

PROOF. Let  $h \in \mathfrak{A} + \mathfrak{B}$ , so that h = f + g for some  $f \in \mathfrak{A}$  and  $g \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Now

$$\int |h|^p = \left(\int |f+g|^p\right)^{p/p} \leq \left[\left(\int |f|^p\right)^{1/p} + \left(\int |g|^p\right)^{1/p}\right]^p < +\infty$$

by Minkowski's Inequality, and hence  $\mathfrak{A} + \mathfrak{B} \in \mathfrak{L}^p$ . The above display also implies that

$$\|\mathfrak{A}+\mathfrak{B}\|_p^p \leq \left(\|\mathfrak{A}\|_p+\|\mathfrak{B}\|_p\right)^p,$$

i.e.,  $\|\mathfrak{A} + \mathfrak{B}\|_p \leq \|\mathfrak{A}\|_p + \|\mathfrak{B}\|_p$ .

► EXERCISE 203 (8.1.2). Prove the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\left|\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_k b_k\right| \leqslant \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{k} a_k^2} \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{n} b_k^2}.$$

PROOF. Let p = p' = 2; then Hölder's Inequality becomes

$$\left|\int fg\right| \leq \|f\|_2 \cdot \|g\|_2. \tag{8.1}$$

Let  $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \dots, \omega_n\}$ ,  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ ,  $\mu$  be the counting measure,  $f(\omega_i) = a_i$ , and  $g(\omega_i) = b_i$ . Then  $|\int fg| = |\sum_{\omega_i \in \Omega} f(\omega_i) g(\omega_i)| = |\sum_{k=1}^n a_k b_k|$ ,

$$||f||_{2} = \left(\int |f|^{2}\right)^{1/2} = \left(\sum_{\omega_{i} \in \Omega} |f(\omega_{i})|^{2}\right)^{1/2} = \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k}^{2}},$$

and similarly for  $||g||_2$ . Put these into (8.1) and we get the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. See Shirali and Vasudeva (2006, Theorem 1.1.4) for a direct proof.

► EXERCISE 204 (8.1.3). Let  $1 < p_1, ..., p_n < +\infty$  be such that  $1/p_1 + \cdots + 1/p_n = 1$ , and pick functions  $f_1 \in L^{p_1}, ..., f_n \in L^{p_n}$ . We wish to generalize Hölder's Inequality by showing that  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i \in L^1$  and  $|\int \prod_{i=1}^n f_i| \leq \prod_{i=1}^n ||f_i||_{p_i}$ .

- a. Show first that  $a_1 \cdots a_n \leq a_1^{p_1}/p_1 + \cdots + a_n^{p_n}/p_n$  by generalizing the calculus result given in the section. [Here  $0 \leq a_1, \ldots, a_n < +\infty$ .]
- b. If  $||f_1||_{p_1} = 0$  or ... or  $||f_n||_{p_n} = 0$ , the claim is trivial.
- c. Use (a) to prove the claim when  $||f_1||_{p_1} = \cdots = ||f_n||_{p_n} = 1$ .
- d. Prove the claim when  $||f_1||_{p_1}, \ldots, ||f_n||_{p_n}$  are positive.

**PROOF.** (a) This is the *arithmetic mean-geometric mean inequality*, or AM-GM inequality, for short. Since ln is concave, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} \ln x_i \leq \ln \left( \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_i} x_i \right)$$

i.e.,

$$\ln\left(\prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{1/p_i}\right) \leq \ln\left(\sum_{i=1}^n \frac{x_i}{p_i}\right) \iff \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{1/p_i} \leq \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{x_i}{p_i}.$$

Let  $x_i^{1/p_i} = a_i$ , then  $x_i = a_i^{p_i}$  and we have the desired result.

**(b)** Let  $||f_i||_{p_i} = 0$ ; then  $f_i = 0 \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ . But then  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i = 0 \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ , hence  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i \in L^1$  and the desired inequality in this case is actually the trivial equation 0 = 0.

(c) If  $||f_1||_{p_1} = \cdots = ||f_n||_{p_n} = 1$ , observe that

$$\left|\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\omega)\right| = \prod_{i=1}^{n} |f_{i}(\omega)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{i}} |f_{i}(\omega)|^{p_{i}} \quad \forall \ \omega \in \Omega,$$

by the Am-GM inequality. Therefore,

$$\int \left| \prod_{i=1}^{n} f_{i} \right| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{i}} \int |f_{i}|^{p_{i}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{i}} ||f_{i}||_{p_{i}} = 1.$$

This shows that  $\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_i \in L^1$ .

(d) Define  $f_i^* = f_i / || f_i ||_{p_i}$  for any i = 1, ..., n. We have

$$\left(\int |f_i^*|^{p_i}\right)^{1/p_i} = \left(\int |f_i/\|f_i\|_{p_i}|^{p_i}\right)^{1/p_i} = \left(\frac{1}{\|f_i\|_{p_i}^{p_i}}\int |f_i|^{p_i}\right)^{1/p_i} = 1,$$

which shows that  $f_i^* \in L^{p_i}$  and  $||f_i^*||_{p_i} = 1$ . By (c),  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i^* \in L^1$  and  $\int |\prod_{i=1}^n f_i^*| \leq 1$ . Since  $\prod_{i=1}^n f_i = (\prod_{i=1}^n ||f_i||_{p_i}) (\prod_{i=1}^n f_i^*)$ , we have

$$\int \left| \prod_{i=1}^n f_i \right| = \left( \prod_{i=1}^n \|f_i\|_{p_i} \right) \int \left| \prod_{i=1}^n f_i^* \right| \leq \prod_{i=1}^n \|f_i\|_{p_i} < +\infty,$$

giving  $\prod_{i=1}^{n} f_i \in L^1$ , and

$$\left|\int\prod_{i=1}^{n}f_{i}\right| \leq \int\left|\prod_{i=1}^{n}f_{i}\right| = \left\|\prod_{i=1}^{n}f_{i}\right\|_{1} \leq \prod_{i=1}^{n}\|f_{i}\|_{p_{i}}.$$

► EXERCISE 205 (8.1.4). We have equality in Hölder's Inequality iff there are nonnegative numbers A and B, not both zero, with  $A|f|^p = B|g|^{p'} \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. We have equality in Hölder's Inequality iff

$$\frac{\|f\|}{\|f\|_p} \cdot \frac{\|g\|}{\|g\|_{p'}} = \frac{1}{p} \frac{\|f\|^p}{\|f\|_p^p} + \frac{1}{p'} \frac{\|g\|^{p'}}{\|g\|_{p'}^{p'}} \quad \mu \text{-a.e. on } \Omega,$$

which holds iff the AM-GM holds equality, that is,

$$\frac{\|f\|_p^p}{\|f\|_p^p} = \frac{\|g\|_{p'}^{p'}}{\|g\|_{p'}^{p'}} \quad \mu\text{-a.e. on } \Omega.$$

► EXERCISE 206 (8.1.5). Given  $f \in L^p$   $[1 , there is <math>g \in L^{p'}$  with  $||g||_{p'} = 1$  and  $\int fg = ||f||_p$ .

PROOF. Let  $g = (f / || f ||_p)^{p-1}$ . Then

$$\int |g|^{p'} = \int \left| \left( \frac{f}{\|f\|_p} \right)^{p-1} \right|^p = \int \left| \frac{f}{\|f\|_p} \right|^p = \frac{1}{\|f\|_p^p} \int |f|^p = \frac{\|f\|_p^p}{\|f\|_p^p} = 1,$$

i.e.,  $||g||_{p'} = 1$ . We also have

$$\int |fg| = \int \frac{|f|^p}{\|f\|_p^{p-1}} = \|f\|_p.$$

► EXERCISE 207 (8.1.6). We now explore conditions for equality in Minkowski's Inequality. Let  $f, g \in L^p$ .

- a. When p = 1,  $||f + g||_p = ||f||_p + ||g||_p$  iff there exists positive  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ measurable h > 0 defined on  $\Omega$  with  $fh = g \mu$ -a.e. on  $\{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega)g(\omega) \neq 0\}$ .
- b. For 1 , equality obtains iff there are nonnegative real numbers*A*and*B* $, not both zero, such that <math>Af = Bg \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. (a) When p = 1, we have

$$\begin{split} \|f + g\|_{1} &= \|f\|_{1} + \|g\|_{1} \iff \int |f + g| = \int |f| + \int |g| \\ \iff \int \left(|f + g| - |f| - |g|\right) = 0 \\ \iff |f + g| = |f| + |g| \quad \mu \text{-a. e.} \\ \iff \exists \mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^{*} \text{-measurable } h > 0 \text{ defined on } \Omega \\ \text{ with } fh = g \ \mu \text{-a. e. on } [f(\omega)g(\omega) \neq 0]. \end{split}$$

**(b)** When 1 , we have

$$\begin{split} \|f + g\|_{p}^{p} &= \int |f + g|^{p} \\ &= \int |f + g| \cdot |f + g|^{p-1} \\ &\stackrel{*}{\leq} \int |f| \cdot |f + g|^{p-1} + \int |g| \cdot |f + g|^{p-1} \\ &\stackrel{**}{\leq} \|f\|_{p} \cdot \||f + g|^{p-1}\|_{p'} + \|g\|_{p} \cdot \||f + g|^{p-1}\|_{p'} \\ &= \left(\|f\|_{p} + \|g\|_{p}\right) \|f + g\|_{p}^{p-1}. \end{split}$$

Hence, the Minkowski's Inequality holds with equality iff (\*) and (\*\*) hold with equality. The result follows from Exercise 205 that (\*\*) immediately. □

► EXERCISE 208 (8.1.7). Let  $1 \le p, q, r < +\infty$  be such that 1/r = 1/p + 1/q. Let  $f \in L^p$  and  $g \in L^q$ . Then  $fg \in L^r$  and  $||fg||_r \le ||f||_p ||g||_q$ .

PROOF. Let p' = p/r and q' = q/r. Then 1/p' + 1/q' = r/p + r/q = 1. Let  $f^* = f^r$  and  $g^* = g^r$ . Then

$$\int |f^*|^{p'} = \int |f^r|^{p/r} = \int |f|^p < +\infty,$$

and

$$\int |g^*|^{q'} = \int |g^r|^{q/r} = \int |g|^q < +\infty,$$

i.e.,  $f^* \in L^{p'}$  and  $g^* \in L^{q'}$ . By the AM-GM inequality, for any  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,

$$\left| f^{*}(\omega)g^{*}(\omega) \right| = \left| f^{*}(\omega) \right| \cdot \left| g^{*}(\omega) \right| \leq \frac{1}{p'} |f^{*}(\omega)|^{p'} + \frac{1}{q'} |g^{*}(\omega)|^{q'}.$$

Integrate the left and right sides of the above display, obtaining

$$\int |fg|^r = \int |f^*g^*| \leq \frac{1}{p'} \int |f^*|^{p'} + \frac{1}{q'} \int |g^*|^{q'} < +\infty,$$

that is,  $fg \in L^r$  and  $f^*g^* \in L^1$ . Then by Hölder's Inequality, we have

$$||f^*g^*||_1 \leq ||f^*||_{p'} ||g^*||_{q'};$$

therefore,

$$\begin{split} \int |fg|^{r} &= \int |f^{*}g^{*}| \leq \left( \int |f^{*}|^{p'} \right)^{1/p'} \left( \int |g^{*}|^{q'} \right)^{1/q'} \\ &= \left[ \left( \int |f|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \left( \int |g|^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right]^{r} \\ &= \left( \|f\|_{p} \|g\|_{q} \right)^{r}; \end{split}$$

that is,  $||fg||_r \leq ||f||_p ||g||_q$ .

► EXERCISE 209 (8.1.8). If  $1 \le p < +\infty$ , Minkowski's Inequality gives  $\left| \|f\|_p - \|g\|_p \right| \le \|f - g\|_p$  for every  $f, g \in L^p$ .

**PROOF.** Write f = (f - g) + g. We first show that  $f - g \in L^p$  when  $f, g \in L^p$ .

$$\int |f-g|^p \leq \int |f|^p + \int |g|^p < +\infty.$$

Then by the Minkowski's Inequality, we have

$$||f||_p = ||(f-g) + g||_p \le ||f-g||_p + ||g||_p.$$

Rearrange the above display and we get the desired result.

#### **8.2 THE RIESZ-FISCHER THEOREM**

- EXERCISE 210 (8.2.1). Return to the formal definition of  $L^p$ .
- a. Write out the formal definition of convergence in  $L^p$ .
- b. State and prove the formal version of the Riesz-Fischer Theorem.

PROOF. (a) Let  $\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{F}_1, \mathfrak{F}_2, \ldots \in L^p$ .  $\{\mathfrak{F}_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to  $\mathfrak{F}$  in  $L^p$ ,  $\mathfrak{F}_n \xrightarrow{L^p} \mathfrak{F}$ , if and only if  $\lim_n \|\mathfrak{F}_n - \mathfrak{F}\|_p = 0$ .

(b) Straightforward.

► EXERCISE 211 (8.2.2). Let  $(X, \rho)$  denote a generic metric space. Let  $\mathcal{C}_b(X)$  denote the collection of continuous real-valued bounded functions on *X*. For  $f \in \mathcal{C}_b(X)$ , write  $||f|| = \sup_{x \in X} |f(x)|$ , the usual supremum norm. Then  $\mathcal{C}_b(X)$  is a Banach space.

**PROOF.** Let  $\{f_n\}$  be a Cauchy sequence in  $\mathcal{C}_b(X)$ . Then for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $N_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for all  $n, m \ge N_{\varepsilon}$ , we have

$$||f_n - f_m|| = \sup_{x \in X} |f_n(x) - f_m(x)| < \varepsilon.$$

Therefore, for every  $x \in X$ , we get  $|f_n(x) - f_m(x)| < \varepsilon$  for all  $n, m \ge N_{\varepsilon}$ ; that is,  $\{f_k(x)\}$  is Cauchy in  $\mathbb{R}$ . The completeness of  $\mathbb{R}$  yields

$$f_k(x) \to f(x),$$

for some  $f(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ . Now fix  $n \ge N_{\varepsilon}$ . Since  $|\cdot|$  is continuous, we get

$$|f_n(x) - f(x)| = \lim_{m \to \infty} |f_n(x) - f_m(x)| \le \varepsilon.$$

Hence, for every  $n \ge N_{\varepsilon}$ , we have

$$||f - f_n|| = \sup_{x \in X} |f_n(x) - f(x)| \le \varepsilon$$

What has been just shown is that  $||f - f_n|| \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Note that this implies that  $f_n \to f$  uniformly on *X*. Thus, *f* is continuous since every  $f_n$  is continuous. Also,

$$||f|| \leq ||f - f_n|| + ||f_n|| < \infty.$$

Hence  $f \in \mathcal{C}_b(X)$  and so  $\mathcal{C}_b(X)$  is a Banach space.

► EXERCISE 212 (8.2.3). A function f on  $\mathbb{R}^k$  is said to vanish at infinity iff  $f(\mathbf{x}) \to 0$  as  $||\mathbf{x}|| \to \infty$ . Show that the collection of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^k$  that vanish at infinity is a Banach space relative to the supremum norm given in the previous exercise.

PROOF. Let  $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^k)$  denote the collection of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^k$  that vanish at infinity. We use an alternative definition (Rudin, 1986, Definition 3.16): A complex function f on a locally compact Hausdorff space X is said to *vanish at infinity* if to every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a compact set  $K \subseteq X$  such that  $|f(x)| < \varepsilon$  for all  $x \notin K$ .

Let  $\{f_n\}$  be a Cauchy sequence in  $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^k)$ , i.e., assume that  $\{f_n\}$  converges uniformly. Then its pointwise limit function f is continuous. Given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists an n so that  $||f_n - f|| < \varepsilon/2$  and there is a compact set K so that  $|f_n(x)| < \varepsilon/2$  outside K. Hence  $|f(x)| < \varepsilon$  outside K, and we have proved that f vanishes at infinity. Thus  $\mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^k)$  is complete.

► EXERCISE 213 (8.2.4). Let  $\mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}^k)$  denote the collection of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^k$  with compact support, and again consider the supremum norm. This collection is dense in the collection in the previous exercise, but it fails to be a Banach space.

**PROOF.** Refer Hewitt and Stromberg (1965, §7) and Rudin (1986, p. 69-71). The *support* of a (complex) function f on a topological space X is the closure of the set  $\{x \in X : f(x) \neq 0\}$ .

Given  $f \in \mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^k)$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a compact set K so that  $|f(x)| < \varepsilon$  outside K. Urysohn's lemma (Rudin, 1986, 2.12) gives us a function  $g \in \mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}^k)$ 

such that  $0 \leq g \leq 1$  and g(x) = 1 on K. Put h = fg. Then  $h \in \mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}^k)$  and  $||f - h|| < \varepsilon$ . This proves that  $\overline{\mathcal{C}_c(\mathbb{R}^k)} = \mathcal{C}_0(\mathbb{R}^k)$ .

► EXERCISE 214 (8.2.5). A sequence  $\{f_n\}$  in  $L^p$  may converge in *p*th mean to some  $f \in L^p$  but at the same time fail to converge pointwise to f at any point in  $\Omega$ . Therefore, convergence in  $L^p$  does not in general imply convergence  $\mu$ -a.e.

**PROOF.** Consider ([0, 1],  $\mathcal{B}[0, 1], \lambda$ ). Consider the sequence

 $\mathbb{1}_{[0,1/2]}, \mathbb{1}_{[1/2,1]}, \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/4]}, \mathbb{1}_{[1/4,1/2]}, \mathbb{1}_{[1/2,3/4]}, \mathbb{1}_{[3/4,1]}, \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/8]}, \dots$ 

Then  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} 0$ , but obviously  $f(x) \not\rightarrow 0$  for all  $x \in [0, 1]$ .

#### 

#### 8.3 $L^p$ Space: The Case 0

► EXERCISE 215 (8.3.1). Let  $f, g \in L^p$ , where  $0 . We know that <math>f + g \in L^p$  by the Minkowski-like Inequality result given earlier.

- a. We have  $(a + b)^p \leq a^p + b^p$  for every  $0 < a, b < \infty$ .
- b. From (a), we have  $\int |f + g|^p \leq \int |f|^p + \int |g|^p$ .
- c. If we write  $||f g||_p^p$  for the distance between f and g, then this distance function is truly a metric, if we identify functions equal  $\mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .
- d. Writing  $||f g||_p$  for the distance between f and g does not define a metric on  $L^p$ .

PROOF. (a) If  $0 < a = b < \infty$ , we have

$$(a+b)^p = 2^p a^p \leq 2a^p = a^p + b^p.$$

Next we assume that  $0 < a < b < \infty$ . Since  $0 , the function <math>x^p$  defined on  $(0, \infty)$  is concave. Write *b* as a convex combination of *a* and a + b as follows:

$$b = \frac{a}{b}a + \frac{b-a}{b}(a+b).$$

Then

$$b^{p} = \left(\frac{a}{b}a + \frac{b-a}{b}(a+b)\right)^{p} \leq \frac{a}{b}a^{p} + \frac{b-a}{b}(a+b)^{p};$$

that is,

$$(a+b)^p \leq \frac{b^{p+1}-a^{p+1}}{b-a} \leq \frac{(b-a)(a^p+b^p)}{b-a} = a^p + b^p,$$

where the second inequality holds since

$$(b-a)(a^{p}+b^{p}) = b^{p+1} - a^{p+1} + ab\left(a^{p-1} - b^{p-1}\right) \ge b^{p+1} - a^{p+1}.$$

**(b)** It follows from (a) that

$$\int |f + g|^p \leq \int (|f| + |g|)^p \leq \int (|f|^p + |g|^p) = \int |f|^p + \int |g|^p.$$

(c) We use the informal definition. To see  $||f - g||_p^p$  is a metric on  $L^p$ , we need to verify:

•  $0 \le ||f - g||_p^p < \infty$  for every  $f, g \in L^p$ . It is true because by (b):

$$0 \le ||f - g||_p^p = \int |f - g|^p \le \int |f|^p + \int |g|^p < \infty.$$

- $||f f||_p^p = 0$  for each  $f \in L^p$ , and  $||f g||_p^p = 0$  forces  $f = g \ \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ . The first claim is obvious, so we focus on the second one. If  $||f g||_p^p = \int |f g|^p = 0$ , then  $|f g|^p = 0 \ \mu$ -a.e., then  $f = g \ \mu$ -a.e.
- $||f g||_p^p = ||g f||_p^p$  for every  $f, g \in L^p$ . This is evident.
- $||f h||_p^p \le ||f g||_p^p + ||g h||_p^p$  for every  $f, g, h \in L^p$ . It also follows from (b):

$$\begin{split} \|f - h\|_{p}^{p} &= \int |f - h|^{p} = \int |(f - g) + (g - h)|^{p} \\ &\leq \int (|f - g| + |g - h|)^{p} \\ &\leq \int |f - g|^{p} + \int |g - h|^{p} \\ &= \|f - g\|_{p}^{p} + \|g - h\|_{p}^{p}. \end{split}$$

Thus,  $||f - g||_p^p$  is a metric on  $L^p$  when 0 .

(d) It follows from the Minkowski-like equality that the triangle inequality fails for  $||f - g||_p$  when 0 .

► EXERCISE 216 (8.3.2). Consider the space  $\Omega = (0, 1)$  and let  $0 . Write <math>\mathcal{B}$  for the Borel subsets of (0, 1), and write  $\lambda$  for Lebesgue measure restricted to  $\mathcal{B}$ . We will show that there exists no norm || || on  $L^p$  such that  $\lim_k || f_k ||_p = 0$  forces  $\lim_k || f_k || = 0$ .

a. Suppose that such a norm || || exists. Then there is  $C \ge 0$  such that  $|| f || \le C || f ||_p$  for each  $f \in L^p$ .

*Pick the minimal such C from (a).* 

- b. There is 0 < c < 1 with  $\int_0^c |f|^p = \int_c^1 |f|^p = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 |f|^p$ .
- c. Let  $g = f \mathbb{1}_{(0,c]}$  and  $h = f \mathbb{1}_{(c,1]}$ , so that f = g + h. Then  $||g||_p = ||h||_p = 2^{-1/p} ||f||_p$  and  $||f|| \le ||g|| + ||h|| \le C ||g||_p + C ||h||_p = C \times 2^{1-1/p} ||f||_p$ . Use the minimality of C to obtain  $C \le C 2^{1-1/p}$ , and deduce C = 0.

d. Conclude that ||f|| = 0 for every  $f \in L^p$ , and hence the assumption in (a) entails a contradiction.

PROOF. (a) Suppose that for every  $C \ge 0$  there is  $f \in L^p$  with  $||f|| > C ||f||_p$ . Then for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  there is  $f_k \in L^p$  with  $||f_k|| > k ||f_k||_p$ . Define  $g_k = f_k / ||f_k||$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $||g_k|| = 1$  and for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$1 = \|g_k\| > k \|g_k\|_p,$$

i.e.,  $||g_k|| < 1/k$ . Hence,  $\lim_k ||g_k||_p = 0$ , so  $\lim_k ||g_k|| = 0$  by the assumption that such a norm exists. But  $\lim_k ||g_k|| = 1$ .

(b) The function  $\int_0^x |f|^p$  is continuous and increasing with respect to *x*. The claim follows immediately.

(c) It follows from (b) that  $||g||_p^p = ||h||_p^p = \frac{1}{2} ||f||^p$ , i.e.,

$$||g||_p = ||h||_p = 2^{-1/p} ||f||_p.$$

Since || || is a norm, we have

$$||f|| = ||g + h|| \le ||g|| + ||h|| \le C ||g||_p + C ||h||_p = C2^{1-1/p} ||f||_p.$$

The minimality of *C* implies that  $C \leq C2^{1-1/p}$ . Hence, C = 0.

(d) By (a) and (c) we get  $||f|| \le 0 ||f||_p = 0$ ; that is, ||f|| = 0 for all  $f \in L^p$ . But then || || is not a norm. A contradiction.

► EXERCISE 217 (8.3.3). Let  $0 < p_0 < \infty$  and let  $f \in L^{p_0}$  be nonnegative. Let  $E_1 = \{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) = 0\}, E_2 = \{\omega \in \Omega : 0 < f(\omega) \leq 1\}, and E_3 = \{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) > 1\}.$ 

- a.  $\lim_{p\to 0^+} \int_{E_2} |f|^p = \mu(E_2).$
- b.  $\lim_{p\to 0^+} \int_{E_3} |f|^p = \mu(E_3).$
- c.  $\lim_{p\to 0^+} \int |f|^p = \mu(\{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) \neq 0\}).$

PROOF. (a) The function  $x^p$  decreasing with respect to p when  $0 < x \le 1$ . By MCT we have

$$\lim_{p \to 0^+} \int_{E_2} |f|^p = \int_{E_2} \lim_{p \to 0^+} |f|^p = \int_{E_2} 1 = \mu(E_2).$$

(b) It follows from DCT.

(c) Let  $\{p_n\}$  be a decreasing sequence converging to 0. Then

$$\lim_{n} \int |f|^{p} = \lim_{n} \left( \int_{E_{2}} |f|^{p} + \int_{E_{3}} |f|^{p} \right) = \lim_{n} \int_{E_{2}} |f|^{p} + \lim_{n} \int_{E_{3}} |f|^{p}$$
$$= \mu(E_{2}) + \mu(E_{3})$$
$$= \mu[f(\omega) \neq 0].$$

► EXERCISE 218 (8.3.4). Say  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ , and let  $f \in L^1$  be nonnegative. Write  $\log 0 = -\infty$ .

- a.  $\int \log f \leq \log \int f \, if \log f \in L^1$ .
- b. If  $\log f \notin L^1$ , then  $\int (\log f)^+ < \infty$  under the assumption  $f \in L^1$ , so it must be the case that  $\int (\log f)^- = \infty$ . Conclude that even if  $\log f \notin L^1$ ,  $\int \log f$  still exists and equals  $-\infty$ , giving the inequality in (a).
- c.  $(f^r 1)/r$  decreases to  $\log f$  as  $r \to 0^+$ , hence  $\lim_{r\to 0^+} (\int f^r 1)/r = \int \log f$ .
- d. Verify the inequalities

$$\frac{1}{r}\left[\int f^r - 1\right] \ge \frac{1}{r}\log\int f^r \ge \frac{1}{r}\int\log f^r = \int\log f.$$

e. Conclude that  $\lim_{r\to 0^+} ||f||_r$  exists and equals  $\exp(\int \log f)$ . If  $\log f \notin L^1$ , this is interpreted as  $\lim_{r\to 0^+} ||f||_r = 0$ .

PROOF. (a) If  $||f||_1 = \int f = 0$ , then  $f = 0 \mu$ -a.e.. Hence,  $\int \log f = \log \int f = -\infty$ . Now assume that  $||f||_1 > 0$ . Since  $\log x \le x - 1$  when  $0 \le x < \infty$ , we have

$$\int \log \frac{f}{\|f\|_1} \leq \int \left(\frac{f}{\|f\|_1} - 1\right) = \frac{\int f}{\|f\|_1} - \int 1 = 0;$$

hence,

$$\int \log f \leq \log \|f\|_1 = \log \int f.$$

(b) Observe that

$$(\log f)^+(\omega) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } f(\omega) \in [0, 1] \\ \log f(\omega) & \text{if } f(\omega) \in (1, \infty]. \end{cases}$$

Also,  $\log f(\omega) < f(\omega) - 1$  when  $\omega \in (1, \infty]$ . Since  $f \in L^1$ , we have  $\int f < \infty$ . Thus,

$$\int (\log f)^+ = \int_{[f(\omega)>1]} \log f \leq \int_{[f(\omega)]>1} (f-1) < \infty.$$

Therefore, it must be the case that  $\int (\log f)^- = \infty$ , and so

$$\int \log f = \int (\log f)^+ - \int (\log f)^- = -\infty.$$

(c) Fix an arbitrary  $\omega \in \Omega$ . We have

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{f(\omega)^r - 1}{r} = \log f(\omega);$$

hence,  $(f^r - 1)/r \downarrow \log f$  as  $r \to 0^+$ , and consequently,

$$\left(f - \frac{f^r - 1}{r}\right) \uparrow \left(f - \log f\right) \text{ as } r \to 0^+.$$

It follows from the MCT that

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \int \left( f - \frac{f^r - 1}{r} \right) = \int f - \lim_{r \to 0^+} \int \frac{f^r - 1}{r}$$
$$= \int f - \int \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{f^r - 1}{r}$$
$$= \int f - \int \log f.$$

Since  $\int f < \infty$  and  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ , we get the desired result.

(d) The first inequality follows from the fact  $f^r \ge 0$  and under this case  $\log f^r \le f^r - 1$ . The second inequality follows from (a) and (b).

(e)

#### 8.4 $L^p$ Space: The Case $p = +\infty$

- ► EXERCISE 219 (8.4.2). Consider the  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ .
- a.  $f \in L^{\infty}$  iff there is a bounded  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function g on  $\Omega$  such that  $f = g \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .
- b. If  $f \in L^{\infty}$ , then  $||f||_{\infty} = \inf\{\sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)| : g \text{ is as in } (a)\}$ .

**PROOF.** (a) First assume that there exists a bounded  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function g on  $\Omega$  such that  $f = g \mu$ -a. e.. Then there exists  $M \ge 0$  such that  $|g| \le M$ . Hence,  $|f| \le M \mu$ -a. e.; that is, ess  $\sup f \le M$ , and so  $f \in L^{\infty}$ .

Now suppose that  $f \in L^{\infty}$ . Define *g* on  $\Omega$  by letting

$$g(\omega) = \begin{cases} f(\omega) & \text{if } |f(\omega)| \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup} f \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This *g* is bounded,  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, and  $f = g \mu$ -a.e..

**(b)** We first show that  $\sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)| \ge ||f||_{\infty}$  for all g as in (a). Suppose that  $\sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)| < ||f||_{\infty}$ . Define

$$A := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : |f(\omega)| > \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)| \right\}.$$

Then  $\mu(A) > 0$ ; for otherwise  $||f||_{\infty} \leq \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)|$ . But which means that f > g on A and  $\mu(A) > 0$ . A contradiction. This shows that

$$\inf \left\{ \sup_{\omega \in \Omega} |g(\omega)| : g \text{ as in } (a) \right\} \ge ||f||_{\infty}.$$

We next show the reverse inclusion. Let  $B := \{\omega \in \Omega : |f(\omega)| \leq ||f||_{\infty}\}$ ; then  $\mu(B^c) = 0$ . Let  $g = f \mathbb{1}_B$ . Then g is bounded,  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, and  $f = g \mu$ -a. e.. Furthermore,

$$\sup_{\omega\in\Omega}|(f\mathbb{1}_B)(\omega)|\leqslant ||f||_{\infty}.$$

This prove that  $||f||_{\infty} \in {\sup_{\omega \in \Omega} : |g(\omega)| : g \text{ as in (a)}}$ , and the proof is completed.

▶ EXERCISE 220 (8.4.4). Quickly prove the  $p = \infty$  version of Hölder's Inequality.

**PROOF.** Let  $f \in L^{\infty}$  and  $g \in L^1$ . By Claim 1 we get

$$|fg| \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup} fg \quad \mu - a. e.$$

Observe that

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup} fg = |g|\operatorname{ess\,sup} f = |g| \cdot ||f||_{\infty},$$

so we have

$$\int |fg| \leq \int |g| \cdot ||f||_{\infty} = ||f||_{\infty} ||g||_{1} < \infty.$$

Hence,  $fg \in L^1$  and  $||fg||_1 \leq ||f||_{\infty} ||g||_1$ .

► EXERCISE 221 (8.4.5). Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$  be such that  $\mu(\Omega) < \infty$ , and let f denote a bounded  $\mathcal{F}/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function on  $\Omega$ .

- a. For every  $1 \le p \le \infty$  we have  $f \in L^p$ , hence  $||f||_p$  exists.
- b.  $\lim_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_p = \|f\|_{\infty}$ .

PROOF. (a) Since *f* is bounded, there exists  $0 \le M \le \infty$  such that  $|f| \le M$ . Then ess sup  $f \le M$ ; that is,  $||f||_{\infty}$  exists. Now consider  $1 \le p < \infty$ . We have

$$\int |f|^p \leq \int M^p = M^p \mu(\Omega) < \infty,$$

i.e.,  $||f||_p$  exists.

**(b)** If  $f = 0 \mu$ -a.e., then  $||f||_p = ||f||_{\infty} = 0$  for all p, and the claim is trivial. So assume that  $f \neq 0$  on a set of positive measure, so that  $||f||_{\infty} > 0$ . We first show that  $\liminf_{p\to\infty} ||f||_p \ge ||f||_{\infty}$ . Let  $t \in (0, ||f||_{\infty})$ . By the Chebyshev's Inequality (Exercise 224) we have

$$\|f\|_{p} \ge t\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t]^{1/p}.$$

If  $\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t] = \infty$ , the claim is trivial. If  $\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t] < \infty$ , then

$$\liminf_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_p \ge \liminf_{p \to \infty} t\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t]^{1/p} = \lim_{p \to \infty} t\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t]^{1/p} = t.$$

Since  $t \in (0, ||f||_{\infty})$  is arbitrary, we have  $\lim_{p \to \infty} ||f||_p \ge ||f||_{\infty}$ .

We next show that  $\limsup_{p\to\infty} \|f\|_p \leq \|f\|_{\infty}$ . It follows from (a) that  $\|f\|_{\infty}$  exists, and so  $\|f\| \leq \|f\|_{\infty} \mu$ -a. e.. Then

$$||f||_{p}^{p} = \int |f|^{p} \leq \int ||f||_{\infty}^{p} = ||f||_{\infty}^{p} \mu(\Omega);$$

that is,  $||f||_p \leq ||f||_{\infty} \mu(\Omega)^{1/p}$ . Then

$$\limsup_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_p \leqslant \|f\|_{\infty}$$

Summarizing the findings, we have  $\lim_{p\to\infty} ||f||_p = ||f||_{\infty}$ .

#### 8.5 CONTAINMENT RELATIONS FOR $L^p$ Spaces

► EXERCISE 222 (8.5.1). Consider the measure space  $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ . Let  $1 \le p < q < \infty$ , and let r be such that 1/q < r < 1/p.

- a. Define f on  $\mathbb{R}$  by writing  $f(x) = x^{-r} \mathbb{1}_{(0,1)}(x)$  for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $f \in L^p$  but  $f \notin L^q$ . Therefore, we do not in general have  $L^p \subseteq L^q$  when p < q.
- b. Let  $g(x) = x^{-r} \mathbb{1}_{(1,\infty)}(x)$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $g \in L^q$  but  $g \notin L^p$ . Therefore, we do not in general have  $L^q \subseteq L^p$  when p < q.

PROOF. (a) We have -rq < -1 < -rp. Hence,

$$\int |f|^{p} = \int_{(0,1)} x^{-rp} = \left. \frac{x^{1-rp}}{1-rp} \right|_{0}^{1} = \frac{1}{1-rp} < \infty,$$
$$\int |f|^{q} = \int_{(0,1)} x^{-rq} = \left. \frac{x^{1-rq}}{1-rq} \right|_{0}^{1} = \infty;$$

that is,  $f \in L^p$ , but  $f \notin L^q$ .

(b) We have

$$\int |g|^{q} = \int_{(1,\infty)} x^{-rq} = \left. \frac{x^{1-rq}}{1-rq} \right|_{1}^{\infty} = \frac{1}{rq-1} < \infty$$
$$\int |g|^{p} = \int_{(1,\infty)} x^{-rp} = \left. \frac{x^{1-rp}}{1-rq} \right|_{1}^{\infty} = \infty;$$

hence,  $g \in L^q$  but  $g \notin L^p$ .

REMARK (Folland 1999, p.185). Thus we see two reasons why a function f may fail to be in  $L^p$ : either  $|f|^p$  blows up too rapidly near some point, or it fails to decay sufficiently rapidly at infinity. In the first situation the behavior of  $|f|^p$  becomes worse as p increases, while in the second it becomes better. In other words, if p < q, functions in  $L^p$  can be locally more singular than functions in  $L^q$ , whereas functions in  $L^q$  can be globally more spread out than functions in  $L^p$ . See Figure 8.1.



FIGURE 8.1.  $f^p$  and  $f^q$ .

► EXERCISE 223 (8.5.2). Let  $0 . Then <math>L^p \cap L^\infty \subseteq L^r$ , and for any  $f \in L^p \cap L^\infty$  we have  $||f||_p^{p/r} ||f||_{\infty}^{1-p/r}$ .

PROOF. Let  $A := \{ \omega \in \Omega : |f(\omega)| \leq ||f||_{\infty} \}$ , so that  $\mu(A^c) = 0$ . Then

$$\int |f|^r = \int_A |f|^r = \int_A |f|^{r-p} |f|^p \le \|f\|_{\infty}^{r-p} \int_A |f|^p = \|f\|_{\infty}^{r-p} \|f\|_p^p < \infty.$$

Hence,  $f \in L^r$  and  $||f||_r \leq ||f||_p^{p/r} ||f||_{\infty}^{1-p/r}$ .

▶ EXERCISE 224 (8.5.3). For any  $0 and <math>0 < M < \infty$  we have

$$\left(\int |f|^p\right)^{1/p} \ge M\mu(\{\omega \in \Omega : |f(\omega)| \ge M\})^{1/p}$$

PROOF. Let  $E_M := \{ \omega \in \Omega : |f(\omega)| \ge M \}$ . Then

$$||f||_p^p = \int |f|^p \ge \int_{E_M} |f|^p \ge M^p \int_{E_M} 1 = M^p \mu(E_M);$$

that is,  $\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge M] \le (||f||_p/M)^p$ .

► EXERCISE 225 (8.5.4). Let  $0 < r < \infty$  and assume that  $f \in L^r \cap L^\infty$ , so that  $f \in L^p$  for every  $r by Exercise 223. We wish to show that <math>\lim_{p\to\infty} ||f||_p = ||f||_\infty$ . Follow this outline:

- a. Ignoring the trivial case where  $f = 0 \ \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ , let  $f \neq 0$  on a set of positive measure, so that  $||f||_{\infty} > 0$ . Show that  $\liminf_{p \to \infty} ||f||_p \ge ||f||_{\infty}$ .
- b. Show that  $\limsup_{p\to\infty} \|f\|_p \leq \|f\|_{\infty}$ .
- c. Put (a) and (b) together to prove the claim.

**PROOF.** (a) Pick an arbitrary  $t \in (0, ||f||_{\infty})$ . It follows from the Chebyshev's Inequality (Exercise 224) that

$$||f||_p \ge t \cdot \mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t]^{1/p}.$$

If  $\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t] = \infty$ , then  $||f||_p = \infty$  for all p, and the claim is trivial. If  $\mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t] < \infty$ , then  $\lim_{p\to\infty} \mu[|f(\omega)| \ge t]^{1/p} = 1$  and so  $\liminf_{p\to\infty} ||f||_p \ge t$ . Since  $t \in (0, ||f||_{\infty})$  is chosen arbitrarily, we get

$$\liminf_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_p \ge \|f\|_{\infty} \tag{8.2}$$

(b) By Exercise 223 we have  $||f||_p \leq ||f||_r^{r/p} ||f||_{\infty}^{1-r/p}$ , for every  $p \in (r, \infty)$ . Hence,

$$\limsup_{p \to \infty} \|f\|_p \le \|f\|_{\infty}.$$
(8.3)

(c) Combining (8.2) and (8.3) we get

$$||f||_{\infty} \leq \liminf_{p \to \infty} ||f||_p \leq \limsup_{p \to \infty} ||f||_p \leq ||f||_{\infty}.$$

Hence,  $\lim_{p\to\infty} \|f\|_p = \|f\|_{\infty}$ .

► EXERCISE 226 (8.5.5). Let  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$  and  $1 \le p \le q \le \infty$ . Show for arbitrary *f* that

$$\int |f| \leq \left(\int |f|^p\right)^{1/p} = \left(\int |f|^q\right)^{1/q} \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup} f,$$

so that  $||f||_1 \leq ||f||_p \leq ||f||_q \leq ||f||_{\infty}$ .

**PROOF.** It follows from Claim 1 and the assumption that  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ .

#### **8.6 APPROXIMATION**

#### **8.7 More Convergence Concepts**

- ► EXERCISE 227 (8.7.1). Prove the following simple claims.
- a. Let  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a Cauchy sequence in  $L^p$ , where  $0 . Show that <math>\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a Cauchy sequence in measure: for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\delta > 0$  there is  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for every  $n, m \ge N$  we have  $\mu(\{\omega \in \Omega : |f_n(\omega) f_m(\omega)| > \delta\}) < \varepsilon$ .
- b. Let  $f, f_1, f_2, \ldots \in L^p$  and suppose that  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} f$ , where  $0 . If <math>g \in L^\infty$ , then  $fg, f_1g, f_2g, \ldots \in L^p$  and  $f_ng \xrightarrow{L^p} fg$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Choose arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\delta > 0$ . It follows from Chebyshev's Inequality that

$$\mu[|f_n(\omega) - f_m(\omega)| \ge \delta] \le \frac{\|f_n - f_m\|_p^p}{\delta^p}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon' = \varepsilon^{1/p} \delta$ . Then there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $||f_n - f_m||_p < \varepsilon'$  when  $n, m \ge N$  since  $\{f_n\}$  is Cauchy in  $L^p$ . Hence, when  $n, m \ge N$  we get

$$\mu[|f_n(\omega) - f_m(\omega)| \ge \delta] < \frac{\varepsilon \delta^p}{\delta^p} = \varepsilon.$$

(b) We have

$$\|fg\|_{p}^{p} = \int |fg|^{p} = \int |f|^{p} |g|^{p} \leq \int |f|^{p} \|g\|_{\infty}^{p} = \|g\|_{\infty}^{p} \int |f|^{p} = \|f\|_{p}^{p} \|g\|_{\infty}^{p}$$
$$< \infty;$$

that is,  $fg \in L^p$ . Similarly we can show that  $f_ng \in L^p$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Finally,

$$\int |f_n g - fg|^p = \int |f_n - f|^p |g|^p = ||g||_p \int |f_n - f|^p \to 0$$
$$f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} f$$

since  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} f$ .

 $\blacktriangleright$  EXERCISE 228 (8.7.2). While convergence in *p*th mean implies convergence in measure, it is not the case that convergence in measure implies convergence in *p*the mean.

PROOF. Consider the probability space ([0, 1],  $\mathcal{B}_{[0,1]}$ ,  $\lambda$ ), where  $\lambda$  is Lebesgue measure and set

$$f_n = 2^n \mathbb{1}_{(0,1/n)}.$$

Then

$$\lim_{n} \lambda(|f_n - 0| > \varepsilon) = \lim_{n} \lambda(0, 1/n) = 0$$

However,

$$\int |f_n|^p = 2^{np}/n \to \infty.$$



FIGURE 8.2.  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ , but  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} 0$ .

Thus, convergence in measure does not imply  $L^p$  convergence. What can go wrong is that the *n*th function in the sequence can be huge on a very small set (see Figure 8.2).

► EXERCISE 229 (8.7.3). It is possible for a sequence  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $L^p$  to converge  $\mu$ -a. e. to some  $f \in L^p$  but not in *p*th mean. That is, convergence  $\mu$ -a. e. does not force convergence in *p*th mean.

PROOF. Consider the setting in the previous exercise again.

► EXERCISE 230 (8.7.4). It is possible for a sequence  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in  $L^p$  to converge in *p*th mean to zero, but  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges at no point of  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. Consider ([0, 1],  $\mathcal{B}_{[0,1]}$ ,  $\lambda$ ). Set

$$f_{1} = \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/2]}, \qquad f_{2} = \mathbb{1}_{[1/2,1]},$$
  

$$f_{3} = \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/3]}, \qquad f_{4} = \mathbb{1}_{[1/3,2/3]}, \qquad f_{5} = \mathbb{1}_{[2/3,1]},$$
  

$$f_{6} = \mathbb{1}_{[0,1/4]}, \qquad \cdots$$

For every p > 0,

$$\int |f_1|^p = \int |f_2|^p = \frac{1}{2},$$
  
$$\int |f_3|^p = \int |f_4|^p = \int |f_5|^p = \frac{1}{3},$$
  
$$\int |f_6|^p = \frac{1}{4}.$$

So  $\int |f_n|^p \to 0$  and  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} 0$ . However,  $\{f_n\}$  converges at no point.

► EXERCISE 231 (8.7.5). It is possible to have functions  $f, f_1, f_2, ... \in L^{p_1} \cap L^{p_2}$ such that  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^{p_1}} f$  but  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^{p_2}} f$ .

PROOF. Consider  $((0, \infty), \mathcal{B}_{(0,\infty)}, \lambda)$ . Set

$$f_n = n^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{(n,2n)};$$

see Figure 8.3. Then

$$\int |f_n|^p = \frac{n}{n^p} = n^{1-p}.$$

The sequence  $\{n^{1-p}\}$  converges if p > 1, and diverges if  $p \le 1$ . Thus,  $f_n \xrightarrow{L^p} 0$  when  $1 , but <math>||f_n||_1$  fails to converge to 0.

#### 8.8 PRELUDE TO THE RIESZ REPRESENTATION THEOREM



FIGURE 8.3.

## 9 The radon-Nikodym Theorem

#### 9.1 THE RADON-NIKODYM THEOREM, PART I

► EXERCISE 232 (9.1.1). In the definition of an additive set function, show that the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(A_n)$  must converge absolutely.

PROOF. Observe that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_{n_k}$  for every rearrangement  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of the positive integers, hence both  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi(A_n)$  and  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varphi(A_{n_k})$  should be defined and equal, that is, the series is unconditionally convergent. By the Riemann series theorem, it is absolutely convergent.

► EXERCISE 233 (9.1.2). In Claim 4, quickly verify that  $\varphi^-$  is a finite measure with support  $A^-$ .

PROOF. For all  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  we have  $A \cap A^- \subseteq A^-$ , and the negativity of  $A^-$  with respect to  $\varphi$  implies that  $\varphi^-(A) = -\varphi(A \cap A^-) \ge 0$ . Therefore,  $\varphi^-$  is nonnegative. Next,  $\varphi^-(\emptyset) = \varphi(\emptyset) = 0$ . We now exhibit countable additivity for  $\varphi^-$ . Let  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  denote a disjoint sequence of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets. Then

$$\varphi^{-}\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n}\right) = -\varphi\left(\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n}\right) \cap A^{-}\right) = -\varphi\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (A_{n} \cap A^{-})\right)$$
$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi\left(A_{n} \cap A^{-}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[-\varphi\left(A_{n} \cap A^{-}\right)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varphi^{-}(A_{n}).$$

This shows that  $\varphi^-$  is a measure. Since  $\varphi^-(\Omega) = -\varphi(A^-) \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\varphi^-$  is a finite measure. To see that  $A^-$  is a support of  $\varphi^-$ , observe that  $\varphi^-((A^-)^c) = -\varphi((A^-)^c \cap A^-) = -\varphi(\emptyset) = 0$ .

► EXERCISE 234 (9.1.3). Suppose that  $(A^+, A^-)$  and  $(B^+, B^-)$  are Hahn decompositions with respect to an additive set function  $\varphi$ . Then  $\varphi(A^+ \Delta B^+) = \varphi(A^- \Delta B^-) = 0$ .

PROOF. We first do the set operations:

$$A^{+}\Delta B^{+} = (A^{+} \cup B^{+}) \smallsetminus (A^{+} \cap B^{+}) = (A^{+} \cup B^{+}) \smallsetminus (A^{-c} \cap B^{-c})$$
  
=  $(A^{+} \cup B^{+}) \smallsetminus (A^{-} \cup B^{-})^{c}$   
=  $(A^{+} \cup B^{+}) \cap (A^{-} \cup B^{-})$   
=  $(A^{+} \cap B^{-}) \cup (A^{-} \cap B^{+}),$ 

and  $(A^+ \cap B^-) \cap (A^- \cap B^+) = \emptyset$ . Since  $A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq A^+$ , we have  $\varphi(A^+ \cap B^-) \ge 0$ ; since  $A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq A^+ \subseteq B^-$ , we have  $\varphi(A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq A^+) \le 0$ ; hence,  $\varphi(A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq A^+) = 0$ . Similarly,  $\varphi(A^- \cap B^+) = 0$ , and so  $\varphi(A^+ \Delta B^+) = 0$ . Using this way, we can also show that  $\varphi(A^- \Delta B^-) = 0$ .

EXERCISE 235 (9.1.4). The Jordan decomposition of an additive set function  $\varphi$  is unique.

PROOF. Let  $(A^+, A^-)$  and  $(B^+, B^-)$  denote Hahn decomposition of  $\Omega$  with respect to  $\varphi$ . Let  $\varphi_A^+(E) = \varphi(E \cap A^+)$  and  $\varphi_B^+(E) = \varphi(E \cap B^+)$  for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ ; define  $\varphi_A^-$  and  $\varphi_B^-$  similarly. Then  $\varphi = \varphi_A^+ - \varphi_A^-$  is the Jordan decomposition of  $\varphi$  relative to the Hahn decomposition  $(A^+, A^-)$  and  $\varphi = \varphi_B^+ - \varphi_B^-$  is the Jordan decomposition of  $\varphi$  relative to the Hahn decomposition  $(B^+, B^-)$ . We now show that  $\varphi_A^+ = \varphi_B^+$  and  $\varphi_A^- = \varphi_B^-$ . For any  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi_A^+(E) &= \varphi \left( E \cap A^+ \right) = \varphi \left( E \cap \left( B^+ \cup B^- \right) \cap A^+ \right) \\ &= \varphi \left( E \cap A^+ \cap B^+ \right) + \varphi \left( E \cap A^+ \cap B^- \right) \\ &= \varphi \left( E \cap A^+ \cap B^+ \right), \end{split}$$

where  $\varphi(E \cap A^+ \cap B^-) = 0$  since: (i)  $E \cap A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq A^+$  implies that  $\varphi(E \cap A^+ \cap B^-) \ge 0$ ; (ii)  $E \cap A^+ \cap B^- \subseteq B^-$  implies that  $\varphi(E \cap A^+ \cap B^-) \le 0$ . Similarly, we can show  $\varphi_B^+ = \varphi(E \cap A^+ \cap B^+) = \varphi_A^+$  and  $\varphi_A^- = \varphi_B^-$ .

► EXERCISE 236 (9.1.5). This problem relates somewhat the notion of absolute continuity with the familiar  $\varepsilon$ - $\delta$  concepts.

- a. Let  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  denote measures with common domain  $\mathcal{F}$  and such that  $\nu$  is finite. Then  $\nu \ll \mu$  iff for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mu(A) < \delta$  forces  $\nu(A) < \varepsilon$ .
- b. The claim in (a) is not necessarily true if v is infinite, since the condition v ≪ μ does not imply the ε-δ condition.
**PROOF.** (a) Suppose first that for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\mu(A) < \delta$  forces  $\nu(A) < \varepsilon$ . We desire to show that  $\nu \ll \mu$ . If  $\mu(A) = 0$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  is given (and the corresponding  $\delta$  is found), then  $\mu(A) < \delta$ , hence  $\nu(A) < \varepsilon$ . Since  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary, it follows that  $\nu(A) = 0$ , whence  $\nu \ll \mu$ .

To show the other direction, suppose that there is  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for every  $\delta > 0$  there is a set  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\mu(A) < \delta$  and  $\nu(A) \ge \varepsilon$ . In particular, there is  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that there is a sequence  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{F}$ -sets with  $\mu(A) < 1/n^2$  and  $\nu(A) \ge \varepsilon$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $A = \overline{\lim} A_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{m=n}^{\infty} A_m$ . For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\mu(A) \leq \mu\left(\bigcup_{m=n}^{\infty} A_m\right) \leq \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \mu(A_m) < \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m^2},$$

so  $\mu(A) = 0$ . However, we also have

$$\nu(A) = \nu\left(\overline{\lim} A_n\right) \ge \overline{\lim} \nu(A_n) \ge \varepsilon > 0$$

by property (M10) in Section 2.2. This shows that there is  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\mu(A) = 0$  and  $\nu(A) > 0$ , so  $\nu \not\ll \mu$ .

**(b)** Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $\mathcal{F} = 2^{\Omega}$ , let  $\nu$  denote the counting measure, so that  $\nu$  is infinite, and let  $\mu$  be such that  $\mu(\{n\}) = \frac{1}{n^2}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , so that  $\mu$  is finite.

► EXERCISE 237 (9.1.6). Let  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $\nu_1$ , and  $\nu_2$  denote measures, each having common domain  $\mathcal{F}$ .

- a. If  $v_1 \perp \mu$  and  $v_2 \perp \mu$ , then  $v_1 + v_2 \perp \mu$ .
- b. If  $v_1 \ll \mu$  and  $v_2 \ll \mu$ , then  $v_1 + v_2 \ll \mu$ .
- c. If  $v_1 \ll \mu$  and  $v_2 \perp \mu$ , then  $v_1 \perp v_2$ .
- d. If  $v \ll \mu$  and  $v \perp \mu$ , then v = 0.
- e. If  $\mu \perp \mu$ , then  $\mu = 0$ .
- f. If  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are  $\sigma$ -finite with  $\nu \ll \mu$ , then  $\nu(\{\omega \in \Omega : \frac{d\nu}{d\mu}(\omega) = 0\}) = 0$ .

PROOF. (a) Let  $v_1 \perp \mu$  and  $v_2 \perp \mu$ . Then there exist  $D_1 \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $v_1(D_1) = \mu(D_1^c) = 0$ , and  $D_2 \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $v_2(D_2) = \mu(D_2^c) = 0$ . Let  $D = D_1 \cap D_2$ . We show that D supports  $\mu$  and  $D^c$  supports  $v_1 + v_2$ . As for  $\mu$ , we have

$$\mu\left(D^{c}\right) = \mu\left(D_{1}^{c} \cup D_{2}^{c}\right) \leq \mu\left(D_{1}^{c}\right) + \mu\left(D_{2}^{c}\right) = 0.$$

As for  $v_1 + v_2$ , we have

$$(\nu_1 + \nu_2)(D) = \nu_1(D_1 \cap D_2) + \nu_2(D_1 \cap D_2) \leq \mu_1(D_1) + \nu_2(D_2) = 0.$$

Therefore,  $(v_1 + v_2)(D) = \mu(D^c) = 0$ , that is,  $v_1 + v_2 \perp \mu$ .

**(b)** If  $\mu(A) = 0$ , then  $(\nu_1 + \nu_2)(A) = \nu_1(A) + \nu_2(A) = 0$ ; hence,  $\nu_1 + \nu_2 \ll \mu$ .

(c) Since  $v_2 \perp \mu$ , there exists  $D \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $v_2(D) = \mu(D^c) = 0$ ; since  $v_1 \ll \mu$ ,  $\mu(D^c) = 0$  forces  $v_1(D^c) = 0$ . Therefore, there is  $D \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $v_1(D^c) = v_2(D) = 0$ , that is,  $v_1 \perp v_2$ .

(d) Since  $\nu \perp \mu$ , there is  $D \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\nu(D) = \mu(D^c) = 0$ . For any  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have

$$\nu(E) = \nu(E \cap D) + \nu(E \cap D^{c}) = 0 + 0 = 0,$$

where  $\nu (E \cap D) = 0$  since  $\nu (E \cap D) \leq \nu (D) = 0$ , and  $\nu (E \cap D^c) \leq \nu (D^c) = 0$ since  $\mu (D^c) = 0$  and  $\nu \ll \mu$ .

(e) Let  $v = \mu$  in (d) and we get the result.

(f) We have

$$\nu[d\nu/d\mu = 0] = \int_{[d\nu/d\mu=0]} \frac{d\nu}{d\mu} d\mu = 0.$$

► EXERCISE 238 (9.1.8). Let  $f \in L^1(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mu)$ . Define  $v(E) = \int_E f \, d\mu$  for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ .

- a.  $\nu$  is an additive set function such that  $\nu^+(E) = \int_E f^+ d\mu$  and  $\nu^-(E) = \int_E f^- d\mu$  for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ .
- b. If  $A^+ = \{\omega \in \Omega : f(\omega) > 0\}$  and  $A^- = A^{+c}$ , then  $(A^+, A^-)$  is a Hahn decomposition with respect to  $\nu$ .

**PROOF.** (b) We first show (b). For every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $E \subseteq A^+$ , we have

$$\nu(E) = \int_E f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{E \cap A^+} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_E f \, \mathbb{I}_{A^+} \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_E f^+ \, \mathrm{d}\mu \ge 0,$$

and for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $E \subseteq A^-$  we have

$$\nu(E) = \int_E f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_{E \cap A^-} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_E f \, \mathbb{I}_{A^-} \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \int_E f^- \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant 0.$$

Hence,  $(A^+, A^-)$  is a Hahn decomposition with respect to  $\nu$ .

(a) It follows from (L6) (p. 251) that v is an additive set function. Now by part (b) and the uniqueness of Hahn decomposition (Exercise 234), we get the desired result.

► EXERCISE 239 (9.1.9). Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  denote the collection of additive set functions  $\varphi$  with domain  $\mathcal{F}$ .

- a.  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a linear space over  $\mathbb{R}$ : for  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathfrak{M}$  we have  $a\varphi_1 + b\varphi_2 \in \mathfrak{M}$ .
- b. Given  $\varphi \in \mathfrak{M}$ , define  $\|\varphi\| = \varphi^+(\Omega) + \varphi^-(\Omega)$ , where  $\varphi = \varphi^+ \varphi^-$  is the Jordan decomposition of  $\varphi$ . Then  $\| \|$  is a norm on  $\mathfrak{M}$ .
- c. Is M a Banach space?

**PROOF.** (a) It is clear that  $a\varphi_1 + b\varphi_2 : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{R}$ , and for a disjoint sequence  $\{A_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  we have

$$(a\varphi_1 + b\varphi_2)\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) = a\varphi_1\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right) + b\varphi_2\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a\varphi_1(A_n) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b\varphi_2(A_n)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[a\varphi(A_n) + b\varphi_2(A_n)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (a\varphi_1 + b\varphi_2)(A_n).$$

**(b)** Clearly,  $\|\varphi\| \ge 0$  for all  $\varphi \in \mathfrak{M}$ , and  $\|\mathfrak{o}\| = 0$ , where  $\mathfrak{o}(E) = 0$  for all  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ . Now if  $\|\varphi\| = 0$ , then  $\varphi^+(\Omega) + \varphi^-(\Omega) = 0$  implies that  $\varphi^+(\Omega) = \varphi^-(\Omega) = 0$ . Since  $\varphi^+$  and  $\varphi^-$  are finite measures on  $\mathcal{F}$  (by Claim 4, p. 373), for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  we have  $\varphi^+(E) \le \varphi^+(\Omega) = 0$  and  $\varphi^-(E) \le \varphi^-(\Omega) = 0$ ; that is,

$$\varphi(E) = \varphi^+(E) - \varphi^-(E) = 0.$$

We finally show that the triangle inequality. Let  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in \mathfrak{M}$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi_{1} + \varphi_{2}\| &= (\varphi_{1} + \varphi_{2})^{+}(\Omega) + (\varphi_{1} + \varphi_{2})^{-}(\Omega) \\ &\leq \varphi_{1}^{+}(\Omega) + \varphi_{2}^{+}(\Omega) + \varphi_{1}^{-}(\Omega) + \varphi^{-}(\Omega) \\ &= \|\varphi_{1}\| + \|\varphi_{2}\|. \end{aligned}$$

This proves that  $(\mathfrak{M}, \| \|)$  is a normed space.

► EXERCISE 240 (9.1.10). Let  $(A^+, A^-)$  denote a Hahn decomposition of the additive set function  $\varphi$ , and let  $\varphi = \varphi^+ - \varphi^-$  denote the Jordan decomposition. We have

$$\varphi^+(A) = \sup\{\varphi(E) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\},\$$
$$\varphi^-(A) = -\inf\{\varphi(E) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\},\$$

for every  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ .

PROOF. Let  $A, E \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $E \subseteq A$ . Then

$$\varphi(E) = \varphi(E \cap A^+) + \varphi(E \cap A^-) = \varphi^+(E) - \varphi^-(E) \le \varphi^+(E) \le \varphi^+(A).$$

Thus,  $\varphi^+(A)$  is an upper bound of  $\{\varphi(E) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\}$ . We next show that  $\varphi^+(A)$  is actually in the former set: let  $E = A \cap A^+$ . Then  $E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A$ , and

$$\varphi(E) = \varphi(A \cap A^+) = \varphi^+(A).$$

We then have

$$\varphi^{-}(A) = \varphi^{+}(A) - \varphi(A) = \sup\{\varphi(E) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\} - \varphi(A)$$
$$= \sup\{\varphi(E) - \varphi(A) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\}$$
$$= \sup\{-\varphi(A \setminus E) : E \in \mathcal{F}, E \subseteq A\}$$
$$= \sup\{-\varphi(F) : F \in \mathcal{F}, F \subseteq A\}$$
$$= -\inf\{\varphi(F) : F \in \mathcal{F}, F \subseteq A\}.$$

- ► EXERCISE 241 (9.1.12). Let  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $\nu_1$ ,  $\nu_2$  and  $\rho$  denote  $\sigma$ -finite measures having domain  $\mathcal{F}$ . We have the following claims.
- a. If  $v_1 \ll \mu$  and  $v_2 \ll \mu$ , then  $d(v_1 \pm v_2)/d\mu = dv_1/d\mu \pm d\mu_2/d\mu \mu$  -a. s. on  $\Omega$ .
- b. If  $v \ll \mu$  and  $\mu \ll \rho$ , then  $v \ll \rho$  and  $\frac{dv}{d\rho} = \frac{dv}{d\mu} \frac{d\mu}{d\rho} \mu$  -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .
- c. If  $v \ll \mu$  and  $\mu \ll v$ , then  $\frac{dv}{d\mu} = \mathbb{1}_{[d\mu/d\nu>0]} \times \frac{1}{d\mu/d\nu} \mu$ -a.e. on  $\Omega$ .
- d. Let  $\mu \ll \rho$  and  $\nu \ll \rho$ . Then  $\nu \ll \mu$  if and only if  $\rho[\frac{d\nu}{d\rho} > 0, \frac{d\mu}{d\rho} > 0] = 0$ , in which case we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu} = \mathbb{1}_{[\mathrm{d}\mu/\mathrm{d}\rho>0]} \times \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu/\mathrm{d}\rho}{\mathrm{d}\mu/\mathrm{d}\rho} \quad \mu \text{-a.s. on }\Omega.$$

**PROOF.** (a) Since  $v_1 \ll \mu$  and  $v_2 \ll \mu$ , we get  $v_1 \pm v_2 \ll \mu$ , and that for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ ,

$$\nu_1(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu_1}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \,\mathrm{d}\mu, \quad \nu_2(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu_2}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \,\mathrm{d}\mu,$$

and

$$(\nu_1 \pm \nu_2)(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}(\nu_1 \pm \nu_2)}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \,\mathrm{d}\mu.$$

Clearly,  $(v_1 \pm v_2)(E) = v_1(E) \pm v_2(E)$ . Hence,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}(\nu_1 \pm \nu_2)}{\mathrm{d}\mu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu_1}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \pm \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu_2}{\mathrm{d}\mu}.$$

**(b)** Let  $\nu \ll \mu$  and  $\mu \ll \rho$ . Take an arbitrary  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  so that  $\rho(E) = 0$ ; then  $\mu(E) = 0$ ; then  $\nu(E) = 0$  and so  $\nu \ll \rho$ . Next, for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have

$$\nu(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \mathrm{d}\mu, \quad \mu(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}\rho} \mathrm{d}\rho, \quad \text{and} \quad \nu(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\rho} \mathrm{d}\rho.$$

It follows from (L14) (p. 259) that

$$\nu(E) = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \,\mathrm{d}\mu = \int_E \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}\rho} \,\mathrm{d}\rho;$$

that is,  $\frac{d\nu}{d\rho} = \frac{d\nu}{d\mu} \frac{d\mu}{d\rho}$ .

(c) It follows from (b) that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\nu} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}\nu}.$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\mu} = \mathbb{1}_{\left[\mathrm{d}\mu/\mathrm{d}\nu>0\right]} \times \frac{1}{\mathrm{d}\mu/\mathrm{d}\nu}.$$

► EXERCISE 242 (9.1.15). Suppose that  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are  $\sigma$ -finite measures on  $\mathcal{F}$ . The Lebesgue decomposition of  $\nu$  with respect to  $\mu$  is unique. That is, if  $\nu = \nu_{ac} + \nu_{s}$  where  $\nu_{ac}$  and  $\nu_{s}$  are  $\sigma$ -finite measures with  $\nu_{ac} \ll \mu$  and  $\nu_{s} \perp \mu$ , and if in addition  $\nu = \nu'_{ac} + \nu'_{s}$  where  $\nu'_{ac}$  and  $\nu'_{s}$  are  $\sigma$ -finite measures with  $\nu'_{ac} \ll \mu$  and  $\nu'_{ac} \ll \mu$  and  $\nu'_{s} \perp \mu$ , then  $\nu_{ac} = \nu'_{ac}$  and  $\nu_{s} = \nu'_{s}$ .

**PROOF.** Since  $v_s \perp \mu$ , there exists  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  such that A supports  $v_s$  and  $A^c$  supports  $\mu$ ; that is,

$$\nu_{\rm s}(A^c) = \mu(A) = 0$$

Since  $\nu'_{s} \perp \mu$ , there exists  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  such that B supports  $\nu'_{s}$  and  $B^{c}$  supports  $\mu$ ; that is,

$$\nu_{\rm s}'(B^c) = \mu(B) = 0$$

Since  $v_s(A^c \cap B^c) \leq v_s(A^c) = 0$ , and  $v'_s(A^c \cap B^c) \leq v'_s(B^c) = 0$ , we have that  $A \cup B$  supports both  $v_s$  and  $v'_s$ . Since  $\mu(A \cup B) \leq \mu(A) + \mu(B) = 0$ , we have that  $(A \cup B)^c$  supports  $\mu$ . Let  $S := A \cup B$ , so that

$$\mu(S) = \nu_{s}(S^{c}) = \nu'_{s}(S^{c}) = 0$$

We now show that  $v_{ac} = v'_{ac}$ . For every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} v_{ac}(E) &= v_{ac}(E \cap S^c) + v_{ac}(E \cap S) = v_{ac}(E \cap S^c) & [v_{ac} \ll \mu] \\ &= v_{ac}(E \cap S^c) + v_s(E \cap S^c) \\ &= v(E \cap S^c) \\ &= v'_{ac}(E \cap S^c) + v'_s(E \cap S^c) \\ &= v'_{ac}(E \cap S^c) \\ &= v'_{ac}(E \cap S^c) + v'_{ac}(E \cap S) \\ &= v'_{ac}(E). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,  $v_{ac} = v'_{ac}$ , and so  $v_s = v'_s$ .

(d)

## **10** PRODUCTS OF TWO MEASURE SPACES

#### **10.1 PRODUCT MEASURES**

Remark.

$$(A \cap B) \times (C \cap D) = (A \times C) \cap (B \times D),$$
  

$$(A \cup B) \times (C \cup D) \neq (A \times C) \cup (B \times D),$$
  

$$A \times (B \cap C) = (A \times B) \cap (A \times C),$$
  

$$A \times (B \cup C) = (A \times B) \cup (A \times C).$$

► EXERCISE 243 (10.1.1). Let  $\Omega_1$  denote an uncountable set, and let  $\mathcal{F}_1$  denote the  $\sigma$ -field of subsets of  $\Omega_1$  that are at most countable or have at most countable complements. Let  $\Omega_2$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  be identical to  $\Omega_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_1$ , respectively. Let  $D = \{(\omega_1, \omega_2) \in \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 : \omega_1 = \omega_2\}$ . We have  $D_{\omega_1} \in \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $D^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1$  for every  $\omega_1 \in \Omega_1$  and  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , but  $D \notin \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ .

PROOF. For every  $\omega_1$ , we have  $D_{\omega_1} = \{\omega_2\}$  with  $\omega_2 = \omega_1$ . For every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , we have  $D^{\omega_2} = \{\omega_1\}$  with  $\omega_1 = \omega_2$ . Hence,  $D_{\omega_1} \in \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $D^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1$ .

- EXERCISE 244 (10.1.2). Let  $A \subseteq \Omega_1$  and  $B \subseteq \Omega_2$ .
- a. Suppose that  $A \times B \neq \emptyset$ . Then  $A \times B \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  iff  $A \in \mathcal{F}_1$  and  $B \in \mathcal{F}_2$ .
- b. Suppose that  $A \times B = \emptyset$ . Then obviously  $A \times B \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ , but it is not always the case that  $A \in \mathcal{F}_1$  and  $B \in \mathcal{F}_2$ .

PROOF. (a) The *if* part is evident since  $\mathscr{F}_1 \times \mathscr{F}_2 \subseteq \mathscr{F}_1 \otimes \mathscr{F}_2$ . Now take an arbitrary  $\omega_1 \in A$  (such a point exists because  $A \times B \neq \emptyset$  implies that  $A \neq \emptyset$ ). Then  $(A \times B)_{\omega_1} = B \in \mathscr{F}_2$ . Similarly we show that  $A \in \mathscr{F}_1$ .

**(b)** If there exists  $A \notin \mathcal{F}_1$ , then we have  $A \times \emptyset = \emptyset \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ . But obviously  $A \notin \mathcal{F}_1$ .

► EXERCISE 245 (10.1.3). *Prove the following set-theoretical facts.* 

- a. Let  $A_1 \times B_1$  and  $A_2 \times B_2$  both be nonempty. Then  $A_1 \times B_1 \subseteq A_2 \times B_2$  iff  $A_1 \subseteq A_2$ and  $B_1 \subseteq B_2$ .
- b. Let  $A_1 \times B_1$  and  $A_2 \times B_2$  both be nonempty. Then  $A_1 \times B_1 = A_2 \times B_2$  iff  $A_1 = A_2$ and  $B_1 = B_2$ .
- c. Let  $A \times B$ ,  $A_1 \times B_1$ , and  $A_2 \times B_2$  be nonempty. Then  $A \times B$  is the disjoint union of  $A_1 \times B_1$  and  $A_2 \times B_2$  iff either (i) A is the disjoint union of  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  and  $B = B_1 = B_2$  or (ii)  $A = A_1 = A_2$  and B is the disjoint union of  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ .
- d. *The "only if" parts of (a) and (b) do not necessarily hold for empty Cartesian products. What about (c)?*

PROOF. (a) The *if* part is automatic, so we only do the *only if* part. Suppose that  $A_1 \times B_1 \subseteq A_2 \times B_2$ . If, say,  $A_1 \not\subseteq A_2$ , then there exists  $\omega'_1 \in A_1 \setminus A_2$ . Take an arbitrary  $\omega_2 \in B_1$ . Then  $(\omega'_1, \omega_2) \in A_1 \times B_1$  but  $(\omega'_1, \omega_2) \notin A_2 \times B_2$ . A contradiction.

**(b)** Using the fact that  $A_1 \times B_1 = A_2 \times B_2$  iff  $A_1 \times B_1 \subseteq A_2 \times B_2$  and  $A_2 \times B_2 \subseteq A_1 \times B_1$ , and the result in (a), we get the desired outcome.

(c) Straightforward.

► EXERCISE 246 (10.1.5). Let  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  denote  $\sigma$ -fields on  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$ , respectively. It may not be the case that  $\mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ .

PROOF. Consider  $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathcal{B}^k, \lambda_k)$  and  $(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{B}^m, \lambda_m)$ . Then  $\mathcal{B}^k \times \mathcal{B}^m \subset \mathcal{B}^k \otimes \mathcal{B}^m$ .  $\Box$ 

EXERCISE 247 (10.1.6). Prove Claims 2(b) and 3(b) by mimicking the proofs of Claims 2(a) and 3(a).

PROOF. (2(b)) We show that if  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ , then  $E^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1$  for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . Define

$$\mathcal{D} = \{ E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2 : E^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1 \text{ for every } \omega_2 \in \Omega_2 \}.$$

First observe that  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \in \mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $(\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2)^{\omega_2} = \Omega_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$ for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . Therefore,  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \in \mathcal{D}$ . Next, if  $E \in \mathcal{D}$ , then we have  $E^c \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $(E^c)^{\omega_2} = (E^{\omega_2})^c \in \mathcal{F}_1$  for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , so that  $E^c \in \mathcal{D}$ . Next, if  $\{E_n\}$  is a sequence of  $\mathcal{D}$ -sets, then  $\bigcup E_n \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $(\bigcup E_n)^{\omega_2} = \bigcup (E_n)^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1$  for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , whence  $\bigcup E_n \in \mathcal{D}$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{D}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$  and  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ . We desire to strengthen this inclusion to an equality. To do this, let  $E_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  and  $E_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$ . Then for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$  we have

$$(E_1 \times E_2)^{\omega_2} = \begin{cases} E_1 & \text{if } \omega_2 \in E_2 \\ \varnothing & \text{if } \omega_2 \notin E_2 \end{cases} \in \mathcal{F}_1.$$

This shows that  $\mathcal{F}_1 \times \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ . Since  $\mathcal{D}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed, we have  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ . This yields  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ .

(3(b)) We show that if  $f: \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  be  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable, then  $f^{\omega_2}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . To do this, first consider the case of  $f = \mathbb{1}_E$ , where  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ . Next, pick  $\omega_1 \in \Omega_1$  and  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . We have

$$(\mathbb{1}_E)^{\omega_2}(\omega_1) = 1 \iff \mathbb{1}_E(\omega_1, \omega_2) = 1 \iff (\omega_1, \omega_2) \in E \iff \omega_1 \in E^{\omega_2}$$
$$\iff \mathbb{1}_E^{\omega_2}(\omega_1) = 1,$$

and hence

$$(\mathbb{1}_E)^{\omega_2} = \mathbb{1}_{E^{\omega_2}}$$

By Claim 2(b),  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  forces  $E^{\omega_2} \in \mathcal{F}_1$ . Therefore, if  $f = \mathbb{1}_E$  where  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ , we have that  $f^{\omega_2}$  is the indicator function  $\mathbb{1}_{E^{\omega_2}}$  of the  $\mathcal{F}_1$ -set  $E^{\omega_2}$ , and hence is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. This proves 3(b) when f is an indicator function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$  of a set in  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$ .

Next, let  $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{E_i}$ , where  $E_1, \ldots, E_n \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  are disjoint with union  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$  and  $c_1, \ldots, c_n \in \mathbb{R}$ , so that f is an  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable simple function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ . For every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , observe that  $f^{\omega_2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \mathbb{1}_{(E_i)^{\omega_2}}$ , a finite linear combination of the indicator functions  $(\mathbb{1}_{E_1})^{\omega_2}, \ldots, (\mathbb{1}_{E_n})^{\omega_2}$ , and each of these is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable by the previous paragraph. It follows that  $f^{\omega_2}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . This proves the result when f is an  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable simple function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ .

Next, suppose that f is a nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ . There exists a nondecreasing sequence  $\{s_n\}$  of nonnegative finite-valued  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable simple functions on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$  with  $\lim_n s_n = f$ . By the previous paragraph, we have that  $(s_n)^{\omega_2}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since

$$f^{\omega_2} = \left(\lim_n s_n\right)^{\omega_2} = \lim_n (s_n)^{\omega_2}$$

for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , we have that  $f^{\omega_2}$  is the limit of a sequence of  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions and hence is itself  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. This proves the result when f is a nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ .

Finally, if f is a general  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable function on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ , then the functions  $f^+$  and  $f^-$ , both being nonnegative  $\mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ , are such that  $(f^+)^{\omega_2}$  and  $(f^-)^{\omega_2}$  are  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ . Observing that

$$f^{\omega_2} = (f^+ - f^-)^{\omega_2} = (f^+)^{\omega_2} - (f^-)^{\omega_2}$$

for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$ , we see for every  $\omega_2 \in \Omega_2$  that  $f^{\omega_2}$  is the difference of two  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable functions on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$  and hence is  $\mathcal{F}_1/\mathcal{B}^*$ -measurable. This completes the proof.

► EXERCISE 248 (10.1.7). The product of  $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathcal{B}^k, \lambda_k)$  and  $(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{B}^m, \lambda_m)$  is

$$(\mathbb{R}^{k+m}, \mathcal{B}^{k+m}, \lambda_{k+m}).$$

In other words,  $\mathcal{B}^k \otimes \mathcal{B}^m = \mathcal{B}^{k+m}$  and  $\lambda_k \otimes \lambda_m = \lambda_{k+m}$ .

PROOF. We first show that  $\mathscr{B}^k \otimes \mathscr{B}^m = \mathscr{B}^{k+m}$  visa showing that  $\mathscr{B}^k \times \mathscr{B}^m \subset \mathscr{B}^{k+m}$  (proper subset). Consider the projection  $\pi_k : \mathbb{R}^{k+m} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ . Let  $\mathscr{O}^k$  and  $\mathscr{O}^{k+m}$  be the set of open sets of  $\mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\mathbb{R}^{k+m}$ , respectively. Endowed with Tychonoff' topology,  $\pi_k$  is continuous. Hence,

$$\pi_k^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^k) = \pi_k^{-1}(\sigma(\mathcal{O}^k)) = \sigma(\pi_k^{-1}(\mathcal{O}^k)) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{O}^{k+m}) = \mathcal{B}^{k+m}.$$

Similarly, we have  $\pi_m^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^m) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^{k+m}$ . Therefore,

$$\mathcal{B}^k \times \mathcal{B}^m = \pi_k^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^k) \cap \pi_m^{-1}(\mathcal{B}^m) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^{k+m}.$$

To see that the containment is strict, observe that the open unit ball D in  $\mathcal{B}^{k+m}$  cannot be written as  $A_1 \times A_2$  with  $A_1 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $A_2 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ , let along with  $A_1 \in \mathcal{B}^k$  and  $A_2 \in \mathcal{B}^m$ . From the above argument, we have

$$\mathcal{B}^k \otimes \mathcal{B}^m = \sigma(\mathcal{B}^k \times \mathcal{B}^m) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^{k+m}.$$

Define  $A_1$  = intervals of the form  $(-\infty, x]$ . We have  $A_1^{k+m} = A_1^k \times A_1^m \subseteq \mathcal{B}^k \times \mathcal{B}^m$ ; hence,

$$\mathcal{B}^{k+m} = \sigma(\mathcal{A}_1^{k+m}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{B}^k \times \mathcal{B}^m) = \mathcal{B}^k \otimes \mathcal{B}^m$$

It follows from Claim 4 of Section 4.2 that  $\lambda_{k+m}(A \times B) = \lambda_k(A)\lambda_m(B)$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}^k$  and  $B \in \mathcal{B}^m$ . Since  $(\mathbb{R}^k, \mathcal{B}^k, \lambda_k)$  and  $(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{B}^m, \lambda_m)$  are  $\sigma$ -finite, by Claim 6 we have  $\lambda_{k+m} = \lambda_k \otimes \lambda_m$ .

► EXERCISE 249 (10.1.8). Let  $\Omega_1 = \Omega_2 = [0, 1]$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{F}_2$  denote the Borel subsets of [0, 1]. Let  $\mu_1$  denote Lebesgue measure restricted to  $\mathcal{F}_1$ , and let  $\mu_2$  denote the counting measure on [0, 1]. Let  $E = \{(\omega_1, \omega_2) \in \Omega_1 \times \Omega_2 : \omega_1 = \omega_2\}$ .

a. 
$$E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$$
.

- b.  $\int_{\Omega_1} \mu_2(E_{\omega_1}) d\mu_1(\omega_1) = 1.$
- c.  $\int_{\Omega_2} \mu_1(E^{\omega_2}) d\mu_2(\omega_2) = 0.$

**PROOF.** (a) We prove  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  by showing that *E* is closed in  $[0, 1] \times [0, 1]$ . It is true because [0, 1] is Hausdorff (see Willard, 2004, Theorem 13.7).

**(b)** Since  $\mu_2$  is a counting measure, we have

$$\int_{\Omega_1} \mu_2(E_{\omega_1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1(\omega_1) = \int_{\Omega_1} \mu_2(\omega_2) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1(\omega_1) = \int_{\Omega_1} 1 \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1(\omega_1) = 1.$$

(c) We have

$$\int_{\Omega_2} \mu_1(E^{\omega_2}) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_2(\omega_2) = \int_{\Omega_2} \mu_1(\omega_1) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_2(\omega_2) = \int_{\Omega_2} 0 \,\mathrm{d}\mu_2(\omega_2) = 0. \qquad \Box$$

► EXERCISE 250 (10.1.10, Cavalieri's Principle). If  $E, F \in \mathcal{F}_1 \otimes \mathcal{F}_2$  are such that  $\mu_2(E_{\omega_1}) = \mu_2(F_{\omega_1})$  for every  $\omega_1 \in \Omega_1$ , then  $\mu_1 \otimes \mu_2(E) = \mu_1 \otimes \mu_2(F)$ .

PROOF. We have

$$\mu_1 \otimes \mu_2(E) = \int_{\Omega_1} \mu_2(E_{\omega_1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1 = \int_{\Omega_1} \mu_2(F_{\omega_1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1 = \mu_1 \otimes \mu_2(F). \qquad \Box$$

## **10.2 THE FUBINI THEOREMS**

# 11

## ARBITRARY PRODUCTS OF MEASURE SPACES

#### **11.1 NOTATION AND CONVENTIONS**

► EXERCISE 251 (11.1.1). Let  $\Omega_1$  denote a nonempty set, and let  $\mathcal{A}$  denote a nonempty collection of subsets of  $\Omega_1$ . Let  $\Omega_2$  denote a nonempty set, and let  $\mathcal{B}$  denote a nonempty collection of subsets of  $\Omega_2$ .

a. Let  $B \subseteq \Omega_2$  be nonempty. Then  $\sigma_{\Omega_1 \times B}(A \times \{B\}) = \sigma(A) \times \{B\}$ .

b.  $\sigma(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) = \sigma(\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \sigma(\mathcal{B})).$ 

PROOF. (a) Since  $A \times \{B\} \subseteq \sigma(A) \times \{B\}$ , and  $\sigma(A) \times \{B\}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega_1 \times B$ , we get

$$\sigma_{\Omega_1 \times B}(\mathcal{A} \times \{B\}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \{B\}.$$

To see the converse inclusion, define

$$\mathcal{C} := \left\{ A \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}) : A \times B \in \sigma_{\Omega \times B}(\mathcal{A} \times \{B\}) \right\}.$$

If  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , then  $A \times B \in \mathcal{A} \times \{B\} \subseteq \sigma_{\Omega_1 \times B}(\mathcal{A} \times \{B\})$ , so  $A \in \mathcal{C}$ ; thus  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . We then show that  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field. (i)  $\Omega_1 \in \mathcal{C}$ . (ii) If  $A \in \mathcal{C}$ , then  $(A \times B)^c = A^c \times B \in \sigma_{\Omega_1 \times B}(\mathcal{A} \times \{B\})$ , i.e.,  $A^c \in \mathcal{C}$ . (iii) If  $\{A_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ , then  $(\bigcup A_n) \times B = \bigcup (A_n \times B)$ , i.e.,  $\bigcup A_n \in \mathcal{C}$ . Therefore,  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{C}$ .

**(b)** Since  $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \sigma(\mathcal{B})$ , we have

$$\sigma(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) \subseteq \sigma(\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \sigma(\mathcal{B})).$$

Next, for every  $B \in \sigma(\mathcal{B})$  we have  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \{B\} = \sigma_{\Omega_1 \times B}(\mathcal{A} \times \{B\}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$  by (a). Therefore,

$$\bigcup_{B\in\sigma(\mathscr{B})} \left[\sigma(\mathscr{A})\times\{B\}\right] \subseteq \sigma(\mathscr{A}\times\mathscr{B});$$

that is,  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \sigma(\mathcal{B}) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$ . But then  $\sigma(\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \times \sigma(\mathcal{B})) \subseteq \sigma(\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$ .  $\Box$ 

EXERCISE 252 (11.1.2). Prove the claim in the Identification Lemma for the case where P is a two-element set, which case is really the only one that we use.

**PROOF.** By the assumption,  $P = \{1, 2\}$ . Then

$$\mathcal{N}_0 = \mathcal{F}_{D_1} \times \mathcal{F}_{D_2}.$$

Let  $A_1$  denote the collection of sets of the form  $X_{i \in D_1} A_i$ , where  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$  for each  $i \in D_1$  and at most finitely many  $A_i$ 's differ from  $\Omega_i$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}_{D_1} = \sigma(A_1)$ . Let  $A_2$  denote the collection of sets of the form  $X_{i \in D_2} A_i$ , where  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$  for each  $i \in D_2$  and at most finitely many  $A_i$ 's differ from  $\Omega_i$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}_{D_2} = \sigma(A_2)$ , and

$$\mathcal{N}_1 = \mathcal{A}_1 \times \mathcal{A}_2.$$

Therefore,  $\sigma(\mathcal{N}_0) = \sigma(\mathcal{N}_1)$  iff

$$\sigma(\sigma(\mathcal{A}_1) \times \sigma(\mathcal{A}_2)) = \sigma(\mathcal{A}_1 \times \mathcal{A}_2).$$

The above equality follows from Exercise 251(b) immediately.

• EXERCISE 253 (11.1.3). Prove the Identification Lemma in full generality for the case where P is an arbitrary set.

PROOF. By definition,  $\mathcal{N}_0$  is the collection of sets  $X_{p \in P} A_{D_p}$ , where  $A_{D_p} \in \mathcal{F}_{D_p}$  for each  $p \in P$  and  $A_{D_p} \neq \Omega_{D_p}$  for at most finitely many  $p \in P$ . Further,  $\mathcal{N}_1$  is the collection of sets of the form

$$\underset{p \in P}{\times} \left( \underset{i \in D_p}{\times} A_i \right),$$

where  $A_i \neq \Omega_i$  for at most finitely many  $i \in \bigcup_{p \in P} D_p$ . For each  $p \in P$ , let  $\mathcal{A}_{D_p}$  denote the collection of  $\bigotimes_{i \in D_p} A_i$ . We then have

$$\sigma(\mathcal{N}_0) = \sigma\left( \bigotimes_{p \in P} \mathcal{F}_{D_p} \right),$$
  
$$\sigma(\mathcal{N}_1) = \sigma\left( \bigotimes_{p \in P} \mathcal{A}_{D_p} \right).$$

Notice that  $\mathcal{F}_{D_p} = \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{D_p})$  for every  $p \in P$ . Thus we need to show that

$$\sigma\left( \bigotimes_{p \in P} \sigma(\mathcal{A}_{D_p}) \right) = \sigma\left( \bigotimes_{p \in P} \mathcal{A}_{D_p} \right).$$

Generalizing the result in Exercise 251(b) yields the desired outcome.

► EXERCISE 254 (11.1.4). Show that  $\mathcal{E}_F$  is a semiring on  $\Omega_F$ .

**PROOF.** Given a finite subset  $F \subseteq I$ , we define  $\mathcal{E}_F$  by writing

$$\mathcal{E}_F = \left\{ \bigotimes_{i \in F} A_i : A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i \text{ for every } i \in F \right\}.$$

Clearly,  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{E}_F$ . Take two sets  $B, C \in \mathcal{E}_F$  and write them as  $B = \bigotimes_{i \in F} B_i$  and  $C = \bigotimes_{i \in F} C_i$ , where  $B_i, C_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$  for each  $i \in F$ . Then

$$B \cap C = \left( \bigotimes_{i \in F} B_i \right) \cap \left( \bigotimes_{i \in F} C_i \right) = \bigotimes_{i \in F} (B_i \cap C_i) \in \mathcal{E}_F.$$

Finally, suppose that  $\emptyset \neq B \subseteq C$  (otherwise the proof is trivial). Then  $B_i \subseteq C_i$  for every  $i \in F$ . It is easy to see that  $C \setminus B$  is a finite disjoint union of  $\mathcal{E}_F$ -sets.

► EXERCISE 255 (11.1.5). Let  $\mathcal{A}$  denote a semiring on  $\Omega_1$ , and let  $\mathcal{B}$  denote a semiring on  $\Omega_2$ . Then  $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$  is a semiring on  $\Omega_1 \times \Omega_2$ .

PROOF. It is evident that  $A \times B$  contains  $\emptyset$  and is a  $\pi$ -system. Now let  $A_1 \times B_1 \subseteq A_2 \times B_2$ , where  $A_1, A_2 \in A$  and  $B_1, B_2 \in B$ . Then  $A_1 \subseteq A_2$  and  $B_1 \subseteq B_2$ , and

$$(A_2 \times B_2) \smallsetminus (A_1 \times B_1) = [A_1 \times (B_2 \smallsetminus B_1)] \sqcup [(A_2 \smallsetminus A_1) \times B_2]$$

Observe that  $B_2 \sim B_1$  may be written as a finite disjoint union  $\bigsqcup_{i=1}^k D_i$  of  $\mathcal{B}$ -sets, and  $A_2 \sim A_1$  may be written as a finite disjoint union  $\bigsqcup_{j=1}^\ell C_j$ . It follows that

$$(A_2 \times B_2) \setminus (A_1 \times B_1) = \left[ A_1 \times \left( \bigsqcup_{i=1}^k D_i \right) \right] \sqcup \left[ \left( \bigsqcup_{j=1}^\ell C_j \right) \times B_2 \right]$$
$$= \left[ \bigsqcup_{i=1}^k (A_1 \times D_i) \right] \sqcup \left[ \bigsqcup_{j=1}^\ell (C_j \times B_2) \right].$$

Hence  $(A_2 \times B_2) \setminus (A_1 \times B_1)$  is a finite disjoint union of sets in  $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ .

#### **11.2 CONSTRUCTION OF THE PRODUCT MEASURE**

- ► EXERCISE 256 (11.2.1). *Refer to the proof of Claim 4.*
- a. Prove Subclaim 1.
- b. Prove Subclaim 2.
- c. Why can't we use the same type of proof as used to demonstrate the finite additivity of  $\mu$  to show that  $\mu$  as defined on  $\mathcal{H}$  is countably additive?

PROOF. (a) We show that if  $A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1}$ , then there exists  $C_{F_1 \cup F_2} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$  with the property that

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}(A_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_1^c}) = \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1}(C_{F_1 \cup F_2} \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c}).$$
(11.1)

Define the collection

 $\mathcal{C} := \left\{ A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1} : \text{there is } C_{F_1 \cup F_2} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2} \text{ such that (11.1) holds} \right\}.$ 

Then  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{F_1}$ .

We first show that  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . Take an arbitrary  $X_{i \in F_1} A_i \in \mathcal{E}_{F_1}$ . Then

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}\left[\left(\bigotimes_{i\in F_1} A_i\right)\times \mathcal{Q}_{F_1^c}\right] = \bigotimes_{i\in I} Q_i,$$

where  $Q_i = A_i$  for each  $i \in F_1$  and  $Q_i = \Omega_i$  for each  $i \in F_1^c$ . Define the set

$$C_{F_1\cup F_2}= \bigotimes_{i\in F_1\cup F_2} R_i,$$

where  $R_i = A_i$  for each  $i \in F_1$  and  $R_i = \Omega_i$  for each  $i \in F_2$ . We have  $C_{F_1 \cup F_2} \in \mathcal{E}_{F_1 \cup F_2} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$ , and

$$\Phi_{F_1\cup F_2}^{-1}\left[C_{F_1\cup F_2}\times\Omega_{(F_1\cup F_2)^c}\right]=\underset{i\in I}{\times}Q_i.$$

Comparing the last two displayed equations shows that  $X_{i \in F_1} A_i \in \mathcal{C}$ . That is, we have  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ .

We now turn to showing that  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed on  $\Omega_{F_1}$ . We first show that  $\Omega_{F_1} \in \mathcal{C}$ . This is because

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}(\Omega_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_1^c}) = \Omega = \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1}(\Omega_{F_1 \cup F_2} \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c}),$$

and  $\Omega_{F_1 \cup F_2} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$ . We now discuss closure under complementation. Suppose that  $A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{C}$ , and let  $C_{F_1 \cup F_2} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$  be such that (11.1) holds. Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1}(A_{F_{1}}^{c} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}}) &= \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left[ (\Omega_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}}) \smallsetminus (A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}}) \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1}(\Omega_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}}) \smallsetminus \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1}(A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}}) \\ &= \Phi_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}}^{-1} \left( \Omega_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}} \times \Omega_{(F_{1}\cup F_{2})^{c}} \right) \smallsetminus \Phi_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}}^{-1} \left( C_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}} \times \Omega_{(F_{1}\cup F_{2})^{c}} \right) \\ &= \Phi_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}} \times \Omega_{(F_{1}\cup F_{2})^{c}} \right) \smallsetminus \left( C_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}} \times \Omega_{(F_{1}\cup F_{2})^{c}} \right) \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}}^{-1} \left( C_{F_{1}\cup F_{2}}^{c} \times \Omega_{(F_{1}\cup F_{2})^{c}} \right) . \end{split}$$

Since  $C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^c \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$ , it follows that  $A_{F_1}^c \in \mathcal{C}$ .

We now show that  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under countable intersections. Let  $\{A_{F_1}^{(n)}\} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ , and let  $C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$  denote the corresponding sets for  $A_{F_1}^{(n)}$  that satisfies (11.1) for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}\left(A_{F_1}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_1^c}\right) = \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1}\left(C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c}\right).$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{F_1}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{F_1}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{F_1^c} \right] &= \Phi_{F_1}^{-1} \left[ \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( A_{F_1}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_1^c} \right) \right] \\ &= \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{F_1}^{-1} \left( A_{F_1}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_1^c} \right) \\ &= \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1} \left( C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c} \right) \\ &= \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1} \left[ \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c} \right) \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{(F_1 \cup F_2)^c} \right]. \end{split}$$

Since  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} C_{F_1 \cup F_2}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1 \cup F_2}$ , it follows that  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{F_1}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{C}$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed on  $\Omega_{F_1}$ , and  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_{F_1} = \mathcal{C}$ .

**(b)** We prove that if  $A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1}$ , then

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}(A_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_1^c}) = \Phi_{F_3}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_1,F_3}^{-1}(A_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_3 \smallsetminus F_1}) \times \Omega_{F_3^c} \right].$$
(11.2)

Let

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{F}_{F_1} : (11.2) \text{ holds for } A_{F_1} \right\}.$$

We first show that  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . Pick  $\bigotimes_{i \in F_1} A_i \in \mathcal{E}_{F_1}$ . Then

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}\left[\left(\bigotimes_{i\in F_1} A_i\right)\times \mathcal{Q}_{F_1^c}\right] = \bigotimes_{i\in I} Q_i,$$

where  $Q_i = A_i$  for each  $i \in F_1$  and  $Q_i = \Omega_i$  for each  $i \in F_1^c$ . Similarly, we have

$$\Phi_{F_1,F_3}^{-1}\left[\left(\underset{i\in F_1}{\times}A_i\right)\times\Omega_{F_3\smallsetminus F_1}\right]=\underset{i\in F_3}{\times}R_i,$$

where  $R_i = A_i$  for each  $i \in F_1$  and  $R_i = \Omega_i$  for each  $i \in F_3 \smallsetminus F_1$ . Hence,

$$\Phi_{F_3}^{-1}\left[\Phi_{F_1,F_3}^{-1}\left(\left(\bigotimes_{i\in F_1}A_{F_1}\right)\times\Omega_{F_3\smallsetminus F_1}\right)\times\Omega_{F_3^c}\right]=\Phi_{F_3}^{-1}\left(\bigotimes_{i\in F_3}R_i\right)=\bigotimes_{i\in I}S_i,$$

where

$$S_{i} = \begin{cases} R_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{3} \\ \Omega_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{3}^{c} \end{cases} = \begin{cases} A_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{1} \\ \Omega_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1} \end{cases} = \begin{cases} A_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{1} \\ \Omega_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{3}^{c} \end{cases}$$
$$\Omega_{i} & \text{if } i \in F_{3}^{c} \end{cases}$$

Therefore,  $X_{i \in F_1} A_i \in \mathcal{C}$ ; that is,  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ .

We next show that  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega_{F_1}$ . It is clear that

$$\Phi_{F_1}^{-1}(\Omega_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_1^c}) = \Omega = \Phi_{F_3}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_1,F_3}^{-1}(\Omega_{F_1} \times \Omega_{F_3 \smallsetminus F_1}) \times \Omega_{F_3^c} \right],$$

so  $\Omega_{F_1} \in \mathcal{C}$ . Now suppose that  $A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{C}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}}^{c} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) &= \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \smallsetminus \left( A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left( \Omega_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \land \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \\ &= \Omega \smallsetminus \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1}} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{F_{3}} \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right) \smallsetminus \left( \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1}} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right) \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{F_{3}} \smallsetminus \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}} \times \Omega_{F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1}} \right) \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}}^{c} \times \Omega_{F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1}} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right]; \end{split}$$

that is,  $A_{F_1}^c \in \mathcal{C}$  whenever  $A_{F_1} \in \mathcal{C}$ . We finally show that  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under countable intersections. Take an arbitrary sequence  $\{A_{F_1}^{(n)}\} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{F_{1}}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right] &= \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left[ \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( A_{F_{1}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \right] \\ &= \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{F_{1}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_{1}^{c}} \right) \\ &= \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( A_{F_{1}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{F_{3} \smallsetminus F_{1}} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{F_{3}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi_{F_{1},F_{3}}^{-1} \left( \left( \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{F_{1}}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3} \land F_{1}} \right) \times \Omega_{F_{3}^{c}} \right] . \end{split}$$

Thus,  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field containing  $\mathcal{E}_{F_1}$ , and so  $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{F}_{F_1}$ .

(c) Given a sequence  $\{F_n\}$  of finite subsets of *I*, it is not necessarily the case that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n$  is a finite subset of *I*.

▶ EXERCISE 257 (11.2.2). Prove equalities (\*) and (\*\*) given in the proof of Subclaim 3 of Claim 7.

PROOF. (\*) Take  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $\Phi \colon \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}} \to \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}}$  be the bijection that associates each  $(\omega_1,\dots,\omega_{m+j})$  with  $((\omega_1,\dots,\omega_m),(\omega_{m+1},\dots,\omega_{m+j}))$ . We first prove

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c}\right) = \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[\Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}}\right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^c}\right]. \quad (*)$$

Define

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}_m} : (*) \text{ holds for } A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \right\}.$$

As usual, we show that  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{N}_m} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed on  $\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ . Let  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} = \bigotimes_{i=1}^m A_i$ , where  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$  for each  $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$ . Then

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1}\left[\left(\bigotimes_{i=1}^m A_i\right) \times \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbb{N}_m^c}\right] = A_1 \times \cdots \times A_m \times \mathcal{Q}_{m+1} \times \mathcal{Q}_{m+2} \times \cdots,$$

and

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigotimes_{i=1}^{m} A_{i} \right) \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right] \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right]$$
$$= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{-1}}^{-1} \left[ \left( A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \Omega_{m+1} \times \dots \times \Omega_{m+j} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right]$$
$$= A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \Omega_{m+1} \times \Omega_{m+2} \times \dots$$

Hence,  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{N}_m} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ .

We turn to show that  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -field on  $\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ . It is evident that  $\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{C}$  since

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1}\left(\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}\times\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c}\right)=\Omega=\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1}\left[\Phi^{-1}\left(\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)\times\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^c}\right].$$

Now suppose that  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{C}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1} \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^c \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c} \right) &= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c} \right) \smallsetminus \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c} \right) \right] \\ &= \Omega \smallsetminus \left( A_1 \times \cdots \times A_m \times \Omega_{m+1} \times \Omega_{m+2} \times \cdots \right), \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi^{-1} \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{c} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}} \setminus \left( A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \Omega_{m+1} \times \dots \times \Omega_{m+j} \right) \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}} \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right) \\ &\quad \wedge \left( \left( A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \Omega_{m+j} \times \dots \times \Omega_{m+j} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right) \right] \\ &= \Omega \wedge \left( A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \Omega_{m+1} \times \Omega_{m+2} \times \dots \right); \end{split}$$

that is,  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{C}$  forces  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^c \in \mathcal{C}$ . To verify that  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under countable unions, take an arbitrary sequence  $\{A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}\} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$ . We then have

$$\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1}\left[\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}\right)\times\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c}\right]=\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}\Phi_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}\times\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m^c}\right),$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi^{-1} \left( \left( \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi^{-1} \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right) \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}}^{-1} \left[ \Phi^{-1} \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}^{c}} \right] \\ &= \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{-1} \left( A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m}^{c}} \right) \\ &= \Phi_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \right) \times \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m}^{c}} \right]. \end{split}$$

Hence,  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{C}$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{C}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed containing  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ , and so  $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ .

(**\*\***) We now prove

$$\mathbb{1}_{\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{n+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right)$$

$$=\mathbb{1}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{n+1},\ldots,\omega_{m}\right).$$
(\*\*)

Define

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}_m} : (**) \text{ holds for each } \omega_{n+1} \in \Omega_{n+1}, \dots, \omega_m \in \Omega_m \right\}.$$

Once again, we prove this claim by showing that  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{N}_m} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  is a  $\sigma$ -filed on  $\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ .

Let  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} = \bigotimes_{i=1}^m A_i$ , where  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ . Then

$${}^{1} \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1} \Big[ \big( \bigotimes_{i=1}^{m} A_{i} \big) \times \boldsymbol{\Omega}_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \Big]^{\left( \xi_{1},\dots,\xi_{n},\omega_{n+1},\dots,\omega_{m+j} \right)} = 1$$

$$\iff \left( \xi_{1},\dots,\xi_{n},\omega_{n+1},\dots,\omega_{m+j} \right) \in \boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1} \left[ \left( \bigotimes_{i=1}^{m} A_{i} \right) \times \boldsymbol{\Omega}_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}} \right]$$

$$\iff \left( \xi_{1},\dots,\xi_{n},\omega_{n+1},\dots,\omega_{m+j} \right) \in A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m} \times \boldsymbol{\Omega}_{m+1} \times \dots \times \boldsymbol{\Omega}_{m+j}$$

$$\iff \left( \xi_{1},\dots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\dots,\omega_{m} \right) \in A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m}$$

$$\iff \mathbb{1}_{A_{1} \times \dots \times A_{m}} \left( \xi_{1},\dots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\dots,\omega_{m} \right) = 1;$$

that is,  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbb{N}_m} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ .

We next show that  $\mathcal D$  is a  $\sigma\text{-field}$  on  $\mathcal \Omega_{\mathbb N_m}.$  It is easy to see that

$$\mathbb{1}_{\Phi^{-1}(\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}})} (\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_n,\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j})$$
  
= 1 =  $\mathbb{1}_{\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m}} (\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_n,\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_m),$ 

so  $\Omega_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{D}$ . Suppose that  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{D}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{I}_{\Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{c}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right) &= 1\\ \iff \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right) \in \Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{c}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)\\ \iff \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right) \in \Omega_{\mathbb{N}_{m+j}} \smallsetminus \Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)\\ \iff \mathbb{I}_{\Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right) = 0\\ \iff \mathbb{I}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m}\right) = 0\\ \iff \mathbb{I}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{c}}\left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m}\right) = 1. \end{split}$$

Hence,  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^c \in \mathcal{D}$  whenever  $A_{\mathbb{N}_m} \in \mathcal{D}$ . Finally, we verify that  $\mathcal{D}$  is closed under countable unions. Take an arbitrary sequence  $\{A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}\} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ . Observe that

$$\mathbb{1}_{\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1}\left[\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)}\right)\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}}\right]} = \mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}}\right)}$$
$$= \sup_{n}\mathbb{1}_{\boldsymbol{\Phi}^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)}\times\Omega_{\{m+1,\dots,m+j\}}\right)},$$

and

$$\mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}} = \sup_n \mathbb{1}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)}}.$$

Since

$$\mathbb{1}_{\Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)} \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right)$$
$$= \mathbb{1}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)}} \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m}\right)$$

for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we get

$$\sup_{n} \mathbb{I}_{\Phi^{-1}\left(A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)} \times \Omega_{\{m+1,\ldots,m+j\}}\right)} \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m+j}\right)$$
$$= \sup_{n} \mathbb{I}_{A_{\mathbb{N}_{m}}^{(n)}} \left(\xi_{1},\ldots,\xi_{n},\omega_{m+1},\ldots,\omega_{m}\right);$$

that is,  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{\mathbb{N}_m}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{D}$ . This proves that  $\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{N}_m}$ .

## References

- ALIPRANTIS, CHARALAMBOS D. AND KIM C. BORDER (2006) *Infinite Dimensional Analysis: A Hitchhiker's Guide*, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 3rd edition.
   [7]
- [2] ASH, ROBERT B. (2009) *Real Variables with Basic Metric Space Topology*, New York: Dover Publications, Inc. [35, 79]
- [3] ASH, ROBERT B. AND CATHERINE A. DOLÉANS-DADE (2000) *Probability & Measure Theory*, New York: Academic Press, 2nd edition. [16, 25, 27]
- [4] ATHREYA, KRISHNA B. AND SOUMENDRA N. LAHIRI (2006) *Measure Theory and Probability Theory*: Springer-Verlag. [22]
- [5] BEAR, H. S. (2002) *A Primer of Lebesgue Integration*, San Diego, California: Academic Press, 2nd edition. [57]
- [6] BILLINGSLEY, PATRICK (1995) Probability and Measure, Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics, New York: Wiley-Interscience, 3rd edition. [27]
- [7] BOGACHEV, VLADIMIR I. (2007) *Measure Theory*, I, New York: Springer-Verlag. [7]
- [8] BROUGHTON, A. AND B. W. HUFF (1977) "A Comment on Unions of Sigma-Fields," *American Mathematical Monthly*, **84** (7), pp. 553–554. [22]
- [9] CHUNG, KAI LAI (2001) *A Course in Probability Theory*, San Diego, California: Academic Press, 3rd edition. [21, 27]
- [10] DUDLEY, RICHARD MANSFIELD (2002) *Real Analysis and Probability*, **74** of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, New York: Cambridge University Press, 2nd edition. [7]
- [11] FOLLAND, GERALD B (1999) Real Analysis: Modern Techniques and Their Applications, Pure and Applied Mathematics: A Wiley-Interscience Series of Texts, Monographs and Tracts, New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2nd edition. [16, 94, 125]

- [12] GAMELIN, THEODORE W. AND ROBERT EVERIST GREENE (1999) *Introduction to Topology*, New York: Dover Publications, Inc. 2nd edition. [23]
- [13] GEORGAKIS, CONSTANTINE (1994) "A Note on the Gaussian Integral," Mathematics Magazine, 67 (1), p. 47. [61]
- [14] HALMOS, PAUL R. (1974) *Measure Theory*, **18** of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, New York: Springer-Verlag. [73]
- [15] HEWITT, EDWIN AND KARL STROMBERG (1965) *Real and Abstract Analysis*,
   25 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, New York: Springer-Verlag. [118]
- [16] HRBACEK, KAREL AND THOMAS JECH (1999) Introduction to Set Theory, 220 of Pure and Applied Mathematics: A Series of Monographs and Textbooks, New York: Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, 3rd edition. [13]
- [17] KLENKE, ACHIM (2008) *Probability Theory: A Comprehensive Course*, Universitext, London: Springer-Verlag. [1, 2]
- [18] POLLARD, DAVID (2001) A User's Guide to Measure Theoretic Probability, Cambridge Series in Statistical and Probabilistic Mathematics: Cambridge University Press. [29]
- [19] RESNICK, SIDNEY I. (1999) A Probability Path, Boston: Birkhäuser. [41, 72, 90]
- [20] ROSENTHAL, JEFFREY S. (2006) *A First Look at Rigorous Probability Theory*, Singapore: World Scientific, 2nd edition. [35]
- [21] RUDIN, WALTER (1976) *Principles of Mathematical Analysis*, New York: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. 3rd edition. [10, 43]
- [22] (1986) *Real and Complex Analysis*, New York: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. 3rd edition. [118]
- [23] SHIRALI, SATISH AND HARKRISHAN L. VASUDEVA (2006) *Metric Spaces*, London: Springer-Verlag. [114]
- [24] VESTRUP, ERIC M. (2003) *The Theory of Measures and Integration*, Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics, Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley-Interscience. [i, 10, 26, 35, 43, 95]
- [25] WILLARD, STEPHEN (2004) *General Topology*, New York: Dover Publications, Inc. [142]

## Introduction to Set Theory

A Solution Manual for Hrbacek and Jech (1999)

Jianfei Shen

School of Economics, The University of New South Wales

Sydney, Australia

*The Lord by wisdom founded the earth, by understanding he established the heavens.* 

- Proverbs 3:19

## Contents

Preface vi					
Acknowledgements					
1	Sets		1		
	1.1	Introduction to Sets	1		
	1.2	Properties	1		
	1.3	The Axioms	1		
	1.4	Elementary Operations on Sets	3		
2	Relations, Functions, and Orderings				
	2.1	Ordered Pairs	7		
	2.2	Relations	9		
	2.3	Functions	13		
	2.4	Equivalences And Partitions	22		
	2.5	Orderings	23		
3	Natural Numbers				
	3.1	Introduction to Natural Numbers	31		
	3.2	Properties of Natural Numbers	31		
	3.3	The Recursion Theorem	34		
	3.4	Arithmetic of Natural Numbers	38		
	3.5	Operations and Structures	41		
4	Finite, Countable, and Uncountable Sets				
	4.1	Cardinality of Sets	45		
	4.2	Finite Sets	51		
	4.3	Countable Sets	54		
	4.4	Linear Orderings	59		
	4.5	Complete Linear Orderings	64		
	4.6	Uncountable Sets	68		

5	<b>Cardi</b>	inal Numbers	69	
	5.1 (	Cardinal Arithmetic	69	
	5.2 (	The Cardinality of the Continuum	73	
6	<b>Ordin</b>	<b>nal Numbers</b>	75	
	6.1 V	Well-Ordered Sets	75	
	6.2 0	Ordinal Numbers	76	
Ref	References			

## Preface

Sydney, Date Jianfei Shen

## Acknowledgements

## SETS

### **1.1 INTRODUCTION TO SETS**

No exercises.

### **1.2 PROPERTIES**

No exercises.

## **1.3 The Axioms**

► EXERCISE 1 (1.3.1). Show that the set of all *x* such that  $x \in A$  and  $x \notin B$  exists.

PROOF. Notice that

$$\{x : x \in A \text{ and } x \notin B\} = \{x \in A : x \notin B\}.$$

Then by the Axiom Schema of Comprehension, we know that such a set does exist.  $\hfill \Box$ 

► EXERCISE 2 (1.3.2). *Replace The Axiom of Existence by the following weaker postulate:* 

Weak Axiom of Existence: Some set exists.

*Prove the Axiom of Existence using the Weak Axiom of Existence and the Comprehension Schema.* 

**PROOF.** Let A be a set known to exist. By the Axiom Schema of Comprehension, there is a set X such that

$$X = \left\{ x \in A : x \neq x \right\}.$$

There is no subjects *x* satisfying  $x \neq x$ , so there is no elements in *X*, which proves the Axiom of Existence.

- ► EXERCISE 3 (1.3.3). a. *Prove that a "set of all sets" does not exist.*
- b. Prove that for any set A there is some  $x \notin A$ .

**PROOF.** (a) Suppose that there exists a *universe* set (a set of all sets)  $\mathcal{V}$ . Then by the Axiom Schema of Comprehension, there is a *set*  $B = \{x \in \mathcal{V} : x \notin x\}$ ; that is

$$x \in B \iff x \in \mathcal{V} \text{ and } x \notin x.$$
 (1.1)

Now we show that  $B \notin V$ , that is, *B* is not a set. Indeed, if  $B \in V$ , then either  $B \in B$ , or  $B \notin B$ . If  $B \in B$ , then, by the " $\Longrightarrow$ " direction of (1.1),  $B \in V$  and  $B \notin B$ . A contradiction; if  $B \notin B$ , then, by the " $\Leftarrow$ " direction of (1.1), the assumption  $B \in V$  and  $B \notin B$  yield  $B \in B$ . A contradiction again. This completes the proof that  $B \notin V$ .

**(b)** If there were a set *A* such that  $x \in A$  for all *x*, then *A* is "a set of all sets", which, as we have proven, does not exist.

► EXERCISE 4 (1.3.4). Let *A* and *B* be sets. Show that there exists a unique set *C* such that  $x \in C$  if and only if either  $x \in A$  and  $x \notin B$  or  $x \in B$  and  $x \notin A$ .

**PROOF.** Let *A* and *B* be sets. The following two sets exist:

$$C_1 = \{x : x \in A \text{ and } x \notin B\} = \{x \in A : x \notin B\},\$$
  
$$C_2 = \{x : x \notin A \text{ and } x \in B\} = \{x \in B : x \notin A\}.$$

Then  $C = C_1 \cup C_2$  exists by the Axiom of Union. The uniques of *C* follows from the Axiom of Extensionality.

- EXERCISE 5 (1.3.5). a. Given A, B, and C, there is a set P such that  $x \in P$  iff x = A or x = B or x = C.
- b. Generalize to four elements.

PROOF. (a) By the Axiom of Pair, there exist two sets:  $\{A, B\}$  and  $\{C, C\} = \{C\}$ . By the Axiom of Union, there exists set *P* satisfying  $P = \{A, B\} \cup \{C\} = \{A, B, C\}$ .

(b) Suppose there are four sets A, B, C, and D. Then the Axiom of Pair implies that there exist  $\{A, B\}$  and  $\{C, D\}$ , and the Axiom of Union implies that there exists

$$P = \{A, B\} \cup \{C, D\} = \{A, B, C, D\}.$$
PROOF. Let *X* be an arbitrary set; then there exists a set  $Y = \{u \in X : u \notin u\}$ . Obviously,  $Y \subseteq X$ , so  $Y \in \mathcal{P}(X)$  by the Axiom of Power Set. If  $Y \in X$ , then we have  $Y \in Y$  if and only if  $Y \notin Y$  [See Exercise 3(a)]. This proves that  $\mathcal{P}(X) \nsubseteq X$ , and  $\mathcal{P}(X) \neq X$  by the Axiom of Extensionality.  $\Box$ 

► EXERCISE 7 (1.3.7). The Axiom of Pair, the Axiom of Union, and the Axiom of Power Set can be replaced by the following weaker versions.

- Weak Axiom of Pair For any A and B, there is a set C such that  $A \in C$  and  $B \in C$ .
- **Weak Axiom of Union** For any *S*, there exists *U* such that if  $X \in A$  and  $A \in S$ , then  $X \in U$ .
- Weak Axiom of Power Set For any set S, there exists P such that  $X \subseteq S$  implies  $X \in P$ .

*Prove the Axiom of Pair, the Axiom of Union, and the Axiom of Power Set using these weaker versions.* 

PROOF. We just prove the first axiom. By the Weak Axiom of Pair, for any *A* and *B*, there exists a set *C*' such that  $A \in C'$  and  $B \in C'$ . Now by the Axiom Schema of Comprehension, there is a set *C* such that  $C = \{x \in C' : x = A \text{ or } x = B\}$ .

### **1.4 Elementary Operations on Sets**

► EXERCISE 8 (1.4.1). Prove all the displayed formulas in this section and visualize them using Venn diagrams.

PROOF. Omitted.

- $\blacktriangleright$  EXERCISE 9 (1.4.2). *Prove*
- a.  $A \subseteq B$  if and only if  $A \cap B = A$  if and only if  $A \cup B = B$  if and only if  $A \setminus B = \emptyset$ .
- b.  $A \subseteq B \cap C$  if and only if  $A \subseteq B$  and  $A \subseteq C$ .
- c.  $B \cup C \subseteq A$  if and only if  $B \subseteq A$  and  $C \subseteq A$ .
- d.  $A \smallsetminus B = (A \cup B) \smallsetminus B = A \smallsetminus (A \cap B)$ .
- e.  $A \cap B = A \smallsetminus (A \smallsetminus B)$ .
- f.  $A \smallsetminus (B \smallsetminus C) = (A \smallsetminus B) \cup (A \cap C)$ .

3

g. A = B if and only if  $A \Delta B = \emptyset$ .

PROOF. (a) We first prove that  $A \subseteq B \Longrightarrow A \cap B = A$ . Suppose  $A \subseteq B$ . Note that  $A \cap B \subseteq A$  is clear since  $a \in A \cap B \Longrightarrow a \in A$  and  $a \in B \Longrightarrow a \in A$ . To prove  $A \subseteq A \cap B$  under the assumption that  $A \subseteq B$ , notice that  $[a \in A] \land [A \subseteq B] \Longrightarrow [a \in A] \land [a \in B] \Longrightarrow a \in A \cap B$ . Hence,  $A \subseteq B \Longrightarrow A \cap B = A$ . To see  $A \cap B = A \Longrightarrow A \subseteq B$ , note that  $A = A \cap B \Longrightarrow A \subseteq A \cap B \Longrightarrow [A \subseteq A] \land [A \subseteq B] \Longrightarrow A \subseteq B$ .

To see  $A \subseteq B \implies A \cup B = B$ , notice first that  $B \subseteq A \cup B$  holds trivially. Hence, we need only to show  $A \cup B \subseteq B$ . But this is true because  $[a \in A \cup B] \land [A \subseteq B] \implies [a \in A \lor a \in B] \land [a \in A \implies a \in B] \implies a \in B$ . The direction  $A \cup B = B \implies A \subseteq B$  holds because  $A \cup B = B \implies A \cup B \subseteq B \implies A \subseteq B$ .

 $A \subseteq B \Longrightarrow A \setminus B = \emptyset$  holds by definition of difference of sets:  $A \setminus B := \{x \in A \mid x \notin B\}$ . By this definition, if  $A \subseteq B$  and  $a \in A$ , then  $a \in B$ , which contradicts the requirement  $a \notin B$ ; hence,  $A \setminus B = \emptyset$  when  $A \subseteq B$ . To prove  $A \setminus B = \emptyset \Longrightarrow A \subseteq B$ , we use its false antecedent. Suppose  $B \subsetneq A$ . Then there exists  $a \in A$  and  $a \notin B$  since B is a proper subset of A, but which means that  $A \setminus B \neq \emptyset$ .

**(b)** If  $A \subseteq B \cap C$ , then  $a \in A \implies a \in B \cap C \implies [a \in B] \land [a \in C]$ . The other direction is just by definition.

(c) To see  $B \cup C \subseteq A \implies B \subseteq A$  and  $C \subseteq A$ , let  $a \in B$  [ $a \in C$ ], then  $a \in B \cup C \subseteq A$  [ $a \in B \cup C \subseteq A$ ]. To prove the inverse direction, let  $a \in B$  or  $a \in C$ ; that is,  $a \in B \cup C$ . But  $B \subseteq A$  and  $C \subseteq A$ , we have  $a \in A$ , too.

(d) To prove  $A \\ B = (A \cup B) \\ B$ , notice that  $a \in (A \cup B) \\ B \iff [a \in A \lor a \in B] \land [a \notin B] \iff [a \in A] \land [a \notin B] \iff a \in A \\ B$ . To prove  $A \\ B = A \\ (A \cap B)$ , notice that

$$a \in A \smallsetminus (A \cap B) \iff [a \in A] \land [\neg (a \in A \cap B)]$$
$$\iff [a \in A] \land [\neg (a \in A \land a \in B)]$$
$$\iff [a \in A] \land [a \notin A \lor a \notin B]$$
$$\iff [a \in A] \land [a \notin B]$$
$$\iff a \in A \smallsetminus B.$$

(e)  $a \in A \setminus (A \setminus B) \iff [a \in A] \land [\neg (a \in A \setminus B)] \iff [a \in A] \land [a \notin A \lor a \in B] \iff [a \in A] \land [a \in B] \iff a \in A \cap B.$ 

(f) First,  $a \in A \setminus (B \setminus C)$  iff  $[a \in A] \wedge [\neg (a \in B \setminus C)]$  iff  $[a \in A] \wedge [a \notin B \lor a \in C]$ . Then,  $a \in (A \setminus B) \cup (A \cap C) \iff [a \in A \land a \notin B] \lor [a \in A \land a \in C] \iff [a \in A] \land [a \notin B \lor a \in C]$ .

(g)  $A = B \iff [A \subseteq B] \land [B \subseteq A] \iff [A \land B = \emptyset] \land [B \land A = \emptyset] \iff (A \land B) \cup (B \land A) = \emptyset \iff A \triangle B = \emptyset.$ 

► EXERCISE 10 (1.4.3). *Omitted.* 

► EXERCISE 11 (1.4.4). Let A be a set; show that a "complement" of A does not exist.

PROOF. Suppose  $A^c$  exists. Then, by the Axiom of Union, there is a set  $V = A \cup A^c$ . But in this case, *V* is a universe. A contradiction [See Exercise 3 (a)].  $\Box$ 

- ▶ EXERCISE 12 (1.4.5). Let  $S \neq \emptyset$  and A be sets.
- a. Set  $T_1 = \{Y \in \mathcal{O}(A) : Y = A \cap X \text{ for some } X \in S\}$ , and prove  $A \cap \bigcup S = \bigcup T_1$  (generalized distributive law).
- b. Set  $T_2 = \{Y \in \mathcal{P}(A) : Y = A \setminus X \text{ for some } X \in S\}$ , and prove  $A \setminus (\bigcup S) = \bigcap T_2$ ,  $A \setminus (\bigcap S) = \bigcup T_2$  (generalized De Morgan laws).

**PROOF.** (a)  $x \in A \cap \bigcup S$  iff  $x \in A$  and there is  $X \in S$  such that  $x \in X$  iff there exists  $X \in S$  such that  $x \in A \cap X$  iff  $x \in T_1$ .

(b) We have

$$x \in A \smallsetminus \left(\bigcup S\right) \iff [x \in A] \land \left[\neg \left(x \in \bigcup S\right)\right]$$
$$\iff [x \in A] \land \left[\neg \left(\exists X \in S \text{ such that } x \in X\right)\right]$$
$$\iff [x \in A] \land [x \notin X \forall X \in S]$$
$$\iff [x \in A \land x \notin X] \forall X \in S$$
$$\iff [x \in A \smallsetminus X] \forall X \in S$$
$$\iff x \in \bigcap (A \smallsetminus X)$$
$$\iff x \in \bigcap T_2,$$

and

$$x \in A \smallsetminus \left( \bigcap S \right) \iff [x \in A] \land \left[ \neg \left( x \in \bigcap S \right) \right]$$
  
$$\iff [x \in A] \land \left[ \neg \left( x \in X \forall X \in S \right) \right]$$
  
$$\iff [x \in A] \land \left[ \exists X \in S \text{ such that } x \notin X \right]$$
  
$$\iff \exists X \in S \text{ such that } [x \in A \land x \notin X]$$
  
$$\iff \exists X \in S \text{ such that } [x \in A \land X]$$
  
$$\iff x \in \bigcup (A \smallsetminus X)$$
  
$$\iff x \in \bigcup T_2.$$

► EXERCISE 13 (1.4.6). Prove that  $\bigcap S$  exists for all  $S \neq \emptyset$ . Where is the assumption  $S \neq \emptyset$  used in the proof?

**PROOF.** If  $S \neq \emptyset$ , we can take a set  $A \in S$ . Let  $\mathbf{P}(x)$  denote " $x \in X$  for all  $X \in S$ ". Then

$$\bigcap S = \{x \in A : \mathbf{P}(x)\}\$$

exists by the Axiom Schema of Comprehension.

But if  $S = \emptyset$ , then  $\bigcap S$  is a "set of all sets"; that is,  $x \in \bigcap \emptyset$  for all x. Suppose not, then there must exist a set  $A \in \emptyset$  such that  $x \notin A$ , but obviously we cannot find such a set A.

Remark. While  $\bigcap \emptyset$  is not defined, we do have

$$\bigcup \varnothing = \varnothing.$$

Suppose not, then there exists  $x \in \bigcup \emptyset$ , that is, there exists  $A \in \emptyset$  such that  $x \in A$ . Now consider the antecedent

$$x \notin A \quad \forall \ A \in \emptyset. \tag{1.2}$$

Obviously (1.2) cannot hold since there does not exist such a set  $A \in \emptyset$ . We thus prove that  $\bigcup \emptyset = \emptyset$ .

# **RELATIONS, FUNCTIONS, AND ORDERINGS**

### 2.1 ORDERED PAIRS

► EXERCISE 14 (2.1.1). Prove that  $(a, b) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{P}(\{a, b\}))$  and  $a, b \in \bigcup(a, b)$ . More generally, if  $a \in A$  and  $b \in A$ , then  $(a, b) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{P}(A))$ .

PROOF. Notice that  $(a, b) = \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\}, \text{ and } \mathbb{P}(\{a, b\}) = \{\emptyset, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a, b\}\}.$ Therefore,  $(a, b) \subset \mathbb{P}(\{a, b\})$  and so  $(a, b) \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{P}(\{a, b\}))$ . Further,  $\bigcup (a, b) = \bigcup \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} = \{a, b\}; \text{ hence, } a, b \in \bigcup (a, b).$ 

If  $a \in A$  and  $b \in A$ , then  $\{a\} \subseteq A$  and  $\{a, b\} \subseteq A$ . Then  $\{a\} \in \mathcal{P}(A)$  and  $\{a, b\} \in \mathcal{P}(A)$ ; that is,  $\{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\{A\})$ . Then by the Axiom of Power Set,  $(a, b) = \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{P}(A))$ .

REMARK. If  $a \in A$  and  $b \in B$ , then  $(a, b) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{P}(\{A \cup B\}))$ .

PROOF. We have  $\{a\} \subseteq A \subseteq A \cup B$ ,  $\{b\} \subseteq A \cup B$ , and  $\{a, b\} \subseteq A \cup B$ . Then  $\{a\}, \{a, b\} \in \mathcal{O}(A \cup B)$ ; that is,  $\{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} \subseteq \mathcal{O}(A \cup B)$ . Hence,  $(a, b) = \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{O}(A \cup B))$ .

► EXERCISE 15 (2.1.2). Prove that (a,b), (a,b,c), and (a,b,c,d) exist for all a,b,c, and d.

**PROOF.** By The Axiom of Pair, both  $\{a\} = \{a, a\}$  and  $\{a, b\}$  exist. Then, use this axiom once again, we know  $(a, b) = \{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\}$  exists. Since (a, b, c) = ((a, b), c), it follows that the ordered triple exists. (a, b, c, d) exists because (a, b, c, d) = ((a, b, c), d).

• EXERCISE 16 (2.1.3). *Prove:* If (a, b) = (b, a), then a = b.

PROOF. Let (a, b) = (b, a), that is,  $\{\{a\}, \{a, b\}\} = \{\{b\}, \{a, b\}\}$ . If  $a \neq b$ , then  $\{a\} = \{b\}$ , which implies that a = b. A contradiction.

► EXERCISE 17 (2.1.4). Prove that (a, b, c) = (a', b', c') implies a = a', b = b', and c = c'. State and prove an analogous property of quadruples.

**PROOF.** Note that (a, b, c) = (a', b', c') iff ((a, b), c) = ((a', b'), c'), iff (a, b) = (a', b') and c = c'. Now, (a, b) = (a', b') iff a = a' and b = b'. The quadruples case can be easily extended.

► EXERCISE 18 (2.1.5). Find *a*, *b*, and *c* such that  $((a,b),c) \neq (a,(b,c))$ . Of course, we could use the second set to define ordered triples, with equal success.

PROOF. Let a = b = c. Then

$$((a, a), a) = \{\{(a, a)\}, \{(a, a), a\}\} = \{\{\{a\}\}, \{\{a\}, a\}\}, \{(a, (a, a)) = \{\{a\}, \{a, (a, a)\}\} = \{\{a\}, \{a, \{a\}\}\}\}.$$

Thus,  $((a, a), a) \neq (a, (a, a))$ . Note that while  $(A \times B) \times C \neq A \times (B \times C)$  generally, there is a bijection between them.

► EXERCISE 19 (2.1.6). To give an alternative definition of ordered pairs, choose two different sets  $\Box$  and  $\triangle$  (for example,  $\Box = \emptyset$ ,  $\triangle = \{\emptyset\}$ ) and define

$$\langle a, b \rangle = \{\{a, \Box\}, \{b, \Delta\}\}$$

*State and prove an analogue of Theorem 1.2 [p. 18] for this notion of ordered pairs. Define ordered triples and quadruples.* 

PROOF. We are going to show that

$$\langle a, b \rangle = \langle a', b' \rangle \iff a = a' \text{ and } b = b'.$$

If a = a' and b = b', then  $\langle a, b \rangle = \{\{a, \Box\}, \{b, \Delta\}\} = \{\{a', \Box\}, \{b', \Delta\}\} = \langle a', b' \rangle$ .

For the inverse direction, let  $\{\{a, \Box\}, \{b, \Delta\}\} = \{\{a', \Box\}, \{b', \Delta\}\}$ . There are two cases:

• If  $a \neq b$ , then: (i) If  $a = \triangle$  and  $b = \Box$  (note that  $\Box \neq \triangle$  by assumption), then  $\{\{a, \Box\}, \{b, \Delta\}\} = \{\{\Box, \Delta\}\}\}$ , which enforces  $a' = \triangle$  and  $b' = \Box$ . (ii) If  $a \neq \triangle$  or  $b \neq \Box$  (or both), then  $\{a, \Box\} \neq \{b, \Delta\}$ . We first show that it is impossible that  $\{a, \Box\} = \{b', \Delta\}$  and  $\{b, \Delta\} = \{a', \Box\}$ ; for otherwise  $a = \triangle$  and  $b = \Box$ . Hence, it must be the case that

$$\{a, \Box\} = \{a', \Box\}$$
 and  $\{b, \Delta\} = \{b', \Delta\}$ ,

i.e., a = a' and b = b'.

• If a = b, then

$$\{\{a, \Box\}, \{b, \Delta\}\} = \{\{a, \Box\}, \{a, \Delta\}\} = \{\{a', \Box\}, \{b', \Delta\}\}$$

implies that  $\{a, \Box\} = \{a', \Box\}$  and  $\{a, \Delta\} = \{b', \Delta\}$ ; that is, a = a' = b' = b. Note that it is impossible that  $\{a, \Box\} = \{b', \Delta\}$  and  $\{a, \Delta\} = \{a', \Box\}$ ; for otherwise,  $a = \Delta = \Box$ . A contradiction.  $\Box$ 

#### 2.2 Relations

► EXERCISE 20 (2.2.1). Let *R* be a binary relation; let  $A = \bigcup (\bigcup R)$ . Prove that  $(x, y) \in R$  implies  $x \in A$  and  $y \in A$ . Conclude from this that  $\mathfrak{D}_R$  and  $\mathfrak{R}_R$  exist.

PROOF. By the Axiom of Union,

$$z \in \bigcup \left(\bigcup R\right) \iff z \in B \text{ for some } B \in \bigcup R$$
$$\iff z \in B \in C \text{ for some } C \in R.$$

If  $(x, y) \in R$ , then  $C = \{\{x\}, \{x, y\}\} \in R$ ,  $B = \{x, y\} \in C$ , and  $x, y \in B$ ; that is,  $x \in A$  and  $y \in A$ . Hence,

$$\mathfrak{D}_R = \{x \colon xRy \text{ for some } y\} = \{x \in A \colon xRy \text{ for some } y\}.$$

Since  $\bigcup (\bigcup R)$  has been proven exist by the Axiom of Union, the existence of  $\mathfrak{D}_R$  follows from the Axiom Schema of Comprehension. The existence of  $\mathfrak{R}_R$  can be proved with the same logic.

- ► EXERCISE 21 (2.2.2). a. Show that  $R^{-1}$  and  $S \circ R$  exist.
- b. Show that  $A \times B \times C$  exist.

PROOF. (a) Since  $R \subseteq \mathfrak{D}_R \times \mathfrak{R}_R$ , it follows that  $R^{-1} \subseteq \mathfrak{R}_R \times \mathfrak{D}_R$ . Since  $\mathfrak{D}_R, \mathfrak{R}_R$ , and  $\mathfrak{R}_R \times \mathfrak{D}_R$  exist, we know that  $R^{-1}$  exists.

Since  $S \circ R = \{(x, z) : (x, y) \in R \text{ and } (y, z) \in S \text{ for some } y\}$ , we have  $S \circ R \subseteq \mathfrak{D}_R \times \mathfrak{R}_S$ . Therefore,  $S \circ R$  exists.

**(b)** Note that  $A \times B \times C = (A \times B) \times C$ . Since  $A \times B$  exists,  $(A \times B) \times C$  exists, too. Particularly,

$$A \times B \times C = \left\{ (a, b, c) \in \mathfrak{O} \left[ \mathfrak{O} \left( \mathfrak{O} (\mathfrak{O} (A \cup B)) \right) \cup C \right] \right] : a \in A, b \in B, c \in C \right\}.$$

- ▶ EXERCISE 22 (2.2.3). Let *R* be a binary relation and *A* and *B* sets. Prove:
- a.  $R[A \cup B] = R[A] \cup R[B]$ .
- b.  $R[A \cap B] \subseteq R[A] \cap R[B]$ .
- c.  $R[A \smallsetminus B] \supseteq R[A] \smallsetminus R[B]$ .
- d. Show by an example that  $\subseteq$  and  $\supseteq$  in parts (b) and (c) cannot be replaced by =.
- e. Prove parts (a)—(b) with  $R^{-1}$  instead of R.
- f.  $R^{-1}[R[A]] \supseteq A \cap \mathfrak{D}_R$  and  $R[R^{-1}[B]] \supseteq B \cap \mathfrak{R}_R$ ; give examples where equality *does not hold.*

**PROOF.** (a) If  $y \in R[A \cup B]$ , then there exists  $x \in A \cup B$  such that xRy; that is, either  $x \in A$  and xRy, or  $x \in B$  and xRy. Hence,  $y \in R[A] \cup R[B]$ .

Now let  $y \in R[A] \cup R[B]$ . Then there exists  $x \in A$  such that xRy, or there exists  $x \in B$  such that xRy. In both case,  $x \in A \cup B$ , and so  $y \in R[A \cup B]$ .

**(b)** If  $y \in R[A \cap B]$ , then there exists  $x \in A \cap B$  such that xRy; that is, there exists  $x \in A$  for which xRy, and there exists  $x \in B$  for which xRy. Hence,  $y \in R[A] \cap R[B]$ .

(c) If  $y \in R[A] \setminus R[B]$ , then there is  $x \in A$  such that xRy, but there is no  $x' \in B$  such that x'Ry. Hence, there exists  $x \in A \setminus B$  such that xRy; that is,  $y \in R[A \setminus B]$ .

(d) Let us consider the following binary relation

$$\overline{R} = \left\{ \left( (x, y), (x, 0) \right) : (x, y) \in [0, 1]^2 \right\};$$

that is,  $\overline{R}$  projects the *xy*-plane onto the *x*-axis, carrying the point (*x*, *y*) into the (*x*, 0); See Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1.  $\overline{R}$ 

- Let  $A = \{(x, y) : x \in [0, 1], y = 1\}$ , and  $B = \{(x, y) : x \in [0, 1], y = 1/2\}$ . Then  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ , and consequently,  $\overline{R}[A \cap B] = \emptyset$ . However,  $\overline{R}[A] \cap \overline{R}[B] = [0, 1]$ .
- Notice that  $\overline{R}[A] = \overline{R}[B] = [0, 1]$ , so  $\overline{R}[A] \setminus \overline{R}[B] = \emptyset$ . However,  $A \setminus B = A$ , and consequently,  $\overline{R}[A \setminus B] = \overline{R}[A] = [0, 1]$ .

(e) Just treat  $R^{-1}$  as a relation [notice that (a)-(c) hold for an arbitrary binary relation R', so we can let  $R^{-1} = R'$ ].

(f) If  $x \in A \cap \mathfrak{D}_R$ , then  $x \in A$  and there exists  $y \in R[A]$  such that  $yR^{-1}x$ . Hence,  $x \in R^{-1}[R[A]]$ . To show that the equality does not hold, consider  $\overline{R}$  in part (d). Note that  $A \cap \operatorname{dom}(\overline{R}) = A$ ; however,  $\overline{R}^{-1}[\overline{R}[A]] = [0, 1]^2$ .

For the second claim, just notice that  $R^{-1}$  is also a binary relation with  $\mathfrak{D}_{R^{-1}} = \mathfrak{R}_R$  (see the next exercise).

- ► EXERCISE 23 (2.2.4). Let  $R \subseteq X \times Y$ . Prove:
- a.  $R[X] = \Re_R$  and  $R^{-1}[Y] = \mathfrak{D}_R$ .
- b. If  $a \notin \mathfrak{D}_R$ ,  $R[\{a\}] = \emptyset$ ; if  $b \notin \mathfrak{R}_R$ ,  $R^{-1}[\{b\}] = \emptyset$ .
- c.  $\mathfrak{D}_R = \mathfrak{R}_{R^{-1}}$ ;  $\mathfrak{R}_R = \mathfrak{D}_{R^{-1}}$ .
- d.  $(R^{-1})^{-1} = R$ .
- e.  $R^{-1} \circ R \supseteq \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_R}$ ;  $R \circ R^{-1} \supseteq \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_R}$ .

PROOF. (a)  $y \in R[X]$  iff there exists  $x \in X$  such that xRy iff  $y \in \mathbb{R}_R$ , so  $R[X] = \mathbb{R}_R$ . Similarly,  $x \in R^{-1}[Y]$  iff there exists  $y \in Y$  such that xRy iff  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_R$ .

**(b)** Suppose that  $R[\{a\}] \neq \emptyset$ ; let  $b \in R[\{a\}]$ . But then there exists  $b \in \mathbb{R}_R$  for which aRb; that is,  $a \in \mathfrak{D}_R$ . A contradiction. Similarly, let  $a \in R^{-1}[\{b\}]$ . Then aRb; that is,  $b \in \mathbb{R}_R$ . A contradiction.

(c)  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_R$  iff there exists  $y \in Y$  such that xRy, iff there exists  $y \in Y$  for which  $yR^{-1}x$ , iff  $x \in \mathfrak{R}_{R^{-1}}$ . Similarly,  $y \in \mathfrak{R}_R$  iff there exists  $x \in X$  such that xRy, iff there exists  $x \in X$  such that  $yR^{-1}x$ , if and only if  $y \in \mathfrak{D}_{R^{-1}}$ .

(d) For every  $(x, y) \in X \times Y$ , we have  $x(R^{-1})^{-1}y$  iff  $yR^{-1}x$  iff xRy. Hence,  $(R^{-1})^{-1} = R$ .

(e) We have  $(x, y) \in Id_{\mathfrak{D}_R}$  iff  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_R$  and x = y. We now show that  $(x, x) \in R^{-1} \circ R$  for all  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_R$ . Since  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_R$ , there exists y such that  $(x, y) \in R$ , i.e.,  $(y, x) \in R^{-1}$ . Hence, there exists y such that  $(x, y) \in R$  and  $(y, x) \in R^{-1}$ ; that is,  $(x, x) \in R^{-1} \circ R$ .

Now let  $(x, y) \in Id_{\mathfrak{R}_R}$ . Then x = y and  $y \in \mathfrak{R}_R$ . Then there exists x such that  $(x, y) \in R$ , i.e.,  $(y, x) \in R^{-1}$ . Therefore,  $(y, y) \in R \circ R^{-1}$ .

► EXERCISE 24 (2.2.5). Let  $X = \{\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}\}, Y = \mathcal{P}(X)$ . Describe

a.  $\in_Y$ ;

b.  $Id_Y$ .

PROOF.  $Y = \mathcal{P}(X) = \left\{ \emptyset, \{\emptyset\}, \{\{\emptyset\}\}, \{\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}\} \right\}$ . Then

$$\in_{Y} = \{(a, b) : a \in Y, b \in Y, \text{ and } a \in b\}$$
  
=  $\{(\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}), (\emptyset, \{\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}\}), (\{\emptyset\}, \{\{\emptyset\}\}), (\{\emptyset\}, \{\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}\})\}$ 

and

$$Id_Y = \{(a,b) \mid a \in Y, b \in Y, \text{ and } a = b \}$$
$$= \{(\emptyset, \emptyset), (\{\emptyset\}, \{\emptyset\}), (\{\{\emptyset\}\}, \{\{\emptyset\}\}), (\{\emptyset, \{\emptyset\}\}, \{\emptyset\}\}) \}. \square$$

▶ EXERCISE 25 (2.2.6). Prove that for any three binary relations R, S, and T

$$T \circ (S \circ R) = (T \circ S) \circ R.$$

PROOF. Let *R*, *S*, and *T* be binary relations. Then

$(w, z) \in T \circ (S \circ R) \iff$ there exists y for which $w(S \circ R)y, yTz$
$\iff$ there exists <i>y</i> and <i>x</i> for which <i>wRx</i> , <i>xSy</i> , <i>yTz</i>
$\iff$ there exists <i>x</i> for which $x(T \circ S)z, wRx$
$\iff (w,z) \in (T \circ S) \circ R.$

- $\blacktriangleright$  EXERCISE 26 (2.2.7). *Give examples of sets X*, *Y*, and *Z* such that
- a.  $X \times Y \neq Y \times X$ .
- b.  $X \times (Y \times Z) \neq (X \times Y) \times Z$ .
- c.  $X^3 \neq X \times X^2$  [i.e.,  $(X \times X) \times X \neq X \times (X \times X)$ ].

PROOF. (a) Let  $X = \{1\}$  and  $Y = \{2, 3\}$ . Then  $X \times Y = \{(1, 2), (1, 3)\}$ , but  $Y \times X = \{(2, 1), (3, 1)\}$ .

**(b)** Let  $X = \{1\}$ ,  $Y = \{2\}$ , and  $Z = \{3\}$ . Then  $X \times (Y \times Z) = \{(1, (2, 3))\}$ , and  $(X \times Y) \times Z = \{((1, 2), 3)\}$ . But  $(1, (2, 3)) \neq ((1, 2), 3)$  since  $1 \neq (1, 2)$  and  $(2, 3) \neq 3$ .

(c) Let  $X = \{a\}$ . Then  $X^3 = \{((a, a), a)\} = \{(\{\{a\}\}, a)\}$ , but  $X \times X^2 = \{(a, (a, a))\} = \{(a, \{\{a\}\})\}$ . It is clear that  $X^3 \neq X \times X^2$  since  $a \neq \{\{a\}\}$ . [Remember that a = (a) is an "one-tuple", but  $\{\{a\}\} = (a, a)$  is an ordered pair.]

- ► EXERCISE 27 (2.2.8). *Prove:*
- a.  $A \times B = \emptyset$  if and only if  $A = \emptyset$  or  $B = \emptyset$ .

b.  $(A_1 \cup A_2) \times B = (A_1 \times B) \cup (A_2 \times B)$ , and  $A \times (B_1 \cup B_2) = (A \times B_1) \cup (A \times B_2)$ .

c. Same as part (b), with  $\cup$  replaced by  $\cap$ ,  $\setminus$ , and  $\Delta$ .

PROOF. (a)  $A \times B = \emptyset$  iff  $\neg [\exists a \in A \text{ and } b \in B]$  iff  $[\exists a \in A] \lor [\exists b \in B]$  iff  $A = \emptyset$  or  $B = \emptyset$ .

(b) We have

$$(a,b) \in (A_1 \cup A_2) \times B \iff a \in A_1 \cup A_2 \text{ and } b \in B$$
$$\iff [a \in A_1 \text{ and } b \in B] \text{ or } [a \in A_2 \text{ and } b \in B]$$
$$\iff [(a,b) \in A_1 \times B] \text{ or } [(a,b) \in A_2 \times B]$$
$$\iff (a,b) \in (A_1 \times B) \cup (A_2 \times B),$$

and

$$(a,b) \in A \times (B_1 \cup B_2) \iff a \in A \text{ and } [b \in B_1 \text{ or } b \in B_2]$$
$$\iff [a \in A \text{ and } b \in B_1] \text{ or } [a \in A \text{ and } b \in B_2]$$
$$\iff [(a,b) \in A \times B_1] \text{ or } [(a,b) \in A \times B_2]$$
$$\iff (a,b) \in (A \times B_1) \cup (A \times B_2).$$

(c) We just prove the first part.

$$\begin{aligned} (a,b) \in (A_1 \cap A_2) \times B &\iff [a \in A_1 \wedge a \in A_2] \wedge [b \in B] \\ &\iff [a \in A_1 \wedge b \in B] \wedge [a \in A_2 \wedge b \in B] \\ &\iff (a,b) \in (A_1 \times B) \cap (A_2 \times B), \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} (a,b) \in (A_1 \wedge A_2) \times B &\iff [a \in A_1 \wedge a \notin A_2] \wedge [b \in B] \\ &\iff [a \in A_1 \wedge b \in B] \wedge [a \notin A_2] \\ &\iff [(a,b) \in A_1 \times B] \wedge [(a,b) \notin A_2 \times B] \\ &\iff (a,b) \in (A_1 \times B) \wedge (A_2 \times B), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$(A_1 \Delta A_2) \times B = \left[ (A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) \cup (A_2 \smallsetminus A_1) \right] \times B$$
  
=  $\left[ (A_1 \smallsetminus A_2) \times B \right] \cup \left[ (A_2 \smallsetminus A_2) \times B \right]$   
=  $\left[ (A_1 \times B) \smallsetminus (A_2 \times B) \right] \cup \left[ (A_2 \times B) \smallsetminus (A_1 \times B) \right]$   
=  $(A_1 \times B) \Delta (A_2 \times B).$ 

# **2.3 FUNCTIONS**

► EXERCISE 28 (2.3.1). *Prove:* If  $\mathbb{R}_f \subseteq \mathfrak{D}_g$ , then  $\mathfrak{D}_{g \circ f} = \mathfrak{D}_f$ .

PROOF. It is clear that  $\mathfrak{D}_{g\circ f} = \mathfrak{D}_f \cap f^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_g] \subseteq \mathfrak{D}_f$ . For the other inclusion direction, we have

$$\mathfrak{D}_{g\circ f} = \mathfrak{D}_f \cap f^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_g] \supseteq \mathfrak{D}_f \cap f^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_f] = \mathfrak{D}_f,$$

where we use the fact that  $f^{-1}[\mathfrak{R}_f] = \mathfrak{D}_f$ :

$$x \in f^{-1} \left[ \mathfrak{R}_f \right] \iff \exists y \in \mathfrak{R}_f \text{ such that } (y, x) \in f^{-1}$$
$$\iff \exists y \in \mathfrak{R}_f \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f$$
$$\iff x \in \mathfrak{D}_f.$$

▶ EXERCISE 29 (2.3.2). The functions  $f_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 are defined as follows:

$$f_1 = \langle 2x - 1 : x \in \mathbb{R} \rangle,$$
  

$$f_2 = \left\langle \sqrt{x} : x > 0 \right\rangle,$$
  

$$f_3 = \left\langle 1/x : x \in \mathbb{R}, x \neq 0 \right\rangle.$$

Describe each of the following functions, and determine their domains and ranges:  $f_2 \circ f_1$ ,  $f_1 \circ f_2$ ,  $f_3 \circ f_1$ , and  $f_1 \circ f_3$ .

**PROOF.** The domain of  $f_2 \circ f_1$  is determined as<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathfrak{D}_{f_2 \circ f_1} = \mathfrak{D}_{f_1} \cap f_1^{-1} [\mathfrak{D}_{f_2}]$$
$$= \mathbb{R} \cap f_1^{-1} [\mathbb{R}_{++}]$$
$$= \{ x \in \mathbb{R} \colon x > 1/2 \}.$$

 $f_2 \circ f_1 = \{(x, z) : x > 1/2 \text{ and, for some } y, 2x - 1 = y \text{ and } \sqrt{y} = z\}$ =  $\left(\sqrt{2x - 1} : x > 1/2\right)$ .



FIGURE 2.2.

Further,  $\mathfrak{D}_{f_1 \circ f_2} = \mathfrak{D}_{f_2} \cap f_2^{-1} [\mathfrak{D}_{f_1}] = \mathbb{R}_{++} \cap f_2^{-1} [\mathbb{R}] = \mathbb{R}_{++}$ , and  $f_1 \circ f_2 = \langle 2\sqrt{x} - 1 \colon x > 0 \rangle$ .

► EXERCISE 30 (2.3.3). Prove that the function  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$ ,  $f_3$  from Exercise 29 are one-to-one, and find the inverse functions. In each case, verify that  $\mathfrak{D}_{f_i} = \mathfrak{R}_{f_i^{-1}}$ ,  $\mathfrak{R}_{f_i} = \mathfrak{D}_{f_i^{-1}}$ .

PROOF. As an example, we consider  $f_2$ .



FIGURE 2.3.  $f_2$  and  $f_2^{-1}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout this book,  $\mathbb{R}_{++} := \{x \in \mathbb{R} \mid x > 0\}$ , and  $\mathbb{R}_{+} := \{x \in \mathbb{R} \mid x \ge 0\}$ .

We have  $(x, y) \in f_2^{-1}$  iff  $(y, x) \in f_2$  iff  $x = \sqrt{y}$  and y > 0 iff  $y = x^2$  and x > 0.

- ► EXERCISE 31 (2.3.4). *Prove:*
- a. If f is invertible,  $f^{-1} \circ f = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$ ,  $f \circ f^{-1} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}$ .
- b. Let *f* be a function. If there exists a function *g* such that  $g \circ f = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$  then *f* is invertible and  $f^{-1} = g \upharpoonright \mathfrak{R}_f$ . If there exists a function *h* such that  $f \circ h = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}$  then *f* may fail to be invertible.

**PROOF.** (a) We have proven in Exercise 23 (e) that [since f is a relation]  $f^{-1} \circ f \supseteq \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$  and  $f \circ f^{-1} \supseteq \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}$ ; hence, we need only to show the inverse directions. To see  $f^{-1} \circ f \subseteq \operatorname{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$ , let  $x \in \mathfrak{D}_f$ . Then

$$(x, y) \in f^{-1} \circ f \Longrightarrow \exists z \text{ such that } (x, z) \in f \text{ and } (z, y) \in f^{-1}$$
$$\Longrightarrow \exists z \text{ such that } (x, z) \in f \text{ and } (y, z) \in f$$
$$\Longrightarrow x = y \text{ since } f \text{ is invertible}$$
$$\Longrightarrow (x, y) \in \text{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}.$$

To see  $f \circ f^{-1} \subseteq \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}$ , let  $y \in \mathfrak{R}_f$ . Then

$$(y, x) \in f \circ f^{-1} \Longrightarrow \exists z \text{ such that } (y, z) \in f^{-1} \text{ and } (z, x) \in f$$
  
 $\Longrightarrow \exists z \text{ such that } (z, y) \in f \text{ and } (z, x) \in f$   
 $\Longrightarrow y = x$   
 $\Longrightarrow (y, x) \in \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}.$ 

**(b)** Suppose that there exists a function g such that  $g \circ f = \text{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$ . Let  $x, x' \in \mathfrak{D}_f$  with  $x \neq x'$ . Then  $(x, x) \in g \circ f$  and  $(x', x') \in g \circ f$ . Thus

$$\exists y \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f \text{ and } (y, x) \in g, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\exists y' \text{ such that } (x', y') \in f \text{ and } (y', x') \in g.$$
(2.2)

It follows that  $y \neq y'$ ; for otherwise, by (2.1) and (2.2), we would have  $(y, x) \in g$  and  $(y, x') \in g$ , which contradicts the fact that g is a function.

To see that  $f^{-1} = g \upharpoonright \Re_f$ , first notice that  $g \circ f = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{D}_f}$  implies that  $\mathfrak{D}_f \cap f^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_g] = \mathfrak{D}_f$ , which implies that  $\mathfrak{D}_f \subseteq f^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_g]$ , which implies that  $f[\mathfrak{D}_f] = \Re_f \subseteq f[f^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_g] = \mathfrak{D}_g$  since f is invertible. Hence,

$$\mathfrak{D}_{g \upharpoonright \mathfrak{R}_f} = \mathfrak{D}_g \cap \mathfrak{R}_f = \mathfrak{R}_f = \mathfrak{D}_{f^{-1}}.$$

Further, for every  $y \in \mathfrak{D}_{f^{-1}}$ , there exists x such that  $x = f^{-1}(y)$ , i.e., y = f(x). Then  $g \upharpoonright \mathfrak{R}_f(y) = (g \upharpoonright \mathfrak{R}_f \circ f)(x) = x$ . Hence,  $g \upharpoonright \mathfrak{R}_f = f^{-1}$ .

Finally, as in Figure 2.4, let  $f: \{x_1, x_2\} \to \{\overline{y}\}$  defined by  $f(x_1) = f(x_2) = \overline{y}$ . Let  $h: \{\overline{y}\} \to \{x_1\}$  defined by  $h(\overline{y}) = x_1$ . Then  $f \circ h: \{\overline{y}\} \to \{\overline{y}\}$  is given by  $(f \circ h)(\overline{y}) = \overline{y}$ ; that is,  $f \circ h = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{R}_f}$ . However, f is not invertible since it is not injective.



FIGURE 2.4. f is not invertible

► EXERCISE 32 (2.3.5). Prove: If f and g are one-to-one functions,  $g \circ f$  is also a one-to-one function, and  $(g \circ f)^{-1} = f^{-1} \circ g^{-1}$ .

**PROOF.** Let  $x, y \in \mathfrak{D}_{g \circ f}$  and  $(g \circ f)(x) = (g \circ f)(y)$ . Then f(x) = f(y) since g is injective; then x = y since f is injective. Thus,  $g \circ f$  is injective.





To see that  $(g \circ f)^{-1} = f^{-1} \circ g^{-1}$ , notice that

$$(z, x) \in (g \circ f)^{-1} \iff (x, z) \in g \circ f$$
  
$$\iff \exists y \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f \text{ and } (y, z) \in g$$
  
$$\iff \exists y \text{ such that } (y, x) \in f^{-1} \text{ and } (z, y) \in g^{-1}$$
  
$$\iff (z, x) \in f^{-1} \circ g^{-1}.$$

► EXERCISE 33 (2.3.6). The images and inverse images of sets by functions have the properties exhibited in Exercise 22, but some of the inequalities can now be replaced by equalities. Prove

- a. If *f* is a function,  $f^{-1}[A \cap B] = f^{-1}[A] \cap f^{-1}[B]$ .
- b. If *f* is a function,  $f^{-1}[A \setminus B] = f^{-1}[A] \setminus f^{-1}[B]$ .

PROOF. (a) If  $x \in f^{-1}[A \cap B]$ , then  $f(x) \in A \cap B$ , so that  $f(x) \in A$  and  $f(x) \in B$ . But then  $x \in f^{-1}[A]$  and  $x \in f^{-1}[B]$ , i.e.,  $x \in f^{-1}[A] \cap f^{-1}[B]$ . Conversely, if  $x \in f^{-1}[A] \cap f^{-1}[B]$ , then  $x \in f^{-1}[A]$  and  $x \in f^{-1}[B]$ . Therefore,  $f(x) \in A$  and  $f(x) \in B$ , i.e.,  $f(x) \in A \cap B$ . But then  $x \in f^{-1}[A \cap B]$ .

**(b)** If  $x \in f^{-1}[A \setminus B]$ , then  $f(x) \in A \setminus B$ , so that  $f(x) \in A$  and  $f(x) \notin B$ . But then  $x \in f^{-1}[A]$  and  $x \notin f^{-1}[B]$ , i.e.,  $x \in f^{-1}[A] \setminus f^{-1}[B]$ . Conversely, if  $x \in f^{-1}[A] \smallsetminus f^{-1}[B]$ , then  $x \in f^{-1}[A]$  and  $x \notin f^{-1}[B]$ . Therefore,  $f(x) \in A$  and  $f(x) \notin B$ , i.e.,  $f(x) \in A \smallsetminus B$ . But then  $x \in f^{-1}[A \smallsetminus B]$ .

► EXERCISE 34 (2.3.7). *Give an example of a function* f *and a set* A *such that*  $f \cap A^2 \neq f \upharpoonright A$ .

PROOF. Let f(x') = y', where  $x' \in A$  and  $y' \notin A$ . Then  $(x', y') \in f \upharpoonright A$ , but  $(x', y') \notin f \cap A^2$ .

► EXERCISE 35 (2.3.8). Show that every system of sets A can be indexed by a function.

PROOF. For every system of sets *A*, consider Id:  $A \rightarrow A$ . Then  $A = {Id(i) : i \in A}$ .

• EXERCISE 36 (2.3.9). a. Show that the set  $B^A$  exists.

b. Let  $(S_i : i \in I)$  be an indexed system of sets; show that  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$  exists.

**PROOF.** (a)  $f \subseteq A \times B$  for all  $f \in B^A$ , and so  $f \in \mathcal{O}(A \times B)$ . Then  $B^A \subseteq \mathcal{O}(A \times B)$ . Therefore,  $B^A = \{f \in \mathcal{O}(A \times B) : f : A \to B\}$  exists by the Axiom Schema of Comprehension.

**(b)** By definition,  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i = \{f : f \text{ is a function on } I \text{ and } f_i \in S_i \text{ for all } i \in I\}$ . Hence, for all  $f \in \prod_{i \in I} S_i$ , if  $(i, s_i) \in f$ , then  $(i, s_i) \in I \times S_i \subseteq I \times \bigcup_{i \in I} S_i$ ; that is,  $f \subseteq I \times \bigcup_{i \in I} S_i$ . Hence,  $f \in \mathcal{P}(I \times \bigcup_{i \in I} S_i)$  for all  $f \in \prod_{i \in I} S_i$ , and hence  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i \subseteq \mathcal{P}(I \times \bigcup_{i \in I} S_i)$ . Therefore, the existence of  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$  follows the Axiom Schema of Comprehension.

► EXERCISE 37 (2.3.10). Show that unions and intersections satisfy the following general form of the associative law:

$$\bigcup_{a\in\bigcup S}F_a=\bigcup_{C\in S}\left(\bigcup_{a\in C}F_a\right),\quad\bigcap_{a\in\bigcup S}F_a=\bigcap_{C\in S}\left(\bigcap_{a\in C}F_a\right),$$

if *S* is a nonempty system of nonempty sets.

PROOF. We have

$$x \in \bigcup_{a \in \bigcup S} F_a \iff \exists a \in \bigcup S \text{ such that } x \in F_a$$
$$\iff \exists a \in C \in S, \text{ such that } x \in F_a$$
$$\iff x \in \bigcup_{C \in S} \left( \bigcup_{a \in C} F_a \right),$$

and

CHAPTER 2 RELATIONS, FUNCTIONS, AND ORDERINGS

$$x \in \bigcap_{a \in \bigcup S} F_a \iff x \in F_a, \forall a \in \bigcup S$$
$$\iff x \in F_a, \forall C \in S, \forall a \in C$$
$$\iff x \in \bigcap_{C \in S} \left(\bigcap_{a \in C} F_a\right).$$

► EXERCISE 38 (2.3.11). Other properties of unions and intersections can be generalized similarly.

# **De Morgan Laws**

$$B \smallsetminus \left(\bigcup_{a \in A} F_a\right) = \bigcap_{a \in A} (B \smallsetminus F_a), \quad B \smallsetminus \left(\bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right) = \bigcup_{a \in A} (B \smallsetminus F_a).$$

### **Distributive Laws**

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a \end{pmatrix} \cap \left( \bigcup_{b \in B} G_b \right) = \bigcup_{(a,b) \in A \times B} (F_a \cap G_b),$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \end{pmatrix} \cup \left( \bigcap_{b \in B} G_b \right) = \bigcap_{(a,b) \in A \times B} (F_a \cup G_b).$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{aligned} x \in B \smallsetminus \left( \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a \right) &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \neg \left( x \in \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a \right) \right] \\ &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \neg \left( \exists \ a \in A \text{ such that } x \in F_a \right) \right] \\ &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \forall \ a \in A x \notin F_a \right] \\ &\iff \forall \ a \in A \ \left[ x \in B \land x \notin F_a \right] \\ &\iff x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} (B \smallsetminus F_a) , \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} x \in B \smallsetminus \left( \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \right) &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \neg \left( x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \right) \right] \\ &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \neg \left( \forall \ a \in A, \ x \in F_a \right) \right] \\ &\iff [x \in B] \land \left[ \exists \ a \in A \text{ such that } x \notin F_a \right] \\ &\iff \exists \ a \in A \text{ such that } \left[ x \in B \land x \notin F_a \right] \\ &\iff \exists \ a \in A \text{ such that } \left[ x \in B \land x \notin F_a \right] \\ &\iff \exists \ a \in A \text{ such that } \left[ x \in B \land F_a \right] \\ &\iff x \in \bigcup_{a \in A} (B \smallsetminus F_a), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$x \in \left(\bigcup_{a \in A} F_a\right) \cap \left(\bigcup_{b \in B} G_b\right) \iff \left[x \in \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a\right] \wedge \left[x \in \bigcup_{b \in B} G_b\right]$$
$$\iff \exists a \in A \text{ such that } x \in F_a \text{ and}$$
$$\exists b \in B \text{ such that } x \in G_b$$
$$\iff \exists (a,b) \in A \times B \text{ such that } x \in F_a \cap G_b$$
$$\iff x \in \bigcup_{(a,b) \in A \times B} (F_a \cap G_b).$$

Finally,

$$\begin{aligned} x \in \left(\bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right) \cup \left(\bigcap_{b \in B} G_b\right) \iff \left[x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right] \lor \left[x \in \bigcap_{b \in B} G_b\right] \\ \iff \left[\forall \ a \in A, \ x \in F_a\right] \lor \left[\forall \ b \in B, \ x \in G_b\right] \\ \iff \forall \ (a,b) \in A \times B \ [x \in F_a \lor x \in G_b] \\ \iff x \in \bigcap_{(a,b) \in A \times B} (F_a \cup G_b). \end{aligned}$$

• EXERCISE 39 (2.3.12). Let f be a function. Then

$$f\left[\bigcup_{a\in A}F_a\right] = \bigcup_{a\in A}f\left[F_a\right], \quad f^{-1}\left[\bigcup_{a\in A}F_a\right] = \bigcup_{a\in A}f^{-1}\left[F_a\right],$$
$$f\left[\bigcap_{a\in A}F_a\right] \subseteq \bigcap_{a\in A}f\left[F_a\right], \quad f^{-1}\left[\bigcap_{a\in A}F_a\right] = \bigcap_{a\in A}f^{-1}\left[F_a\right].$$

If f is one-to-one, then  $\subseteq$  in the third formula can be replaced by =.

**PROOF.** Let f be a function. Then

$$y \in f\left[\bigcup_{a \in A} F_a\right] \iff \exists x \in \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f$$
$$\iff \exists a \in A, \exists x \in F_a, \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f \qquad (2.3)$$
$$\iff \exists a \in A \text{ such that } y \in f[F_a]$$
$$\iff y \in \bigcup_{a \in A} f[F_a],$$

and

$$x \in f^{-1}\left[\bigcup_{a \in A} F_a\right] \iff f(x) \in \bigcup_{a \in A} F_a$$
  
$$\iff \exists a \in A \text{ such that } f(x) \in F_a \qquad (2.4)$$
  
$$\iff \exists a \in A \text{ such that } x \in f^{-1}[F_a]$$
  
$$\iff x \in \bigcup_{a \in A} f^{-1}[F_a],$$

and

$$y \in f\left[\bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right] \iff \exists x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f$$
$$\iff \forall a \in A, \ x \in F_a \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f \quad (*)$$
$$\implies \forall a \in A, \ y \in f \ [F_a] \quad (**)$$
$$\iff y \in \bigcap_{a \in A} f \ [F_a];$$

hence,  $f\left[\bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right] \subseteq \bigcap_{a \in A} f\left[F_a\right]$ . But if f is not one-to-one, then (\*\*) does not imply (\*) in (2.5). For example, let  $y \in f[F_1] \cap f[F_2]$ , but it is possible that  $f(x_1) = f(x_2) = y$ , where  $x_1 \in F_1$ ,  $x_2 \in F_2$ , and  $x_1 \neq x_2$ . However, if f is oneto-one, then it must be that  $x_1 = x_2$ . More explicitly, to derive (\*) from (\*\*) in (2.5), notice that

$$\forall a \in A, y \in f[F_a] \Longrightarrow \exists ! x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f$$
$$\iff \forall a \in A, x \in F_a \text{ such that } (x, y) \in f.$$

Finally,

$$\begin{split} x \in f^{-1}\left[\bigcap_{a \in A} F_a\right] & \Longleftrightarrow \ f(x) \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_a \\ & \Longleftrightarrow \ \forall \ a \in A, \ f(x) \in F_a \\ & \Longleftrightarrow \ \forall \ a \in A, \ x \in f^{-1}[F_a] \\ & \longleftrightarrow \ x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} f^{-1}[F_a]. \end{split}$$

► EXERCISE 40 (2.3.13). *Prove the following form of the distributive law:* 

$$\bigcap_{a \in A} \left( \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \right) = \bigcup_{f \in B^A} \left( \bigcap_{a \in A} F_{a,f(a)} \right),$$

assuming that  $F_{a,b_1} \cap F_{a,b_2} = \emptyset$  for all  $a \in A$  and  $b_1, b_2 \in B$ ,  $b_1 \neq b_2$ .

PROOF. First note that

$$F_{a,f(a)} \subseteq \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \tag{2.6}$$

for any  $f \in B^A$  since  $f \in B^A$  [there exists  $b \in B$  such that b = f(a)]. Hence

$$\bigcap_{a \in A} F_{a,f(a)} \subseteq \bigcap_{a \in A} \left( \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \right)$$
(2.7)

follows (2.6), and which proves that

$$\bigcup_{f \in B^A} \left( \bigcap_{a \in A} F_{a,f(a)} \right) \subseteq \bigcap_{a \in A} \left( \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \right).$$
(2.8)

To prove the inverse direction, pick any  $x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} (\bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b})$ . Put  $(a, b) \in f$  if and only if  $x \in F_{a,b}$ . We now need to show that f is a function on A into B. Because  $x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} (\bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b})$ , for any  $a \in A$ ,

$$x \in \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \iff \exists b \in B \text{ such that } x \in F_{a,b};$$

hence, for any  $a \in A$ , there exists  $b \in B$  such that  $x \in F_{a,b}$ , that is, for any  $a \in A$ , there exists  $b \in B$  such that  $(a,b) \in f$ , which is just the definition of a function. Since we have proven that  $f \in B^A$ , we obtain

$$x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} \left( \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b} \right) \iff \forall \ a \in A, \ x \in \bigcup_{b \in B} F_{a,b}$$
$$\iff \forall \ a \in A, \ \exists \ b \in B \text{ such that } x \in F_{a,b}$$
$$\implies \forall \ a \in A, \ \exists \ f \in B^A \text{ such that } f(a) = b \text{ and } x \in F_{a,f(a)}$$
$$\implies x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} F_{a,f(a)}$$
$$\implies x \in \bigcup_{f \in B^A} \left( \bigcap_{a \in A} F_{a,f(a)} \right).$$
(2.9)

Therefore, (2.8) and (2.9) imply the claim.

21

#### 2.4 EQUIVALENCES AND PARTITIONS

► EXERCISE 41 (2.4.1). For each of the following relations, determine whether they are reflexive, symmetric, or transitive:

- a. Integer x is greater than integer y.
- b. Integer n divides integer m.
- c.  $x \neq y$  in the set of all natural numbers.
- d.  $\subseteq$  and  $\subsetneq$  in  $\mathcal{P}(A)$ .
- e.  $\emptyset$  in  $\emptyset$ .
- f.  $\emptyset$  in a nonempty set A.

SOLUTION. (a) is transitive; (b) is reflexive and transitive; (c) is symmetric; (d):  $\subseteq$  is an equivalence relation, but  $\subsetneq$  is not reflexive; (e) and (f) are equivalence relations.

- EXERCISE 42 (2.4.2). Let f be a function on A onto B. Define a relation E in A by: aEb if and only if f(a) = f(b).
- a. Show that E is an equivalence relation on A.
- b. Define a function  $\varphi$  on A/E onto B by  $\varphi([a]_E) = f(a)$  (verify that  $\varphi([a]_E) = \varphi([a']_E)$  if  $[a]_E = [a']_E$ ).
- c. Let *j* be the function on *A* onto A/E given by  $j(a) = [a]_E$ . Show that  $\varphi \circ j = f$ .

**PROOF.** (a) *E* is an equivalence relation on *A* since (i) aEa as f(a) = f(a); (ii) aEb iff f(a) = f(b) iff f(b) = f(a) iff bEa; (iii) Let aEb and bEc; that is, f(a) = f(b) and f(b) = f(c). Then f(a) = f(c) and so aEc.

**(b)** Let  $\varphi([a]_E) = f(a)$  for any  $[a]_E \in A/E$ . If  $[a]_E = [a']_E$ , then a'Ea. Therefore, f(a) = f(a') by the definition of *E*. Thus,  $\varphi([a]_E) = f(a) = f(a') = \varphi([a']_E)$ .

(c) First,  $\mathfrak{D}_{\varphi \circ j} = \mathfrak{D}_f = A$  since  $\mathfrak{D}_{\varphi \circ j} = \mathfrak{D}_j \cap j^{-1}[\mathfrak{D}_{\varphi}] = A \cap j^{-1}[A/E] = A$ . Next,  $(\varphi \circ j)(x) = \varphi([x]_E) = f(x)$  for all  $x \in A$ .

► EXERCISE 43 (2.4.3). Let  $P = \{(r, \gamma) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} : r > 0\}$ , where  $\mathbb{R}$  is the set of all real numbers. View elements of P as polar coordinates of points in the plane, and define a relation on P by

 $(r, \gamma) \sim (r', \gamma')$  if and only if r = r' and  $\gamma - \gamma'$  is an integer multiple of  $2\pi$ .

Show that  $\sim$  is an equivalence relation on *P*. Show that each equivalence class contains a unique pair  $(r, \gamma)$  with  $0 \leq \gamma \leq 2\pi$ . The set of all such pairs is therefore a set of representatives for  $\sim$ .